THE STATE OF Carbon Dioxide Removal

A global, independent scientific assessment of Carbon Dioxide Removal

2nd EDITION | 2024

A collaboration led by Oliver Geden (German Institute for International and Security Affairs, SWP), Matthew J Gidden (International Institute for Applied Systems Analysis, IIASA), William F Lamb (Mercator Research Institute on Global Commons and Climate Change, MCC), Jan C Minx (Mercator Research Institute on Global Commons and Climate Change, MCC), Gregory F Nemet (University of Wisconsin-Madison) and Stephen M Smith (University of Oxford)



This report is led by the University of Oxford's Smith School of Enterprise and the Environment and has been supported by:

Quadrature Climate Foundation (grant ref: 01-21-000268);

CO₂RE, a project funded by the UK's Natural Environment Research Council (grant ref: NE/V013106/1);

GENIE, a Synergy Grant funded by the European Research Council under the European Union's Horizon 2020 research and innovation programme (grant agreement 951542);

CDRSynTra, a project funded by the German Ministry for Education and Research (grant agreements 01LS2101H and 01LS2101F);

ASMASYS, a project funded by the German Federal Ministry of Education and Research (grant agreement 03F0898E).

Lead institutions:



PROJECT TEAM

Executive Team

Oliver Geden (German Institute for International and Security Affairs, SWP)

Matthew J. Gidden (International Institute for Applied Systems Analysis, IIASA)

William F. Lamb (Mercator Research Institute on Global Commons and Climate Change, MCC)

Jan C. Minx (Mercator Research Institute on Global Commons and Climate Change, MCC)

Gregory F. Nemet (University of Wisconsin-Madison)

Stephen M. Smith (University of Oxford)

Lead Authors: Stephen M. Smithⁱ, Oliver Gedenⁱⁱ, Matthew J. Giddenⁱⁱⁱ, William F. Lamb^{iv}, Gregory F. Nemet^v, Jan C. Minx^{iv}, Holly Buck^{vi}, Josh Burke^{vii}, Emily Coxⁱ, Morgan R. Edwards^v, Sabine Fuss^{iv}, Injy Johnstoneⁱ, Finn Müller-Hansen^{iv}, Julia Pongratz^{viii, ix}, Benedict S. Probst^{x, xi, xii}, Stephanie Roe^{xiii}, Felix Schenuitⁱⁱ, Ingrid Schulte^{iv}, Naomi E. Vaughan ^{xiv}.

Co-Authors:

Laura Diaz Anadon^{xi}, Stephanie Arcusa^{xv}, Rob Bellamy^{xvi}, Annette Cowie ^{xvii, xviii}, Lushanya Dayathilakeⁱ, Tim Engelmann^x, Gaurav Ganti^{xix}, Thomas Gasserⁱⁱⁱ, Giacomo Grassi^{xx}, Jenna Greene^v, Tomoko Hasegawa^{xxi}, Verena Hofbauer^{xxii}, Volker Hoffmann^x, Robert Höglund^{xviii}, Dianne Hondeborg^x, Kathleen M. Kennedy^{xxiv}, Sarah Lück^{iv}, Tim Repke^{iv}, Leo Mercer^{vii}, Naser Odeh^{xxv}, Yuki Ochi ^{xxvi}, Roberto Pilli ^{xxvii}, Rosa M. Roman-Cuesta^{xx}, Jessica Strefler ^{xxviii}, Kavita Surana^{xxix}, Masa Sugiyama^{xxx}, Kristen Schell^{xxxi}, Clemens Schwingshackl^{viii}, Harry Smith^{xiv}, Malte Toetzke^x, Zachary H. Thomas^v, Nadine Walsh^{xxxii}, Andrew Zaiser^v, Qi Zheng^{xxxiii}

xx Joint Research Centre (JRC) of the European Commission

xxiii CDR.fyi

xxiv University of Maryland

xxv King Abdullah Petroleum Studies and Research Center

xxvi E-Konzal

xxvii Consultant to the European Commission, Joint Research Centre

xxviii Potsdam Institute for Climate Impact Research, PIK

xxix Vienna University of Economics and Business

- xxx University of Tokyo
- xxxi Carleton University
- xxxii FernUniversität Hagen

xxxiii International Institute for Sustainable Development, IISD

i University of Oxford

ii German Institute for International and Security Affairs, SWP

iii International Institute for Applied Systems Analysis, IIASA

iv Mercator Research Institute on Global Commons and Climate Change, MCC

v University of Wisconsin-Madison

vi University at Buffalo

vii Grantham Research Institute, London School of Economics

viii Ludwig-Maximilians-Universität München, LMU

ix Max Planck Institute for Meteorology

x ETH Zurich

xi University of Cambridge

xii Max Planck Institute for Innovation and Competition

xiii World Wide Fund for Nature, WWF

xiv Tyndall Centre for Climate Change Research, University of East Anglia

xv Arizona State University

xvi University of Manchester

xvii New South Wales Department of Primary Industries

xviii University of New England

xix Climate Analytics

xxi Ritsumeikan University

xxii Carbon Gap

Cite as: Smith, S. M., Geden, O., Gidden, M. J., Lamb, W. F., Nemet, G. F., Minx, J. C., Buck, H., Burke, J., Cox, E., Edwards, M. R., Fuss, S., Johnstone, I., Müller-Hansen, F., Pongratz, J., Probst, B. S., Roe, S., Schenuit, F., Schulte, I., Vaughan, N. E. (eds.) *The State of Carbon Dioxide Removal 2024 - 2nd Edition*. DOI 10.17605/OSF.IO/F85QJ (2024)

The authors of this report wish to extend their gratitude to those who contributed through provision of data, analysis and review. Full details of these contributions can be found on the *State of Carbon Dioxide Removal* website <u>https://www.stateofcdr.org/</u>

Project Management, Editing & Design

Project Manager: Sarah Singleton (University of Oxford)

Interim Project Manager: Nadia Schroeder

Storyline editor: Roz Pidcock (Exalt Editing)

Line editors: Kate Heath and Emily Youers

Copy editor and Proofreader: Emily Youers

Visual identity & Executive Summary figures: Angela Morelli and Tom Gabriel Johansen (*InfoDesignLab*)

Report and Figures 1.3 & 1.4 design: Liliana Resende (University of Oxford)

Website design and communications support: George Hope, Helen Bunting and Tom Pilsworth (University of Oxford)

© 2024. The State of Carbon Dioxide Removal report is licensed under a CC BY 4.0 license.

The views, opinions, findings, and conclusions or recommendations expressed in this report are strictly those of the authors. They do not necessarily reflect the views of funders or editors, who bear no responsibility for any errors or omissions in, or for the correctness of, the information contained herein, nor for any use that may be subsequently made of this.

Table of contents

Foreword	6
Executive summary	9
Chapter 1 Introduction	19
Chapter 2 Research and development	30
Chapter 3 Demonstration and upscaling	47
Chapter 4 The voluntary carbon market	67
Chapter 5 Policymaking and governance	87
Chapter 6 Perceptions and communication	104
Chapter 7 Current levels of CDR	124
Chapter 8 Paris-consistent CDR scenarios	141
Chapter 9 The CDR gap	162
Chapter 10 Monitoring, reporting and verification	182
References	205
Glossary	217
Abbreviations	220

Foreword



As the impacts of climate change are taking place in real time across the world today, the scientific consensus is becoming increasingly clear that in addition to reducing emissions and meeting our global climate goals we will need to remove CO_2 from the accumulating pool in the atmosphere. This report provides important insights to the novice and CDR enthusiast-alike, who want to understand where CDR stands today and what challenges need to be addressed to scale the industry.

I have played multiple roles in the field of CDR, from researcher and teacher, author and speaker, to my four-year role as the Principle Deputy Assistant Secretary (PDAS) in DOE's Office of Fossil Energy and Carbon Management. In my most recent role as PDAS I assisted in shaping funding for scaling up durable removal across the broad CDR portfolio and recruiting those with expertise to do so. From piloting and demonstrating projects to moving from lab to commercial scale, in both my academic career and in government, I have worked on and seen the potential of large scale decarbonization plans that reduce the need for CDR. Nonetheless, the fact is all CDR approaches – biologic, mineral, chemical – as they scale up, will need to be coupled with accurate frameworks for measurement and monitoring, reporting, and verification (MMRV). These frameworks are essential to get right to ensure that the removals are "durable," e.g., are additional and take place on a timescale that impacts climate.

The authors of *The State of Carbon Dioxide Removal* Edition 2 report represent a diverse mix of perspectives with expertise spanning climate science, engineering, economics, and policy. The report also includes several authors with deep expertise in social science, which will be increasingly important as CDR projects move beyond R&D and toward demonstrations where they begin to grapple with the real-world challenges associated with effective community engagement and project siting. In addition, given that decarbonization efforts will be taking place in parallel to CDR, it becomes critically important to consider land, water, and low-carbon energy resources and prioritizing emissions reductions first and foremost, so that CDR scale-up does not limit the pace of overall decarbonization.

This report establishes the building blocks needed to responsibly estimate the scale of CDR achievable, in the timeframe needed, and that will exist along with other decarbonization efforts. It highlights the myriad components that will be critical as we continue building out and scaling up CDR over the next decade. CDR is no one's first choice for climate restoration - it is the contingency, the backup plan. We know we will need it, but it is still unclear what its true scale of application will ultimately become. The question of scale for requirements in 2050 is fundamentally unknowable. The true scale of CDR required will be dictated by how rapidly direct decarbonization alternatives scale, what the energy demand will be, what CDR cost reductions occur, and what barriers to future deployment

will arise. Therefore, we should plan for a range of scenarios over the next decade and identify the pathways that will lead to the best options to scale CDR in the future. These pathways should include as many "no regrets" activities as possible: bringing technology to commercial demonstration, creating robust MMRV standards and technology, developing community and workforce benefit models, creating policies to incentivize demand at small but meaningful scale. This approach won't compete against mitigation approaches that are growing and gaining momentum and will give us a decade to sharpen our focus on how much CDR we will truly need to design all in efforts for effective deployment policies in the future.

How technology innovation must focus across the portfolio, where focus is needed to scaleup and what growth rates should be reasonably expected – these are all key questions that the report seeks to address. And among these crucial questions, the authors drive home the importance of communities, workers, and social impacts considerations for project development, as well as the policies that will be needed for scaling CDR while protecting against unintended consequences. At the end of the day, CDR at scale needs to include projects that take care of people, that include benefits from that flow to community members in the form of workforce development and growth, air pollution reduction, climate adaptation and mitigation, and resilience building.

If you are a newcomer to the field, this report will be a great introduction, and if you are already involved in the world of CDR, this report will ensure you are up to speed! I hope that you enjoy reading it as much as I did.

Jennifer Wilcox

Presidential Distinguished Professor of Chemical Engineering and Energy Policy at the University of Pennsylvania

Jennifer Wilcox

THE STATE OF Carbon Dioxide Removal

A global, independent scientific assessment of Carbon Dioxide Removal

2nd EDITION | 2024

A collaboration led by Oliver Geden (German Institute for International and Security Affairs, SWP), Matthew J Gidden (International Institute for Applied Systems Analysis, IIASA), William F Lamb (Mercator Research Institute on Global Commons and Climate Change, MCC), Jan C Minx (Mercator Research Institute on Global Commons and Climate Change, MCC), Gregory F Nemet (University of Wisconsin-Madison) and Stephen M Smith (University of Oxford)

Executive summary

1. Meeting the Paris Agreement's long-term temperature goal requires rapid greenhouse gas emission reductions and near-term scale-up of carbon dioxide removal (CDR).

Greenhouse gas emissions continued to grow in 2023. This trend is incompatible with the Paris Agreement on climate change, regardless of how much CDR countries choose to deploy. The most important mitigation strategy in the near term is reducing emissions.

Alongside rapidly reducing emissions, *removing* carbon dioxide (CO_2) from the atmosphere is also necessary to meet climate goals. Precisely how much CDR will be needed, and where it will be deployed, depends on an array of factors, including the peak temperature reached as well as how quickly and by how much emissions are reduced.

Although the Paris Agreement states that climate change mitigation must be done "in the context of sustainable development", most scenarios do not explicitly consider social and environmental sustainability. We therefore identified a subset of scenarios that can be considered "more sustainable". Across this group of scenarios, the central range of CDR deployment is 7 to 9 GtCO₂ per year in 2050. The lowest scenarios reach 4 GtCO₂ per year in 2050. While this range is similar in 2050 to that for all below 2°C scenarios, the more sustainable scenarios cumulatively remove 170 GtCO₂ between 2020 and the time of net zero CO₂, compared with 260 GtCO₂ cumulatively in all below 2°C scenarios.

Carbon dioxide removal is a feature of all 1.5°C scenarios that meet the Paris temperature goal, in addition to reducing emissions



2. Some CDR deployment is occurring, albeit at a low level.

CDR is human activity that captures CO_2 from the atmosphere and stores it for decades to millennia. There are many CDR methods, which cover a variety of ways to capture and store CO_2 . These methods have different levels of readiness, potential and durability. Each method has sustainability risks that could limit its long-term deployment. When deployed alongside measures to explicitly address sustainability risks, some methods can provide benefits beyond climate change mitigation.

Around 2 GtCO₂ per year of CDR is taking place already. Almost all of this comes from conventional CDR methods – those methods that are well established and widely reported by countries as part of land use, land-use change and forestry (LULUCF) activities – principally through afforestation/reforestation. These methods have delivered a relatively stable rate of CDR over the past two decades. Novel CDR methods – which are generally at an earlier stage of development than conventional CDR – contribute 1.3 million tons (0.0013 Gt) of CO₂ removal per year. That is less than 0.1% of total CDR, but novel

methods are growing more rapidly than conventional methods, despite a downward revision in our estimates compared with *The State of Carbon Dioxide Removal* 1st edition. Of this 1.3 million tons, less than 0.6 million tons per year involves geological storage of CO₂, which represents some of the most durable forms of CDR.



Only a tiny fraction of all carbon dioxide removal results from novel methods

Total amount of carbon dioxide removal, split into conventional and novel methods (GtCO₂/yr)

Amount of carbon dioxide removal (CDR) is the sum of conventional CDR (2013-2022) and novel CDR (2023)

3. To scale up CDR, innovative activity needs to intensify, of which we see robust evidence.

Innovation here is broadly construed: a sequence of interconnected activities, characterized by technology push and demand-pull factors, all influenced by policymaking and public perceptions. Innovation is key to scaling up CDR, as well as to improving its sustainability, for example through increasing removal efficiency.

Indicators of innovation show that activity is generally intensifying, although with some recent slowdowns:

- Research: Steady growth is seen in grant funding for CDR research projects (14% per year) and publications (19% per year). Both cover an increasingly diverse portfolio of CDR methods.
- Inventions: After a period of rapid growth, patents in CDR have declined since 2010. However, patents have become more diverse and novel methods play a larger role.
- Demonstrations: Some major demonstration programmes have launched recently, in the US (the Regional Direct Air Capture Hubs programme) and at the international level through Mission Innovation.

• Startups: Investment in CDR startups has grown significantly over the past decade, outpacing the climate-tech sector as a whole – although it declined in 2023, and CDR accounts for just 1.1% of investment in climate-tech start-ups.

• Company announcements: Companies show ambition to reach, by mid-century or sooner, levels of CDR consistent with meeting the Paris temperature goal, albeit with little grounds for credibility at present.

• Market activity: The voluntary carbon market is a nascent but growing source of demand for novel CDR. Conventional CDR from afforestation saw a drop in issuances and retirements in 2023, while purchase agreements grew sevenfold for future delivery of CDR via novel methods.

Because CDR methods carry different risks and benefits, and because it is uncertain how much CDR will be needed, deploying a diverse portfolio of methods is a more robust strategy than focusing on just one or two methods. Indicators of research, invention and investment in startup companies show evidence of diversification across CDR methods. However, current deployment and national proposals for future implementation are more concentrated on a few conventional methods. In addition, many modelled mitigation scenarios still represent only a limited set of CDR methods.

Indicators of carbon dioxide removal (CDR) development show an emerging diversity of conventional and novel methods that is not yet seen in current deployment or national proposals



Deployment of carbon dioxide removal (CDR) is the sum of conventional CDR (2013-2022) and novel CDR (2023)

13

4. To increase CDR innovation and scale-up, policies are needed that create demand for carbon removals.

Several jurisdictions are developing policies for CDR. These are often embedded in broader policy landscapes, for example as part of agricultural and industrial policy.

We see active efforts in technology push policy for CDR as evidenced by support for:

- Research projects
- Demonstration projects
- Emerging international coordination

But demand-pull policies, which would create demand for CDR, remain weak:

- Countries' nationally determined contributions and long-term strategies submitted to the UNFCCC contain few mentions of policies that would create considerable demand for CDR.
- Monitoring, reporting and verification (MRV), which is important for facilitating transactions in CDR markets, is not fully developed at present.

While CDR is starting to get more attention from policymakers in G20 countries, the voluntary carbon market is playing a key role in scaling up CDR. This is especially true for novel methods, although these still represent only a small fraction of total market-based CDR.

International collaboration on CDR is gaining momentum, for instance through Mission Innovation's CDR Launchpad, initiated in 2022. Proactively coordinating activities, policies and expectations has been important in developing analogous technologies, such as renewables.

5. Public awareness of CDR has been rising.

To develop and deploy CDR ethically and effectively, in many jurisdictions it is crucial to understand public perceptions.

Coverage of CDR in English-language social media and news media has grown rapidly, although news media coverage peaked in 2021 and declined in 2022 and attention on Twitter/X rose only slightly from 2021 to 2022. Coverage focuses on particular methods in particular countries, for example soil carbon sequestration in Australia and direct air capture in the US.

Key factors that influence public attitudes on CDR are perceptions of "naturalness" and ecosystem impacts, along with people's underlying values and beliefs – including about climate change.

Engaging actively with a variety of publics is both an opportunity and a challenge for CDR adoption and policy. Best practices are emerging that can enable practitioners to communicate responsibly about CDR.

6. Monitoring, reporting and verification (MRV) protocols are varied, proliferating and essential for scaling up CDR.

Robust MRV provides CDR activities with credibility and transparency, which are crucial to effective voluntary carbon markets, government-created markets, regulations and national reporting. However, at present the MRV ecosystem consists of many overlapping protocols, making comparison and oversight difficult.

MRV policymaking differs among jurisdictions. For example, the EU and the UK have prioritized developing CDR standards and guidelines; the US, meanwhile, has focused on scaling up market-ready CDR and developing MRV tools for specific applications, such as marine CDR. The voluntary carbon market has played a leading role, with projects developing methods for monitoring, reporting and verifying CDR projects.

We identified 102 MRV protocols for CDR. Sixty-three percent of these are for conventional CDR, 65% are for voluntary markets, and 58% are for international activity. Forty percent were developed since 2022.

The forthcoming IPCC methodology report (on CDR methods beyond LULUCF, carbon capture and storage, and carbon capture and utilization) is expected to outline a framework for including novel CDR methods in national inventories. This framework will likely guide best practice in the voluntary carbon market and the development of national policies.

7. There continues to be a gap between the amount of CDR in scenarios that meet the Paris temperature goal and the amount of CDR in national proposals.

This report tracks the amount of CDR being proposed by governments, compared with the amount in scenarios that meet the Paris temperature goal. *Proposals* here includes the nationally determined contributions and long-term strategies that countries have submitted to the UNFCCC. The amount of CDR proposed falls short of what is required to meet the Paris temperature goal – this is the CDR gap. However, the CDR gap is small when the most ambitious national proposals are compared with levels in the 1.5°C with no novel CDR scenario. The CDR gap for the three scenarios that more sustainably limit global temperature rise 0.9–2.8 GtCO₂ per year in 2030 and 0.4–5.4 GtCO₂ per year in 2050.

The actual gap is likely higher, because scenarios assume that significant emission reductions are already taking place, when in fact global emissions have continued to rise. Up to 1.5 GtCO_2 per year of additional mitigation through emission reductions and CDR is required by 2050 to compensate for these missed reductions in the case of the 1.5° C with no novel CDR scenario. Meeting this additional mitigation requirement partly through CDR would imply a larger gap. There are limits, however, to CDR's capability to counteract inadequate efforts to reduce emissions.

The CDR gap can be closed by rapidly reducing emissions, scaling up a portfolio of both conventional and novel CDR methods, and explicitly integrating sustainability considerations into CDR policy. Continuing efforts to track the state of CDR – including gathering more precise and geographically disaggregated information on key indicators of CDR scale-up – can facilitate closing the CDR gap.

There is a J gap between proposed levels of carbon dioxide removal and what is needed to meet the Paris temperature goal

Carbon dioxide removal (GtCO₂/yr), proposed levels compared to three Paris-consistent 1.5°C scenarios in 2030 and 2050



There is a J gap between proposed levels of conventional and novel carbon dioxide removal and what is needed to meet the Paris temperature goal



Conventional carbon dioxide removal (GtCO₂/yr), proposed levels compared to three Paris-consistent 1.5°C scenarios in 2030 and 2050

Novel carbon dioxide removal (GtCO₂/yr), proposed levels compared to three Paris-consistent 1.5°C scenarios in 2030 and 2050





1

Oliver Geden,ⁱ Stephen M. Smith,ⁱⁱ Annette Cowie^{iii,iv}

- ⁱ German Institute for International and Security Affairs
- " University of Oxford
- ⁱⁱⁱ New South Wales Department of Primary Industries
- [™] University of New England

Cite as: Geden, O., Smith, S. M., Cowie, A. Chapter 1: Introduction. in **The State of Carbon Dioxide Removal 2024 – 2nd Edition** (eds. Smith, S. M. et al.). <u>https://www.stateofcdr.org</u>, doi:10.17605/OSF.IO/E5M86 (2024).

Chapter 1 | Introduction

Carbon dioxide removal (CDR) will be necessary to limit climate change, alongside reducing emissions. This report builds on the previous edition to track CDR development, strengthen core concepts and build a community around access to reliable CDR data.

Climate change is mainly being driven by emissions of carbon dioxide (CO_2) to the atmosphere. These emissions come from human activities such as fossil fuel burning, land-use changes and industrial processes. Emissions of other greenhouse gases, such as methane and nitrous oxide, are exacerbating climate change further.

Meeting the Paris temperature goal – to limit global temperature rise to well below 2°C above pre-industrial levels and pursue efforts to limit the increase to 1.5°C – primarily requires rapid, deep and widespread reductions in emissions. CO₂ emissions have a very long-lasting effect on the climate, causing global temperature to rise and stay elevated for millennia. Halting the rise in global temperature will therefore involve bringing emissions of CO₂ down to net zero. Whereas emission reduction seeks to limit the amount of CO₂ newly released to the atmosphere, CDR involves taking previously emitted CO₂ out of the atmosphere.

This chapter sets out the purposes of this report and how CDR is defined within this assessment. It also outlines the characteristics of key CDR methods and highlights the updates and upgrades that have been made since *The State of Carbon Dioxide Removal* 1st edition, published in 2023.

1.1 Why CDR?

Alongside rapidly reducing greenhouse gas emissions, CO_2 will need to be *removed* from the atmosphere to meet climate goals.

In conjunction with deep, rapid and sustained reductions in greenhouse gas emissions, CDR can fulfil three major functions at national and global levels (see Figure 1.1):¹⁻³

- In the near term, CDR can help reduce net emissions.
- In the medium term, CDR can counterbalance residual emissions to achieve net zero CO₂ or net zero greenhouse gas emissions.
- In the longer term, if removals exceed emissions, CDR can help achieve netnegative emissions. If global temperature rise exceeds acceptable levels, sustained

net-negative CO_2 emissions in conjunction with deep reductions of non- CO_2 emissions could reverse at least some of this temperature overshoot at the global level. At national levels, achieving net-negative CO_2 or even net-negative greenhouse gas emissions may be seen as a fair contribution towards the Paris temperature goal.



Greenhouse gas emissions (stylized pathway)

Figure 1.1 Roles of carbon dioxide removal (CDR) in ambitious mitigation strategies, applicable at national and global levels. Basic emission and removal components of mitigation pathways, and the corresponding trajectories for both net carbon dioxide (CO₂) and greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions. (Adapted from Babiker et al., 2022.)⁴

Methods for the removal of other greenhouse gases are being proposed in the scientific literature but are generally at a much earlier stage of development. Removing gases like methane or nitrous oxide is particularly challenging because, although powerful greenhouse gases, they are present at very low concentrations in the atmosphere.^{5,6}

1.2 Purpose and scope of this report

Research, innovation, investment, policymaking and deployment related to CDR all continue to develop rapidly.

The topic of CDR continues to climb up the agendas of policymakers, investors, researchers and environmental campaigners. Consequently, information about CDR continues to increase, including academic assessments,^{4,7-11} introductory books,¹² purchases of removal credits,^{13,14} recommendations from business groups and consultancies,¹⁵⁻¹⁸ and briefings from NGOs.¹⁹⁻²¹

The State of Carbon Dioxide Removal 1st edition was released in January 2023, providing a comprehensive global assessment of developments in CDR. The aim of the report was to inform and guide the further development of CDR by providing a clear, independent and authoritative assessment of available data. The response to the first edition has shown that there is indeed a need for such an assessment and for up-to-date tracking of global developments in CDR.

Since then, interest in the topic of CDR has accelerated further, including around aspects not covered in the first edition, such as voluntary markets and monitoring, reporting and verification. Many other features of the state of CDR are changing rapidly and have evolved since the first edition.

This second edition therefore continues the assessment of CDR development, based on publicly available data. Box 1.1 outlines how the report's approach has been strengthened since the first edition. In the next three chapters, the report assesses the state of CDR in terms of research and development (Chapter 2), demonstration and upscaling (Chapter 3) and the voluntary carbon market (Chapter 4). The report then examines different policy approaches and commitments by governments to develop CDR (Chapter 5) and reviews how public perceptions are evolving (Chapter 6). The subsequent four chapters look at the amount of CDR being deployed currently (Chapter 7); the amount of CDR required by pathways that meet the Paris temperature goal (Chapter 8); the *CDR gap* between current levels of CDR, government proposals and the pathways to the Paris temperature goal (Chapter 9); and emerging practices for monitoring, reporting and verification of CDR (Chapter 10).

The report aims to provide a clear, authoritative and up-to-date snapshot of the state of CDR, serving as an information resource for people making decisions about CDR and its role in meeting climate goals. Starting with this edition, the *State of Carbon Dioxide Removal* assessments will be accompanied by a freely available data portal for use by anyone with an interest in CDR (accessible via <u>https://portal.stateofcdr.org/</u>).

It remains the intention of the authors that this report be part of a continuing effort to track the development of CDR, expanding the breadth and depth of the assessment to be truly global in scope, while attentive to national differences, and building a community around making CDR data more complete, reliable and accessible.

Box 1.1 Points of departure from The State of Carbon Dioxide Removal 1st edition

To provide a coherent and comprehensive picture of the state of CDR, this edition adopts a model drawn from theories of innovation.⁹ In this model, new technologies and practices evolve from a sequence of interlinked processes that feed back and build on one another (see Figure 1.2). These stages can be broadly split into factors affecting the supply of such technologies and practices (research and development, demonstration, and upscaling) and factors affecting demand (niche markets, demand pull, and public perceptions). Many of these factors are influenced by policymaking and governance.



Figure 1.2 The process of innovation on which the State of Carbon Dioxide Removal assessment is based. R&D = research and development.

Revised chapter structure. The structure of the report has been updated to reflect this model of CDR development. The first edition contained separate chapters on research and innovation; these have now been merged. Two new chapters have been introduced: one on demonstration and upscaling and one on the voluntary carbon market (currently the predominant niche market for CDR). An extra chapter on monitoring, reporting and verification has also been introduced. Future editions may similarly include special chapters on other topics.

Core indicators. The State of CDR team has defined a comprehensive set of indicators covering important elements of the development stages for CDR and intends to continue tracking them in the coming years. These indicators cover, for example, levels of current CDR deployment, deployment targets announced by the private sector, CDR patents, public research and development funding, CDR volumes pledged or indicated in government proposals, and CDR in global mitigation scenarios. The underlying data are accessible via <u>https://portal.stateofcdr.org/</u>.

Key improvements. The first edition highlighted a number of opportunities to expand the breadth of the expert communities involved in the assessment and to improve the quality of the data and analysis. Key improvements in this second edition include:

- An expanded author team of over 50 people (compared to 26 for the first edition), covering a wider range of geographies and expertise
- Tracking of research grants as a metric for early-stage research and development investments in CDR
- Tracking of policy developments across a broader, more representative set of countries
- Analysis of public perceptions through news media as well as Twitter/X
- Improved approaches to estimating current levels of CDR, drawing on a wider range of sources and aligning with another major scientific initiative: the Global Carbon Budget
- Greater attention to sustainable development and the role of residual emissions in assessing requirements for the future scale of CDR

1.3 How this report defines CDR

CDR is human activity that captures CO_2 from the atmosphere and stores it for decades to millennia.

This report adopts the definition of CDR used by the IPCC:²²

Human activities capturing CO_2 from the atmosphere and storing it durably in geological, land or ocean reservoirs or in products. This includes human enhancement of natural removal processes but excludes natural uptake not caused directly by human activities.

This report's definition of CDR thus follows three key principles:

- **Principle 1:** The CO₂ captured must come from the atmosphere, not from fossil sources (see Box 1.2).
- **Principle 2:** The subsequent storage must be durable, such that CO_2 is not soon reintroduced to the atmosphere (see Section 1.4).
- **Principle 3:** The removal must be a result of human intervention, additional to the Earth's natural processes.

It is important to distinguish CDR from other related terms and concepts, such as carbon capture and utilization (CCU) and carbon capture and storage (CCS). CCU and CCS share some components with some methods of CDR, but they do not necessarily result in durable net removal of CO_2 from the atmosphere (see Box 1.2). Examples of how different activities meet, or fail to meet, the principles of CDR are shown in Figure 1.3.



Figure 1.3 To be defined as carbon dioxide removal (CDR), a method must capture carbon dioxide (CO_2) from the atmosphere (Principle 1) and durably store it (Principle 2) as a result of human intervention (Principle 3). An example is direct air capture with geological storage (panel A). Several related approaches satisfy only one of these principles and hence are not CDR. For instance, direct air capture of CO_2 for use in short-lived products such as fuels does not meet Principle 2 (panel B). Capture and geological storage from sources of fossil CO_2 emissions does not meet Principle 1 (panel C). Natural processes such as tree growth can meet Principles 1 and 2, but they only meet Principle 3 and count as CDR if enhanced through human activity (panel D).

Box 1.2 Differentiating between CCS, CCU and CDR

To count as CDR, the activity in question must capture CO_2 from the atmosphere (Principle 1) and durably store it (Principle 2). It must also be a human intervention, in addition to the Earth's natural processes (Principle 3).

Carbon capture and storage (CCS) is a set of industrial methods for the chemical capture of CO_2 , the concentration of this CO_2 into a pure stream and its subsequent geological storage, meeting Principle 2. When the CO_2 comes directly from fossil fuels or minerals (e.g. limestone), this process does not meet Principle 1 and counts as an emission reduction rather than CDR. In climate policy and research, the term CCS is sometimes reserved only for such applications. CCS can, however, be applied to CO_2 streams from the combustion of biomass, from seawater, or from the air, in which case the overall process would meet both Principle 1 and Principle 2 and count as CDR. This report refers to the first form of CCS as *fossil CCS* to distinguish it from the forms of CCS that *can* count as CDR.

Carbon capture and utilization (CCU) is a set of industrial methods for the capture of CO_2 and its conversion into products. If this CO_2 comes from the atmosphere, rather than from fossil or mineral sources, then it meets Principle 1. Many of these products, however, such as carbonated drinks or fuels, store carbon only for a matter of days or months before it is released back into the atmosphere. But some products, such as concrete aggregates and timber for construction, do involve durable storage, thereby also meeting Principle 2.

1.4 CDR methods and their characteristics

There are many CDR methods, covering a variety of ways to capture and store CO_2 . These methods differ in their level of readiness, sequestration potential and durability.

Each CDR method can be thought of as a particular route through the Earth's carbon cycle – capturing carbon from the atmosphere and transferring it to durable carbon pools. Each of these pools has a different characteristic timescale for how long it will store carbon. CDR methods also differ in their readiness for scaling and their biophysical or technical sequestration potential (see Figure 1.4).

Routes through the carbon cycle

CDR methods use a range of capture processes and storage pools. Between capture and ultimate storage, carbon may be converted and transferred through a number of these carbon pools. Some methods involve multiple steps, while others combine capture and storage in a single step.

 CO_2 sinks

Processes that carry out the initial capture of CO_2 from the atmosphere are often referred to as *sinks*.

Biological capture. Through the process of photosynthesis, CO₂ is taken up from the atmosphere and converted into biomass. On land, this capture occurs in trees, vegetation

and agricultural crops. It also occurs in aquatic habitats such as mangrove or kelp forests and seagrass meadows.

Geochemical capture. A range of non-biological chemical processes can also capture CO_2 . Some of these processes already occur as part of the Earth's natural carbon cycle. For example, through weathering, certain minerals react with atmospheric CO_2 to produce either solid carbonate minerals or, in the ocean, dissolved bicarbonate. Other processes involve chemicals from human industrial activity. These can be alkaline wastes – for instance, from cement and steel production – or solvents and sorbents designed specifically to capture CO_2 and then re-release it as a concentrated stream for use or storage.

Carbon pools

Vegetation, soils and sediments. Carbon can be stored in a number of ways on land. Although much vegetation does not sequester the carbon captured in its biomass for long, trees can retain the carbon they capture for many years. Soils and sediments contain carbon in several forms, including organic carbon compounds from the residues and remains of vegetation and animals, and inorganic carbon from weathered rocks. Human interventions can enhance the amount and durability of carbon on land, for example when biomass is converted to biochar.

Marine sediments. Sediments on the floor of the deep ocean can sequester carbon away from the atmosphere on long timescales. Organic carbon is deposited onto these sediments as the remains of vegetation and animals sink to the seabed.

Geological formations. Concentrated CO_2 streams generated from chemical capture can be injected into formations such as depleted oil and gas fields, saline aquifers or reactive mineral deposits underground. Various processes then act to sequester the CO_2 in these formations, including physical trapping by impermeable rocks, dissolving of the CO_2 in water, and eventual mineralization.

Minerals. Solid carbonate minerals are generated directly by some processes of geochemical capture, such as weathering or reaction with alkaline wastes. Another form of mineralized carbon is bicarbonate, which resides dissolved in water (principally in the ocean).

Built environment. Several products used in the construction of the built environment are durable stores of carbon. Timber has been used widely as a construction material for centuries and contains the carbon captured from the atmosphere by tree biomass. Solid carbonate minerals generated through atmospheric CO₂ capture can be used in products such as aggregates, asphalt, cement and concrete.

Durability

In this report, CDR methods are defined as sufficiently durable if the carbon pool used has a characteristic storage timescale on the order of decades or more. However, this approach to what counts as CDR is not definitive. Among policymakers and scientists there is, as yet, no clearly agreed definition of durable carbon storage (see Box 1.3), and expert interpretations are expected to evolve as research continues. Different carbon pools have very different characteristic timescales for carbon storage and different risks of reversal (i.e. re-releasing the carbon). Well-chosen geological and mineral formations offer the longest and least reversible storage. However, many other storage methods are widely regarded as valid for CDR, such as storage in trees and soils.

Box 1.3 Defining durable storage

The temperature-raising effect of fossil CO_2 emissions lasts for millennia. This is an important consideration in any effort to balance emissions and removals. Any storage for shorter than this very long timescale will only partially counterbalance fossil CO_2 emissions. Maintaining net zero CO_2 emissions – and hence halting global temperature rise – requires any residual emissions of fossil carbon to be balanced by capturing carbon from the atmosphere and storing it on the same millennial timescale.²³

There is currently, however, neither a clear scientific basis nor a consensus among policymakers for a threshold of storage durability that should be included in the definition of CDR. Geological formations and minerals have the longest characteristic storage timescales. They are also the least susceptible to releasing CO_2 into the atmosphere as a result of human and natural disturbances. In terms of like-for-like durability, they therefore offer the closest equivalence to emissions of fossil CO_2 . Storage for millennia may be the gold standard, but there are practical barriers to ensuring that projects endure for this long. Furthermore, shorter-term storage still has some value in meeting climate goals, although it is widely accepted that products which re-release carbon within a year (e.g. direct air capture to fuels, or biomass to food) are not CDR.

Existing policies by governments and voluntary standard setters have various minimum thresholds for storage, ranging from 25 years to 100 years. The IPCC Task Force on National Greenhouse Gas Inventories has been tasked to provide a methodology report on CDR, CCS and CCU during its current assessment cycle. This is expected to lead to guidance on how to account for CDR methods beyond land use, land-use change and forestry in national greenhouse gas inventories under the UNFCCC, taking differences in durability of storage into account. The *State of Carbon Dioxide Removal* assessment defines durability based on the characteristic storage timescale of the carbon pool used. A method is counted as CDR if the characteristic storage timescale is on the order of decades or more.

Figure 1.4 shows the characteristic storage timescales for different CDR methods. But the actual duration of storage depends not only on the general characteristics of the pool but also on human factors. For example, storage in soils could be reversed by a change in land use or extended through careful maintenance.

Categorizing CDR methods

The variety of processes for capturing and converting CO₂, and of options for its storage, means there are many potential methods of CDR. Figure 1.4 provides an overview of the key CDR methods considered in this report. While not exhaustive, this list is composed largely of methods that are already being deployed and/or those already analysed in the research literature. This report broadly follows the categorization and naming of methods used in the most recent IPCC assessment.⁴ Whenever a specific CDR method is referred to in this report, the associated definitions and characteristics shown in this figure apply. More detailed descriptions of these CDR methods can be found in the <u>Glossary</u>.





In the public debate, CDR methods are often grouped into categories for ease of reference. A common grouping is between "natural" or "nature-based" methods and "technological" or "engineered" methods. This categorization is contested, however, as well as blurred (a third "hybrid" category is frequently employed to cover methods that fall in between). There are a variety of ways in which CDR methods could be grouped, and there is as yet no universal agreement on classification. The rows in Figure 1.4 indicate different characteristics that are each useful to consider when categorizing CDR methods in different contexts, including in different parts of this report.

As in the first edition, this report refers to individual methods, where possible, or groups them by common measurable properties where necessary. The assessment continues to group CDR methods into two broad categories: conventional CDR and novel CDR. This categorization is based on a combination of the methods' characteristics: their current level of readiness for deployment, the scale at which they are currently deployed, and the type of carbon storage they employ.

Conventional CDR. This category encompasses CDR methods that are well established, already deployed at scale and widely reported by countries as part of land use, land-use change and forestry activities. The methods included in this group are afforestation/ reforestation; agroforestry; forest management; soil carbon sequestration in croplands and grasslands; peatland and coastal wetland restoration; and durable wood products.

Novel CDR. This category encompasses all other CDR methods. The captured carbon is stored in geological formations, the ocean or products. These methods generally have a lower level of readiness for deployment and are therefore currently deployed at smaller scales (see Chapter 7 – Current levels of CDR). Examples of such methods include bioenergy with carbon capture and storage, direct air carbon capture and storage, enhanced rock weathering, biochar, mineral products, and ocean alkalinity enhancement.



Jan C. Minx,ⁱ Benedict S. Probst,^{ii,iii,iv} Sarah Lück,ⁱ Finn Müller-Hansen,ⁱ Malte Toetzke,ⁱⁱⁱ Laura Diaz Anadon,^{iv} Tim Engelmann,ⁱⁱⁱ Jenna Greene,^v Volker H. Hoffmann,ⁱⁱⁱ Gregory F. Nemet,^v Tim Repkeⁱ

- [†] Mercator Research Institute on Global Commons and Climate Change [#] Max Planck Institute for Innovation and Competition
- III ETH Zurich
- ^{iv} University of Cambridge
- " University of Wisconsin-Madison

Cite as: Minx, J. C., Probst, B. S., Lück, S., Müller-Hansen, F., Toetzke, M., Diaz Anadon, L., Engelmann, T., Greene, J., Hoffmann, V. H., Nemet, G. F., Repke, T. Chapter 2: Research and development. in **The State of Carbon Dioxide Removal 2024 – 2nd Edition** (eds. Smith, S. M. et al.). <u>https://www.stateofcdr.org</u>, doi:10.17605/OSF.IO/4FGHP (2024).

Chapter 2 | Research and development

Investments in research and development (R&D) have been increasing steadily. Although there are signs of diversification, R&D remains concentrated in a few countries and on a few carbon dioxide removal (CDR) methods. While the number of scientific publications is growing rapidly, inventive activity has been in decline.

Key insights

• The number of active third party-funded research grants on CDR has grown steadily from fewer than 50 in the year 2000 to more than 1,160 in 2022. Conventional forest-based CDR methods, soil carbon sequestration and biochar continue to dominate CDR research grants.

• The cumulative value of all research grants between 2000 and 2022 is estimated to be \$2.6 (1.9–2.8) billion. Due to their larger project size, novel CDR methods such as direct air carbon capture and storage (DACCS) and bioenergy with carbon capture and storage (BECCS) receive sizeable shares of the financial support for R&D.

• Most third party-funded research grants on CDR are funded in Canada and the US. The number of research grants in non-EU European countries, such as Norway, Switzerland and the UK, are markedly higher than in the EU27, relative to the size of their populations.

• Scientific knowledge on CDR – measured as the number of research publications – has expanded more rapidly than both research funding and inventions.

• Biochar, soil carbon sequestration and afforestation/reforestation continue to dominate research publications on CDR. Over the last decade, publication output has expanded most rapidly for CDR methods such as DACCS, coastal wetland restoration, enhanced rock weathering and biochar.

• Inventions in CDR, measured as the number of international patent families, experienced rapid growth until 2011, but yearly inventions have since declined. This trend is mainly driven by lower growth in patents relating to BECCS. Yet inventions in novel CDR, particularly biochar, are playing an increasingly important role.

• Overall, R&D activities have grown steadily, with the exception of

high-value patents, and there are signs of diversification across CDR methods and geographies. However, this report continues to observe little R&D activity in ocean-based CDR or, geographically, in sub-Saharan Africa, Latin America and the Middle East.

The State of Carbon Dioxide Removal 1st edition highlighted that the pace of innovation in CDR is still modest compared with what is needed to meet the industry's own targets as well as the Paris temperature goal. Scaling up CDR in line with the Paris temperature goal will require a historic acceleration of innovation.^{25,26}

Assessing innovation provides an understanding of how CDR methods are evolving, how fast they might be deployed and how costs are changing. Innovation is a process, and its sequence of stages requires multiple metrics to assess (see also Chapter 1 – Introduction).⁹ However, innovation is not linear; feedback loops between these stages play an integral role.

R&D stands at the beginning of the innovation process and involves the discovery and assimilation of new scientific and technical knowledge.^{9,27,28} It comprises a series of activities that span fundamental research through to applied technology development, closer to commercialization.

This chapter assesses the state of R&D in CDR using three indicators: research grants, scientific publications and patents. The indicators capture different activities and involve multiple actors, such as public funding institutions and researchers and inventors in the public and private sectors. Tracking research grants provides an input-related metric of early-stage investments in R&D that helps characterize the level of effort being made to advance CDR and drive down costs. Numbers of scientific publications and patents are output-related metrics that characterize actual R&D efforts and their efficacy in advancing the knowledge base on CDR (scientific publications) and in driving potential commercialization (patents).

2.1 Investments in R&D for CDR

The number of CDR research grants is growing steadily, investing in an increasingly diversified portfolio of CDR methods.

Awards of research grants is a new indicator in this edition of *The State of Carbon Dioxide Removal.* It comprises information on the number of funded research projects and the amount of research funding (see Box 2.1). As such, it is a metric for early-stage R&D investments in CDR and can shed light on patterns of support for different CDR methods and on how different regions invest in CDR.

There has been substantial research investment in CDR, with 3,840 research grants on CDR in this report's data set between 1991 and 2022 (this does not include research funded via institutional core budgets). These grants come from 131 funding organizations, mainly public funders such as research councils, foundations and ministries, but also philanthropic organizations. The data set shows about 1,600 receiving research

organizations. Almost three-quarters of the research grants also report the value of the funding, which totals \$1.9 billion. This gives an average of about \$670,000 (10th to 90th percentile range: \$25,000-\$875,000) per project. This report therefore estimates the total third-party funding for CDR research to be about \$2.6 (1.9–2.8) billion (see Box 2.1).

Grant making in CDR has grown steadily in terms of the number of projects funded as well as the total financial support provided. The number of research grants for CDR has grown from 35 active grants during 2000 to 1,160 during 2022 (see Figure 2.1a). About 74% of all research grants on CDR in the data set started within the last ten years (2013–2022). This indicates an average annual growth in active CDR research grants of 5% over the last ten years (2013–2022) and about 14% over the last 20 years (2003–2022). The annual amount of research funding spent has grown from about \$5 million in 2000 to about \$190 million in 2022. The average annual growth was faster for the total amount of funding than for the number of projects, at 14% over the last ten years (2013–2022) and 16% over the last 20 years (2003–2022). It is hard to determine from the data why this might be the case, but increased levels of reported funding and a decrease in project duration may contribute to the trend.

Almost 70% of all active CDR research grants between 2000 and 2022 focus on soil carbon sequestration (35%) or biochar (33%). However, research grants have been diversifying over time (see Figure 2.1b): The shares of active biochar and soil carbon sequestration projects dropped to 30% and 22%, respectively, in 2022, while shares increased for many other CDR methods, such as direct air carbon capture and storage (DACCS) (11%), peatland restoration (8%), coastal wetland restoration (7%), enhanced rock weathering (5%) and bioenergy with carbon capture and storage (BECCS) (5%).

The amount of funding in monetary terms is more evenly spread across CDR methods, as some methods are more capital-intensive than others (e.g. BECCS, DACCS).

While soil carbon sequestration and biochar receive a sizeable chunk of the allotted funding (22% and 17%, respectively), some other novel CDR methods such as BECCS (18%) and DACCS (21%) receive similar shares (despite accounting for fewer projects), driven by R&D investments in more recent years. Ocean alkalinity enhancement and enhanced rock weathering have received comparatively little early-stage R&D support. Overall, a slight trend towards diversification of CDR research funding is observable over the 20-year analysis period.

Research investments in CDR are markedly higher in Canada and the US than in the EU27. Between 2000 and 2022, 40% of all active research grants on CDR and 59% of the research funding took place in Canada or the US. There are about three times more CDR research grant years, and their total value is about twice as high, in Canada and the US than in the EU27.

In addition, some non-EU European countries, including Norway, Switzerland and the UK, jointly support almost as many research grant years on CDR as all 27 countries of the EU combined. These non-EU European country grants jointly account for about 11% of global funding support, compared with 19% for the EU27. These non-EU European countries have the highest per capita funding levels across all regions. Growth in CDR funding is also

most dynamic in non-EU European countries in terms of both the number of grants and the volume of the funding. While the increase in the number of CDR grants funded in the EU27 between 2000 and 2022 was smaller than in Canada and the US, the amount of funding spent on CDR grew more dynamically. China funds many CDR projects, but the financial support reported is comparatively small. The average funding for a CDR project in China is \$74,000, compared with \$979,000 in Canada and the US, \$1,406,000 in the EU27 and \$582,000 in non-EU European countries. Factors driving these observed differences in the average size of the grants are difficult to determine and may be the result of the funding system, reporting issues or other factors.

Regions broadly follow the global trend of funding more research projects for biological CDR methods, but there are distinct patterns of specialization (see Figure 2.1c). Compared with the global average, there is a larger share of CDR research grants on soil carbon sequestration, DACCS and ocean fertilization in Canada and the US; in China, CDR research projects focus more on biochar and soil carbon sequestration. The EU27 invests in a larger share of CDR grants on BECCS and enhanced rock weathering as well as grants that deal with the broader or cross-cutting aspects of CDR (general CDR) than the global average. CDR research in Africa is more focused on biochar, afforestation/reforestation and coastal wetland restoration.







Figure 2.1 Growth in the number and value of grants for carbon dioxide removal (CDR) research: (a) Total number of active research grants and their total value between 2000 and 2022; (b) CDR methods being researched in these grants over time as a share of the total number of all active grants; (c) CDR methods by region of funding organization as share of active grant years. BECCS = bioenergy with carbon capture and storage; DAC(CS) = direct air capture (with or without carbon storage).

Box 2.1 Methods: Tracking early-stage R&D investments through third-party research grants

This report assesses early-stage, third-party R&D investments in CDR using data on research projects granted by funding bodies as listed in the Dimensions database.^{29,30} Comprehensive keyword searches were conducted for each of the CDR methods considered to download an initial set of about 9,600 grants potentially relevant to CDR research. A machine-learning classifier (ClimateBERT based on DistilRoBERTa),³¹ fine-tuned on a large set of annotated scientific abstracts, was then used to differentiate between CDR grants and grants related to CDR. A manually annotated test sample was used to evaluate this classifier, and good performance (F1-score = 0.8) was found. A multi-class model was used to annotate the CDR methods that each grant covers, which worked with moderate performance (F1-score = 0.67).

Other aspects analysed in the report – including the value of grants, the country of the funder and the receiving research organization, and the research fields – are provided directly in the Dimensions data. Data on the amount of funding were missing for 28% of the projects; these data were imputed using the average project funding and tested against CDR method-specific mean values. The 10th and the 90th percentile of the project value distribution were used to estimate a range that should reflect the uncertainties in the calculations.

While this report provides the most expansive effort to date to track earlystage third-party R&D investments in CDR, there are some important limitations (see Box 2.4).

2.2 Growth in scientific publications

Scientific publications on biochar and soil carbon sequestration continue to dominate CDR research. But publications on some other (novel) CDR methods – particularly DACCS, coastal wetland restoration and enhanced rock weathering – are increasing rapidly.

R&D comprises a series of activities to increase the stock of knowledge in a certain area and devise new applications from it. While the research grant indicators detailed in Section 2.1 focus on how early-stage R&D activities for CDR are supported across the world, this section examines indicators that try to measure R&D outputs.

The section first estimates research output on CDR as the total number of (Englishlanguage) scientific publications. While growth in scientific publications may not necessarily reflect an increase in the available knowledge, it is an indication of the interest in a field, the development of that interest over time and the opportunity for knowledge expansion. This edition of *The State of Carbon Dioxide Removal* sources the data from OpenAlex³² – a publicly available bibliographic database – rather than the Web of Science and Scopus, as used in the first edition. The numbers here are therefore different to those in the first edition of the report (see Box 2.2). But despite the overall numbers being lower in this edition, they remain broadly comparable with the first edition in terms of the observed numbers and trends.

Overall, this report finds a large body of scientific literature on CDR of about 27,000 English-language publications between 2000 and 2022 – mostly peer-reviewed articles, working papers and books. The entire universe of scientific publications, including all peerreviewed and non-peer-reviewed sources, could be as large as 50,000 publications.^{25,33}

Publication output on CDR continues to grow rapidly. The total annual number of scientific publications on CDR increased by 19% from about 3,900 in 2021 to about 4,700 in 2022 (see Figure 2.2a). Preliminary evidence suggests that growth will continue to about 5,300 scientific publications in 2023.

Research output in 2022 was 1.4 times larger than in 2020, eight times larger than in 2010 and more than 50 times larger than in 2000, when 77 scientific studies on CDR were published. High growth rates in CDR research publications have been maintained over the last two decades. The 19% increase in publication output between 2021 (the reference point in *The State of Carbon Dioxide Removal* 1st edition) and 2022 is broadly in line with the average annual growth during the last ten years (18%; 2013–2022) and the last 20 years (21%; 2003–2022). This rate is higher than the average growth in research output on climate change as a whole²⁵ and the growth in active CDR research grants and associated funding over the last ten and 20 years (see Section 2.1).

Three groups of CDR methods continue to dominate the scientific literature on CDR: biochar, soil carbon sequestration and afforestation/reforestation. Their joint overall share in the scientific CDR literature has increased from about 73% during the 2000s to about 83% during the 2010s (see Figure 2.2b). This increase has been driven by the rapid growth in biochar research over the last 20 years. Hence, while publication output is growing across all CDR methods, a long-term trend towards concentration rather than diversification is evident in CDR research publications.

However, signs of diversification in more recent years indicate that this trend might be changing. The share of research publications on biochar, soil carbon sequestration and afforestation/reforestation has started to decline, from 83% in 2020 to 81% in 2022. Publication output has tended to grow faster for novel CDR methods, with some exceptions. Fast annual average growth over the last decade (2013–2022) can be observed for DACCS (26% per year) and biochar (21% per year), but also coastal wetland restoration (25% per year) – all growing faster than the CDR field as a whole (18% per year). Strong growth is also observed in research outputs for the CDR methods with some of the smallest annual publication levels. Since 2020, scientific publications on ocean fertilization have more than quadrupled, while research output on DACCS, enhanced rock weathering and ocean alkalinity enhancement has more than doubled, strengthening these less developed bodies of scientific knowledge. Looking at the diversification trend of research funding across CDR methods in Figure 2.1 (panel b), there is good reason to believe that research publications could follow a similar pattern in coming years.

Almost 50% of all CDR research publications between 2000 and 2020 are from Asia – particularly China (30% of all CDR research publications) – mainly driven by research
on biochar and soil carbon sequestration. The share of CDR research publications from Europe (25%) is considerably higher than from Canada and the US (15%). The most dynamic growth patterns in CDR research publications over the last decade (2013–2022) can be observed for Africa (32% per year), China (26% per year) and the rest of Asia (30% per year), and Latin America (26% per year). Europe's growth in CDR research output (17% per year) tracks just below the average and remains higher than the rates observed for Canada and the US (10% per year). This report does not assess the quality of any of the publications.



Figure 2.2 Exponential growth in research output on carbon dioxide removal (CDR) over time: (a) Total number of scientific publications on CDR per year from 1990 to 2022 in the open-access bibliographic database OpenAlex; (b) Share of CDR methods mentioned in these scientific publications per year; (c) Share of CDR methods mentioned in scientific publications by region of first author. BECCS = bioenergy with carbon capture and storage; DAC(CS) = direct air capture (with or without carbon storage).

Box 2.2 Methods: Tracking scientific research on CDR

This report uses an AI-based approach to identify research publications on CDR in the English-language scientific literature.³⁴⁻³⁷ First, combinations of search terms (or search strings) were designed for each CDR method based on a comprehensive list of keywords. The search strings were then validated against a set of studies included in the IPCC Sixth Assessment Report, ensuring that these studies were returned by the literature search. Using these search strings, about 100,000 records were retrieved from OpenAlex – the largest open-access bibliographic database. The analysis in *The State of Carbon Dioxide Removal* 1st edition queried the Web of Science and Scopus. The results in the two editions are therefore not directly comparable.

For this edition, after the 100,000 records were retrieved, the title, abstract and keywords of 400–600 records per search string were manually screened and labelled with their suitability for inclusion (relevant/irrelevant) and the specific CDR method being studied. The labelled data were then used to train state-of-the-art machine-learning classifiers^{31,38} to predict a total of 27,000 relevant CDR research publications as well as the CDR methods covered within them. This automated approach enables a comprehensive search for scientific literature in bibliographic databases while still ensuring a high level of precision in the identification of relevant studies. This edition identifies slightly fewer studies than *The State of Carbon Dioxide Removal* 1st edition because of using a single bibliographic database and restricting the sample to the CDR methods specifically searched for.

While the machine-learning methodology used in this report allows a more comprehensive assessment of the state of scientific research on CDR, the analysis presented here has important limitations (see Box 2.4).

2.3 Patents: Inventive activity

After a period of rapid growth, inventions in CDR have declined, but novel CDR is playing an increasingly important role in inventive activity.

Like scientific papers, patents measure the output of the invention effort but are even closer to eventual commercialization. Inventors file patents at the end of the invention process once they plan to use their invention. While this is no guarantee of eventual commercialization, it can signal the intent to progress to commercial use. A patent grants an inventor exclusive right to the new technology but forces the inventor to reveal its underlying technical process. Patent documents therefore contain detailed descriptions of the technology, which allows researchers to identify, technically categorize and measure inventive dynamics over time. Box 2.3 describes how this report uses machine learning to analyse patent data, how this methodological approach has changed since *The State of Carbon Dioxide Removal* 1st edition, and how this report addresses the limitations inherent in patent data.

The filing of patents for CDR inventions experienced rapid growth between 2000 and 2010 but then started to slowly decrease (Figure 2.3a). The number of inventions grew

fairly steadily between 2000 and 2010, with annual patent filings more than quadrupling during that period. Since 2011, there has been a moderate decline in the average number of inventions per year, but annual patent filings in 2019 were still twice the average filings in 2000. The invention trend is in line with the evolution of high-value inventions observed across all climate technologies until 2017,³⁹ but climate-tech inventions have rebounded recently. The decline is partly driven by a fall in patenting efforts in BECCS (fuelled by those in carbon capture and storage more broadly), potentially due to overblown expectations of its large-scale deployment in the 2000s. Macroeconomic factors, such as fossil fuel and carbon prices declining around the same time, could also have played a role, but the exact reasons are unclear.

Inventions in CDR have diversified over the last two decades, but conventional CDR (e.g. afforestation/reforestation) continues to make up a sizeable share of inventions (see Figure 2.3b). The growth in patents until 2010 was primarily driven by BECCS (with annual filings growing approximately ten times between 2000 and 2010) but also by a broader portfolio of technologies, such as biochar, enhanced rock weathering and DACCS. Despite all CDR methods having seen an absolute decline in inventions over the last decade, several novel CDR methods (apart from BECCS) have seen a relative increase in importance (in terms of share of patents). This increase is particularly striking for biochar (growing from 14% in 2010 to around 24% in 2019) and coastal wetland restoration (growing from 1% to 11% in the same period). Yet several other CDR methods have continued to play a minor role: ocean fertilization and ocean alkalinity enhancement jointly accounted for only 3% of CDR inventions during the last decade. Overall, CDR inventions constitute around 1% of all inventions of climate change mitigation technologies.³⁹ The patent application process and data gathering process leads to truncated data; therefore, the last three years should not be seen as representative.

Regions show different patterns of specialization (see Figure 2.3c). Whereas Europe and Canada and the US focus heavily on inventions in BECCS (accounting for 41–48% of CDR patents in both regions), China and the rest of Asia show a greater emphasis on conventional CDR, such as soil carbon sequestration and afforestation/reforestation (together accounting for 33–39% of CDR patents in these regions). Biochar plays an important role across all regions, but it has the highest relative invention share in China (approximately 20% of all CDR inventions). DACCS is most important in Canada and the US, accounting for 7% of all CDR inventions. Coastal wetland restoration plays a more important role in China and the rest of Asia (accounting for 8–10% of CDR inventions). All other CDR methods (e.g. enhanced rock weathering, ocean fertilization) only account for approximately 10–15% of the global total of CDR inventions.

Geographically, CDR inventions are heavily concentrated in Canada and the US and in Europe. Both regions account jointly for 78% of CDR inventions, with Canada and the US featuring 44% and Europe 34% of inventions. Asia (excluding China) accounts for 12% of CDR inventions. China plays a minor role, with only 5% of all CDR inventions, but the country has recently seen increasing numbers of inventions across several CDR methods. The share of CDR patents in China is the same as its global share of climate change mitigation inventions more generally (approximately 5%).³⁹ Latin America, Africa and Oceania each account for less than 3% of inventions.

a) Annual patenting trends in CDR and all climate change mitigation inventions







c) Distribution of CDR inventions across geographies (2000 - 2022)



Figure 2.3 Technological and geographic trends in carbon dioxide removal (CDR) inventions as represented by patents: (a) Annual high-value inventions in CDR and climate change mitigation inventions (from Probst et al., 2021)³⁹ from 2000 to 2022; (b) Share

of high-value inventions across CDR methods; (c) Share of high-value inventions across inventor locations (i.e. where inventors currently work and live, which may be different from their country of birth). This report does not use the patenting office as a location as patents are territorial, and inventors may therefore gain patents directly in the most lucrative market (rather than their home country). The patent application process and data gathering process leads to truncated data; therefore, the last three years should not be seen as representative. Latin America, Africa and Oceania all account for 3% of inventions or less and are therefore omitted. Carbon capture and utilization and carbon capture and storage are not included, unless the underlying patent specifically refers to the use of CO_2 directly captured from ambient air or to biogenic CO_2 . DAC(CS) = direct air capture (with or without carbon storage).

Box 2.3 Methods: Tracking invention in CDR

The analysis in this report applies machine learning to patent data to measure inventive activity in CDR. Patents are a common metric used in the economics and innovation literature to measure inventions.⁴⁰⁻⁴² Patent abstracts contain a detailed description of the underlying technology. Patenting activity is one measure of innovation, and one with accessible data, but innovation can also occur outside what firms choose to patent. Invention, experimentation and learning can be retained as tacit knowledge and trade secrets.

This report uses patent data from the Worldwide Patent Statistical Database PATSTAT, which the European Patent Office maintains. The database contains more than 100 million patents from 90 patent authorities and is widely used in academic and industrial research. The coverage of the data is particularly comprehensive for industrialized countries but may underrepresent certain regions of the world (e.g. Africa).

This analysis used machine learning, and specifically natural language processing, to identify and classify relevant CDR inventions. Two machinelearning classifiers were used to identify and classify CDR patents. The first, a relevance classifier, determines for each patent in the database whether that patent relates to a CDR method. The relevance classifier uses the supervised learning model ClimateBERT. To train the ClimateBERT model,³¹ the research team manually annotated over 1,000 patents that covered all CDR methods, as well as patents not related to CDR. To ensure high-quality annotations, each patent was classified by at least two authors. Differences in individual annotations were resolved via discussion. After the relevance classifier identified potentially relevant patents, the more compute-intensive GPT-4 model⁴³ was used as a *technology classifier* to map each potential CDR patent to specific CDR methods. In contrast to The State of Carbon Dioxide Removal 1st edition, which relied on keywords and patent codes, this machine learningbased approach enabled the identification of substantially more relevant patents.

The analysis follows Probst et al., 2021,³⁹ in using international patent families to provide an international comparison of patenting activity. An invention is typically protected by multiple individual patents, referred to as a patent family. International patent families cover this invention in at least two jurisdictions. Monitoring international patent families – rather than simply counting individual patents – addresses two limitations inherent in patent data: the heterogeneity of patent value (i.e. some patents are very valuable, but many are not) and cross-country differences in the propensity of

inventors to patent.

The analysis included all patents that could be used in the context of CDR, including technology components. However, carbon capture and storage patents were only included if they were explicitly used in the context of BECCS or DACCS. If the classifier put an invention into several categories (e.g. both afforestation/reforestation and soil carbon sequestration), the fractional counts were used to account for multi-classification (i.e. 0.5 was assigned to each technology class).

Box 2.4 Limitations and knowledge gaps

This report has identified areas on which future assessments can build, including:

• The estimates of investment in CDR research projects (Section 2.1) do not reflect all research funding on CDR, as the Dimensions database only includes third-party projects and does not cover institutional funding from universities and other research institutes.

• The search strategy for research projects includes all major CDR methods but is not fully exhaustive. Most importantly, the search does not cover carbon capture and utilization with long-term storage in products, or forest management or methods that have more recently gained attention, such as direct ocean carbon capture and storage.

• The geographic coverage of the Dimensions database for tracking research grants is not fully transparent, and uncertainties remain over the scope of investments covered in some regions, such as Latin America, Africa and Asia. The same applies for the patent data from PATSTAT.

• The classification of research grants by CDR method is not performed with very high accuracy, particularly for less frequently studied CDR methods as there are fewer annotations with which to train the machine-learning classifier.

• The machine-learning methodology for searching scientific research on CDR (Section 2.2) only returns articles with English-language abstracts.

• Although OpenAlex is one of the largest bibliographic databases, covering most peer-reviewed literature and including some of the major working paper collections, it is limited in its coverage of other non-peer-reviewed studies.

• For all indicators, this machine-learning approach does not work equally well across all CDR methods and across time, which could lead to some biases in the numbers, particularly for CDR methods for which there is currently little research.

• Patents are only one measure of inventive activity, and many inventors choose to protect their inventions with secrecy rather than patents.

• This analysis uses international patent families to control for differences in patent quality, yet even within this high-quality invention group, patent quality may be highly skewed.

- While inventive activity as proxied by international patent families has been in decline, the raw number of patent filings has increased steadily. But due to concerns around patent quality, this report only shows international patent families.
- Patent data are truncated due to the application process, so the data are less reflective of inventive activity from 2020 onward.

2.4 Outlook

Innovation activity has increased and diversified across CDR methods and geographies, but some CDR blind spots remain.

Spurring innovation in CDR is essential to close the CDR gap and meet the Paris temperature goal. Early-stage R&D efforts are a prerequisite to incentivizing continued inventive activity and pushing CDR methods towards greater commercialization and upscaling. Grants, scientific publications and high-value inventions are important – although not exhaustive – metrics with which to track the innovation process. The report's findings are synthesized in Figure 2.4, which indicates distinct countries, CDR method distributions, and growth trends across the three indicators.





In terms of geographic differences, three distinct R&D/innovation profiles seem to emerge, exemplified by Canada and the US, China, and Europe. These profiles are consistent, geographically, with recent research on the design of public institutions for energy innovation more generally. Like this report, that research found three different innovation models – the Asian, European and US models. Whether differences in the design of public institutions are partly responsible for different CDR innovation profiles could be an area of future research.⁴⁴

While Canada and the US account for almost half of CDR-related grants and highvalue inventions, the region's importance is less critical in the scientific publishing domain. This might indicate a more applied nature of Canadian and US grants or easier commercialization routes for Canadian and US scholars and inventors. For China, the reverse appears to be true. China produces more publications relative to grant volume but very few high-value inventions, which might indicate struggles to commercialize academic findings, possibly related to incentives for deployment. Europe, in contrast, looks relatively balanced across all three metrics. Asia (excluding China) features low levels of grants but high levels of publications and commercialization, potentially driven by private sector R&D, which is more difficult to track. Other world regions currently represent a small share of each of the three metrics. The low levels of grants in regions with little inventive activity (Africa, Latin America, and Oceania) could be a sign of inertia and indicate that the observed dynamics are unlikely to change in the foreseeable future.

In terms of CDR methods, diverging profiles can be observed across the three indicators. Grants and scientific publications are heavily focused on conventional CDR (around 40–50% relate to these methods), but novel CDR is a much stronger focus for inventions. Novel CDR methods might be easier to patent than conventional CDR methods as hardware-based technology inventions are more readily patentable than, for instance, a digital monitoring tool for carbon stores in forests.⁴⁵ Inventors might protect such inventions by secrecy rather than patents. Biochar is playing an increasingly important role across all indicators. The invention portfolio across CDR methods is more balanced than the grant and publication portfolios, indicating more diverse inventive activity relative to grants and publications.

Overall, over the last decade, a strong growth can be observed in CDR-related grants and publications, but a slowdown in inventions. The slowdown in inventions could be driven by multiple factors, such as global trends (e.g. low oil and carbon prices) or factors more specific to CDR. It is only possible to speculate on the CDR-specific reasons for the slowdown. Grants may have become less applied or may focus on novel CDR methods that are less mature, leading to a stronger increase in publication activity, but less patenting, as these methods are further away from commercialization.



Gregory F. Nemet,[†] Morgan R. Edwards,[†] Jenna Greene,[†] Lushanya Dayathilake,^{††} Zachary H. Thomas,[†] Kavita Surana,^{†††} Kathleen M. Kennedy,[†] Andrew Zaiser,[†] Benedict S. Probst^{v,vi,vii}

- ⁱ University of Wisconsin-Madison
- " University of Oxford
- " Vienna University of Economics and Business
- [™] University of Maryland
- ^v Max Planck Institute for Innovation and Competition
- vi ETH Zurich
- vii University of Cambridge

Cite as: Nemet, G. F., Edwards, M. R., Greene, J., Dayathilake, L., Thomas, Z. H., Surana, K., Kennedy, K. M., Zaiser, A., Probst, B. S. Chapter 3: Demonstration and upscaling. in *The State of Carbon Dioxide Removal 2024 – 2nd Edition* (eds. Smith, S. M. et al.). https://www.stateofcdr.org, doi:10.17605/OSF.IO/DPKSB (2024).

Chapter 3 | Demonstration and upscaling

Demonstration projects, investment in new firms and expectations of growth are key to scaling up carbon dioxide removal (CDR). There is evidence of increasing activity in all three, albeit with challenges to sustaining that growth for each.

Key insights

- Rapid growth in the number and capacity of demonstration plants is observed. Notably, the US has funded a 1 million ton per year direct air carbon capture and storage demonstration plant, with another currently in negotiations.
- These US direct air capture hubs are by far the most well-funded public demonstration programme. A new initiative from Mission Innovation, the CDR Launchpad, although encompassing less funding, provides a platform for future investment and knowledge-sharing.
- Investment in CDR startups has grown rapidly over the past decade but declined in 2023 alongside a drop in overall climate-tech investment. This highlights the effect of market volatility on investments.
- Growth in novel CDR startups surpasses growth in conventional CDR startups, but CDR startups as a whole report challenges that must be overcome for companies to grow and scale.
- CDR companies and industry groups have announced capacity targets that show ambition to reach significant levels of CDR by mid-century or sooner.
- Current data to track funding from both public and private sector entities – are sparse and incomplete. Better data are essential to understanding and managing the current CDR research, development and demonstration landscape and its outlook for the future.

The literature on innovation shows that demonstration projects and investment in new firms are central aspects of scaling up technologies from the invention phase (see Chapter 2 – Research and development) to their formative phase – between first commercialization and rapid scale-up – setting the stage for widespread adoption (see Chapter 8 – Parisconsistent CDR scenarios). This chapter tracks progress in the public funding of

demonstration programmes, investment in new startups, and expectations for growth in the coming years and decades.

3.1 Emerging public demonstration programmes

Demonstration plants play a key role in derisking technologies and setting the stage for widespread adoption.

Technology innovation is often described as moving through multiple stages. Between basic and applied research (see Chapter 2 – Research and development) and widespread adoption (see Chapter 8 – Paris-consistent CDR scenarios) are demonstration projects. These projects can demonstrate a technology's performance outside of the lab and provide experimentation and learning opportunities before that technology is widely deployed. Demonstration and pilot projects are typically distinguished by their size, with *demonstration* describing larger projects. At the demonstration stage, government funding is a key component to building plants, given the uncertainties of different technologies at this scale and the opportunities for firms to learn from one another, which provides incentives for firms to follow and observe rather than build first. These projects, therefore, are critical first steps in the pursuit of widespread and effective CDR deployment. This section focuses on existing CDR demonstration plants.

This section also summarizes public funding measures for research, development and demonstration (RD&D). This funding falls into three categories: RD&D funding for carbon capture and storage (CCS); RD&D funding specifically for CDR; and CDR demonstration funding. Although the first category is not explicitly focused on CDR, CCS RD&D may be directly relevant to the development of CDR technologies, such as transport and storage mechanisms.

There is no centralized data source for RD&D funding for CDR methods. This analysis gathers publicly available data on funding for CCS RD&D, CDR RD&D and CDR demonstration projects to identify broad trends and estimate global funding. Although every attempt has been made to gather complete data, these data are sparse. As a result, this is a key information gathering need for the CDR community going forward, and the data gathering conducted for this analysis can serve as an initial step (see Box 3.4). The following analysis is divided into two sections, first focusing on Mission Innovation and then moving to country-specific government demonstration funding.

Mission Innovation

Mission Innovation is a key programme in spurring innovation in low-carbon energy and climate change mitigation technologies. It is an initiative of 23 countries and the EU, with an aim to drive RD&D for these technologies.⁴⁶ Mission Innovation was announced at COP26 in 2021 and includes seven key missions, one of which is CDR. Canada, Saudi Arabia and the US are the three co-leads of the CDR Mission.⁴⁷ The CDR Mission has the primary aim of spurring the development of CDR technologies that will deliver a 100 million ton net reduction in annual global carbon dioxide (CO₂) emissions by 2030. To do so, the mission

focuses on three technologies: direct air carbon capture and storage (DACCS); biomass with carbon removal and storage (including bioenergy with carbon capture and storage (BECCS), bio-oil storage, biochar and other durable products from biomass); and enhanced rock weathering.

A cornerstone of the CDR Mission from Mission Innovation is the CDR Launchpad, a coalition of governments committed to accelerating CDR technology development.⁴⁸ These countries have resolved to work together to invest in CDR demonstration projects, share data and accelerate the CDR technology learning curve. Each country that is part of the CDR Launchpad has committed to:

- Support at least one CDR project with a capacity of at least 1,000 tons of CO_2 removed per year by 2025.
- Provide a portion of the \$100 million in funding for CDR demonstrations and pilot projects by 2025.
- Share data and information on these CDR demonstration projects to enhance knowledge-sharing.
- Support a monitoring, reporting and verification (MRV) working group, mapping of CDR projects, and life cycle analysis case studies of CDR projects.

Mission Innovation is a platform for countries to learn from one another and set parallel goals to increase RD&D and demonstration capacity. Because the CDR Mission is relatively recent, there is not yet comprehensive data on CDR RD&D funding, and not all Mission Innovation countries have made specific commitments for demonstration funding. Estimated country-level CDR demonstration funding is shown in Chapter 3 Technical Appendix and in the country profiles presented in this report.

Five countries (Canada, Iceland, Japan, the UK and the US) and the EU are members of the Mission Innovation CDR Launchpad and have shared data on demonstration projects in their jurisdictions.⁴⁹ This data set includes 22 demonstration projects focused specifically on BECCS, direct air capture (DAC), and enhanced rock weathering (see Figure 3.1).





Figure 3.1 Demonstration projects submitted by countries in the Mission Innovation CDR Launchpad. Only includes demonstration projects for which there are complete data (CDR type, annual removal capacity and year of removal capacity). For some projects, there is an initial year and capacity along with future goals. For this figure, the first year and associated capacity level are shown. The points are labelled by the country that submitted the project. These projects have not necessarily received public funding. BECCS = bioenergy with carbon capture and storage; DAC = direct air capture.

Government funding of CDR demonstrations

Governments have approached CDR demonstration funding using diverse strategies. Documented funding for CDR demonstration projects is patchy, in part because these funding programmes include other carbon management approaches, such as carbon capture and sequestration, that are not explicitly CDR but may include CDR components. Some public data on CDR funding also exclude certain countries; for example, International Energy Agency (IEA) data exclude non-member and non-association countries.

Between 1974 and 2023, the global total of public funding for carbon capture and sequestration RD&D, as reported by the IEA, was \$15 billion. However, this data set only includes 33 IEA member and association countries and the EU.⁵⁰ This figure is therefore not exhaustive of all global funding, because it only includes data from these 34 entities. This estimate also includes funding for DAC (not necessarily with storage; therefore, not necessarily CDR) and no other CDR technologies. Australia, Canada, the EU, Germany, Ireland, Japan, Norway, the UK and the US have announced public funding for CDR

RD&D, totalling \$4.2 billion. Within this, Australia, Canada, the EU, Japan, Norway, the UK and the US have all funded demonstration projects, which make up \$3.9 billion of this total, dominated by \$3.5 billion in funding for the US Regional Direct Air Capture Hubs programme (see Box 3.1).

The remainder of this section presents profiles of government entities that have funding programmes specifically to support CDR demonstration projects: Australia, Canada, the EU, Japan, Norway, the UK and the US.¹ This section also highlights demonstration projects with public funding. Many government programmes include funding for CDR, CCS and CCU within the same programme, often under a broader carbon management strategy. Where possible, funding specifically for CDR within these programmes is distinguished.

Australia

In Australia, carbon capture, utilization and sequestration RD&D has been funded for many years through the Carbon Capture Use and Storage Development Fund and the Carbon Capture Technologies Program. The Carbon Capture Use and Storage Development Fund includes funding for up to A\$25 million (US\$17 million) per project for pilot and precommercial projects (demonstrations). This programme is not specifically focused on CDR but can include CDR projects.⁵¹ One of the projects from the Carbon Capture Use and Storage Development Fund is a pilot DACCS demonstration plant operated by AspiraDAC, awarded a A\$4 million (US\$2.7 million) grant with an expected capacity of 365 tCO₂ per year.⁵²

The Carbon Capture Technologies Program funds A\$65 million (US\$43 million) over eight years, from 2023 to 2031.⁵³ The programme specifies priority emerging carbon capture technologies, including DAC, BECCS and CO₂ utilization technologies. Through the Department of Climate Change, Energy, the Environment and Water, the National Soil Carbon Innovation Challenge is focused on measuring soil carbon sequestration.⁵⁴ The funding includes A\$1 million (US\$0.7 million) for 17 feasibility studies and A\$39 million (US\$26 million) for 13 development and demonstration projects. The Clean Energy Finance Corporation, Australia's green bank, has invested A\$15 million (US \$10 million) in Loam Bio, which focuses on enhancing soil carbon sequestration.⁵⁵

Canada

The Canadian government is investing Can\$320 million (US\$240 million) from 2021 to 2028 in carbon capture utilization and storage RD&D through its Energy Innovation Program.⁵⁶ Eligible technologies include DAC, but the final projects are still being evaluated (as of May 2024), so the funding allocated for CDR (as opposed to CCS and CCU) is uncertain.⁵⁷

Beyond the Energy Innovation Program, Canada is funding specific CDR demonstration projects. The Hinton Bioenergy Carbon Capture and Storage Project received Can\$2.5 million (US\$1.9 million) in public funding from Emissions Reduction Alberta, which is funded by the Technology Innovation Emissions Reduction Fund in Alberta.⁵⁸ Through the British Columbia Innovative Clean Energy Fund, a Carbon Engineering (a DAC company) plant that uses DAC technology received Can\$2 million (US\$1.5 million) for engineering

¹ Programme and project funding amounts are converted from national currencies to US dollars as a common currency to calculate an estimate of global funding. Currency exchange rates are from the US Treasury in 2023. Numbers are reported to two significant figures.

and design plans.⁵⁹ This plant does not meet the storage requirement of CDR because the CO₂ is used to produce fuels. Through its Strategic Innovation Fund, the Canadian government has awarded Carbon Engineering Can\$25 million (US\$19 million) to design, construct and operate the Newport Innovation Centre in British Columbia (4.5 tons of CO₂ removed each day via DAC).⁶⁰ Finally, the CARBONITY biochar plant is being built with Can\$11 million (US\$7.8 million) of public funding through two entities: Natural Resources Canada's Investments in Forest Industry Transformation Program and Canada Economic Development for Quebec Regions.⁶¹ This plant will be the largest capacity biochar plant in North America, and larger than any in Europe.

European Union

The EU Innovation Fund includes funding measures for CDR projects.⁶² The fund began in 2020 with a goal to invest an estimated €40 billion (\$44 billion) by 2030 to support the transition towards climate neutrality.

Several CCS and CCU projects have been selected through the Innovation Fund that may inform scale-up of CDR in the future. One project which counts as full CDR – a BECCS plant in Stockholm, Sweden – was awarded public funding and received €180 million (\$200 million).⁶⁴ This demonstration plant is expected to remove an estimated 7 Mt of CO₂ over the first ten years of operation, which is scheduled to begin in 2026. The latest round of funding for net zero technologies opened in late 2023. At the time of writing, no projects had been selected; therefore, no funding estimate is included in this report.

Japan

Japan has invested extensively in CCS technologies, but with less of a focus on CDR.⁶⁵ The primary programme for RD&D is the Moonshot Research and Development Program, which allocates about ¥50 billion (\$350 million) from 2020 to 2030 for climate technologies.^{66,67} Many projects funded under this allocation are focused on methods relevant to CDR, including DAC and enhanced rock weathering. There are no upper or lower bounds for project funding under the Moonshot programme, and as no projectspecific investment values are made publicly available, estimating the portion of the total funding going specifically to CDR RD&D is not possible. Beyond the Moonshot programme, the Japan Ministry of Agriculture, Forestry and Fisheries is funding a programme focused on biochar, wood-based carbon sequestration and coastal wetland restoration, up to a total of ¥16 billion (\$110 million).⁶⁸ The Ministry of the Environment has also funded the capture component of the Mikawa BECCS Demonstration Plant.⁶⁹

Norway

Norway has a dedicated national programme related to CCS RD&D, called CLIMIT.⁷⁰ The programme began in 2005 and has primarily been focused on carbon capture, storage and utilization but can also support BECCS and DACCS projects. Many of the previously funded CCS projects may have relevant lessons for CDR, especially those focused on the transport and storage of captured CO_2 . Through this programme, Norsk Hydro and Climeworks collaborated on a feasibility study for a DAC plant, either stand-alone or integrated into an aluminium smelter to provide steam to the DAC unit; the study received NKr 3.5 million (\$0.3 million).71 The project did not result in a built demonstration plant, however.

The Norway Ministry of Climate and Environment is funding a pilot demonstration DAC unit through Enova, a State-owned enterprise. The demonstration plant, operated by Removr, received NKr 36 million (\$3.6 million) in grant funding and will capture 300 tons of CO_2 annually beginning in 2024, with a goal of expanding to 1,000 tons captured per year.^{72,73} It is not clear whether the captured CO_2 is stored permanently; thus, the project is categorized as DAC rather than as CDR.

Innovation Norway, a programme of the Norwegian government, has also begun the Bionova programme, which may finance RD&D projects related to conventional CDR methods.⁷⁴ The amount of funding from this source is unclear, as funded projects and results had not been published at the time of writing.

United Kingdom

The UK funds CDR-specific RD&D programmes in addition to programmes on carbon capture utilization and storage. Approximately £32 million (\$40 million) has been granted from UK Research and Innovation, a non-departmental public body, to the Greenhouse Gas Removal Demonstrators Programme, which is funding five demonstration projects encompassing several CDR technologies: biochar, enhanced rock weathering, peatland restoration, perennial biomass crops, and woodland creation and management.⁷⁵

The Net Zero Innovation Portfolio fund, administered by the UK Department for Energy Security and Net Zero, has a programme focused on DAC and greenhouse gas removal. The funding programme is structured as a two-phase competition, with total funding of £70 million (\$89 million). The first phase focused on desk-based feasibility studies. It ended in 2021, with 23 projects funded. The second phase began in 2022 and is focused on demonstration projects, with 15 projects funded. These projects are being built between 2022 and 2025, with demonstration of CDR beginning in 2025. The Department for Energy Security and Net Zero and the Department for Business, Energy and Industrial Strategy have also announced programme funding for hydrogen BECCS technologies totalling £26 million (\$33 million).⁷⁶ While the UK government intends to open up CO_2 transport and geological storage in this decade, the current lack of this infrastructure means that several of these projects are progressing to capture only.

An additional £4.3 million (\$5.5 million) funded six projects to capture carbon through restoration of a range of habitats, starting in 2023, through a partnership led by Natural England, a public body.⁷⁷ Innovate UK, a UK government agency, is also funding the Small Business Research Initiative competition. This competition is focused on tools and techniques for MRV for land-based greenhouse gas removal, with total funding of £1 million (\$1.1 million) over two phases.⁷⁸

United States

The US has several streams of CDR RD&D funding. The flagship CDR demonstration funding is for the Regional Direct Air Capture Hubs programme (see Box 3.1). The Carbon Negative Shot, a cross-departmental initiative of the US government, is focused on CDR and includes funding for pilots and demonstrations. The initiative recently released a Carbon Negative Shot Pilots funding opportunity announcement to complement the DAC hubs and fund small pilots for enhanced rock weathering and BECCS, recognizing that a

portfolio approach is needed. This effort alone will provide \$100 million over five years for demonstration projects. The funding will cover up to five small BECCS pilots, up to ten enhanced rock weathering pilots, up to five CDR testing facilities focused on CDR MRV, and up to five laboratory-scale marine CDR projects.⁷⁹

Box 3.1 US Regional Direct Air Capture Hubs programme

The Regional Direct Air Capture Hubs programme, established in 2022 by the Biden Administration, seeks to fund four research hubs focusing on DAC. To be eligible, companies must demonstrate the ability to construct a DAC facility that can remove 50,000 tons of CO₂ per year, with a plan to scale up to 1 Mt per year.⁸² This programme is funded by resources set aside by the Infrastructure Investment and Jobs Act and the Inflation Reduction Act. It is managed jointly by the Department of Energy's Office of Clean Energy Demonstrations and Office of Fossil Energy and Carbon Management. In total, the Regional Direct Air Capture Hubs programme has been authorized to grant \$3.5 billion (\$700 million per year over five years). The Department of Energy has not yet granted the entire funding amount, noting that it wants to allow earlier-stage companies to reach the maturity needed to become eligible for the programme before granting the entire \$3.5 billion.⁸³

Currently, two DAC hubs have been selected for negotiation, accounting for \$1.2 billion between them.⁸⁴ Both can more accurately be described as DACCS hubs, as they sequester captured carbon in storage sites rather than using it. The first is the South Texas DAC Hub, located in Kleberg County, Texas. Jointly operated by 1PointFive (an Occidental subsidiary), Carbon Engineering and Worley, this DAC hub seeks to remove 1 million tons of CO₂ annually. This hub, in partnership with Gulf Coast Sequestration, plans to sequester this CO₂ in geological formations along the Gulf Coast. To assist the South Texas DAC Hub in its development, the Regional Direct Air Capture Hubs programme is in negotiations regarding the provision of \$600 million in funding.

The second DAC hub is Project Cypress, located in Calcasieu Parish, Louisiana. Operated by Battelle, Climeworks and Heirloom Carbon Technologies, this hub is also working to remove more than 1 million tons of CO_2 annually. It will use a "saline geologic CO_2 storage site" to store carbon captured using DAC. The Regional Direct Air Capture Hubs programme has dedicated \$600 million in funding for this purpose.⁸⁴

Nineteen smaller projects are currently in negotiation with the Department of Energy, for a total of approximately \$100 million. The majority of these projects are seeking funding to study the feasibility of a DAC hub prior to applying for the funding to establish one.⁸²

The US Department of Energy announced \$36 million to fund marine CDR MRV projects through the Advanced Research Projects Agency–Energy. The Department of Commerce and the National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration announced \$24 million to fund research on marine CDR, in part funded by the Department of Energy through the Office

of Fossil Energy and Carbon Management.^{80,81} The Department of Energy also announced \$17 million to fund 19 early-stage research projects at colleges and universities, which may enable future demonstration projects.

Looking forward

Public demonstration programmes are increasing, both in the number of announced programmes and the capacity of the demonstration plants. However, the timelines for demonstration projects – and their subsequent upscaling phases – are uncertain due to the nascent nature of these technologies. Continued growth relies on production catalysed by the public sector via initiatives such as Mission Innovation. Mission Innovation's CDR Launchpad could become a key player in this space, serving as a platform for investment and knowledge-sharing. Furthermore, tracking funding – both from public sector entities and private sector investments – is essential to understanding the current CDR RD&D landscape and its outlook for the future. This is another role that Mission Innovation could play moving forward.

3.2 Rapid growth in investment

Investments in CDR startups have grown significantly over the past decade, outpacing the climate-tech sector as a whole.

Startups are a key part of the climate innovation landscape because they can quickly bring new products and services to market. However, they face many challenges in advancing from the demonstration stage to commercial operation and market growth.⁸⁵ Investments from the public and private sector are key to enabling startup success.⁸⁶ This analysis examines the state of investments in CDR startups through 31 December 2023, using the Net Zero Insights database (see Box 3.2).⁸⁷ The database contains 509 CDR startups, defined in this report as startups related to the capture of CO₂ from the atmosphere. Of these, 255 have received at least one investment, with 961 investors participating in 803 deals, totalling \$3.9 billion, during the period 2009–2023.

Investments in CDR startups have grown dramatically in recent years. A decade ago, reported investment in CDR was low: in 2013, three startups received \$4 million in two investment deals. By 2022, when total reported investment in climate-tech peaked, annual investments in CDR startups had reached 131 startups, \$1.5 billion and 207 investment deals (and 2.3% of all climate-tech deals and 1.1% of dollars invested in climate-tech). However, while deals slightly increased in 2023 to 213 (with 145 startups funded), investment in CDR declined to \$856 million. This decline in investment value (43%) was steeper than the decline seen in climate-tech overall (14%).

Box 3.2 Methods: Net Zero Insights database

This report uses the Net Zero Insights database to evaluate early-stage investments in CDR startups. Net Zero Insights monitors a wide range of sources to collect data on climate-tech startups and also accepts submissions from innovators and industry stakeholders. Almost all startups in the database develop climate change mitigation products or services, with a few startups focused on improving the resilience of communities to climate change (i.e. adaptation). Net Zero Insights relies on publicly available information and is published mostly in English, so it may miss some private investments or investments reported in other languages. Startups may also receive funding through instruments not included in this database (e.g. loans). Net Zero Insights shows five CDR startups that have been acquired, one of which (Carbon Engineering) reports its acquisition value as \$1.1 billion.

For the analysis in this report, 1,001 potential CDR or CDR-enabling startups were identified in Net Zero Insights using the following categories: greenhouse gas capture, removal and storage; CDR; carbon capture, utilization and storage; afforestation/reforestation; and forestry. These startups were manually categorized into different CDR methods by reading the pitch and tags to look for descriptions or labels of each method: forestry CDR, DACCS, biochar, biomass burial, marine biomass sinking, enhanced weathering, BECCS, soil carbon, ocean alkalinity enhancement, coastal wetland restoration and direct ocean capture. A total of 218 companies without a specific connection to CDR, such as ordinary timber or agriculture data platforms or generic sustainability business services, were removed.

Companies that mentioned utilization or point source capture of fossil CO_2 in their pitch (or that did not specify the CO_2 source) were also removed and added to the list of enabling startups. Some CDR companies do not specify the destination of the CO_2 ; these companies were included in the list of CDR startups. Therefore, this analysis may include some companies that do not meet the report's definition of CDR if they use CO_2 but do not report that they do so or if they currently sequester CO_2 but later decide to use it (e.g. Carbon Engineering).

Since 2020, the CDR methods that have received the highest investor attention (based on the number of deals) are forestry CDR (38%), DACCS (23%) and biochar (14%). Enhanced rock weathering and soil carbon sequestration have also experienced rapid growth in deals, with a fourfold and twofold increase since 2020, respectively, but constitute a relatively small share of total deals. Overall, the recent trend in investment is towards more novel forms of CDR, with the share of deals in forestry CDR declining from 49% in 2020 to 30% in 2023. While deals vary in size, and thus do not always reflect trends in the flow of capital, trends in investment dollars since 2020 are similar to the trends seen in deals. For example, as well as having among the highest number of deals, DACCS and biochar are the CDR methods receiving the most funding, with \$808 million to DACCS in 2022 and \$234 million to biochar in 2023.



Figure 3.2 Investment trends in carbon dioxide removal (CDR) startups from 2009 to 2023: (a) Number of startups founded in each year (509 total); (b) Proportion of deal types across CDR methods; (c) Number of investment deals in CDR startups each year (255 total startups and 803 deals, bars) and total deals for climate-tech startups (black line); (d) US Dollar value of investments in each year (208 total startups and 511 deals that report a dollar value, bars) and total investment dollars for climate-tech startups (black line); (e) Flow of investments by investor type to CDR method. BECCS = bioenergy with carbon capture and storage; DACCS = direct air carbon capture and storage; DACCS = direct ocean carbon capture and storage; OAE = ocean alkalinity enhancement. Data source: Net Zero Insights database.⁸⁷

57

Startups receive funding in sequential rounds, beginning with grant and seed rounds that typically correspond to high technology risk or precommercial stages. They then progress to Series A and B and other equity rounds, where risks are reduced and commercial development has started. They may finally move to the growth equity stage, which tends to involve larger dollar amounts for startups seeking to expand their operations, and investors holding larger shares in these startups.⁷⁷ The distribution of investment rounds across CDR methods reflects a range of maturity (Figure 3.2b). Among CDR methods with at least ten reported deals, enhanced rock weathering is the most dependent on grants (31% of deals). Only forestry, DACCS, biochar and biomass sinking startups have received funding from later-stage growth equity rounds. However, despite the large investments in some CDR methods, such as DACCS and forestry, 71% of deals across all methods since 2020 have been grants and seeds, indicating that many new startups are still entering the space.

The funding for these investment rounds comes from a variety of sources (Figure 3.2e), with funders bringing different motivations, resources and expectations with their investments. These motivations range from financial investment returns for equity investments to strategic interests in maintaining or expanding existing businesses or pivoting to new directions. Based on dollars invested, the largest sources of funds for CDR startups from 2009 to 2023 were venture capital (\$965 million; 25%), private equity (\$850 million; 22%) and corporations (\$472 million; 12%). This is consistent with overall funding patterns for climate-tech startups.⁸⁸ While venture capital is distributed among various CDR methods, corporate investment is largely concentrated in DACCS (52%).

Other startups are also developing technologies that could enable CDR. For example, 80 startups developing conventional CCS technologies participated in 400 investment deals from 2001 to 2023, totalling \$2 billion. About half of these startups specify the destination of the captured carbon: 30 specify sequestration or storage only (68 deals and \$78 million), 12 specify utilization in synthesis of low-carbon fuels or chemicals (44 deals and \$174 million), and six specify utilization in curing cement (33 deals and \$74 million). Five of these CCS startups report a novel carbon capture method – using algae to extract CO₂ from concentrated streams – but no investments are reported. Other enabling startups focus on CO_2 utilization and can provide early markets for captured CO_2 .⁸⁹ Thirty-five startups that use a stream of CO_2 to cure cement (104 deals and \$367 million) were identified, as were 92 startups that use captured CO_2 to synthesize fuels, chemicals, plastics or food (295 deals and \$3.6 billion). Investments in these enabling startups follow similar growth trends to those in CDR startups.

CDR startups identify a number of pressing challenges to rapid growth. While there are no comprehensive global surveys of CDR startups, a recent survey of 40 European CDR startups highlighted challenges that are likely to extend to other regions (see Figure 3.3).⁹⁰ The surveyed startups focus mostly on DACCS, enhanced rock weathering and restoring degraded ecosystems and might therefore be less representative for other methods, such as BECCS, biochar and ocean fertilization. The startups rated the importance of bottlenecks (0 = lowest; 5 = highest) across four categories: finance, marketing and sales, product and service, and team. Each of the four categories was further divided into subcategories. The most important subcategory in each main category is shown in grey in Figure 3.3.

The surveyed startups see finance as the central bottleneck. They particularly struggle to access non-dilutive funding (i.e. grants that do not require the selling of ownership stakes in the company); dilutive funding, such as venture capital, tends to be more readily available. The challenges with non-dilutive funding relate to the speed with which funding can be acquired, rather than to availability or conditions. To acquire grants, startups need to put a full-time employee on the task, which often overstretches their budget. In addition, grants often take a year to be approved. During that time, the needs and priorities of the startup often shift, which poses problems if the funds need to be spent as originally intended. The second most pressing bottleneck reported relates to marketing and sales. Startups struggle with converting their leads into actual sales, as many buyers shy away from high prices, uncertainties in the voluntary carbon market (see Chapter 4 – The voluntary carbon market), and scientific uncertainties around MRV (see Chapter 10 – Monitoring, reporting and verification). For instance, less than 1% of companies with a science-based target have bought novel CDR and less than half of novel CDR startups have made a sale to date. These startups perceive challenges related to their product (e.g. business model or supply chains) and hiring (e.g. availability of talent, hiring, and retention) to be less pressing bottlenecks.



Figure 3.3 Overview of most important bottlenecks reported by a survey of 40 European CDR startups. Data source: Akeret et al., 2023.⁹⁰

Box 3.3 Investment trends

The analysis of reported investments in CDR startups highlights a number of key trends:

High investor interest in DACCS. DACCS has become a primary focus for corporate and other large investors in CDR. Major CDR startups such as Climeworks and Carbon Engineering have received investments from corporations that are looking to offset emissions from their core business (e.g. Microsoft, Airbus, Chevron, J.P. Morgan). Other startups receiving high interest from corporations include those focusing on e-fuels or carbon utilization (e.g. Carbon Engineering, Prometheus, Global Thermostat) or advertising co-benefits such as water security (e.g. Avnos).

Stable interest in forestry CDR. Afforestation, reforestation and forest management – collectively called *forestry CDR* in this analysis – are more established CDR methods. Prior to 2021, forestry CDR startups attracted the majority of CDR investments. In recent years, growth in such investments has stabilized. Compared with other CDR methods, forestry CDR startups have more varied business models, reflecting a higher level of maturity. For example, 39% of forestry CDR startups offer services selling carbon credits on bespoke marketplaces, with the credits either being produced by their own technology or by another startup. These marketplaces enable startups to directly reach customers; for example, Treekly and Pachama verify and sell carbon credits for reforestation.

Emerging interest in other novel CDR. Beyond DACCS and biochar, other novel CDR methods include ocean alkalinity enhancement, enhanced rock weathering, biomass sinking, coastal wetland restoration, direct ocean carbon capture and storage, biomass burial, and BECCS. Together, startups focusing on these seven methods have participated in 52 deals from 2009 to 2023. Examples of recent startups focused on other novel CDR methods include Captura and Deep Sky (which capture gaseous CO_2 from water) as well as Seaforester and the Reef Company (which focus on coastal wetland restoration).

3.3 Company announcements for novel CDR

Announcements by CDR companies and industry groups show their ambition to reach significant levels of CDR by mid-century or sooner.

Companies have made plans and announcements for novel CDR scale-up, both in the near term (2024–2030) and the longer term (2030–2050). The announcements made for these two periods may have different levels of certainty, since companies have more concrete plans in the near term than the longer term, so this report analyses them separately. In both these analyses, the public announcements from companies should not be considered future scenarios, but rather an indication of potential market development. Some companies might not achieve the goals they have announced, some may exceed them, and additional companies will emerge and set new goals.

Projects included in the near-term analysis (2024-2030) are those under construction, in initial stages of deployment, or with publicly announced facility plans or early engineering studies. For the near term, details were gathered for projects under construction and/ or in development for DACCS and BECCS (see Box 3.4). Only projects that permanently store the captured carbon or have disclosed that they have plans to do so are included. The near-term analysis is limited to these technology types because of insufficient information on the specific targets set by companies involved in biochar and enhanced rock weathering. Additionally, for emerging technologies such as biomass sinking, it is premature to make near-term predictions using company announcements, as these technologies are currently in the early stages of development.

In total, this report estimates that companies that have announced DACCS and BECCS projects may remove 118 million tons of CO_2 annually by 2030 (see Figure 3.4). BECCS companies may remove nearly 57 million tons of CO_2 annually by 2030; an increase from the current rate of 0.5 million tons per year. DACCS projects may remove 61 million tons of CO_2 annually by 2030.



Near-Term Novel CDR Company Plans



61

The State of Carbon Dioxide Removal

This report supplements the analysis of short-term planned projects with an analysis of company announcements between 2030 and 2050. This longer-term analysis includes any announcement that a company has made publicly that includes both a capacity and a year. These announcements are not filtered by whether the company has begun engineering studies or made plans for specific plants. The announcements were gathered from CDR companies' websites and publicly available industry reports (see Box 3.4). Data were collected for as many companies as possible. However, this data set is not comprehensive of all CDR company plans for a variety of reasons: not all companies disclose their growth goals, and some companies may be missing despite attempts at a comprehensive inventory. Attainment of these announced ambitions is also highly uncertain, and this report includes no assessments of credibility.

Thirty-one company announcements were identified from 24 unique CDR companies and industry groups focused on novel CDR between 2030 and 2050 (Figure 3.5). These announcements span multiple CDR methods, with the majority of the individual announcements coming from DAC companies (65%); the second most prevalent method in the announcements, at 13%, was biochar.

Eleven companies have made plans for 2030, which together total 2 Gt of CO₂ removed annually. Company announcements for 2050 total 11 Gt of CO₂ removed per year, which is mostly driven by a single announcement of 8 Gt per year by 2050. This level of growth in novel CDR, from 1.3 Mt of CDR in 2023 (see Chapter 7 – Current levels of CDR) to 11 Gt in 2050, implies a compound annual growth rate of 40% per year. This growth rate is comparable to other climate-relevant technologies like solar energy and electric vehicles. Between 1975 and 2018, solar photovoltaic grew at a compound annual growth rate of 36% per year in terms of cumulative capacity, and between 2005 and 2019 electric vehicles grew at a compound annual growth rate of 80% per year in terms of cumulative number of vehicles.





Figure 3.5 Longer-term novel carbon dioxide removal (CDR) company announcements. Dashed lines are cumulative company announcements; points are individual company announcements; each faint grey line is one company's time series; solid lines show the median amount of novel CDR in two scenario pathways (a 1.5°C with no or limited overshoot pathway and a 2°C pathway). These scenario pathways are constructed between 2010 and 2100, but only those for 2030–2050 are shown in this chart. The shaded areas around each pathway represent the 5th to 95th percentile novel CDR in the scenarios. The companies' time series are based only on publicly available announcements. It is assumed that each company reaches the capacity of the announcement in the year of that announcement and continues at that capacity until 2050 or until the year of another, intermediate, target set by the same company, at which point their time series increases to capacity and remains flat until 2050 or a new announcement. Company announcements are not filtered by their project status or completion, so whether these announcements will be reached is highly uncertain. DAC = direct air capture; BECCS = bioenergy with carbon capture and storage.

The cumulative amount of novel CDR announced by CDR companies is aligned with the amount of novel CDR required by two temperature scenario pathways: a 1.5°C with no or limited overshoot pathway and a 2°C pathway (see Figure 3.5). The scenarios assessed in this figure are the full set assessed in Chapter 8 (Paris-consistent CDR scenarios); therefore, there is no consideration in this chapter of whether these scenarios meet sustainability goals. Whether companies will achieve the announced amounts of novel CDR by 2050 is uncertain, but the comparison to the novel CDR required by temperature scenario pathways demonstrates the level of ambition in the novel CDR market.

Box 3.4 Methods: Short- and long-term capacity announcements

Data were gathered on near-term plans for BECCS and DACCS projects through several sources. A full accounting of these sources is included in Chapter 7 (Current levels of CDR). Planned BECCS projects include dedicated bioenergy plants, waste-to-energy plants with CCS, and cement production plants with biomass energy inputs. For these latter two types of plant, CDR volumes have been calculated by assuming that the fraction of total captured CO_2 that is attributable to biogenic sources is 50% and 10%, respectively. Together, these two types contribute less than 8% of the total planned BECCS volumes in 2030.

Data on long-term CDR company announcements were gathered by compiling a list of CDR companies and searching each company's website, along with other documents available online, for publicly announced removal levels. The list of companies came from the State of Carbon Dioxide Removal list of deployed projects, Direct Air Capture Coalition company members, companies selected for pre-purchases from Frontier (an advance market commitment funding mechanism), and a list of companies receiving investments compiled from Net Zero Insights.⁷⁹ The companies' activities span different methods of CDR but are focused on novel CDR.

Each company's website was checked for any announcement that included both a capacity and a year for its attainment. If either of these was not available, the announcement was not included. This list was supplemented with announcements found in other company documents, such as year-end presentations and conference videos available publicly online.

A time series was then constructed for each company, in which flat growth (no new capacity built) is assumed for that company unless and until a new ambition level is announced. A cumulative level for the total novel CDR capacity announcements in the market was then calculated by summing each company's time series – assuming each announcement is successfully reached by each company.

Data were gathered from as many companies as possible; however, this data set is not entirely comprehensive because not all companies disclose their CDR growth ambitions. Attainment of the targets in these announcements is also highly uncertain, and this report includes no assessments of credibility.

Box 3.5 Limitations and knowledge gaps

This report has identified areas on which future assessments can build, including:

• Conducting annual surveys of national governments' public investments in CDR RD&D for several categories of CDR technology, including MRV, would be important to assess support for CDR over time. The IEA has done this successfully for energy technologies.

• Startups are often reticent to share detailed information, resulting in gaps in both investment data and technology details. Access to more detailed information about investment amounts and technology development could allow for more specific analysis of technology development trajectories and their implications.

• Company announcements, both near term and long term, can provide a useful early indicator of progress being made to close the CDR gap described in Chapter 9 (The CDR gap). Adding probabilistic information for each stage and timing can help establish a more credible range of progress.



4

Sabine Fuss,ⁱ Injy Johnstone,ⁱⁱ Robert Höglund,ⁱⁱⁱ Nadine Walsh^{iv}

ⁱ Mercator Research Institute on Global Commons and Climate Change

- " University of Oxford
- iii CDR.fyi
- ^{iv} FernUniversität Hagen

Cite as: Fuss, S., Johnstone, I., Höglund, R., Walsh, N. Chapter 4: The voluntary carbon market. in **The State of Carbon Dioxide Removal 2024 – 2nd Edition** (eds. Smith, S. M. et al.). <u>https://www.stateofcdr.org</u>, doi:10.17605/OSF.IO/MG3CY (2024).

Chapter 4 | The voluntary carbon market

Despite growth in carbon dioxide removal (CDR) on the voluntary carbon market (VCM), its share of the market remains small. Future projections suggest a rapidly growing but uncertain demand for future CDR through the VCM.

Key insights

• The vast majority of carbon credits retired (used and thus no longer tradable) on the VCM relate to projects that avoid or reduce emissions, rather than remove carbon. In 2023, CDR credits accounted for less than 10% of total credits sold on the VCM.

• The market for novel CDR is nascent but growing, whereas the market for conventional CDR is more mature. Some VCM projects also adopt mixed methodologies, which generate credits from both CDR and avoided emissions.

• The number of credits issued for conventional CDR fell in 2023 from approximately 20.4 million to 13.3 million, while purchases of future novel CDR credits grew sevenfold from 600,000 to 4.6 million.

• The market plays a larger role in financing novel CDR than conventional CDR. Credits issued for afforestation/reforestation represent less than 1% of the total afforestation/reforestation CDR that occurred in 2023. By contrast, pre-purchases for novel CDR well exceeded the total amount removed through novel methods in 2023.

• The price per carbon credit is substantially higher for CDR than for other credit types. On average, credits from conventional CDR methods (which ranged from \$12 to \$16 in 2023) cost three times more than credits generated from emission reduction or avoidance projects. The average weighted price for novel CDR credits (which ranged from \$111 to \$1,608 in 2023) exceeds the price for credits from emission reduction or avoidance projects by a factor of 100.

• Despite emergent efforts to standardize and integrate CDR into compliance markets and the emerging regime under Article 6 of the Paris Agreement, there may always be a case for the VCM to exist as a niche market for CDR to facilitate innovation and experimentation and to supplement climate change mitigation efforts.

This chapter looks at the role of the VCM in expanding the deployment of CDR. The first section lays out the background of CDR in the VCM. The chapter then assesses the current state of play of CDR within the VCM and maps its future prospects.

4.1 The role of the VCM in expanding CDR

With novel CDR largely absent from government agendas, the VCM plays a key role in its deployment.

Economic theory is clear that climate change is a market failure – more precisely, the failure to take into account the external effects of emitting greenhouse gases. As long as emitting is not costly, nobody has an incentive to reduce emissions, causing damage for everyone in the world. Assigning emissions a price can help correct this market failure by internalizing the externality. This rationale is at the heart of carbon taxes and emissions trading schemes – or *compliance markets* – around the world (see Chapter 5 – Policymaking and governance). Not cleaning up the atmosphere by removing the carbon dioxide (CO_2) already emitted is presently also a market failure and thus may not occur without intervention. As a result, there is currently an undersupply of CDR, making it more difficult to meet the significant volumes of CDR required to achieve ambitious climate mitigation scenarios (see Chapter 8 - Paris-consistent CDR scenarios).

Beyond being included in national greenhouse gas inventories as part of accounting obligations, CDR has largely not been on government agendas. This is particularly true for compliance markets, with notable yet limited exceptions of CDR integration, for instance under California's emissions trading scheme. Inclusion of CDR within the VCM has thus been among the few factors contributing to CDR scale-up, especially for novel CDR. This section describes the background of CDR inclusion within the VCM.

Defining the VCM

While the VCM lacks a standardized definition, it is broadly understood as a platform through which actors voluntarily finance projects that reduce or remove CO₂ emissions. This report adopts a broad definition of the VCM, encompassing different types of transaction between buyers and suppliers: both those that occur via the voluntary marketplaces and those where CDR is directly procured from suppliers and publicly reported. This report explicitly includes the traditional registry-based VCM as well as niche markets that facilitate the pre-purchase of novel CDR within its definition of the VCM. This chapter considers the creation of credits in terms of their issuance (conventional CDR) or delivery (novel CDR) as well as their retirement (conventional CDR) and purchase (novel CDR). It is acknowledged that some CDR credits that buyers purchase may not be retired and could therefore also be used for compliance purposes in the future and thus may go beyond the purview of the VCM. Box 4.1 describes the VCM and how it works.

Box 4.1 How does the VCM work?

To understand CDR in the VCM, it is important to first understand the role of the VCM in climate change mitigation more broadly. The VCM is generally understood as a platform through which actors voluntarily finance projects that reduce or remove CO_2 emissions. The VCM is estimated to account for 2% of total carbon trade, with compliance markets (emissions trading schemes) covering the other 98%.⁹¹ The vast majority of carbon trading is for emission allowances within emissions trading schemes, while the VCM only concerns carbon credits. Despite its small share in carbon trading overall, the VCM fulfils a role by enabling businesses to go beyond their mandatory decarbonization efforts.

Carbon credits are tradable certificates typically generated from projects developed and governed by private project developers and owners. One credit represents 1 ton of avoided, reduced or removed CO_2 or CO_2^- equivalent emissions of other greenhouse gases. Such projects can occur in different sectors, such as forestry, agriculture or energy, and may come with co-benefits (e.g. improvements to biodiversity).

Carbon credits are typically *issued* (put on the market) by *registries* and *certified* according to one of several methodologies. Credits are issued after the mitigation activity has occurred; they are certified after the mitigation activity has been verified and validated by a third-party auditor (see Chapter 10 – Monitoring, reporting and verification).

A carbon crediting programme (i.e. the organization that hosts a certifiable carbon crediting standard) consists of recognized methodologies, approved third-party verifiers and an issuing registry. Carbon crediting programmes have methodologies that set the rules for different types of activity – including monitoring, reporting and verification procedures – that must be complied with for those projects to be certified as having either avoided, reduced or removed CO_2 emissions (see Chapter 10 – Monitoring, reporting and verification).

Carbon credits can be acquired directly by end beneficiaries (e.g. corporate buyers) or purchased via intermediaries (e.g. traders, brokers). Project developers and governments can also enter into bilateral *offtake agreements* and *pre-purchase agreements* with end beneficiaries, for example by arranging to sell portions of their planned future volumes of carbon credits.

Carbon credits are typically used (retired or cancelled) for voluntary or compliance purposes. After this, the credit is no longer on the market and cannot be traded anymore. However, not all credits sold end up retired, as some actors may hold on to them for future trade or use. Carbon crediting programmes allow each carbon credit to be retired or cancelled by only one single entity, to avoid the same credit being double counted in different organizational *claims*.

The largest carbon crediting programme is the Verified Carbon Standard (Verra), followed by the Gold Standard. Several other standards have also been developed, such as the Climate Action Reserve, Plan Vivo, the American Carbon Registry and Puro.earth. In the absence of supra-organizational regulatory bodies, this array of standards has led to heterogeneity and complexity in the oversight of the VCM.

A brief history of the VCM

Although the first instances of carbon offsetting go back several decades,⁹² the Clean Development Mechanism (CDM) under the Kyoto Protocol was the first international carbon market when it came into force in 2005, though crediting had already started several years before. The aim of the CDM was to assist higher-income countries in reaching their decarbonization commitments while providing access to new funding for climate change mitigation for lower-income countries. However, in the years after its launch, the CDM was the subject of severe concerns related to transparency and the overall climate impact of its projects.⁹³⁻⁹⁵

Despite these flaws, the CDM's procedures have served as a blueprint for subsequent market mechanisms, including the current VCM and the emerging market mechanisms under Article 6 of the Paris Agreement. Yet the central role that CDM methodologies have played in developing the VCM is problematic, because these methodologies have been widely documented as producing low-quality carbon credits that in some cases are also not additional to what would otherwise have occurred in the absence of such funding.⁹⁶

Types of projects on the VCM in 2023

To calculate how much CDR is funded through the VCM, it is necessary to differentiate CDR projects – and credits – from the other kinds of projects on the market. Box 4.2 describes the different types of credit that are generated within the VCM.

The VCM today encompasses a wider range of project types than ever before: from emission reduction projects that target cookstoves and clean energy through to projects that destroy or remove greenhouse gases through various mechanisms. This range of project types is underpinned by an even more diverse suite of methodologies: some mitigation activities that are awarded carbon credits in the VCM involve only avoided emissions, emission reductions or CDR; some combine them. However, there are early signs of this changing, with registries such as the American Carbon Registry and the Verra Registry beginning to make the contribution of removal, reduction and avoidance techniques within the same methodologies clearer.^{97,98}

Box 4.2 Carbon credits

Types of carbon credit. Credits tend to be *avoidance, reduction* or *removal* based. The distinction between activities that avoid emissions and activities that reduce emissions is not always clear, with *avoidance* and *reduction* often being used interchangeably. CDR activities, however, lower the atmospheric concentration of CO_2 . As a result, their impact is determined independently of historical, current and future emission levels; conversely, avoidance or reduction projects peg their impact against a forward-looking counterfactual emission scenario.

It is not always clear which type of carbon credit projects may be generating. Some methodologies enable credits to be generated from a mix of avoidance, reduction and/or removal activities (see Chapter 4 Technical Appendix). Mixed methodologies are particularly prevalent in conventional CDR projects (e.g. forest management, sustainable agriculture) because such projects encompass activities that both reduce and avoid (as well as remove) emissions. For example, some conventional CDR projects foster practices that diminish natural disturbances – serving to reduce emissions – while also enhancing carbon storage, thereby removing CO₂.

It is also important to distinguish between *credits* and *offsets*: credits refer to the unit, and offsets refer to the specific use of the credit to compensate for existing emissions. Credits can, however, be used in many other ways, for instance as a contribution to climate change mitigation or in the form of results-based financing. Allowances issued within emissions trading schemes (described in Box 4.1) may also be considered offsets in some circumstances, although they are not credits.

Calculating the number of credits a carbon project generates. To calculate the number of credits a carbon project generates, a *baseline scenario* is required. This scenario acts as the benchmark against which the project's impact is measured. While various methods exist for establishing baselines, they typically entail using *counterfactual* assumptions, which reflect what would have occurred had the project not been implemented. This is referred to as the *business-as-usual scenario* and is predetermined within the methodologies of carbon standard setters (see Box 4.1 for a description of carbon standards). The difference between projected emissions in the business-as-usual scenario and those in the project scenario represents the *project's impact* and, consequently, the number of carbon credits it generates. Figure 4.1 illustrates how project impact is compared with the business-as-usual scenario for avoided or reduced emissions projects, versus conventional and novel CDR projects.

For *projects involving conventional CDR methods*, the project impact represents the additional number of removed tons of CO₂ compared with removal levels in the business-as-usual scenario (e.g. Verra's methodology VM0047 for afforestation, reforestation and revegetation projects).

For *projects involving novel CDR methods*, a baseline value of zero is often assumed, owing to the absence of such projects in the past (e.g. the Puro.earth methodology). The counterfactual reference scenario is subsequently based

on the assumption that these projects would otherwise not be implemented (e.g. for lack of finance). However, as novel CDR projects continue to expand, this approach may undergo re-evaluations to reflect the continual evolution of methodologies for determining business-as-usual scenarios.⁹⁹



Figure 4.1 Project impact in emission reduction projects, avoided emissions projects and carbon dioxide removal (CDR) projects on the voluntary carbon market. Avoided and reduced emissions (light blue portion of second bar in first panel: emissions that would have occurred under the business-as-usual (BAU) scenario, shown in first bar). Removed CO_2 via conventional CDR (light green portion of second bar in second panel: emissions removed on top of CDR that would have occurred under BAU scenario, shown in first bar). Removed CD₂ via novel CDR (light green portion of second bar in third panel: CDR that would not have occurred under BAU scenario, shown in first bar). Source: Walsh, forthcoming.¹⁰⁰

The like-for-like principle of using CDR credits – aligning the durability of sources with the durability of CDR. Different types of CDR credit may have differing use cases. As an example, the UNFCCC's Race to Zero campaign, among others, endorsed applying the "like-for-like" principle.¹⁰¹ This principle postulates that CDR strategies must match the nature and permanence of the emissions they aim to neutralize. It posits that CO₂ originating from the long carbon cycle, such as that emitted from fossil fuels, should be sequestered in equally permanent storage (e.g. through direct air carbon capture and storage); emissions from more transient sources, such as from land-use changes or short-lived greenhouse gases, can be offset by CDR involving less durable storage (e.g. through soil carbon sequestration). Applying this principle ensures that CDR efforts align with the specific impact and lifespan of different emission types (see Chapter 1 – Introduction, for further discussion of durability).

Recent concerns about the VCM

After a rapid growth spurt in 2021–2022, the VCM was exposed to significant criticism in 2023. This included articles from *The Guardian* and *Die Zeit*, published in January 2023, which revealed that a study had shown "more than 90% of rainforest carbon credits [on the VCM were] worthless".¹⁰² That criticism mainly related to two issues: first, the use of an inadequate baselining methodology by several REDD+ projects (see Box 4.2 for how baselines are used in VCM projects), which had resulted in an overestimation of the projects' impacts on emissions; second, questions about the additionality of the credits issued (i.e. whether they would have occurred in the absence of carbon
market revenue).^{103,104} Projects issuing more credits than they should has also been an issue in energy-related emission reduction projects.¹⁰⁵ Some VCM projects are also heavily criticized for their infringement on, or displacement of, local and Indigenous communities.¹⁰⁶

These concerns and criticisms have had a tangible impact on buyers' confidence in the VCM and prompted some companies to disengage from the market entirely.¹⁰⁷ The concerns have also led to guidance being issued on the appropriate design of an offsetting portfolio, considering these risks.¹³

Determining quality on the VCM

The increased scrutiny of the integrity of the VCM has triggered calls for better quality control and more consistent regulation. Stakeholders in the VCM have produced various criteria for what constitutes "high-quality" carbon credits. Examples of such criteria include the Core Carbon Principles developed by the Integrity Council for the Voluntary Carbon Market and the Carbon Credit Quality Initiative's carbon credit scoring tool.

While a uniform definition of quality has yet to be established across the market, the following characteristics are most commonly used as proxies for quality: robust third-party validation and verification; robust quantification of the emission impact; high durability; additionality; and the presence of sustainable development benefits and safeguards (see analysis of 28 key stakeholder documents in Walsh, forthcoming¹⁰⁰). The absence of a uniform definition of quality may have been detrimental for carbon credit sales from projects with higher environmental integrity and higher attendant price points. While various organizations – from standard setters to agencies that rate the quality of carbon credits – offer guidance and assessments of quality, many are still in the early stages of applying their frameworks to CDR credits.

In parallel, governmental bodies are ramping up efforts to establish clear standards for activities on the VCM. For example, the EU Carbon Removal Certification Framework is emerging as a voluntary framework for the certification of CDR activities. The framework defines the fundamental principles and prerequisites for certification bodies to monitor, report and verify CDR generated in Europe (see Chapter 10 – Monitoring, reporting and verification). This is based on the quality criteria defined in the EU's framework.¹⁰⁸ Despite several shortcomings in this framework, it can be expected to become a crucial guideline in the further development of CDR activities.

The growing importance of co-benefits

To successfully scale up CDR methods within the VCM, it will be important to gain a solid understanding of the indirect environmental and social impacts of individual CDR methods and to promote these co-benefits to buyers. CDR activities are first and foremost valued for their ability to capture CO_2 from the atmosphere and durably store it (see Chapter 1 – Introduction, for a definition of durability). But if their full potential is to be accurately assessed, their broader impact on the world also needs also be considered. Deploying CDR, especially at a large scale, can produce various environmental and socioeconomic side effects, which can be beneficial or disadvantageous to third parties (see Chapter 8 – Parisconsistent CDR scenarios).

The extent to which CDR activities trigger intended or unintended effects depends on factors such as the type of CDR, the regional and site-specific context and, importantly, the way in which the activities are governed. Measures to oversee these are commonly referred to as *sustainable development benefits and safeguards*.¹⁰⁹ Several authors have examined these effects in more depth, but those studies differ in underlying context and assessment framework, resulting in diverging conclusions.¹¹⁰⁻¹¹⁴

In recent years, public interest has extended beyond merely considering the direct environmental impact of CDR in favour of a broader assessment of its implications. The main carbon credit standards have produced different frameworks to better outline a project's individual contribution to sustainable development.⁹¹ Assessments show that projects with additional co-benefits can attract higher price premiums.¹¹⁵⁻¹¹⁷ Further, different stakeholders across the market have developed guidelines or set clear recommendations for buyers that consider the broader impact of carbon projects.⁹¹ In 2023, for example, the Science Based Targets initiative launched its first framework for companies to set biodiversity targets alongside their decarbonization ambitions.¹¹⁸

These developments can be expected to further prompt buyers to factor in the presence of social and environmental co-benefits in their decision-making processes. To successfully scale up CDR methods within the VCM, it will therefore be important to gain a solid understanding of the indirect environmental and social impacts of individual CDR methods and to promote these co-benefits to buyers. To inform such decision-making, systems for monitoring, reporting and verification need to be broadened to include the non-carbon impacts of CDR activities (see Chapter 10 – Monitoring, reporting and verification).

Understanding the demand for CDR credits

A systematic understanding of the factors that drive demand for different types of carbon credit on the VCM is currently missing. Initial surveys indicate that many buyers consider quality aspects within their purchasing decision and that buyers already engaging in the CDR market are predominantly motivated by their ability to support the early development of CDR (see Section 4.3 for further profiling of existing buyers).^{117,119}

Despite there being no uniformly applied definition of "high quality" when it comes to carbon credits, the increasing public scrutiny of the VCM and the growing engagement of regulatory bodies appears to have motivated buyers to shift towards higher-quality credits.¹²⁰ Other independent guidance has also been released, such as the Oxford Principles for Net Zero Aligned Carbon Offsetting,¹³ the ISO Net Zero Guidelines and the Integrity Council for the Voluntary Carbon Market's Core Carbon Principles,¹⁰⁹ all of which provide buyers with signals as to what may constitute high-integrity credits and credible claims.

However, the lack of consistency in the terms and guidelines used across the VCM still poses challenges for efforts to increase the volume of purchases of CDR credits. Current organizational standards and schemes for ensuring quality in CDR and emission reduction projects have not been deemed sufficiently rigorous by governments – both as buyers and as regulators – resulting in the development of their own monitoring, reporting and verification methodologies (see Chapter 10 – Monitoring, reporting and verification).

The role of the VCM in supporting CDR development

The VCM has been an important, yet insufficient, provider of finance for accelerating the scale-up and deployment of CDR, as will become clear from the data presented in Section 4.2, which demonstrate the low volumes traded. However, novel CDR credits, such as for direct air carbon capture and storage, fetch high prices on the VCM. Its role is rather that of a *niche market*. These exist when early adopters display a higher-than-average willingness to pay for a technology. The high prices that novel CDR credits command in the VCM could be an indicator of this willingness (see Section 4.2).⁹ Thus, according to the model of CDR development posited in Chapter 1 (Introduction), the VCM will be most important in the early stages of CDR scale-up as a niche market.

4.2 Current status of CDR within the VCM

Most of the credits generated in the VCM are for avoided emissions or emission reductions, rather than for CDR. Conventional CDR continues to dominate novel CDR in the VCM in absolute terms, despite demand for novel CDR growing more quickly.

Various estimations exist of the size of the overall VCM, as well as of the projects within it. The findings depend on the coverage of the registry from which the data are drawn^{121,122} and on the project classification system used. In this report, data for 2022 and 2023 have been aggregated from the six major registries and platforms: Verra, Gold Standard, the American Carbon Registry, CDR.fyi, Puro.earth and Climate Action Reserve. Box 4.3 details the methods used to estimate the current scale and characteristics of CDR within the VCM.

Box 4.3 Methods: Estimating the scale and nature of CDR within the VCM

Source data. Data for the years 2022 and 2023 were aggregated from the six major registries and platforms: Verra, Gold Standard, the American Carbon Registry, CDR.fyi, Puro.earth and Climate Action Reserve.

Classification of projects. As described in Section 4.1, carbon credits that have been generated through CDR are not clearly differentiated within registry data from those generated through emission avoidance or emission reduction. Credits may also originate from projects that employ a mix of these methodologies (see Box 4.2). To get as clear a picture as possible of the status of CDR within the VCM, projects from registries were therefore classified based on the methodology they employ: *emission avoidance, emission reduction, novel CDR* or *conventional CDR*, in tandem with the categories of *mixed (mainly avoided)* and *mixed (mainly CDR)* (see full classifications in the Chapter 4 Technical Appendix).

The registry data for novel CDR and for conventional CDR are not directly comparable.

Novel CDR. Most of the contracts within the VCM for novel CDR are for future deliveries (meaning the actual CDR will not take place until some months or years later). The mean projected delivery time for novel CDR

purchases in 2023 is three years; multi-year offtake agreements may include purchases where deliveries happen as far as 11 years in the future.¹²³ In the analysis, data are presented on purchase agreements for future deliveries (pre-purchases with upfront payment, or binding offtake agreements with payment on delivery) to measure demand, as well as for tons already delivered to measure supply.

Conventional CDR. In contrast, for projects involving conventional CDR only the volumes of credits issued and of credits retired are available (see Box 4.1 for definitions). Since there is very little data on potential pre-purchase for conventional CDR, and as offtake agreements are less common for conventional CDR, retirements are used here as an imperfect proxy for credit demand – alongside issuances, which measure supply.

Prevalence of project types within the VCM

The vast majority of projects on the VCM are emission reduction projects (see Figure 4.2). These projects tend to focus on decarbonizing energy or industrial systems. Of the project types that deploy a mix of methodologies (avoided emissions, emission reduction and/or CDR), *mixed (mainly avoided)* emission projects are the most common – and even more common than "pure" *avoided emissions* projects. These *mixed (mainly avoided)* projects include some types of REDD+ and forest management.



Figure 4.2 Proportion of projects within the voluntary carbon market, 2022–2023, by project type (based on classification of project methodology). CDR = carbon dioxide removal.

However, the prevalence of these projects in the carbon market differs considerably once the volume of carbon credits is analysed, instead of the number of projects. As Figure 4.3 reveals, emission reduction projects dominated the VCM in both 2022 and 2023 in terms of the volume of carbon credits, both supply (measured in tons issued) and demand (measured in tons sold). These projects are followed in volume of carbon credits by avoided emissions projects and conventional CDR projects. Overall, issuances continue to outstrip retirements, resulting in a significant backlog of carbon credits from 2022 and 2023 that remain available to be retired, as well as from years prior.





Figure 4.3 Volume of carbon credits issued and sold on the voluntary carbon market, by project methodology type, 2022–2023. CDR = carbon dioxide removal.

Table 4.1 breaks down the volume of credits for conventional and novel CDR in 2022 and 2023 (credits issued and sold (retired) in the case of conventional CDR, and credits issued and sold in the case of novel CDR. The results show that the VCM facilitates much more conventional CDR than novel CDR at present.

The total volume of novel CDR credits sold in 2022 – just over half a million tons – appears very small compared with the gigaton scale that may need to be reached in future (see Chapter 9 – The CDR gap). However, there has been vast growth in the VCM in 2023 – a sevenfold increase – led by large purchases by big enterprises. Microsoft, for example, purchased 3.2 MtCO₂.

77

Type of CDR credit	2022	2023
Conventional ^a CDR credits issued	20,360,212	13,255,438
Conventional ^a CDR credits sold (retired)	9,362,211	9,319,439
Novel CDR credits issued	47,905	83,180
Novel CDR credits sold	615,107	4,638,766

^a Includes projects that adopt a mixed methodology but are mostly conventional CDR; excludes those that are mostly avoided emissions.

Table 4.1 Estimation of carbon dioxide removal (CDR) volumes on the voluntary carbon market, 2022–2023. Issuance exclusively refers to ex post credits traded through the main offset standards. The majority of novel CDR credits are ex ante, meaning that the impact (removal activity) will occur in the future. This table reports issuances from Puro.earth, resulting in a lower volume than the overall novel CDR deliveries shown in Figure 4.4.

There was also a significant shift in conventional CDR, which shrank in 2023 compared with its 2022 size. Another key difference between conventional and novel CDR is that most conventional CDR occurs without the involvement of carbon markets. Indeed, carbon credits issued for afforestation represent less than 1% of afforestation that occurred in 2023. The carbon market plays a more important role for the deployment of novel CDR, evidenced by the pre-purchase volume in 2023 exceeding the total amount of CO₂ removed through novel CDR methods in the same year (see Table 4.1 and Figure 4.4).

Prevalence of different CDR methods within the VCM

As Figure 4.4 shows, a much larger amount of conventional CDR (top panel) is facilitated by the VCM than novel CDR (bottom panel), the bulk of which is afforestation and reforestation. The figure also shows a surge in novel CDR tons sold between 2022 and 2023, but only a minuscule fraction of these sales has been delivered to date.

Box 4.4 reconciles the numbers on novel CDR in this section with estimates quoted elsewhere in this report.



The VCM facilitates much more conventional CDR than novel CDR at present

Figure 4.4 Breakdown of the volume of carbon dioxide removal (CDR) in the voluntary carbon market (VCM) by CDR method, 2022–2023. Top panel: conventional CDR; bottom panel: novel CDR. BECCS = bioenergy with carbon capture and storage; DACCS = direct air carbon capture and storage; DACCS = direct ocean carbon capture and storage.

Box 4.4 The difference in estimates of current novel CDR volumes within this report

Chapter 7 (Current levels of CDR) cites 1.35 MtCO₂ removed via novel CDR in 2023. This chapter finds that only 139,202 tons were reported in VCM registry data as having been delivered through novel CDR in 2023. This discrepancy stems from the following:

Delivery of novel CDR outside the VCM. Most of the novel CDR by volume is occurring without the generation of associated carbon credits for trading on the VCM. The market data used within this chapter suggest that none of the removal from bioenergy with carbon capture and storage and about 17% of the removal from biochar reported in Chapter 7 were delivered as CDR credits in 2023.

Differences in methodology. Chapter 7 reports gross CDR quantities, meaning the amount of atmospheric CO_2 captured and placed in durable storage, without accounting for any emissions during the whole life cycle of the activity. In contrast, protocols for issuing VCM credits usually include at least some estimation of these emissions. Including these emissions can substantially reduce the net amount of CO_2 removal that can be claimed; for instance, the life cycle emissions of ethanol production together with bioenergy with carbon capture and storage are currently similar to, or even outweigh, the removals.¹²⁴ The exact distribution of these emissions between the CDR activity and co-products depends on the choice of allocation method.

Cost of carbon credits within the VCM by CDR method

Table 4.2 shows the prices per carbon credit for different methods of conventional and novel CDR, where the latter are an order of magnitude higher than the former. On average, credits from conventional CDR methods cost three times more than reduction or avoidance credits. The average volume-weighted price for novel CDR credits currently exceeds that of reduction or avoidance credits by a factor of 100.

CDP mothed	Weighted average price (\$)	
CDR method	2022	2023
Afforestation/reforestation	12	16
Bioenergy with carbon capture and storage	No data	300
Biochar	212	131
Biomass burial	92	111
Bio-oil storage	600	505
Direct air carbon capture and storage	1,261	715
Direct ocean carbon capture and storage	984	1,402
Enhanced rock weathering	434	371
Forest management	15	12
Mineral products	471	No data
Ocean alkalinity enhancement	No data	1,608
Total	303	488

Table 4.2 Volume-weighted average price per carbon credit from transactions where the price is known, by carbon dioxide removal (CDR) method, 2022–2023. Durable wood products are not included. Data sources: CDR.fyi, 2024;¹²³ Ecosystem Marketplace, 2023.¹¹⁶

Geographical distribution of CDR projects within the VCM by project type

Figure 4.5 shows the number of active projects on the VCM that either are CDR projects or have methodologies that allow for CDR (i.e. are mixed), broken down by region/country (top panel). VCM projects with the potential to generate CDR are more prevalent in the northern hemisphere than in the southern hemisphere and are especially concentrated in North America (bottom panel). This distribution of CDR potential in Figure 4.5 is largely due to the sizeable presence of forest management projects in Mexico and the US. Europe has the highest volume of novel CDR projects, which are principally biochar projects.



Active CDR* projects are distributed globally, but the majority are based in North America.

Figure 4.5 Regional (top) and country distribution (bottom) of active carbon dioxide removal (CDR) projects in the voluntary carbon market, 2022–2023.⁹¹

4.3 Future prospects of CDR on the VCM

The voluntary market for novel CDR is growing but uncertain. In the meantime, the VCM is currently leading the way in developing methods for measuring, reporting and verifying CDR projects.

As of the start of 2024, CDR is gaining increasing attention on the VCM at large. This attention has been supported by the development of new standards for novel CDR methods by the main carbon crediting programmes. It has also been promoted by revisions to existing methodologies that facilitate a clearer distinction between different credit types, thus increasing the visibility of CDR (see Box 4.2). But the increase in attention is perhaps most evident in the nascent but growing market for novel CDR, which saw a sevenfold increase in purchases during 2023.¹²³ This rapid development sets the scene for the analysis of the future prospects for market-based CDR.

CDR purchasers

The first step in understanding future prospects is to map who is driving the demand for CDR today. Because of the high number of credits that are purchased (retired) anonymously,⁹¹ the visibility of corporate buyers in the VCM is patchy, and the way in which they use carbon credits is often opaque.¹²⁵ Investigations of buyer profiles and demand analyses can therefore only be regarded as an indication of the true nature of the buyer landscape.

Different assessments of the largest buyers on the VCM suggest that many of them are fossil fuel majors.^{116,121,126} Therefore, doubts remain as to whether engagement in the VCM positively impacts actors' decarbonization efforts or whether it occurs alongside (and perhaps even promotes) continued high-emitting behaviours. As a result, it is important to consider not only *whether* actors are buying but also *why* they are buying. Evidence from surveys of buyers engaging in the VCM (by purchasing reduction, avoidance or removal credits) indicates that purchase of credits is largely driven by the buyers' voluntary climate targets.^{127,128} In comparison, CDR.fyi's recent survey of novel CDR buyers showed that these purchasers are driven to engage in the CDR market by their intrinsic motivation to accelerate the scale-up of the industry.¹¹⁹ Transparency as to the identities of buyers of credits from novel CDR methods is higher than for buyers of conventional CDR credits. An assessment based on the number of unique buyers of novel CDR reveals that more than half of all such buyers (63%) share a background in the financial or service sector and are based in the US.¹⁰⁰

VCM growth projections

Despite the recent criticism of project practices on the VCM, the volume of credits sold at the start of 2024 surpassed sales from the same period in previous years. This serves as an early indication that the VCM continues to grow.¹²⁰ Several predictions have been made of the size of the VCM in 2030 and 2050. Some predictions, such as by Bloomberg NEF, suggest that it could reach \$1 trillion by 2050.¹²⁸ Other estimates are more conservative, predicting it to reach \$100 billion in 2030 and \$250 billion by 2050.¹²⁹ The Boston Consulting Group (2023)¹¹⁵ estimates an annual demand of approximately 40–200 MtCO₂

for novel CDR in 2030, outstripping the announced supply of approximately 15–32 MtCO₂.

A crucial factor in these growth projections is the future price development of different types of credit. CDR, whether conventional or novel, tends to require more capital investment and thus attracts higher price points than credits from avoided or reduced emissions. Because of this, a more nuanced stocktake of investment, rather than an evaluation of credits sold, tends to more accurately capture the increasing willingness of buyers to support CDR projects. While CDR represents only a small portion of the total carbon credits generated through the VCM today (see Section 4.2), this proportion may shift, given parallel signals for greater demand for CDR in the coming years.¹³⁰

Demand-side developments

Several pending developments on the demand side could also affect growth projections for the VCM. One such development is the continued operationalization of Article 6 of the Paris Agreement.¹³¹ Article 6.4, for instance, establishes a new UNFCCC-facilitated mechanism for the validation, verification and issuance of high-quality carbon credits (see Chapter 10 – Monitoring, reporting and verification). However, the mechanism still appears several years away from operationalization, with the removals guidance being one of the most controversial elements of ongoing negotiations among the parties to the convention. As with the broader carbon market, the stringency of the multilateral rules established under Article 6.4 will heavily sway its overall effectiveness as a tool for financing CDR. A breakthrough on this could be instrumental in supporting further demand for CDR.

Another notable development is that several countries, including Colombia and South Africa, have taken steps to integrate carbon credits into compliance markets.¹³² While these schemes are not limited to CDR-based credits, an overall shift from the voluntary to the compliance market setting could garner significant funding for CDR. Yet true fungibility – whether different CDR types should be treated as equivalent to emissions trading scheme units or other forms of carbon credit – remains an ongoing contention.

A continued role for markets in supporting the development of CDR

While carbon markets have been a part of the climate change mitigation toolbox for several decades, CDR remains a small part of the VCM. Conventional CDR continues to dominate novel CDR in the VCM in absolute terms, despite demand for novel CDR growing more quickly. As the VCM may not offer enough finance for scaling CDR, depending on how much will be needed, compliance markets will likely play an essential role in driving significant future demand for CDR. But as integration of CDR at scale in compliance markets is still far off, there appears to be a clear and ongoing role for the VCM in driving experimental and additional CDR in the years to come. In this way, the current VCM offers important insights for a transition of CDR into compliance markets – most notably in getting novel CDR methods tried out in practice and in leading the way in developing methods for monitoring, reporting and verifying CDR projects (see *Chapter 10*).

Box 4.5 Limitations and knowledge gaps

This report has identified areas on which future assessments can build, including:

• Differentiating CDR credits from emission avoidance and emission reduction credits on the VCM: As the distribution of avoidance, reduction and removal credits for projects remains indiscernible in many cases, the true market size for CDR credits remains unclear.

• Broadening monitoring, reporting and verification to capture the non- CO_2 impacts of CDR, which is increasingly gaining importance in buyers' decisions.

• Developing a strategy for the transition from VCM to compliance markets to identify the role the VCM will play in scaling CDR in the future.



Felix Schenuit,ⁱ Holly Buckⁱⁱ Oliver Geden,ⁱ Verena Hofbauer,ⁱⁱⁱ Naser Odeh,^{iv} Kristen Schell,^v Masa Sugiyama,^{vi} Qi Zheng^{vii}

- ⁱ German Institute for International and Security Affairs
- " University at Buffalo
- iii Carbon Gap

5

- $^{\mbox{\tiny iv}}$ King Abdullah Petroleum Studies and Research Center
- Carleton University
- ^{vi} University of Tokyo
- vii International Institute for Sustainable Development

Cite as: Schenuit, F., Buck, H., Geden, O., Hofbauer, V., Odeh, N., Schell, K., Sugiyama, M., Zheng, Q. Chapter 5: Policy and governance. in *The State of Carbon Dioxide Removal* 2024 – 2nd Edition (eds. Smith, S. M. et al.). <u>https://www.stateofcdr.org</u>, doi:10.17605/OSF.IO/4EGUH (2024).

Chapter 5 | Policymaking and

governance

National-level carbon dioxide removal (CDR) policy has made some progress in supporting scientific research and demonstration for novel CDR. But there is less development in other areas where policy plays a guiding role.

Key insights

- CDR policy gained momentum in 2023, but important policy and governance ambiguities (e.g. on residual emissions) remain.
- At the international level, CDR received considerable attention at the sidelines of the COP28 negotiation process (side events, reports, launch of new cooperation); however, its presence in official negotiations was limited.
- National and subnational policies have progressed towards regulating and establishing incentives for initial novel CDR deployment projects, as well as to funding research and development.
- Safeguards against harms from improper deployment need more focus in future CDR governance.
- Case studies on Canada, China, Japan and Saudi Arabia show that CDR is embedded in broader policy landscapes (e.g. agricultural or industrial policy) which address some CDR policy needs but that dedicated CDR policies are also needed.
- A better understanding of specific national contexts can help inform and instigate new initiatives and provide opportunities for future cross-sectoral and cross-country collaborations and alliances.

The IPCC has highlighted three main roles for CDR in mitigation strategies: to reduce net emissions in the near term, to counterbalance residual emissions in the medium term, and to achieve net-negative emissions in the longer term (see Chapter 1 – Introduction). To effectively perform these functions, dedicated policies and innovative governance will be required.¹³³⁻¹³⁵

This chapter discusses both policy and governance. Governance, as defined by the United Nations Development Programme, is "the system of values, policies and institutions by which a society manages its economic, political and social affairs through interactions within and among the state, civil society and private sector".¹³⁶ Policy, by contrast, refers

to specific procedures and protocols, regulations, laws, voluntary actions and other instruments enacted to achieve social goals.

5.1 The state of dedicated CDR policy

Progress is being made in the governance of research and development for novel CDR, but further policy to safeguard against potential harmful deployment and to enable public participation would be required to meet the expectations of stakeholders.

The diffusion of net zero pledges and targets in the past few years has lent momentum to CDR. But scaling up CDR will require the implementation of dedicated and actionable policy sequencing that translates this momentum into development and deployment strategies, as well as systematic integration of CDR into climate, land-use, agriculture, biodiversity, energy and industrial policy.¹³⁷⁻¹⁴¹ To become an element of ambitious mitigation strategies, it is essential that CDR policy ambitions are supported by monitoring, reporting and verification (MRV); actionable deployment incentives; transparent approaches for designating residual emissions; market integration; and near-term targets.¹⁴²⁻¹⁴⁵

Functions of governance for CDR

As important as innovation and upscaling are, effective CDR policy needs to focus on more than just those goals. Policy and governance discussions need to reflect on what this governance does for CDR and other social goals and on how this governance is embedded and linked to other governance structures in climate change mitigation and other policy areas. In particular, four functions of governance for CDR stand out: (1) enabling policy, which may include supporting CDR research and development or creating standards for MRV; (2) regulatory policy on emissions, requiring that emissions be compensated by removals; (3) policy that restricts harmful deployment, which may involve limiting fraudulent activities related to CDR or creating regulatory safeguards to protect communities and ecosystems; and (4) policy that improves decision-making, such as facilitating public deliberation or community assessment.

Current progress in these functional areas is uneven, as analysed in this chapter. The most progress is being made in support of research and innovation for novel CDR and in new initiatives to establish standards for MRV for both novel and conventional CDR. The other functions are often sidelined or ignored in new CDR initiatives at all levels of governance: international, supranational, national and, in some countries, subnational.

International CDR governance

CDR policy gained momentum in 2023 at both the international and regional scale. At the international level, CDR received considerable attention at the sidelines of the official COP28 negotiation process (side events, reports, launch of new cooperation); however, its presence in official negotiations was limited. CDR was addressed in negotiations on the guidance on carbon crediting methodologies and greenhouse gas removals under Article 6.4 of the Paris Agreement, the mechanism for voluntary cooperation based on carbon

credits. The discussion included topics such as the social and environmental safeguards for removals and details of carbon accounting practices (see Chapter 10 – Monitoring, reporting and verification) and will have to be continued at future UNFCCC meetings. The failure to agree on a guidance document is a reminder of the politics inherent in multilateral CDR governance – conventional CDR having long been a highly contentious issue in the UNFCCC negotiations.¹⁴⁶ The final global stocktake text called for the acceleration of zero- and low-emission technologies, including a short and rather vague subparagraph on "abatement and removal technologies such as carbon capture and utilization and storage".¹⁴⁷

Despite the limited progress in official UNFCCC negotiations, there are many examples of progress within the CDR landscape:

• The end-to-end integrity guidance framework from standard setters in the voluntary carbon market, which discusses the use of carbon credits to compensate for residual emissions¹⁴⁸

• Mission Innovation's CDR Mission, launched in 2021 and co-led by Canada, Saudi Arabia and the US, which continues undertaking technical work on "biomass carbon removal and storage" and on "enhanced mineralization"^{149,150}

• The Group of Negative Emitters, launched at COP28 by founding members Denmark, Finland and Panama, with the goal that group member countries will remove more carbon dioxide than they emit¹⁵¹

• Private sector efforts by corporate entities and registries (e.g. creating standards), which can be seen as a form of CDR governance (see Chapter 10 – Monitoring, reporting and verification)

However, when it comes to policy by governments, commitments to CDR remain vague. The official documents submitted by countries to the UNFCCC, such as long-term strategies and nationally determined contributions (NDCs), include – sometimes explicitly, sometimes implicitly – pledges or expectations for CDR.¹⁵² Those expectations for conventional CDR have been criticized for betting too much on land and ignoring the negative impacts of using land for mitigation.¹⁵³⁻¹⁵⁵ For novel CDR, the pledges are very limited, with only a few countries explicitly providing a vision and/or scope for these CDR methods (see Chapter 9 – The CDR gap). Not only are these commitments often vague, but strategies to operationalize them in national policies are often lacking. Analysis specific to a country's political, social and ecological landscape that incorporates potential policy pathways will need to be developed.

CDR policies in countries

National and EU policies have, overall, progressed towards regulating and establishing incentives for initial CDR deployment projects, as well as to funding research and development. Australia, Canada, the EU, Japan, Norway, the UK and the US have government funding programmes for CDR demonstration projects (see Chapter 3

– Demonstration and upscaling). The EU has been focused on setting up governance frameworks for CDR. One prominent development is the progress made towards the EU's Carbon Removal Certification Framework. This certification will initially be voluntary but could potentially be a tool for integrating removals into the existing climate policy architecture.¹⁵⁶ In the US, the focus has been on innovation and demonstration projects, for which some of the funding appropriated in prior infrastructure legislation has been released, such as \$1.2 billion out of an eventual \$3.5 billion for direct air capture hubs (see Chapter 3 – Demonstration and upscaling, Box 3.1). Box 5.1 contains specific updates on the country case studies included in *The State of Carbon Dioxide Removal* 1st edition.

Countries are also working out how to integrate removals into carbon market plans and policies. In India, for example, there are plans to include both removals and reductions in the planned carbon credit trading scheme, which has both compliance and voluntary elements.¹⁵⁷ Other countries, like China and New Zealand, have already gained some experience with trading of afforestation credits in their compliance or voluntary carbon markets. Some governments are also planning to pilot test the trading of removals between countries; for example, Sweden and Switzerland signed a declaration of intent to test how a symbolic amount of removals can be transferred.¹⁵⁸ This transfer will provide valuable information on how removals can be exchanged within a Paris-compliant framework.

Thus far, tangible policy progress at the national level has been mostly in funding research, development and demonstration (RD&D); most other considerations are merely at a discussion level, especially for novel CDR methods. Part of the reason for the limited progress is the complexity created by the number of sectors and technologies involved, from the ocean, soils and forest to agriculture, energy, industry and more. CDR-related policies, therefore, have to cross boundaries: between regions, between institutions, between policy objectives (e.g. food, security, adaptation, biodiversity), and more. Depending on the governance architecture in place, this cross-boundary nature can lead to synergies, but it can also lead to risks, such as political conflicts from other policy areas spilling into climate policymaking. A key example is soil carbon sequestration: Initiatives in this area could potentially lead to more sustainable agriculture or forestry. However, initiatives aiming to do so will have to deal with both climate and agricultural politics, potentially increasing the risk of backlash.

Despite this complexity, CDR is moving up the policy agenda in many countries, and actors in research, business, NGOs and advocacy are increasing their efforts to track CDR policies. While these efforts help to map the current CDR policy landscape, it should be recognized that CDR policy does not start from scratch but already exists implicitly, for example in the governance of the forestry or agriculture sectors. CDR policy is therefore developed in relation to existing policy frameworks and builds on path dependencies within other policy areas. Although there are overarching trends in policy development (several of which are discussed in this chapter), CDR policy initiatives are, by their very nature and like all mitigation policymaking, context specific. Qualitative case studies that provide insights into these specificities are therefore an important complement to exploring the state of CDR (see Chapter 9 – The CDR gap).

Ambiguity in CDR policy

More than 150 countries have proposed net zero emission targets since the adoption of the Paris Agreement.¹⁵⁹ It is widely recognized that achieving these targets will require scaling up CDR, supported by dedicated policy strategies, alongside reducing emissions. However, despite policy experimentation and an increase in discussions of CDR policy, important policy-related ambiguities remain. Fundamentally, the role of CDR is often not consistently specified; in other words, it is unclear whether it is intended to contribute to net emission reduction, counterbalance residual emissions, or contribute to eventually reaching net-negative emissions (see Chapter 1 – Introduction).¹⁴³ For example, there is often conflation between carbon removals and carbon offsets in both policy and corporate strategies aimed at reducing net emissions in the short term. Policy debates also often overlook the crucial difference between carbon dioxide (CO₂) sources (fossil versus biogenic or atmospheric).^{25,160} While countries like Germany and Sweden, as well as the EU, are developing strategies related to residual emissions, ^{161–165} this is not common. The amount and type of residual emissions that need to be counterbalanced by CDR to achieve and maintain net zero emissions are still ambiguous in most countries.¹⁴³

Without greater clarity from governments on the role of CDR in mitigation strategies, there is a risk of greenwashing or obstruction of emission reduction – a dynamic in which a promised CDR scale-up obstructs the reduction of gross greenhouse gas emissions at the rates required to achieve climate goals. Many civil society groups and academics continue to raise concerns about this risk.¹⁶⁶⁻¹⁶⁹ If CDR is treated simply the same as a carbon offset, or if policies are not put in place to ensure that CDR is used to counterbalance only "legitimate" residual emissions,¹⁶⁰ CDR capacity will be used to delay abating emissions that could be addressed at their source. The current lack of specification in many strategies therefore decreases the credibility and legitimacy of CDR efforts and could hinder the most critical factor in climate change mitigation: the reduction of gross emissions.

Some jurisdictions are moving to confront the risk of greenwashing or the obstruction of phasing out fossil fuel infrastructure. For example, California's recently passed law AB 1305, Voluntary Carbon Market Disclosures, requires any carbon offsets and removals that are exchanged to specify methodologies and verification information to back up their removal claims. Another approach is to separate mitigation targets into CDR targets and gross greenhouse gas emission reduction targets. While such a separation would effectively address the issues raised above, the actual implementation would be challenging. For example, in the EU, only a limited amount of net removals from the land use, land-use change and forestry (LULUCF) sector can contribute to the achievement of the 2030 abatement target (up to 225 MtCO₂e). However, capping the contribution of net removals from the LULUCF sector to achieve the abatement target does not address the share of gross emissions and removals. A similar target design is being discussed for 2040,¹⁶³ which again shows that the idea of separate targets is gaining traction, but the actual implementation and clear differentiation of separate targets is both politically and administratively challenging. Such efforts tackle some of the concerns about CDR being mobilized as an offset for emission reduction, but this risk needs to be addressed at all levels and stages of policymaking, target setting, MRV schemes, deployment incentives and market integration, and within the wider policy landscape.

5.2 Tracking emerging CDR policy

As CDR policy moves from concepts and pledges to deployments on the ground, there is an opportunity to understand how CDR policies impact real-world developments and explore links with other policy domains.

An effective assessment of the current state of CDR policy needs to recognize that the policy space is rapidly evolving and that many ambiguities remain. Merely counting explicit CDR initiatives and pledges would not provide sufficient information; the assessment needs to also identify policy gaps, the politics of including CDR as part of mitigation strategies, and adverse effects that could stem from the policy's implementation.

This chapter assesses CDR policies and governance in relation to three key dimensions: (1) the overarching CDR policy architecture, (2) innovation and scaling policies, and (3) safeguards and links with other policy domains.

Overarching CDR policy architecture

Since the adoption of net zero targets, discussions about explicit CDR policy have entered the climate policy arena. Implicit CDR policy for conventional CDR, such as forestry, has been part of climate policy architectures before, but explicit CDR policy requires an overarching governance structure that defines the function of CDR in mitigation strategies. Such a structure would specify the role of removals in mitigation strategies to counterbalance residual emissions (e.g. through separate targets). In addition, it would require robust MRV schemes as well as liability mechanisms to deter the reversal of removed carbon and to ensure transparency.

Innovation and scaling policies

Given the very different technology readiness levels of CDR methods, the specific design and focus of innovation and scaling policies will differ considerably for novel and conventional CDR. Key elements in such policies will be initiatives and funding schemes for research and development, deployment incentives, and public or private procurement, as well as market integration into voluntary and/or compliance carbon markets.

Safeguards and links with other policy domains

Policy objectives beyond the carbon removed are going to shape how CDR is deployed. CDR policy intersects with many social goals: safety, environmental health, energy security, food security and more. CDR policy may thus involve policies to ensure worker or community safety, standards for environmental integrity, or policies to maximize cobenefits. It is also critical to consider that other policies (e.g. regulations concerning parts of process chains like CO_2 injection or transport infrastructure, or regulations on biodiversity protection and restoration) may shape, and are being shaped by, the output and outcome of CDR policy initiatives.

5.3 Case studies

Countries differ substantially in how and the degree to which they are turning their pledges into actionable incentives for CDR deployment – and in how they address other functions of CDR governance.

The State of Carbon Dioxide Removal 1st edition looked at the country case studies of Brazil, the EU, the UK and the US (see Box 5.1 for key updates on these countries). This edition extends the scope of the country case studies to include Canada, China, Japan and Saudi Arabia – countries that have received very little attention in the academic literature on CDR policy and governance. By systematically gathering information on the overarching CDR policy architecture, the innovation and scaling policies, and the broader policy landscape within a country, this report identifies the role of CDR in the case study country and the similarities and differences between countries in how CDR is approached as an element of climate policy. In addition, the report looks at the existing institutional architecture and policies for CDR, how they shape current CDR policy development and how they are expected to shape future CDR policy initiatives. These case studies provide snapshots of CDR policy in selected countries in early 2024, an important starting point for identifying current trends and future challenges.

Box 5.1 Case study updates from The State of Carbon Dioxide Removal 1st edition (Brazil, EU, UK, US)

The State of Carbon Dioxide Removal 1st edition looked at four case studies: Brazil, the EU, the US and the UK. This box summarizes key policy initiatives in these countries since the publication of the first edition in January 2023:

Brazil. Since the change of government in 2023 and its new emphasis on climate ambition in general, conventional CDR together with pledges to reduce deforestation have received more attention. Initiatives include the recommitment to restore 12 million hectares of land by 2030, the Tropical Forest Forever Facility launched at COP28,¹⁷⁰ and the Arc of Restoration programme, aimed at ecological restoration and carbon storage.¹⁷¹ In addition to these developments relating to conventional CDR, possible bioenergy with carbon capture and storage applications in ethanol production are being discussed and tested as novel CDR.^{172,173}

EU. CDR has continued to climb up the political agenda in the EU. In addition to the Carbon Removal Certification Framework (see Section 5.1), CDR played a key role in the recommendation for the new 2040 climate target.¹⁶³ In a strategy on industrial carbon management, the European Commission highlighted the importance of novel CDR methods.¹⁷⁴ More concrete steps building on this strategy, including consideration of how CDR could be accounted for and covered under the EU Emissions Trading System,¹⁷⁵⁻¹⁷⁸ will be facilitated by the next Commission, starting in late 2024.

UK. The UK government has taken several next steps on a broad portfolio of CDR methods¹⁷⁹ as well as in the Developing the UK Emissions Trading Scheme consultation – an initiative that confirmed a "carbon contracts for

difference" approach for novel CDR, plus integration into the UK Emissions Trading Scheme cap. Furthermore, the government aims to develop an MRV standard.^{179,180} Further steps were taken to incentivize the implementation of the much-discussed bioenergy with carbon capture and storage capacity at the Drax Power Station,¹⁸¹ and CDR projects can now apply to access CO₂ transport and storage networks.¹⁸² Efforts to trial ocean alkalinity enhancement, a method the government shows less interest in, through a project funded by philanthropy in UK waters has caused local protest.¹⁸³

US. The US has started implementing funds that were authorized in the 2021 Bipartisan Infrastructure Law and the 2022 Inflation Reduction Act, which included selecting projects for the first \$1.2 billion of the \$3.5 billion Regional Direct Air Capture Hubs programme, as well as releasing funds for programmes that support soil carbon sequestration and ecosystem restoration in a way that would also enhance land-based removals. In relation to CDR specifically, \$24 million for marine CDR research was funded through the National Oceanographic Partnership Program in 2023. The US also announced the \$35 million CDR Purchase Pilot Prize programme, enabling the purchase of CDR credits from four removal methods: direct air capture, biomass carbon removal and storage, enhanced rock weathering, and planned and managed sinks. In February 2024, the Department of Energy announced up to \$100 million for CDR pilot projects and testing facilities.

Canada

Like other countries, Canada has set a target of net zero greenhouse gas emissions by 2050 and enshrined it into law.¹⁸⁴ Canada is exploring the roles that novel and conventional CDR methods may play in reaching net zero, with methods including bioenergy with carbon capture and storage (BECCS), direct air carbon capture and storage (DACCS), and CDR in the LULUCF sector being explicitly considered.¹⁸⁵ Overall, CDR has received increasing attention in the country in recent years, with several related policies and strategies currently under development or published, including Canada's Carbon Management Strategy,¹⁸⁶ Canada's Greenhouse Gas Offset Credit System,¹⁸⁷ and the Natural Climate Solutions Fund.¹⁸⁸

Credits generated under Canada's Greenhouse Gas Offset Credit System can be used to meet compliance requirements under the country's Output-Based Pricing System, which places prices on greenhouse gas emissions, or to reach voluntary climate goals.¹⁸⁹ While the credit system covers both emission reductions and removals, specific protocols are to be developed for several conventional and novel CDR methods, including forest management, enhanced soil carbon sequestration and DACCS.¹⁹⁰

A variety of conventional CDR methods are targeted by the country's Natural Climate Solutions Fund, consisting of the 2 Billion Trees Program, the Nature Smart Climate Solutions Fund, and the Agricultural Climate Solutions Program.¹⁸⁸ While the 2 Billion Trees Program, among other co-benefits, aims to contribute to climate targets via afforestation, reforestation and restoration of forest habitat,¹⁹¹ the Nature Smart Climate Solutions Fund provides funding for the protection, restoration and improved management of a variety of ecosystems storing carbon, including wetlands, peatlands, grasslands and forests.¹⁹² In addition to these policies with a larger focus on CDR, CDR is finding its way into other parts of Canada's climate-related strategies and policies. These include Canada's Defence Climate and Sustainability Strategy 2023–2027, which states that residual emissions of real property are to be addressed using permanent CDR to meet the country's net zero goal by 2050, and Canada's 2024 budget, which highlights that the achievement of the climate goals of the country's Low-carbon Fuel Procurement Program may be aided through the procurement of CDR.

Canada is further aiding CDR scale-up by funding both research and development and pilot applications of CDR.¹⁹³ To encourage early investment in CDR, a carbon capture and utilization (CCU) and carbon capture and storage (CCS) investment tax credit is currently under development, from which CDR methods with permanent storage are expected to benefit.¹⁹³ In addition to national measures, Canada is part of international innovation initiatives relevant to CDR, including Mission Innovation, whose CDR Mission is co-led by Canada, and the Carbon Management Challenge, which is focused on accelerating the deployment of carbon management measures.¹⁹⁴

Canada is also in the process of improving its regulatory framework surrounding CCS, with many of the considered measures (some of which are already published) having high relevance for CDR.¹⁹³ Among these measures is the development of relevant regulatory frameworks for carbon storage. Three of Canada's provinces have already introduced policies regulating geological CO₂ storage, addressing aspects such as liability and MRV, and further provinces are currently developing their respective regulatory frameworks for CO₂ storage,¹⁹³ usually with a focus on fossil CCS applications. By 2030, Canada's CO₂ capture capacity is projected to reach 16 Mt annually, with further increases in capture and storage capacities needed for the country to achieve its net zero target by 2050.¹⁹³

China

As the largest emitter of current annual emissions, China plays a critical role in global climate change mitigation efforts. Its pledge to achieve carbon neutrality by 2060 has attracted considerable attention and, as in other countries, raised the profile of CDR. However, the degree to which novel and conventional CDR methods are addressed by public policy differs considerably.

Conventional CDR has already had a relatively high profile in climate policy in China. China has a long history of afforestation/reforestation programmes and efforts to enhance the carbon sink in the LULUCF sector. Although CDR has not always been the main motive for these initiatives (they may have aimed to prevent, for example, desertification),¹⁹⁵ recent pledges and initiatives indicate that CDR's mitigation effects are becoming more important. These projects that enhance conventional removals tend to be shaped by top-down, command-and-control regulations¹⁹⁶ and can have local adverse effects on ecosystems and communities.¹⁹⁷ New initiatives to address conventional CDR methods are linked with agriculture policy and politics.¹⁹⁵

China has committed in its NDC to increase forest stock by 6 billion cubic metres from 2005 levels and mentions enhancing carbon sink capacity as one of its "Ten Key Actions for Peaking Carbon Emissions".¹⁹⁸ The NDC also includes a reference to "blue carbon"

and mentions that in the future "carbon sink trading will be integrated into the national carbon emission trading market".¹⁹⁸ However, as in other countries, ensuring the quality of certificates is a challenge, especially for non-permanent CDR methods like afforestation.¹⁹⁹

With respect to novel CDR, there is a large number of patents for these methods in China (see Chapter 2 – Research and development) but no systematic support or incentive system. BECCS and DACCS methods are mostly discussed in expert communities, and there are no CDR-specific policy initiatives for novel CDR. A key element of the expert debate is the increasing attention on novel CDR in national modelling.^{200,201} The national government is gradually promoting the RD&D and application of CCU and CCS, mainly through the development of pilot projects, as announced in the 14th Five-Year Plan.^{202,203} The country's NDC includes these technologies in a list of "carbon peak pilots".¹⁹⁸ To date, however, existing CCS and CCU projects are mostly associated with fossil CO₂ sources, with most projects reinjecting CO₂ for enhanced oil recovery, and therefore are not CDR projects.^{204,205} In preparation for the fifth "National Key Low Carbon Technologies List", BECCS and DACCS, as well as conventional CDR and monitoring technologies, are part of the five key areas for which the government is seeking proposals.²⁰⁶

Although no specific funding for BECCS or DACCS demonstration plants could be identified in China, reports from national studies on the status of CCU and CCS indicate that innovation in DACCS and BECCS is coming to the attention of decision makers.^{201,203,207,208} For example, direct air capture is mentioned in the bilateral declaration between China and the US,²⁰⁹ an initiative that further raises the profile of novel CDR methods. With regard to other CDR options, biochar has been addressed in multiple research projects,²¹⁰ and different marine CDR approaches are being researched.

Japan

Japan has announced its goal of reaching net zero greenhouse gas emissions by 2050²¹¹ and has amended the Act on Promotion of Global Warming Countermeasures accordingly. In its long-term strategy, the country identified the application of both conventional and novel CDR methods as essential to tackling unavoidable greenhouse gas emissions and reaching net zero.²¹² A multi-model study suggests a CDR of approximately 100 MtCO₂ per year by 2050 would be necessary for a cost-effective net zero policy.²¹³ While the issue of carbon management is rising in Japan's policy agenda, the most prominent focus is on "carbon recycling" (i.e. CCU).²¹⁴ Rather than permanent storage of carbon or CDR specifically, the processing of captured carbon into products would be the focal point, though parts of this carbon recycling agenda are expected to be directly or indirectly beneficial for CDR.

In its NDC, Japan estimates that overall greenhouse gas removals will reach nearly 50 Mt per year by 2030. This quantity, however, represents roughly the same level of CDR as in 2013, the reference year for Japan's 2030 emission reduction target. Japan further intends to secure international emission reductions and removals cumulatively totalling 100 MtCO₂ per year by 2030 via the country's Joint Crediting Mechanism.²¹⁵ While removal quantities per CDR method are not yet specified in the country's NDC or long-term

strategy, Japan anticipates the need for measures to enhance the forest, cropland, natural environment, and coastal and ocean carbon sinks, together with the promotion of urban revegetation and steps to further the development of DACCS.²¹²

Like other countries, Japan has developed crediting schemes relevant to CDR. Both the government-managed J-Credit Scheme and the voluntary J-Blue Credit Scheme allow for the creation of CDR credits for the application of conventional CDR methods such as forest management, afforestation and coastal wetland restoration,²¹⁶⁻²¹⁸ with the J-Credit Scheme also covering greenhouse gas emission reductions.^{217,218} Credits issued under these schemes can be traded and used for offsetting purposes.²¹⁷ A methodology is now being developed for including direct air capture in the J-Credit Scheme.^{219,220} In April 2024, it was announced that Japan's national emissions trading system will allow for the inclusion of CO₂ removals as eligible carbon credits in the system's voluntary first phase. The category of eligible carbon credits will include CCU, coastal wetland restoration, BECCS and DACCS.

Japan also provides funds for research and development as well as for innovation activities. CDR pilot projects can receive funding from the Green Innovation Fund, and further funding for research and development as well as pilot projects is provided via the cabinet-level Moonshot Research and Development Program,^{194,221,222} whose target technologies include direct air capture, enhanced rock weathering and coastal wetland restoration.²²² As a core mission member, Japan collaborates with other countries on Mission Innovation's CDR Mission and aims to accelerate the introduction of carbon management measures under the Carbon Management Challenge.^{194,223} Japan's government has also sponsored CDR road map reports through the Innovation for Cool Earth Forum, focusing on CDR methods such as DACCS, enhanced rock weathering, coastal wetland restoration and BECCS, among other thems.²²⁴

In recent years, Japan has also been developing CCU and CCS strategies and policies, many of which are relevant to CDR methods that rely on CCS technologies (e.g. BECCS, DACCS). However, the share of CDR-related CO₂ storage has yet to be determined for either annual or 2050 CO₂ storage targets. To address gaps and ambiguities in Japan's current legal framework surrounding CCS, the country is developing the CCS Business Act, which is expected to cover the stages of capture, transportation and storage of CO₂ and to tackle issues of storage rights, liability, monitoring and export of CO₂.²²⁵

Saudi Arabia

Saudi Arabia has announced its ambition to achieve net zero greenhouse gas emissions by 2060. As a major producer of fossil fuels, it has emphasized in several international forums the importance of a circular carbon economy, in which removal is one of the four key principles: reduce, reuse, recycle, remove.²²⁶ Although the country currently has no legally binding or separate target for CDR, the government is developing a CDR strategy to prepare for the next steps in CDR policymaking.

Recent modelling suggests that a large amount of CDR would be required to achieve net zero greenhouse gas emissions: 250–371 Mt per year by 2060.²²⁷ In addition to these modelling studies, work is under way to identify optimal locations for DACCS clusters in

the country and to conduct feasibility studies for various CDR methods (notably DACCS and energy-from-waste with CCS). Recent work by the King Abdullah University of Science and Technology has evaluated the availability and suitability of CO_2 geological storage across Saudi Arabia, including in saline aquifers and depleted oil and gas fields.²²⁸

Some CDR-related pilot projects have emerged in the private sector, including for direct air capture. The State-owned oil and gas company Saudi Aramco, in collaboration with others, is developing the Climatree technology, a direct air carbon-capturing microalgae photobioreactor integrated with a patented CO_2 scrubber;²²⁹ the prototype was installed at Al-Qurrayah in 2022.²³⁰ In addition, Aramco is collaborating with Siemens Energy to develop a direct air capture test unit in Dhahran. The test facility, to be completed in 2024, will demonstrate the removal and storage of 12 tons per year of CO_2 . It is expected that this will pave the way for a larger pilot plant with an annual CO_2 capture capacity of 1,250 tons.²³¹ In addition, Aramco and the King Abdullah University of Science and Technology are working on a CO_2 storage method, converting CO_2 into carbonate rocks.

Overall, Saudi Arabia considers DACCS the CDR option with the highest potential, and research is under way to determine its potential in the country. Saudi Arabia is one of the co-founders of the Mission Innovation CDR Mission, launched in 2021, and together with Australia is leading the development of the 2023–2026 Work Plan for the Enhanced Mineralization Technical Track, launched at COP28, covering both enhanced rock weathering as a CDR method and CO_2 injection in rock formations, which could be used for both atmospheric and fossil CO_2 .¹⁴⁹

In terms of conventional CDR, the Saudi Green Initiative commits to planting 10 billion trees and rehabilitating 40 million hectares of land by 2060. The National Center for Vegetation Development and Combating Desertification has been established to facilitate the tree planting. In 2023, Saudi Arabia introduced the Greenhouse Gas Crediting and Offsetting Mechanism (GCOM). It aims to allow companies and organizations to offset their emissions by purchasing credits and certificates from projects that voluntarily reduce or remove greenhouse gas emissions. The GCOM guidance acknowledges the importance of CDR and addresses the topic of permanence. Like with other accounting and offsetting schemes (see Section 5.1 on the EU Carbon Removal Certification Framework, for example), the quality of the certificates and the use cases will be important to the credibility of the scheme.

Under the GCOM framework, accounting issues for CDR methodologies would be addressed by establishing requirements and specifications for the quantification, MRV and registration of project-based emission reductions and CDR, including issues of permanence and reversal of removals. According to the government's plans, the GCOM will adapt to future changes and developments at the national and international levels, including alignment with Article 6 of the Paris Agreement.

Saudi Aramco is actively engaged in CCS and CCU projects, with fossil CO₂ sources used for enhanced oil recovery. Current work commissioned by the government includes a feasibility study for a CCS hub in the Gulf Cooperation Council countries. Saudi Arabia's target is to capture and permanently store 9 MtCO₂ per year by 2027, rising to 44 MtCO₂ per year by 2035. This capacity, built for fossil CCU or CCS, could potentially enable CDR

upscaling. However, as with the other case studies, the current targets do not focus on CDR. To qualify as CDR targets, they would need to cover permanent removal from the atmosphere.

5.4 Synthesis

Conventional and novel CDR are often embedded in broader sectoral policy initiatives, but dedicated CDR policy is also needed to address both deployment and other functions of governance.

The case studies illustrated a strong focus on enabling policies for CDR, especially for research and development. Several case studies also demonstrated preparations for systems intended to facilitate the tradability of CDR credits, as well as early attempts to establish trading of conventional CDR credits. However, these credits typically represent CDR that is being used *instead of* emission reductions rather than CDR that is being used to *counterbalance* residual emissions. The case studies also show that both conventional and novel CDR are embedded in other policy fields and economic sectors. Table 5.1 summarizes the key messages from the case studies within the three dimensions outlined in Section 5.2 (overarching CDR policy architecture; innovation and scaling policies; safeguards and links with other policy domains).

	Overarching CDR policy architecture	Innovation and scaling policies	Safeguards and links with other policy domains
Canada	To reach its net zero target, Canada has recognized the need for deployment of both conventional and novel CDR. Explicit removal targets in terms of tons of CO ₂ removed do not yet exist.	The government supports research and development as well as pilot CDR applications. It is currently developing CDR methodologies for its Greenhouse Gas Offset Credit System and preparing incentives including an investment tax credit and funding contracts for differences in carbon markets. Canada co-leads the Mission Innovation CDR Mission.	Conventional CDR is being tackled in policies focused on wider ecosystems, which also consider further, non- carbon benefits. Novel CDR is expected to benefit from several policies aimed at CCS and CCU, whose safeguards will also affect CDR.
China	Conventional CDR methods already have a relatively high profile, including through quantified targets and policy initiatives. The policy landscape for novel CDR is much less developed.	BECCS and DACCS are considered in the modelled pathways, but policy support for RD&D is still in its infancy and often focused on fossil CCU or CCS applications.	Large-scale afforestation, a well-established strategy, may have negative impacts on ecosystems and local communities. Conventional CDR in general is closely linked to agricultural policy and politics.

	Overarching CDR policy architecture	Innovation and scaling policies	Safeguards and links with other policy domains
Japan	So far, Japan's focus has been on conventional CDR and applying voluntary rather than compliance measures to further CDR development.	While Japan is supporting national and international CDR innovation initiatives, it is currently lacking policies targeting CDR deployment.	Japan's carbon management approach currently prioritizes carbon recycling (CCU) over CDR and CCS.
Saudi Arabia	Quantified targets and deployment initiatives exist for conventional CDR methods. A new crediting and offsetting scheme that considers novel and conventional CDR was launched in 2023. But policy for novel CDR is in the early stages.	Saudi Arabia has addressed CDR as part of its circular economy initiatives. Some pilot projects on novel CDR methods have been started in the private sector. Saudi Arabia co-leads the Mission Innovation CDR Mission.	The initiatives in novel CDR innovation are closely linked to the energy company Saudi Aramco, and research is being conducted by institutes and universities.

Table 5.1 Key findings from case studies providing snapshots of carbon dioxide removal (CDR) policy in selected countries in early 2024.

For conventional CDR, path dependencies, political and stakeholder networks, and the political economy of agriculture and forestry will shape the future of CDR policy. A key risk associated with the rise of conventional CDR as part of climate change mitigation strategies, as observed in the case studies, is – in addition to reversibility risks – the potential adverse impacts of its large-scale deployment on biodiversity, food security and local communities.

For novel CDR, the recent initiatives included in the case studies are closely linked to fossil CCS and CCU applications and initiatives. The emerging policies on carbon management – an umbrella term for all kinds of CCS and CCU applications, including those with fossil CCS – will shape future CDR policy. Early initiatives in the countries analysed here indicate that it will be a challenge to make sure that CCS and CCU infrastructure become an enabling factor for future large-scale CDR. The surge in CDR policy announcements and commitments and their effects on climate policy will need to be carefully assessed in the coming years. In addition to the direct risk of obstructing emission reductions, embedding CDR in wider carbon management policy initiatives poses indirect risks of confusing the different roles that these mitigation approaches can play in achieving net zero and net-negative emissions.

As CDR deployment progresses, CDR policy will continue to emerge within and be shaped by an existing landscape that includes climate, energy, industrial, agricultural, forestry, ocean and innovation policy. Each of these domains exerts an influence on what CDR policy is and will become. For example, climate policy and the existing context of policy around forestry and land use and around carbon offsets is fundamental to how markets for removals evolve. Energy policy may influence the development of particular CDR methods, such as BECCS or approaches that co-produce hydrogen. CDR policy is also linked with CCS and CCU policy in some jurisdictions. Even though the roles of CDR, CCS and CCU within a climate action portfolio differ, there can be regulatory overlap in terms of regulating geological storage, and there is often overlap in the public mind. Approaches such as soil carbon sequestration are situated within existing policy infrastructure that incentivizes conservation agriculture, marine CDR is situated within existing policies that regulate ocean activities, and so on. And policies that incentivize scientific research interact with all CDR techniques. These landscapes address some of the needs of CDR policy, but dedicated CDR policy is also required – not only for deployment but also for the other functions of governance.

Some of these governance functions – research and innovation policy, regulation that enables CDR, social safeguards, support for public deliberation and involvement in decision-making – fit better into the existing policy landscape than others. Policy focused on increasing soil carbon sequestration, for example, may further the development of MRV technologies and farmer adoption of carbon sequestering practices, but it is unlikely to address social safeguards or procurement for CDR broadly. Similarly, policy that provides public funding for direct air capture demonstration projects, which falls under industrial RD&D, tends to be dealt with in a project-level, industrial demonstration box. While direct air capture is supported by governments in this way, this leaves out governance that would deal with impacts on communities should the technology successfully scale or with how to involve the public in questions of how large a role CDR should play in responding to climate change. Dedicated CDR policy at wider scales would address these and other CDR-specific needs. And some dedicated CDR policy *is* starting to evolve in close connection with existing national mitigation strategies, as illustrated in the case studies.

Box 5.2 Limitations and knowledge gaps

This report has identified areas on which future assessments can build, including:

There is limited research that maps out how sectoral policies in areas such as agriculture, industrial decarbonization, forestry, buildings and power interact with CDR development. Future assessments could systematically map this out with empirical studies.

While there have been many recent studies calling into question the efficacy of carbon offsets, there is an opportunity for further research into:

How markets for removals (rather than avoided emissions) would have similar or different challenges (around issues such as additionality, permanence, fraud, over-crediting or dispossession of communities).

Whether removals-only markets can avoid some of the challenges plaguing carbon markets.

What design features removals markets need for the best chance of success.

As technologies move from concept to demonstration to deployment, there is an opportunity to conduct comparative studies of how policy support helps companies move through the cycle and of when policy support is not the decisive factor. There is also an opportunity to conduct comparative studies of how social safeguards and public engagement – or the lack thereof – have shaped projects. Future assessments could profile cases and synthesize knowledge from them.

The emerging dedicated CDR policy landscape provides new opportunities to empirically study the political economy of CDR in international, supranational and national climate policies, in particular distributional effects, burden sharing in CDR ramp-up policies, and new forms of cooperation and alliances.





Emily Cox[,] Finn Müller-Hansen,[†] William F. Lamb,[†] Tim Repke,[†] Rob Bellamy,^{††} Sarah Lück^{††}

ⁱ University of Oxford

" Mercator Research Institute on Global Commons and Climate Change

" University of Manchester

Cite as: Cox, E., Müller-Hansen, F., Lamb, W. F., Repke, T., Bellamy, R., Lück S. Chapter 6: Perceptions and communication. in **The State of Carbon Dioxide Removal 2024 – 2nd Edition** (eds. Smith, S. M. et al.). <u>https://www.stateofcdr.org</u>, doi:10.17605/OSF.IO/QN6FV (2024).

Chapter 6 | Perceptions and communication

Understanding the perceptions of publics, adopters and interested parties is crucial for implementing carbon dioxide removal (CDR) and for mutual learning. The CDR perceptions literature and analyses of social media and news media coverage yield lessons for responsible communication.

Key insights

- Involving a diversity of actors in CDR is both an opportunity for mutual learning and a challenge for communication.
- A growing literature on public perceptions highlights low awareness but nuanced attitudes towards CDR methods in studied populations.
- Key factors driving public attitudes towards CDR are perceptions of "naturalness" and ecosystem impacts, along with underlying values and beliefs including about climate change. Evidence is mixed on whether the level of perceived "moral hazard" or people's proximity to developments influence attitudes.
- Twitter/X users and news media tend to focus on particular CDR methods in particular countries for instance, soil carbon sequestration in Australia, peatland restoration in the UK, and direct air capture in the US.
- The level of attention given to CDR on anglophone Twitter/X in 2022 was similar to that in 2021, with generally more positive sentiment towards familiar and conventional CDR methods than to other methods.
- Coverage of CDR in English-language news media has strongly increased, especially since governments started to put forward net zero targets. The news media tends to conflate CDR with avoided emissions and mitigation approaches.
- This chapter identifies seven key considerations for responsible communication about CDR, developed from lessons from public perceptions research.

This chapter combines multiple sources of evidence to understand public perceptions and communication about CDR; these sources include surveys, experiments and deliberative approaches in the scientific literature, and data from social media and news media. Section 6.1 explains the role and importance of public perceptions, and Section 6.2 presents four complementary approaches for assessing perceptions of CDR among different groups of people (see Box 6.1). Section 6.3 summarizes the outlook for this topic, including knowledge gaps and how future assessments can build on this analysis (see Box 6.4).

6.1 The role of public perceptions

Understanding public perceptions is crucial for the ethical and effective development and deployment of CDR.

Public attitudes towards new technologies can have a crucial influence on their development and deployment.⁹ Perceptions of CDR methods among interested parties and the wider public will influence prospects for scaling up CDR. Publics perform several key roles: influencing policy mandates, determining whether a project has "social licence to operate" on a local and/or national scale, and providing "demand pull" for new innovations.^{232–234} In addition, the public can act as a direct stakeholder in many contexts – for instance, as landowners deciding whether to take up or allow CDR initiatives on their land; as a directly impacted community; as a community of interest in support or opposition; and as providers of crucial information on local, historical and social context, which may otherwise be lacking. Publics are an essential source of knowledge for developing more effective and responsible CDR policies and methods.^{235,236}

Examples of the importance of public perceptions include the genetic modification of crops and food in the EU, where early public perception research identified serious issues with public trust in political and regulatory structures – lessons that later came to be seen as "remarkably prescient" in the wake of the EU moratorium on this technology.²³⁷ Experiences with carbon capture and storage projects around the world show that some benefited greatly from lessons learned from earlier public successes and failures.²³⁸

But publics are not simply a source of potential opposition; they also play a crucial enabling role, for instance as advocates or as market actors. Public perceptions should not simply be seen as the end of the innovation chain (see Chapter 1 – Introduction), nor should researchers simply ask whether people "accept" an innovation that has already been developed. Instead, the aim should be early and continual two-way communication and reflexive engagement throughout the innovation process.^{239–241} Publics play crucial roles throughout this process, as well as informing the overarching social and political landscape in which CDR sits. Participatory, deliberative approaches to decision-making can help ensure that informed views from a variety of perspectives are taken into account, which in turn can improve the quality and legitimacy of decisions, as shown in US work on shale gas development, for example.²⁴²

Box 6.1 Multiple sets of evidence for assessing perceptions of CDR

Different techniques for assessing perceptions have specific advantages and disadvantages and are rooted in their own sets of assumptions. Section 6.2 presents four complementary approaches for assessing perceptions of CDR among different groups of people: (1) a systematic map of the scientific literature to understand the current state of evidence on different aspects of public perceptions and CDR; (2) a qualitative review of this literature to understand why people respond in particular ways; (3) analysis of posts on Twitter/X to understand public communication on social media and how it evolves over time; (4) analysis of news media to understand key aspects of how CDR is communicated to wider audiences.

Who is "the public"? Different approaches to gauging public perception can define *the public* in different ways, and the definitions of related categories – such as *stakeholder* and *expert* – are also not fixed. This report presents findings relating to all three of these categories, differentiating where possible, although the boundaries are frequently blurred. People also operate from different positions – for instance, *professional* actors or *civic* actors – at different times, depending on the context.²⁴³ This report uses *interested parties* as an umbrella term to include adopters of CDR technology, CDR experts, directly affected communities, and people with a professional interest in CDR. Although this term is imperfect, it serves as an overarching term to refer to all the groups studied in the systematic review. *Adopters* refers to those adopting CDR in situations where they have some jurisdiction (e.g. landowners, farmers, community/project developers). *CDR experts* refers to those with pre-existing knowledge and opinions about CDR, such as academics, policymakers, NGOs and industry professionals.

Elicited versus non-elicited information. Elicited information is asked for or drawn out by researchers, for instance using surveys, experiments and deliberative approaches. Non-elicited information is provided unprompted, for instance in social media posts or news media articles. Elicited approaches allow the researchers to control and analyse the context and participants, but they leave the results susceptible to framing effects created by researchers in the way the topic is presented to participants. Non-elicited techniques are based on statements by people who may already have an interest in CDR, for instance as part of their job or gained from their peer group, which will impact their views. On social media it can be difficult to disentangle whether participants are experts or professional communicators, a challenge this chapter attempts to tackle with a new analysis to identify user types.

Changes since The State of Carbon Dioxide Removal 1st **edition.** The assessment of public perception and communication of CDR has been strengthened since *The State of Carbon Dioxide Removal* 1st edition in the following ways:

• A new systematic review of the scientific literature up to May 2023, using an extended set of keywords and machine-learning techniques to identify papers (including expert perceptions papers), distinguishing between CDR experts and the general public

- A new qualitative review of papers on public (non-expert) perceptions up to September 2023 to understand why people respond in certain ways
- Updated Twitter/X analysis to end-2022, including new data on user types and posting frequency
- New analysis of news media

Box 6.2 Methods: Evaluating the state of knowledge on CDR perceptions in the scientific literature

Systematic map of the literature. In this analysis, the English-language scientific literature was searched using two databases (Web of Science and Scopus), and all studies that evaluate perceptions of methods that capture and store carbon dioxide were extracted. A much larger body of literature was identified than in The State of Carbon Dioxide Removal 1st edition, due to four main factors: (1) use of more comprehensive keyword searches and machine learning to identify relevant papers; (2) extension of publication date criterion to May 2023; (3) inclusion of literature on CDR expert perceptions and media analyses on CDR; and (4) inclusion of papers that do not mention CDR explicitly but talk about methods, such as biochar applications, that are considered to lead to net removals from the atmosphere. Decisions over point (4) are particularly challenging, with blurred lines in categorizing papers as being about CDR versus about methods that may capture carbon as a cobenefit; such decisions can lead to very different findings regarding the size of the literature and have also been encountered in the CDR policy literature (see also Chapter 5 - Policymaking and governance).²⁴⁴ This challenge is especially salient for methods based on the management of natural systems, such as forest management and peatland restoration.

Qualitative review. The goal of the qualitative review is to understand why public groups hold certain views about CDR. For this analysis, the English-language peer-reviewed literature was reviewed for mentions of factors driving public attitudes: that is, attributes of the respondent or project that might influence how CDR, the specific method or the proposed implementation is perceived. Conditions for deployment (i.e. under what conditions CDR methods or proposals might become acceptable) were also examined, because support for novel interventions is likely to be fragile and conditional. A systematic search was conducted for papers published before September 2023 about public groups (i.e. local communities, adopters or the general public in a particular location, but not experts), perceptions (i.e. presenting empirical data), and CDR (not including methods where the carbon sequestration is a side benefit, or carbon capture and utilization from point source emissions). The search terms used in The State of Carbon Dioxide *Removal* 1st edition were also used here (see also Waller et al., 2024²⁴⁵), and relevant papers were added if they were missed with these search terms but identified in the systematic map. The identified papers were manually coded by reading the whole paper and applying a scoring system, based loosely on the IPCC evidence/agreement scales.²⁴⁶ Papers were given two scores:

Provision of empirical evidence for the factor or condition:

- 1 = yes
- 2 = no

Certainty of evidence:

- 3 = strong evidence
- 2 = mixed results (e.g. where different tests within a single paper show different outcomes, or where deliberative participants were split)
- 1 = weak or no evidence (e.g. non-statistically significant results or low effect sizes)

• -1 = the inverse relationship (where the direction of the relationship is the inverse of the expectation or hypothesis; see Figure 6.2)

6.2 Existing evidence base

Among the studied populations, people are generally cautiously supportive of CDR research and deployment, conditional on factors such as environmental safety and personal values and beliefs. Communication about CDR on Twitter/X and in news media has strongly increased over the last decade, with specific countries tending to focus on specific CDR methods.

Overview of the perceptions literature

Perceptions of CDR is a much more studied subject than was indicated by the literature review conducted for *The State of Carbon Dioxide Removal* 1st edition. This is due to the broader search criteria and more systematic methodology applied in this edition (see Boxes 6.1 and 6.2). The overview of the literature in this report includes studies on general populations, affected communities, potential adopters of CDR methods, and CDR experts (e.g. policymakers, business representatives, scientific experts), enabling the report to differentiate between different types of actors (see Figure 6.1, bottom right panel). This systematic search of the literature identified 165 English-language scientific papers on CDR perceptions.

Even though the evidence base in this report is much larger than in *The State of Carbon Dioxide Removal* 1st edition, several key conclusions from the first edition remain valid:

- The majority of publications are from Australia, Europe and North America.
- Among the studied populations, awareness of novel CDR is much lower than awareness of conventional CDR (see Chapter 1 Introduction, for definitions).
- Support for research and deployment among studied groups is generally moderate to high, depending on the specific CDR method.

The 165 studies identified differ widely in their subject matter, data and methods used, as well as geographic location (see Figure 6.1, top and bottom left panels). This report finds evidence relating to a variety of different CDR methods. Some of the earlier studies use the broad framing of *geoengineering* without naming specific CDR methods; the more recent studies often include several CDR methods and increasingly cover novel approaches.
Alongside research on public perceptions of CDR in general populations (65 papers), this report identifies an even larger body of literature on CDR expert and adopter perceptions (89 papers). Most of the research employs quantitative methods such as surveys and survey experiments, but there are also many qualitative studies using semi-structured interviews, workshops or focus group discussions, as well as some mixed-methods approaches (see Figure 6.1, bottom right panel).



Figure 6.1 Overview of the public perceptions literature on carbon dioxide removal (CDR) from the systematic map. Publications by CDR method and year (top), study location by region (bottom left), number of publications by study focus and method type applied in the study (bottom right). Carbon farming here refers to a cluster of CDR methods that can be applied in agriculture such as soil carbon sequestration, biochar and agroforestry. BECCS = bioenergy with carbon capture and storage; DAC(CS) = direct air capture (with or without carbon storage).

Despite the much broader search criteria in this edition of the report, the geographic concentration in Europe and a few other countries, such as Australia and the US, remained: 62% of the studies focus on Europe, North America and the Pacific region (see Figure 6.1, bottom left panel), although the inclusion of studies on interested parties led to a higher overall coverage of regions than in the first edition. This concentration is likely driven, at

least in part, by the English-language-only search strategy as well as by the concentration of authors in Western countries. In the literature on CDR experts and media, many studies do not have a specific geographic focus but are geographically constrained by language or availability of study participants.

Studies report low to moderate levels of public awareness, familiarity or knowledge about CDR. Surveys often find low familiarity with many CDR methods, with afforestation/ reforestation being the most known method.²⁴⁷⁻²⁴⁹ However, it is difficult to compare numbers on public awareness, familiarity and knowledge because the number of papers presenting such data is still low, and studies often measure these factors in very different ways and report aggregate results differently. An immediate implication of low familiarity is that people's opinions expressed in surveys might be very susceptible to change.

Most of the quantitative studies focus on measuring attitudes towards CDR, often using measures of support or acceptance of CDR research or deployment. CDR methods that are perceived as "more natural" get greater support among the studied populations.^{248,250,251} Other important factors influencing the degree of support are perceived trade-offs and co-benefits, costs, trust in institutions, and concern about climate change; these factors are discussed further in the next section. A smaller number of studies also look at willingness to adopt or willingness to pay for CDR.²⁵²⁻²⁵⁴ Closely related to overall attitudes are the perceived risks and benefits of CDR. While most study participants see the benefits of CDR in regulating the climate through carbon sequestration, this is not necessarily the most salient benefit to them.²⁵⁵ Risks that impact the perception of CDR include technological risks (e.g. the safety of underground geological storage), environmental impacts (e.g. on biodiversity) and social impacts (e.g. on local communities).²⁵⁶

The studies researching perceptions of interested parties can be divided into two sets: one that focuses on surveying or interviewing potential adopters of conventional land-based methods such as farmers and landowners^{254,257,258} and another that focuses on experts such as policymakers, delegates in climate negotiations, researchers, and industry and NGO representatives. The latter set includes studies of expert perceptions of the potential and feasibility of CDR methods^{259,260} and investigations of perceptions of policy-related questions, for example on the use of bioenergy with carbon capture and storage (BECCS) in future mitigation scenarios.²⁶¹

Factors driving attitudes and conditions for deployment

As well as understanding *what* public groups think about CDR, it is important to understand *why* they hold such views. This understanding can enable policies and projects to be crafted in ways that are more in line with public preferences and that therefore potentially have lower risk of failure. To gain such insights, this report presents a qualitative review of the English-language literature on public perceptions of CDR, expanding and updating the review presented in *The State of Carbon Dioxide Removal* 1st edition and focusing only on perceptions of the public, communities and adopters (see Box 6.1). For this reason, the corpus of literature is smaller than in the systematic map, which also included papers on expert perceptions, papers on media analysis and papers not explicitly focusing on CDR.

For the qualitative review, the more targeted corpus contains 56 papers: 32 using

quantitative methods, 16 using qualitative methods and eight using a mixed-methods approach. Eleven of the new relevant papers have been published since *The State of Carbon Dioxide Removal* 1st edition. These largely represent an incremental continuation of existing knowledge, including testing whether CDR negatively impacts emission reduction efforts or intentions, via a "moral hazard" effect;^{262,263} exploring the influence of climate beliefs and sense of climate urgency;^{263,264} exploring preferred attributes of CDR;²⁶⁵⁻²⁶⁷ and exploring how opinions change in different geographical contexts.^{243,268} Direct air carbon capture and storage (DACCS) seems to be emerging as a key focus in the literature, as does new work on novel marine methods such as ocean alkalinity enhancement.^{263,264} This section looks at the findings of the qualitative review to shed light on why people might form certain views about CDR (see Box 6.2).

The published literature identified 14 distinct factors driving public attitudes and 12 distinct conditions for deployment, as shown in Figure 6.2. There are many more papers exploring factors driving attitudes than exploring conditions for deployment. Survey and experiment papers tend to provide evidence on factors, whereas qualitative papers and papers on landowner uptake look at both factors and conditions. Some indicators could fall into either category; therefore, the full text of the papers was reviewed to determine how the findings are described in the paper itself. The largest body of evidence, by number of papers published, is on whether something is perceived to be "natural" or to "mess or tamper with nature", followed by whether it is perceived to have "ecosystem impacts" (including impacts on wildlife and biodiversity, as well as broader environmental impacts).

We can understand why publics respond to CDR in certain ways



Figure 6.2 Fourteen factors shown to drive public attitudes towards carbon dioxide removal (CDR; top) and 12 identified conditions for the deployment of CDR (bottom), from the English-language peer-reviewed literature on public perceptions (56 papers). Papers were scored according to whether they provide empirical evidence for a strong relationship between the factor or condition and public attitudes, or mixed results, or a weak relationship/no relationship, or an inverse relationship (see Box 6.2). Where appropriate, the direction of the relationship is labelled +ve (positive) or -ve (negative). Pieces of evidence = total number of papers discussing the listed factors or conditions (most papers cover more than one topic).

The majority of papers find that these factors have a strong influence on public attitudes: CDR methods that are framed as or perceived to be more natural are more likely to be supported, and methods that have perceived detrimental impacts on ecosystems or biodiversity are more likely to be perceived negatively. Other factors often studied in the literature are values and beliefs (e.g. social identities, cultural worldviews, political affiliation), climate beliefs (e.g. belief in the urgency of climate change), and trust. For these factors, slightly more papers show mixed results or a weak relationship with public attitudes.

A large number of papers have examined moral hazard effects: the idea that CDR might

negatively impact emission reduction efforts or intentions. However, the literature does not agree on whether this factor consistently drives public attitudes. Many papers provide weak or no evidence in favour of the moral hazard hypothesis, and two provide evidence for the inverse effect – in other words, learning about or deliberating CDR might in fact increase support for emission reductions.268,269 Similarly, there is low confidence on the extent to which people's knowledge of CDR or their familiarity with the topic influences their attitudes towards it. Finally, very few papers examine affect (i.e. subjective feelings, emotions) and scale (related to the type and site of activity, as well as the deployment footprint). This report also finds low confidence in people's proximity to proposed projects or developments being a factor that drives attitudes.

Conditions for deployment are requirements that study participants highlight as important for supporting or accepting the deployment of CDR methods. They can help develop a more nuanced understanding of how and why particular projects or proposals might become acceptable and serve as a basis for public engagement for the improvement and implementation of projects. However, fewer papers examine such conditions than look at the factors driving attitudes. The largest number of papers shows that the public wants CDR methods to be controllable, to be safe (particularly for methods involving deep geological storage), to have low scientific uncertainty, and to address the root cause of the problem. There are fewer papers on cost and profit and on co-benefits; such papers are mainly on conditions for landowner uptake of specific land-based methods.

CDR on Twitter/X

In contrast to the elicited approaches discussed in the scientific literature, social media data (i.e. non-elicited information) can be used to assess how people communicate about CDR (see Boxes 6.1 and 6.3). Twitter – now rebranded as X – is a social media platform used by many for engaging in policy-related public debates. The State of Carbon Dioxide Removal 1st edition found that English-language communication about CDR on Twitter/X grew very rapidly between 2010 and 2021,270 with brief recessions in 2013 and 2020. This edition updates the first edition analysis by extending the data to the end of 2022 and investigating what kinds of user are posting about CDR.

In the corpus of tweets analysed, the focus on different CDR methods changed gradually over the last 12 years (see Figure 6.3a). Earlier tweets mainly focused on specific CDR methods, such as soil carbon sequestration, coastal wetland restoration, ocean fertilization, afforestation and biochar. Recent years have seen an increase in the share of tweets about CDR in general, as well as an expansion to novel CDR methods such as DACCS and BECCS. Nevertheless, the bulk share of English-language tweets is still on soil carbon sequestration, coastal wetland restoration and afforestation. Twitter/X users tend to communicate more frequently about CDR methods that are more widely known: for example, afforestation is one of the most frequently mentioned CDR methods on Twitter/X and is also the most widely known CDR method according to public awareness surveys. Additional data for 2022 show little change from 2021 in attention to CDR, in terms of both absolute numbers and the relative share of different methods. General CDR and soil carbon sequestration saw an increase of a few percentage points in their shares, whereas the relative shares for peatland restoration and for coastal wetland restoration decreased slightly. But the shares of all other CDR methods remained within one percentage point of their value in 2021.



a) Growing attention to CDR on Twitter

b) Slight differences between user groups by number of CDR tweets



c) Users from different locations and of various types





Figure 6.3 Activity on Twitter/X related to carbon dioxide removal (CDR) by method and time, user groups by tweet frequency, share of user locations and user types: (a) Number of tweets per year and set of CDR keywords. Ocean alkalinity enhancement only resulted in very few tweets and is not reported here; BECCS = bioenergy with carbon capture and storage; DAC(CS) = direct air capture (with or without carbon storage) (b) How often users posted about CDR between 2010 and 2022 and the related shares in CDR methods, tweets and users; (c) The share of users attributable to a specific country through their self-described location (left, n = 94,096) and the shares of user types in a manually annotated sample of users (right, n = 300).

The analysis of sentiments (i.e. whether tweets use positive, negative or neutral language) shows that across all CDR tweets positive sentiments increase over time. Tweets on biological capture methods have a positive sentiment much more often than a negative sentiment, aligning with the survey literature on perceptions.^{250,251,271} Extending the analysis of tweets to 2022 reveals only small differences compared with 2021: BECCS and ocean fertilization were on average discussed more positively than before, and peatland and wetland restoration featured more prominently among both positive and negative tweets.

The above findings are robust to different subgroups of users that tweet with different frequencies about CDR (see Figure 6b and Box 6.3). There are only small deviations between subgroups: Users posting frequently about CDR post relatively more about novel CDR methods (e.g. DACCS, enhanced rock weathering, biochar, BECCS), whereas users posting only once or twice about CDR tend to post more on well-known methods such as afforestation or peatland and wetland restoration. Users posting frequently about CDR also communicate slightly more neutrally about CDR than other users. However, the general trends in attention given to CDR and sentiment towards CDR described above are valid for all subgroups with different tweet frequencies.

Different types of user are actively posting on CDR: private accounts, accounts of firms, and professionals from different fields such as business, journalism, NGOs and science (see Figure 6.3c, right). Seventeen percent of the coded users did not mention any professional activities in their self-description. The majority of accounts (60%) belong to journalists, representatives of NGOs and businesses, official company communication teams, and practitioners related to science and education, all with very similar proportions of the total. Politicians and policymakers make up only a very small percentage of users posting about CDR.

Using the self-reported location in a user's profile enabled approximately half the users in the data set to be mapped to a specific country. As only English keywords were searched to compile the data set, the strong concentration in English-speaking countries is not surprising: 70% of posts from users with an identifiable location come from Australia, Canada, the UK or the US (Figure 6.3c, left). But there are also many tweets from users located in countries such as Belgium, Chile, France, Germany, Ghana, India, Norway and Switzerland, all with shares between 5% and 1%. There are differences between countries with respect to how often users tweet about specific CDR methods and the us post more about soil carbon sequestration than others. UK users post more about peatland restoration and coastal wetland restoration, while Ghanian users focus on biochar and general CDR. Across CDR methods, sentiments tend to be more negative in Australia, Canada and Germany than in India, the UK and the US.

115

Box 6.3 Methods: Evaluating communication about CDR on Twitter/X and in news media

CDR on Twitter/X. This analysis is based on a data set of 570,000 tweets that contain keywords specific to CDR methods or other generic CDR terms and that were posted on Twitter/X between 2010 and 2022. Only Englishlanguage tweets were included; retweets were not included. Further details on the methodology are provided in Müller-Hansen et al., 2023, and Repke et al., 2024.^{270,272} The analysis used machine learning to automatically classify sentiments (i.e. the tone of the language used in tweets) as positive, negative or neutral. This classification can differ from the attitude towards CDR expressed in a tweet, as sentiment only refers to how something is said and not the position taken in the text with respect to CDR. This approach draws on well-established sentiment detection algorithms, but nevertheless has limitations; for example, algorithms sometimes struggle to detect irony. This edition of the report extends the analysis by looking more closely at the users in the data set in three ways. First, users were grouped according to how many tweets they posted on CDR topics over the entire period of the data set: those who have posted many (50+) tweets about CDR, those who have posted a moderate number (3–49), or those who have posted just one to two tweets. Second, the types of profile associated with the tweets was manually annotated by coding a sample of 300 users: 100 representative users from each of the groups identified in step 1. These annotations were used to derive estimates about the composition of the users in the data set. Third, users were assigned to different countries based on the information they provide in the "location" field of their profile using a geolocation extraction algorithm evaluated for Twitter/X.273

CDR in news media. For this analysis, a keyword-based search guery was entered in the LexisNexis Newspapers and Wires database for nine CDR methods to identify news media articles on CDR. The search was global in coverage but restricted to English-language articles appearing both in print and online. The results were filtered to a list of 122 newspapers compiled from (1) the list of Media and Climate Change Observatory core sources²⁷⁴ (a prominent compilation of sources for media studies on climate topics) and (2) a list of general interest newspapers (i.e. not specialist journals) that yielded more than 1,000 results for the CDR keywords. To eliminate false hits, a protocol for inclusion/exclusion was developed and approximately 1,500 articles were manually coded. A pre-trained classifier developed for identifying CDR methods in scientific articles was then applied²⁷⁵ to predict the relevance of subsequent articles in the data set. Automatically classified articles had high precision compared to the manually coded set, but relatively low recall. As such, the initial results represent a lower bound of news media discussions on CDR. An exception to this concerns CDR (general), which, as in the Twitter analysis, is a category included to capture broader discussions on CDR concepts and their role in climate policy, as opposed to specific discussions of individual CDR methods. This general category showed both low agreement between different manual coders and poor matching between the manually and automatically coded sets. This is likely due to the subjective boundary in these articles between what should be considered a discussion

that "primarily" focuses on CDR (which is included in the coding scheme) versus a discussion that only "tangentially" focuses on CDR (which is excluded in the coding scheme). This report therefore does not present results for the CDR (general) category in the main figures but discusses the implications of expanding the analysis to this category. In addition, it should be acknowledged that the coverage of LexisNexis is likely incomplete and only partially overlaps with other databases such as NewsBank, ProQuest or Factavia.²⁷⁶

CDR in news media

The mass media ecosystem – newspapers, television, radio broadcasting and online news platforms – is a key source of scientific information for the general public.²⁷⁷ It can influence perceptions by shaping how much coverage different topics receive and by propagating values, worldviews and opinions on a range of issues.²⁷⁸⁻²⁸⁰ This section focuses on the reporting of CDR in English-language news media articles over the past three decades (1990–2021).

Much research has investigated news media portrayals of climate change, including climate denial discourses and "false balance" in reporting on the issue.²⁸¹ Similarly, studies have looked at media portrayals of emerging technologies, such as genetically modified organisms and cultured meat.^{282,283} However, only a few studies have focused on reporting of CDR. The majority of these studies investigate the overarching categories of geoengineering or climate engineering, where CDR is not the main focus.^{284–289} A handful of studies have dealt with CDR methods themselves or their prerequisites, covering carbon capture and storage,^{290–292} BECCS^{293,294} and coastal wetland restoration.²⁹⁵ Given the nuances associated with CDR, including complexities such as the meaning of *net zero* and concerns that CDR could reduce incentives for emission reductions, it is surprising that few scientific studies have examined how these methods have been communicated to the general public.

This section provides a new analysis of how English-language newspapers portray specific CDR methods. Approximately 9,100 articles that discuss CDR methods were found, with the main period of media reporting starting in 2007 (see Figure 6.4).² A major increase in coverage occurred in 2019, peaking during October and November 2021 when a wave of countries updated their climate targets prior to COP26. Since many of these targets included net zero pledges, the resulting climate policy discourse tended to feature CDR prominently. Prior to 2019, peaks in reporting on CDR also centred on similar international events, including COP15 in Copenhagen in 2009; COP13 in Bali in 2007, where several international forestry initiatives were announced; and COP6 in The Hague in 2000, where the role of forests as carbon sinks first sparked significant debate under the UNFCCC process.

² If the "CDR (general)" category were included, as it is in the Twitter analysis, the yielded articles would approximately double to around 18,000. However, as discussed in Box 6.3, they are excluded due to low confidence.



News media articles on CDR

No. articles per year

Figure 6.4 News media articles on carbon dioxide removal (CDR) methods. Articles are double counted where they feature more than one CDR method. "CDR (general)" is excluded due to low confidence. Keyword searches for ocean alkalinity enhancement did not find any relevant articles. BECCS = bioenergy with carbon capture and storage; DAC(CS) = direct air capture (with or without carbon storage).

Mentions of CDR in the data set are relatively concentrated in specific news media and countries. The Australian and UK press dominate coverage in this sample, accounting for eight of the top ten sources by total articles (see Figure 6.5, top panel). Soil carbon sequestration accounts for a larger share of articles than average in Australia, reflecting its higher state of integration into Australian climate policy.²⁴⁴ Ecosystem restoration discourses (e.g. peatland restoration and "rewilding") are more prominent in the Irish and UK press (see Figure 6.5, bottom panel), while afforestation and coastal wetland restoration have larger shares in India and Pakistan (although this analysis only covers the English-language press in those countries).

News media articles by CDR technology and source, 1990–2021



Share of news media articles by CDR technology and source country, 1990–2021



Figure 6.5 News media articles on carbon dioxide removal (CDR) by source and location. The ten sources (top) and locations (bottom) with the highest number of hits are displayed in order. Articles are double counted where they feature more than one CDR method. The results are for English-language articles only and may not be representative of complete national media conversations on CDR. BECCS = bioenergy with carbon capture and storage; DAC(CS) = direct air capture (with or without carbon storage).

A random sample of around 1,500 news media articles, which were read and manually coded, indicated that discussions of CDR methods tend to intersect with other concepts and mitigation approaches, including (fossil-based) carbon capture and storage, carbon capture and utilization (e.g. synthetic fuel production, biofuels), and avoided emissions (e.g. forest carbon offsets). Journalists do not necessarily distinguish between these different categories of mitigation, yet it is important to communicate the specific role of CDR as distinct from emission reduction efforts (see Chapter 1 – Introduction).

Box 6.4 Limitations and knowledge gaps

This report has identified areas on which future assessments can build, including:

• Data on awareness and familiarity are still sparse and difficult to compare across studies. Very few general public questionnaires test the same measures at different time points.³⁰¹ Meanwhile, CDR expert studies are very heterogeneous and specific, and thus difficult to extrapolate to other contexts. More longitudinal research is needed to track the development of these important indicators over time.

• Future work could consider how findings and methodologies differ depending on the type of actor in question, because the small evidence base makes it difficult to draw general conclusions at present. More research is also needed on conditions for deployment, which allow public groups and adopters to positively engage with CDR.

• The scientific evidence base on CDR perceptions is still patchy in geographical terms. There are few studies, and very few lead authors, from Africa, South/Central America or Pacific countries other than Australia and New Zealand. The potential for many CDR methods is high in these regions; therefore, more knowledge about CDR perceptions in these populations is needed.

• All sections of this chapter are based on English-language data, which was noted as a limitation in *The State of Carbon Dioxide Removal* 1st edition. A more balanced assessment would include non-English sources, but this would require a large international team and dedicated funding, since local input will be essential to avoid missing vital social and cultural nuances.

• Non-elicited data from social and news media are used to provide indicators that are consistent over time. However, the restructuring of the Twitter/X platform in late 2022 must now be considered, as this saw an exodus of environmental communicators 302 and a shift in the way the platform is used, creating obstacles to its future use as a consistent indicator.

• The data presented in this report suggest that there are similarities between the familiarity found in surveys and attention to CDR methods on Twitter/X. Future research should investigate the relationship between indicators derived from social media and surveys.

• Two cross-cutting knowledge gaps could be addressed in future research. First, the policy context is evolving rapidly (see Chapter 5 – Policymaking and governance), particularly with net zero targets, which are shown to greatly influence news media output. There is a need for more research linking the policy context to public perceptions in a way that views policy and public attitudes as mutually influencing and reinforcing one another rather than existing in isolation. Second, monitoring, reporting and verification is emerging as a topic of critical importance to the future of CDR (see Chapter 10 – Monitoring, reporting and verification), and it could be beneficial to link public perceptions work with this field, for instance in determining whether transparent and publicly accessible monitoring, reporting and verification processes could help build trust for CDR deployment.³⁰³

Strong variations were observed in the amount of critical reflection that CDR methods receive. For instance, a series of articles on DACCS plants tended not to offer a cautious appraisal of these methods, in contrast to broader and more critical pieces that introduce CDR as an overarching concept. One series of opinion articles in the Australian press frequently referred to soil carbon sequestration and biochar as methods that could advance national climate policy in place of emission reduction efforts. Other articles in the Australian press emphasized the low-carbon credentials of the cattle ranching sector, based on claims that livestock stimulate soil carbon sequestration, which has been challenged in the literature when one considers the overall climate impact of livestock.²⁹⁶ These discourses no doubt dovetailed with broader contestations over climate policy in Australia, in which soil carbon sequestration was promoted by the Liberal party as a component of a policy direction comprising "technology not taxes".^{297,298} These examples highlight the risk that interest groups could leverage CDR to propagate discourses downplaying the need for ambitious climate policy and action, potentially continuing a longer tradition of climate obstruction through the mass media.^{299,300} However, given the extremely limited literature on this subject, and the early stage of this analysis, it remains important to further assess the degree to which CDR discourses are exploited in the media.

6.3 Outlook

Active engagement with the general public and with interested parties is both an opportunity and a challenge for CDR. The literature on public perceptions is beginning to yield lessons for responsible communication of CDR.

Active engagement with interested parties, including the general public, presents a considerable opportunity for mutual learning. Public groups are an essential source of knowledge for developing more effective and responsible CDR policies and methods. However, communication challenges arise due to low prior awareness about CDR and the risk of spillover effects from controversies in related sectors.³⁰⁴ The purpose of communicating about CDR is not to minimize opposition – or to maximize approval – but to facilitate mutual learning and informed participation in decision-making. Given persistent low levels of awareness about CDR, and the challenge of upscaling CDR to the level required to meet the Paris temperature goal (Chapter 8 – Paris-consistent CDR scenarios), developing responsible approaches for communication and engagement with the wider public and potential adopters needs to become a priority.³⁰⁵

The following seven lessons for responsible communication are derived from explicit recommendations in the perceptions literature during the time period covered by the review (noting of course that these are all English-language studies, with a distinct geographical skew):

Be careful with terminology. Pre-existing technical terms that are distinct from CDR (e.g. "carbon capture") can confuse.³⁰⁶ The term "negative" emissions can elicit unduly negative responses.³⁰⁷ "Geoengineering" can spark negative sentiments.²⁷⁰ Different ways of framing communication are likely to generate different public responses.²⁶⁴

Talk about CDR in context. Crucial contextual factors include the policy context, ³⁰⁸ different

components of CDR systems,³⁰⁹ the scale of CDR required domestically,²⁶⁵ and the wider context of climate change mitigation and adaptation.^{256,310} Communications need to be tailored to specific CDR methods and locations.²⁴³

Give – and receive – information about CDR. Giving information about CDR will increase awareness,³⁰¹ and providing information on scientific consensus can neutralize conspiracy theory effects in sceptical audiences.³¹¹ Continual engagement to obtain feedback and assess public reservations is needed to progress research and development.³¹²

Talk about (co-)benefits. Perceptions of benefits are a strong driver of acceptance.^{249,267,313} Particularly relevant benefits may relate to long-term sustainability, environmental friendliness, controllability, cost-effectiveness and energy provision.^{314,315}

Also talk about negative attributes. By identifying and deliberating negative attributes, innovation trajectories could be altered to avoid or minimize them. Salient aspects that could affect future well-being³¹⁶ include displeasing aesthetics, quick fixes, artificiality, risks and unknown effects,^{301,314,317} as well as threats to emotionally and ethically significant ecological and geological systems.³¹⁵

Do not weaken support for emission reductions. CDR should be seen as only a small part of larger efforts to tackle climate change.^{256,262} Responsible communication strategies should emphasize the severity of failing to reduce emissions and should avoid framing CDR as a backup strategy or temporary "plan B" while working on more-sustainable solutions to climate change.^{318,319}

Avoid framing CDR as natural (or otherwise). Perceived "naturalness" is known to increase acceptance of CDR,³²⁰ whereas perceived "tampering with nature" is known to lower acceptance.²⁴⁸ However, where the lines are drawn on what constitutes a "natural" or "unnatural" method is arbitrary and diverts attention away from the actual qualities of CDR methods.²⁶⁸



Julia Pongratz,^{i,ii} Stephen M. Smith,ⁱⁱⁱ Clemens Schwingshackl,ⁱ Lushanya Dayathilake,ⁱⁱⁱ Thomas Gasser,^{iv} Giacomo Grassi,^v Roberto Pilli^{vi}

- ⁱ Ludwig-Maximilians-Universität München
- " Max Planck Institute for Meteorology
- iii University of Oxford
- ^{iv} International Institute for Applied Systems Analysis
- ^v Joint Research Centre of the European Commission
- ^{vi} Consultant to the Joint Research Centre of the European Commission

Cite as: Pongratz, J., Smith, S. M., Schwingshackl, C., Dayathilake, L., Gasser, T., Grassi, G., Pilli, R. Chapter 7: Current levels of CDR. in *The State of Carbon Dioxide Removal 2024* – *2nd Edition* (eds. Smith, S. M. et al.). <u>https://www.stateofcdr.org</u>, doi:10.17605/OSF.IO/ZXSKB (2024).

Chapter 7 | Current levels of CDR

Carbon dioxide removal (CDR) is already occurring at scale. Conventional methods, principally afforestation/reforestation, currently contribute almost all CDR, although the contribution from novel CDR methods is growing.

Key insights

- The gross amount of carbon dioxide (CO_2) being moved from the atmosphere into durable carbon storage over the last decade as a result of human activity is on the order of 2,200 MtCO₂ per year. The uncertainties in this estimate remain large, however.
- Conventional CDR makes up over 99.9% of all current CDR. Estimates of the volumes removed vary according to the approach used. For the period of 2013–2022, models aligned with estimates of the Global Carbon Budget suggest an average of –1,860 (–1,160 to –2,230) MtCO₂ per year from afforestation/reforestation. Country-level data on managed forests, adjusted using vegetation models, suggest –2,010 ± 620 MtCO₂ per year over the same period, through both afforestation/reforestation and forest management. Both approaches agree on a slight slowdown in the rate of conventional CDR in recent years.

• The countries with the highest levels of CDR through afforestation/ reforestation, averaged over 2013–2022, are (in order) China, the US, Brazil and the Russian Federation. Levels in the EU27 as a whole lie between those of China and the US.

• Conventional CDR also includes the transfer of forest carbon to durable wood products. However, some double counting with CDR through afforestation/reforestation or in managed forest exists. The transfer of carbon to durable wood products amounts to -801 MtCO_2 per year, averaged over 2013–2022. When the re-emission of CO₂ through the decay of existing wood products is also accounted for, the net sink from this CDR method amounts to -332 MtCO_2 per year over this period.

• CDR from novel methods grew from -0.66 MtCO₂ per year in 2021 to -1.35 MtCO₂ per year in 2023. Improved estimation methods mean this level is lower than that reported in *The State of Carbon Dioxide Removal* 1st edition. Significant gaps and limitations in data remain for novel CDR projects, however.

• The largest current contributions to novel CDR are from biochar (with an estimated -0.79 MtCO_2 per year), bioenergy with carbon capture and storage (-0.51 MtCO_2 per year), and enhanced rock weathering (-0.03

MtCO₂ per year).

• Based on available data, the country with the largest contribution to novel CDR is the US, as it hosts all bioenergy with carbon capture and storage projects that are currently operating. Methods such as biochar and enhanced rock weathering show a broader geographical spread.

This chapter brings together multiple sources of data, harmonizing them to provide a comprehensive and robust estimate of current levels of CDR. However, assessments of current CDR deployment are complex and incomplete. Key limitations and knowledge gaps are discussed (see Box 7.3).

7.1 Estimating current CDR levels

This report measures carbon removed in a given year as the amount of carbon dioxide (CO_2) moved out of the atmosphere by human activity and into a durable type of storage.

As discussed in Chapter 1 (Introduction), this report defines CDR as follows:

Human activities capturing CO_2 from the atmosphere and storing it durably in geological, land or ocean reservoirs or in products. This includes human enhancement of natural removal processes but excludes natural uptake not caused directly by human activities.

This definition establishes three primary criteria for CDR, with important implications for estimating annual CDR volumes:

Capture of atmospheric CO₂. CDR involves the removal of CO_2 from the atmosphere. The capture of fossil CO_2 at the point of emission (e.g. gas power plant) is not included in this definition.

Durable storage. The CO_2 captured from the atmosphere must be stored durably. In this report, durability is defined according to the type of carbon pool into which CO_2 is transferred. The report considers storage in the following pools to be durable: trees, wetlands, soils, biochar, durable wood products (e.g. timber for construction), mineral products (e.g. aggregates), marine sediment, ocean bicarbonate, depleted fossil fuel reservoirs, saline aquifers and mineral rock formations.

Resulting from direct human intervention. It is essential to distinguish CDR from natural carbon sinks. The land and oceans currently take up around half the CO_2 emitted into the atmosphere each year, without humans intervening to cause this uptake, and this does not count as CDR. Calculating the volumes removed through conventional CDR – through, for example, tree planting – also means excluding the component of CO_2 uptake that happens indirectly as a result of human-caused changes to environmental conditions (e.g. climate change, raised atmospheric CO_2 concentrations, nitrogen deposition).

The approach used in this report is to calculate the annual quantities of CO_2 moved out of the atmosphere by processes that meet the definition above. This means the assessment does not look at the full balance of sources and sinks over the life cycle of these CDR

activities, which leads to some important caveats:

• All CDR methods involve emissions during the capture and processing of carbon. For some of the projects that make a substantial contribution to current levels of novel CDR, a full life cycle assessment suggests that these emissions are currently similar to, or even outweigh, removals (although the distribution of these emissions between the CDR activity and co-products, such as fuels, depends on the allocation method).¹²⁴ It is standard practice for emissions to be reported in national greenhouse gas inventories, allocated to the sector in which they occur. Hence, emissions from heat or electricity required for a CDR activity are reported in a country's energy sector, for instance, and not ignored. Nevertheless, any assessment of the overall effectiveness of CDR should consider these emissions as well as the removals, as given in this chapter.

• After the time of removal, and depending on the type of carbon storage, CDR methods may also involve subsequent re-release of some CO₂.³²¹ In the estimate presented here of carbon stored annually through wood in construction – which is among the least durable carbon pools – this is accounted for. Re-release, based on standard lifetimes of wood products, is subtracted so as to indicate the size of the net sink. For other CDR methods, however, re-release is not currently accounted for.

• By defining storage durability on the basis of the type of carbon pool rather than the actual duration of storage, the fact that some CDR activities may turn out to be more short-lived – for example because of unexpected disturbance or mismanagement – is not accounted for.

Box 7.1 outlines how the assessment approach in this second edition differs from that in the first edition.

Estimating CDR levels from conventional and novel methods

The estimated levels of conventional CDR presented in this edition depend on a combination of information from national greenhouse gas inventories (NGHGIs) and from models used in the Global Carbon Budget (GCB). The estimated levels of novel CDR are generated from a structured approach that aggregates different databases and survey information.

Conventional CDR. This report uses two independent approaches to quantify the volumes removed through *afforestation/reforestation* and in *managed forests* during the last decade (2013–2022). In both cases, models are applied to separate out the fluxes attributable to direct human intervention, consistent with this report's definition of CDR. See Box 7.2 for a further discussion of the GCB and NGHGI data sources.

The first approach uses data from the GCB. Three bookkeeping models (BLUE, H&C2023 and OSCAR) are used in the GCB to estimate gross sources and sinks of CO_2 from land use, land-use change and forestry. One component of these sinks is the CDR attributable to afforestation/reforestation – that is, from expansion of forest area due to planting or

regrowth after abandonment of agricultural land. The analysis averages the three models and uses their range as an uncertainty estimate.

The second approach is based on model-adjusted NGHGI data and quantifies CDR in managed forests, which includes CDR attributable to afforestation/reforestation as well as CDR attributable to forest management of already existing forest. The NGHGI estimates of CO_2 fluxes in managed forests have been reanalysed to remove fluxes resulting from indirect human effects and other environmental changes. The size of these natural fluxes is estimated by vegetation models (see the Chapter 7 Technical Appendix for details of the modelling methodology).

Harvested wood products: This report considers that forest management contributes to CDR when biomass is transferred to durable harvested wood products (HWPs). This may not be fully additional to CDR in afforestation/reforestation or in managed forest – some double counting may exist (see Section 7.2). FAOSTAT data on the production of sawnwood and panels are used to estimate this transfer during the last decade. Since these products decay over time, some of the carbon is returned to the atmosphere. An estimate of the net changes in carbon stock in HWPs is therefore calculated as the sum of the carbon transferred into the HWP pool minus the carbon transferred back to the atmosphere via product decay.

Novel CDR. This report provides estimates of CDR levels from bioenergy with carbon capture and storage (BECCS), biochar, bio-oil storage, direct air carbon capture and storage (DACCS), enhanced rock weathering, biomass sinking, mineral products, and ocean alkalinity enhancement. Information was compiled through a systematic review and harmonization of databases from the International Energy Agency, Mission Innovation, CDR.fyi and Ocean Visions, plus surveys by the International Biochar Initiative in partnership with the US Biochar Initiative and the European Biochar Industry Consortium. This was supplemented by data gathered from company websites. Further details are given in the Chapter 7 Technical Appendix.

Box 7.1 Points of departure from The State of Carbon Dioxide Removal 1st edition

This edition of *The State of Carbon Dioxide Removal* presents different estimates than the first. These differences stem from improvements in the estimation methods as well as from actual changes in CDR activity.

Alignment with the Global Carbon Budget

- A new approach has been developed for estimating CDR from afforestation/reforestation, which aligns with the latest GCB, published in 2023. Consistent with the GCB, the estimate of CDR from afforestation/ reforestation is now based on results from three bookkeeping models.
- The approach for estimating CDR from managed forests (which includes removals through afforestation/reforestation as well as from forest management) has been refined. The first edition estimated CDR from managed forests by using data reported in NGHGIs,³²² excluding emissions from organic soils. From this estimate, indirect CO₂ uptake in response to

environmental changes was subtracted, using estimates from the OSCAR model.³²³ This method aligned conceptually with the GCB definition in that only fluxes directly attributable to land-use activity were counted as CDR. In this second edition, this general approach is retained to provide an estimate of CDR in managed forests, but it is even better aligned with the method used in the GCB as it estimates the induced CO_2 removal using 18 dynamic global vegetation models instead of OSCAR only.

Improved calculations

• This report provides estimates of CDR from afforestation/reforestation and managed forests no longer only as a global total but also spatially and at the country level.

• The report's estimate of carbon transfers from wood to durable HWPs includes a correction to the conversion factors used in the calculation and now also accounts for CO_2 re-release each year from the decay of these products.

• The estimate of CDR volumes from BECCS is smaller in the second edition. This now reflects the actual amounts of CO₂ removed, rather than the targets initially set by the BECCS projects. This adjustment is most pronounced for the Illinois Industrial Carbon Capture and Storage Project, which has managed to store approximately 0.42–0.52 MtCO₂ each year,³²⁴ rather than its stated goal of 1 MtCO₂ annually.

Greater coverage of locations and methods

• Data on biochar activity in the first edition were confined to market reports within Europe, North America and bamboo plantations in China. This coverage has now been expanded significantly by drawing on new data from the International Biochar Initiative, in partnership with the US Biochar Initiative, which include data from Africa, Asia, Europe, North America, Oceania and South America. The report therefore now has a larger estimate of CDR from biochar, but this is likely still incomplete.

• The report's coverage of enhanced rock weathering has been expanded, drawing on reports from a greater number of companies. Consequently, the report's estimate of CDR levels through enhanced rock weathering is higher.

• The second edition includes new implementation options not previously captured: BECCS derived from the use of biomass in cement production combined with carbon capture and storage, BECCS derived from biological waste-to-energy conversion combined with carbon capture and storage, and ocean alkalinity enhancement.

Box 7.2 Land-use emissions and removals in national inventories

While the GCB measures emissions and removals by land-use activities in a way that is aligned with the definition of CDR in this report, NGHGIs have adopted a different scope and approach. This box describes the implications of these differences for estimating CDR volumes.

National greenhouse gas inventories. Under the UNFCCC, countries report land-related emissions and removals from human activities in their NGHGIs. The methods used to compile NGHGIs are different from the bookkeeping models used in this report and in the GCB. NGHGIs are typically based on direct observations, which cannot distinguish the CO_2 sink attributable to direct human activities from that which is attributable to indirect effects induced by human-caused changes to environmental conditions. Only the sink attributable to direct human activities can be considered CDR.

Managed land. The IPCC guidelines for NGHGIs therefore proposed the concept of *managed land* as a basis for reporting human-caused emissions and removals.³²⁵ Managed land is land where human interventions and practices have been applied to perform productive, ecological or social functions. In most countries' NGHGI submissions, the majority of emissions and removals within managed land areas are assumed to be due to human activity – including those caused indirectly as a response to changes in environmental conditions (e.g. rising atmospheric CO₂ concentrations, climate change, nitrogen deposition).

Because of the way that NGHGIs calculate emissions and removals, countries could in theory claim greater removals by categorizing larger areas of forest land as managed, without actually changing land use. Globally, about 80% of the total forest area is reported as managed forest land in NGHGIs. Only a relatively small expansion of managed forest has occurred since the 1990s, mostly in Brazil and the Russian Federation. According to the IPCC guidelines for NGHGIs,³²⁵ it is good practice to describe the processes that led to recategorization when moving previously unmanaged land to the managed land category. In other words, countries should not move lands in their NGHGI categories without evidence of an actual change in the status of the land.

Global Carbon Budget. In contrast to the NGHGIs, the GCB calculates human-caused emissions and removals based on land-use activities instead of areas. It separates out changes due to environmental conditions, attributing these to natural drivers. Direct effects from human activity are estimated by bookkeeping models. These estimates are independent of the area that each country has designated as managed land.

Consequences of the NGHGI approach versus the GCB approach. The estimates in NGHGIs of the total net CO_2 sink from managed land are therefore larger than the CDR estimates in the GCB.³²⁶ As the reasons for the discrepancy are known, it is possible to convert estimates between the two definitions (see Section 7.2).^{327,328}

Estimates from NGHGIs of CO₂ fluxes in managed forests suggest net removals of around $-6,500 \pm 1,135$ MtCO₂ per year over the past decade.³²⁷ When these estimates are reanalysed to remove natural fluxes – as estimated by models – global removals are reduced to $-2,010 \pm 620$ MtCO₂ per year. See the Chapter 7 Technical Appendix for details of the modelling process. These removal rates have remained stable over the last two decades (see Figure 7.1).

The different scope of NGHGIs as compared with the GCB also has implications for the alignment of NGHGIs with scenarios (see Chapter

8 – Paris-consistent CDR scenarios, Chapter 9 – The CDR gap), the measurement of conventional CDR for policy planning and net zero targets (see Chapter 5 – Policymaking and governance, Chapter 9 – The CDR gap), and for the monitoring, reporting and verification of projects (see Chapter 10 – Monitoring, reporting and verification).



Figure 7.1 Estimated global net carbon dioxide (CO_2) sink in managed forests from national greenhouse gas inventories (NGHGIs) (excluding emissions from organic soils) combined with modelling to factor out natural fluxes. The fluxes directly attributable to land-use activities ("direct effects", which is CDR as per the definition used in this report; black-hatched area) only account for 32% of the total average NGHGI CO_2 sink reported by countries (gold-shaded area). Countries' reported estimates include natural fluxes in response to environmental changes, as well as fluxes directly attributable to human land-use activities.

Accounting for the relationship between CDR methods involving biomass and the atmospheric CO_2 budget

It is important to avoid double counting when estimating the CO_2 removed from the atmosphere by different CDR methods or implementation options. Depending on the method or option, the CDR refers to the time of CO_2 removal from the atmosphere or to the time carbon is transferred to a durable pool. But it may be the same carbon in both cases. This requires a choice of when in time the CDR is accounted for or else there is a risk of double counting. Several novel CDR methods (notably biochar, BECCS and bio-oil with storage) involve the biological capture of atmospheric CO_2 , similar to conventional CDR, before transferring the biomass carbon into a different form of durable storage. Similarly, CDR through the transfer of biomass to durable HWPs is a conventional CDR method that involves biological capture of atmospheric CO_2 at an earlier time, where it may have been counted already under CDR through afforestation/reforestation or in managed forests.

Novel CDR derived from annual crops. If the biomass used for CDR is derived from annual

crops, the crops themselves are not a durable store of carbon. This means the carbon was likely captured from the atmosphere in the same year as the transfer to durable storage, and the carbon is not otherwise counted within conventional CDR.

Novel CDR derived from woody biomass. In contrast, CDR methods that use woody biomass are transferring carbon from one durable pool to another. In this case, the most carbon was likely captured in the years preceding the point of transferral. Novel methods that use woody biomass include biochar made from woody feedstocks (which contribute about two-thirds of all biochar CDR in 2023). In principle, BECCS and bio-oil with storage could also use woody biomass; however, this report has found no current projects that do so.

For novel methods using woody biomass, this report therefore does not count CDR activity in a given year as a removal of atmospheric CO_2 in that year, but as a transfer of carbon from existing (biological) durable storage to another durable carbon pool (see Figure 7.5).

Conventional CDR through transfer of carbon to HWPs. Transfer of carbon to HWPs is considered CDR when the HWPs are durable. However, it is not entirely additional to CDR through afforestation/reforestation or CDR in managed forests:

- The woody biomass harvested for CDR may come from existing forests that have been managed over the long term. In this case, it is additional to CDR through afforestation/reforestation.
- If, however, the woody biomass comes from recently afforested or reforested areas, there will be some double counting in carbon removal between those CDR methods.

This report's estimates of carbon transfer to HWPs represent the sum of the CO_2 removed from the atmosphere during the years of biomass growth prior to harvest. Thus, the carbon removal due to transfers into long-term storage cannot be directly compared to the annual atmospheric CO_2 changes due to CDR.

Besides the issue of double counting with other CDR methods or options, it is disputable if HWPs taken from an existing forest qualify as CDR. This report defines CDR as resulting from direct human intervention. In the case of an existing forest, the carbon was removed from the atmosphere through natural processes. The CDR criterion that the removal must be attributable to human intervention thus applies only to the time of transfer to the durable carbon pool, not (or only in hindsight) to the time of the removal from the atmosphere. In the extreme case that HWPs are created from a forest that has been permanently cleared, CDR may occur through transferral to durable storage without an actual additional removal of CO_2 from the atmosphere.

7.2 Current global levels of CDR

On the order of 2,200 million tons per year of CDR is taking place already. Almost all of this comes from conventional CDR, with only an estimated 1.35 million tons per year (i.e. less than 0.1%) from novel CDR.

Current levels of conventional CDR

Estimates from the two approaches used in this assessment - model-adjusted NGHGIs and bookkeeping models - show broad agreement. Conventional CDR is currently predominantly due to afforestation/reforestation:

• Afforestation/reforestation. Annual global CDR through afforestation/reforestation amounts to -1,860 MtCO₂ (-1,160 to -2,230 MtCO₂; full range across models), averaged over 2013-2022, based on the latest GCB bookkeeping estimates (see Figure 7.2).

• CDR in managed forests (through afforestation/reforestation plus forest management). Annual global CDR in managed forests amounts to $-2,010 \pm 620$ MtCO₂ per year over the same period, based on NGHGIs after indirect effects have been subtracted.

The two approaches disagree on the trend over the last 20 years, however, with bookkeeping models estimating a slight increase and adjusted NGHGIs estimating stable numbers. They do both agree on there being a slowdown in the last few years.



Two approaches to estimating global CDR in forests

Figure 7.2 Comparison of estimates of carbon dioxide removal (CDR) in forests. The gold lines show global CDR through afforestation/reforestation based on three bookkeeping models (BLUE, H&C2023 and OSCAR) and their mean; gold shading indicates the range across these bookkeeping model estimates. The black line denotes CDR in managed forests derived from national greenhouse gas inventories (NGHGIs), excluding emissions from organic soils, after modelled natural carbon dioxide (CO_{γ}) fluxes have been subtracted; grey shading around the black line indicates the uncertainty in this estimate.

At the country level, the largest CDR through afforestation/reforestation occurs in China, followed by the US, Brazil and the Russian Federation (Figure 7.3, top panel). Across the EU27 countries collectively, CDR through afforestation/reforestation falls in between that in China and the US. Together, these contribute 44% of global CDR from afforestation/

reforestation. Spatially, the largest CDR through afforestation/reforestation is found in Europe and East Asia, with substantial contributions also from several tropical regions, North America, India and parts of the Russian Federation (Figure 7.3, bottom panel). While the global-level estimates generated by the three bookkeeping models are similar, they differ more substantially at the country level.³²⁹ The conversion between estimates based on bookkeeping models and NGHGIs also works at the country level, yet not perfectly, with country-specific reasons explaining the discrepancies in individual countries.³³⁰

The transfer of carbon to durable HWPs amounts to -801 MtCO_2 per year, averaged over 2013–2022. The net flux of durable HWPs, considering also the re-release of CO₂ through their decay, amounts to -332 MtCO_2 per year, averaged over 2013–2022.



Country-level CDR through afforestation and reforestation





Figure 7.3 Carbon dioxide removal (CDR) rates in forests ranked by country (and the EU27 countries collectively) (top panel) and global maps of carbon dioxide (CO₂) fluxes due to afforestation/reforestation (bottom panel). Values in both panels show averages over 2013–2022. Bars in the top panel indicate the multi-model mean of the bookkeeping models BLUE, H&C2023 and OSCAR, and whiskers represent the full spread across their estimates. Country names in the EU27 bar indicate the three EU27 countries with the largest afforestation/reforestation fluxes. The maps in the bottom panel show data for the bookkeeping models BLUE, H&C2023 and OSCAR provide country-level data. The H&C2023 and OSCAR data have therefore been spatially distributed based on the CDR patterns of BLUE: for each country, the spatial pattern of the CDR flux density (i.e. flux per grid cell area) in BLUE is used, and the pattern is scaled such that the countrywide CDR estimate matches the H&C2023 and OSCAR CDR estimates in the respective country (see Schwingshackl et al., 2022, for details).³³⁰

Current levels of novel CDR

In contrast to the gigaton scale of conventional CDR, the level of CDR from novel methods grew from an estimated -0.66 MtCO_2 per year in 2021 to -1.35 MtCO_2 per year in 2023 (see Figure 7.4).

The analysis shows that biochar currently provides -0.79 MtCO_2 per year, and BECCS -0.51 MtCO_2 per year. DACCS contributes -0.004 MtCO_2 per year, and enhanced rock weathering approximately -0.03 MtCO_2 .





The implementation of novel CDR methods appears to remain concentrated in Europe and North America, though it is beginning to spread beyond. For BECCS, the Illinois Industrial Carbon Capture and Storage Project facility in the US is the largest and longest-running installation globally. This facility has been reaching -0.43 to -0.52 MtCO₂ per year from the capture of CO₂ during corn ethanol production since 2017. In 2022, another BECCS project started delivering CDR in the US: the Red Trail Energy bioethanol initiative (which reached -0.08 MtCO₂ in that year).³²⁴

Biochar has a substantially wider geographic distribution than BECCS. North America contributes an estimated 48% of the CDR from biochar; Europe follows with 17%; Asia contributes 16% and South America 11%; and Africa and Oceania contribute 8% and 1%, respectively. There was substantial growth in CDR delivered through biochar in 2023, especially in South America and Oceania, where levels increased by approximately 350 and 400 times, respectively, compared with 2021. Europe saw an estimated twelvefold increase in biochar CDR, and in Africa, removal volumes nearly tripled. These changes highlight both the rapid growth and regional variations in biochar deployment.³

³ While this report draws on survey data available only for 2021 and 2023, biochar has a long-standing history.³³¹

For DACCS, the Orca facility in Iceland remains the largest operational plant globally. This facility came online in 2021 and has a capacity of 4 kt of CO₂ per year. Enhanced rock weathering is also capturing atmospheric CO₂ at the kiloton scale, although it is distributed more widely around the world than BECCS and DACCS. Companies such as UNDO, GreenSand, AgSeq and Mati have reported delivering CDR via enhanced rock weathering, with operations spread across Australia, Canada, India and the UK.

Several other novel CDR methods contribute on a smaller scale, with reported removals of just under 8 kt of CO_2 per year in removals. These novel methods include bio-oil storage, mineral products (capture of atmospheric CO_2 within demolished concrete aggregate), biomass sinking and ocean alkalinity enhancement.

A significant upswing in novel CDR is expected in the coming months. According to projections made by the International Biochar Initiative and the US Biochar Initiative, CDR from biochar is expected to reach over seven times the current deployment rate by 2025. The development pipeline also suggests a potential increase of over 2.5 times the 2023 CDR levels through BECCS and DACCS by the end of 2024. Noteworthy projects include the Blue Flint Ethanol plant in North Dakota, US, that started operations in late 2023; the Climeworks Mammoth plant in Iceland, designed to capture -0.036 MtCO_2 annually; and the STRATOS project by 1PointFive in Texas, US, targeting the capture of up to -0.5 MtCO_2 per year from mid-2025. Longer-term – but less reliable – company announcements suggest an even higher growth trajectory for novel CDR (see Chapter 3 – Demonstration and upscaling).

Figure 7.5 summarizes the current levels of conventional and novel CDR. It includes both the perspective of CO_2 removal from the atmosphere and the perspective of transfer of carbon to a durable pool. If summed together, they suggest current CDR of approximately $-2,200 \text{ MtCO}_2$ per year, although how they relate to each other has been discussed in Section 7.1



CDR (fluxes out of atmosphere into durable pools)

Transfers (fluxes from one durable pool to another)

Biological storage



Figure 7.5 Summary of current carbon dioxide removal (CDR) deployment, based on average levels of conventional CDR during 2013–2022 and on estimates of novel CDR in 2023. The top panel shows carbon dioxide (CO₂) moved from the atmosphere into durable storage. The middle panel shows a zoom-in for novel CDR: biochar (from annual crops), bioenergy with carbon capture and storage (BECCS), enhanced rock weathering, and direct air carbon capture and storage (DACCS). Brackets on the top and bottom of the bar indicate the capture and storage types involved (not shown: afforestation/reforestation involves biological capture and storage; DACCS and enhanced rock weathering both involve geochemical capture and mineral storage). The uncertainty bar for CDR through afforestation/reforestation in the top panel indicates the spread across the three bookkeeping model estimates. The bottom panel shows the average levels, during 2013–2022, of CO₂ recently captured from the atmosphere and transferred from one form of durable storage to another. The brackets on top indicate the origin of the captured carbon, and the brackets below indicate the final storage pool.

Box 7.3 Limitations and knowledge gaps

This report has identified areas on which future assessments can build, including:

• Precision of afforestation/reforestation estimates: The uncertainties in quantifying CDR due to afforestation/reforestation are substantial: the lowest and highest global estimates differ by a factor of two. A key obstacle to better constraining this number is that it is impossible to directly observe the CO₂ exchanges between land and atmosphere, or the underlying carbon stock changes, in particular in soils.

• Distinguishing CDR from natural fluxes: A clear separation between the effects of human activity on land and indirect responses to environmental conditions is challenging. Distinguishing between these effects requires models, but these are simplifications of complex land processes, and the input data and parameters they use have wide error margins.³³²

• *Making NGHGI and bookkeeping model estimates comparable*: The CDR estimates from model-adjusted NGHGIs and from bookkeeping models are not entirely comparable. The first includes improved management of existing forests as well as afforestation/reforestation. It may be possible to improve comparability by distinguishing between these two CDR methods in the NGHGI data, based on their "land converted to forest land" category. This would be limited to afforestation/reforestation that took place within the last 20 years, however, and would only cover certain countries.

• Accuracy of NGHGI-based CDR estimates: In removing the natural fluxes on managed land to derive estimates of CDR from the NGHGIs, assumptions have had to be made. These assumptions sometimes have sensitivities as large as the estimate of CDR itself. For example, country-level analysis requires a decision on how to interpret cases where the managed land appears to be a source of CO_2 rather than a sink (once the modelled natural flux has been subtracted from the NGHGI flux). These cases have been interpreted as reflecting processes like forest degradation, and hence this report has not included them as CDR.

• Accuracy of novel CDR estimates: The report's assessment of novel CDR levels is derived largely from self-reporting by individual (often commercial) projects. This is because almost all novel CDR methods currently lack internationally agreed approaches to monitoring, reporting and verification (see Chapter 10 – Monitoring, reporting and verification).

• Accounting for re-release of CO_2 : Re-release of stored CO_2 is accounted for some, but not all, of the least durable CDR methods. For the estimate of carbon transfers through HWPs, emissions from decay of existing wood products are subtracted from new inputs in each given year. For the estimate of CDR levels through afforestation/reforestation, changes in durability – such as through an increasing rate of wildfires or droughts – are not considered because the bookkeeping models exclude the effects of changes in environmental conditions. The estimate of CDR in managed forests based on model-adjusted NGHGI data captures such changes to some extent. For all other CDR methods, it is implicitly assumed that all captured carbon remains stored – no re-release of CO_2 is accounted for.

• Data gaps in tracking CDR activity: Not all current activities that may

qualify as CDR are quantified in this report, owing to a lack of data. Among the likely largest contributors are peatland and coastal wetland restoration, agroforestry, and soil carbon sequestration in croplands and grasslands. The estimate for biochar in particular is incomplete. While the global survey data used in this report mark a significant improvement over previous data sets, these data still likely underrepresent the true scale and distribution of biochar production. Notably, the location of the survey organizers in North America may have led to higher representation in this region and lower representation in regions such as Africa, Asia and South America. This is particularly true for biochar produced for soil amendment purposes, especially in small-scale operations using portable kilns or similar setups, which may not be tracked systematically.



Matthew J. Gidden,ⁱ Stephanie Roe,ⁱⁱ Gaurav Ganti,ⁱⁱⁱ Thomas Gasser,ⁱ Tomoko Hasegawa,^{iv} William F. Lamb,^v Yuki Ochi,^{vi} Jessica Strefler,^{vii} Naomi E. Vaughan^{viii}

- ⁱ International Institute for Applied Systems Analysis
- " World Wide Fund for Nature
- iii Climate Analytics
- ^{iv} Ritsumeikan University
- $^{\rm v}$ Mercator Research Institute on Global Commons and Climate Change
- ^{vi} E-Konzal
- ^{vii} Potsdam Institute for Climate Impact Research
- viii Tyndall Centre for Climate Change Research, University of East Anglia

Cite as: Gidden, M. J., Roe, S., Ganti, G., Gasser, T., Hasegawa, T., Lamb, W. F., Ochi, Y., Strefler, J., Vaughan, N. E. Chapter 8: Paris-consistent CDR scenarios. in *The State of Carbon Dioxide Removal 2024 – 2nd Edition* (eds. Smith, S. M. et al.). <u>https://www.stateofcdr.org</u>, doi:10.17605/OSF.IO/8XK7H (2024).



Chapter 8 | Paris-consistent CDR scenarios

Long-term, gigaton-scale carbon dioxide removal (CDR) could be consistent with sustainability objectives if paired with ambitious emission reductions. Scenarios that are more aligned with sustainable development deploy less cumulative CDR and much less novel CDR than other mitigation scenarios.

Key insights

• On average, scenarios that limit warming to 2°C or less reduce current emissions by 34 Gt per year by 2050. A set of scenarios that are more aligned with sustainable development go further, reducing emissions by an extra 7 Gt per year, or more than 10% of today's emission levels. This report considers the more sustainable scenarios to be "Paris consistent".

• The median total levels of CDR in 2050 are similar in all scenarios that limit temperature rise below 2°C as well as in Paris-consistent scenarios with sustainability limits (7.5–7.8 Gt of carbon dioxide (CO₂) per year). The range of CDR in 1.5–2°C scenarios in 2050 is 6–10 GtCO₂ per year, and the range in Paris-consistent scenarios is 7–9 GtCO₂ per year. All scenarios assessed in this report use CDR to achieve net zero CO₂ emissions and, in some cases, net zero greenhouse gas emissions.

• Scenarios that limit global temperature rise to 1.5°C and the Parisconsistent scenarios deploy less CDR cumulatively by the time of net zero CO_2 emissions (190 GtCO₂ and 170 GtCO₂, respectively) compared to the 2°C scenarios (330 GtCO₂). The Paris-consistent scenarios tend to deploy more conventional CDR, whereas other scenarios deploy comparatively more novel CDR.

• Depending on future CDR is inherently risky for many reasons, and scenario evidence shows that limiting residual emissions is a more robust and sustainable strategy, and thus should be a key objective at all levels of climate policymaking.

• Novel CDR poses significant risks in terms of scalability. Some novel CDR methods have high environmental and ecosystem risks, while others have potential to generate co-benefits, but it is often difficult to determine the scale at which potential benefits outweigh potential negative impacts. Conventional CDR, when well planned and implemented with sustainability considerations, can provide significant benefits to humans and nature beyond climate change mitigation. If poorly executed, it can also

pose risks to sustainable development, such as to biodiversity and food security.

• Most scenarios continue to optimize solely for climate change mitigation and cost, too often producing unsustainable futures including very high levels of CDR that may jeopardize the attainment of other global goals. It is vital that CDR policy and strategy explicitly integrate sustainable development considerations to address risks and maximize co-benefits.

This chapter looks at the levels of CDR needed to achieve the Paris temperature goal of limiting warming to well below 2°C and striving to limit it to 1.5°C (Article 2.1a), while achieving a balance between sources and sinks of greenhouse gases (Article 4.1). The Paris Agreement also states that any response to climate change must be taken "in the context of sustainable development and efforts to eradicate poverty" (Article 2.1). Sustainability across multiple dimensions is thus paramount to delivering the mitigation goals laid out in the Paris Agreement. Section 8.1 of this chapter looks at the levels of CDR needed to achieve the Paris temperature goal in line with sustainability criteria. Section 8.2 examines the amount of residual emissions – or the remaining positive emissions that would need to be compensated by CDR to reach net zero carbon dioxide (CO_2) – that exist by sector in Paris-consistent scenarios. Section 8.3 highlights the role, risks and co-benefits of conventional and novel CDR, including areas of uncertainty in accounting for removals. Section 8.4 outlines the needs and key elements for the further development of more-sustainable scenarios.

8.1 Future scenarios

Meeting the Paris temperature goal will require strong emission reductions and the sustainable scale-up of CDR.

While the causes of anthropogenic climate change are well known to be the continued emissions of CO₂ and other greenhouse gases through fossil fuel use and land-use change, the human and economic impacts of transitioning away from current energy systems, energy consumption patterns and agricultural practices depend strongly on the national policies and strategies employed to do so. Scientists who study these different transition strategies strive to develop a consistent set of plausible assumptions about the future evolution of demographics, economic growth and technological progress, among many other factors. Techno-economic models are then used to generate quantifications of the needed energy and economy transitions consistent with these storylines. A future scenario consists of a coherent storyline of a plausible future, a wide variety of input assumptions for a model, and the output of a model. Most commonly, models called integrated assessment models (IAMs) are used to produce these scenarios in the context of climate change mitigation (see Box 8.2). This report refers to *scenarios* as the combined set of storylines, input and output of a given model framework.

The State of Carbon Dioxide Removal 1st edition assessed future CDR deployment based purely on the temperature outcomes of each provided scenario. It followed the same

temperature classifications used by the IPCC, which included scenarios that limit global temperature rise to 1.5°C with 50% probability, scenarios that exceed a temperature rise of 1.5°C but then return to that level by the end of the century, and scenarios that limit temperature rise to 2°C with 67% probability (referred to by the IPCC as *C1, C2 and C3 scenarios*, respectively). The first edition went beyond assessments by the IPCC and disaggregated the total amount of conventional CDR and the total amount of novel CDR in scenarios (see Chapter 1 – Introduction, for definitions) and highlighted three illustrative scenarios to show different mitigation profiles and their trajectories (see Box 8.1).

This edition of the report builds on that previous analysis in several ways:

- Expands the scenarios assessed to include more recently published scenarios than those available in the IPCC's Sixth Assessment Report (AR6) Working Group III database
- Includes a new subset of scenarios that use sustainable development criteria
- Provides a deeper dive into the role of residual emissions and into the potential risks and co-benefits associated with conventional and novel CDR

As in the first edition, this edition refers to all 1.5–2°C scenarios as *Paris-relevant scenarios*. Whereas the first edition referred to 1.5°C (i.e. IPCC C1) scenarios as *Paris-consistent scenarios*, this edition includes a set of sustainability criteria to assess Paris consistency, among which is limiting temperature rise to below 2°C with at least 67% probability.

New for this edition of the report, all the analysis and data are provided in an open-access *State of Carbon Dioxide Removal* data portal, which will be updated for subsequent editions as new scenario evidence is made available (accessible via <u>https://portal.stateofcdr.org/)</u>.

Expanded scenarios

This report has collected additional scenarios from peer-reviewed publications for which data were publicly available in common data formats.³³³⁻³³⁵ Each newly assessed scenario was provided a climate assessment (i.e. temperature pathway) consistent with approaches by the IPCC. As part of this analysis, when sufficient land-use change data were available, estimates were made for conventional CDR following the methods laid out in Gidden et al., 2023.³³⁶ Where possible, estimates were also made for novel CDR: bioenergy with carbon capture and storage (BECCS), direct air carbon capture and storage (DACCS), enhanced rock weathering, and other methods (Table 8.1, Figure 8.1).

This report finds that the majority of scenarios used in the IPCC's AR6 depend on BECCS as the only novel CDR option, while newer scenarios (since AR6) are increasingly exploring future pathways that include DACCS, enhanced rock weathering and other novel methods (Table 8.1).

	Total number of 1.5–2°C scenarios (number assessed)	Number of scenarios with conventional CDR ^a (number for which CDR estimated)	Number of scenarios with novel CDR			
			BECCS	DACCS	ERW	Biochar
Scenarios in the AR6 database	540 (407)	530 (407)	516	146	4	1
New scenarios since AR6	90 (48)	90 (48)	85	71	11	0

^a Scenarios are considered to include conventional CDR if this value can be estimated using the methodology in Gidden et al., 2023.³³⁶

Table 8.1 Carbon dioxide removal (CDR) portfolios included in the scenarios in this assessment. AR6 = Sixth Assessment Report; BECCS = bioenergy with carbon capture and storage; DACCS = direct air carbon capture and storage; ERW = enhanced rock weathering.



Figure 8.1 The median and interquartile ranges of (a) carbon dioxide (CO_2) emissions and (b, c) carbon dioxide removal (CDR) values across IPCC Sixth Assessment Report scenarios and new scenarios since the Sixth Assessment Report.
Sustainable scenarios

This analysis also looked at a subset of scenarios that are more likely than other scenarios to achieve multiple sustainable development outcomes, with the aim of better understanding how future CDR could be deployed in the context of social and environmental sustainability.

The scenarios assessed by the IPCC as well as the expanded scenarios assessed in this chapter (described in the previous section) come from the published literature, including studies from individual modelling groups and from small and large multi-model comparisons. Each study seeks to inform and further mitigation science, focusing on a specific research question. Some studies ask more general questions, such as how to bridge the gap between current nationally determined contributions and emission pathways aligned with the Paris Agreement³³⁷ or what the cost implications are of meeting climate targets while avoiding overshooting those targets.³³⁸ Other studies are more explicit, considering specific questions about the environmental impacts of CDR¹³⁹ or investigating how to meet different Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs), including – under SDG 13 – the 1.5°C target.³³⁹ However, no multi-model comparison studies were found to date that systematically explore the implications of CDR deployment for meeting multiple SDGs.

Because the data provided by scenario producers are limited, it is impossible to precisely say if a given SDG is met under that scenario (and not all SDGs have explicitly quantified goals). Therefore, to identify the required subset of scenarios that are more likely to achieve multiple sustainable development outcomes, a number of criteria rooted in the sustainability literature were applied to each existing scenario (see Chapter 8 Technical Appendix). Broad conclusions were then drawn regarding CDR deployment in that subset of scenarios. The sustainability criteria considered and evaluated at the time when each scenario achieved net zero CO_2 emissions were:

- Halting deforestation and conversion of ecosystems and protecting biodiversity and ecosystem services (SDG 15)³⁴⁰
- Reducing the population at risk of hunger (SDG 2)³⁴¹
- Limiting the increase of global energy demand while enhancing equitable access to energy (SDGs 7, 12)³³⁹
- Limiting reliance on energy from biomass to reduce land and water resource needs (SDGs 7, 15)^{8,342}
- Keeping temperature rise well below 2°C and striving to limit it to 1.5°C (SDG 13)

Combining both temperature outcomes and dimensions of sustainability, a new "Parisconsistent" range of CDR was assessed based on this subset of more sustainable scenarios (Table 8.2, Figure 8.2). The collection of scenarios assessed does not reflect a statistical sample but rather an unstructured ensemble in which no single scenario is more likely to occur than another; however, robust conclusions can be drawn by analysing the distributions of results.343 Of the 34 scenarios that meet all sustainability criteria, ten scenarios deploy at least three CDR methods, and 24 deploy only BECCS and afforestation/reforestation.

	2035 (GtCO ₂ e per year [25-75th percentile])				2050 (GtCO ₂ e per year [25-75th percentile])				At net zero CO_2 emissions (GtCO ₂ per year [25-75th percentile])		
Scenarios	Gross emission reductions from 2020	Total CDR	Conventional CDR	Novel CDR	Gross emission reductions from 2020	Total CDR	Conventional CDR	Novel CDR	Cumulative total CDR	Cumulative conventional CDR	Cumulative novel CDR
C1	30 [26, 32]	6.1 [4.9, 7.0]	4.8 [4.2, 5.5]	1.0 [0.53, 1.4]	39 [38, 42]	8.9 [7.6, 11]	5.6 [3.6, 6.1]	4.5 [3.4, 5.1]	190 [150, 260]	140 [120, 180]	51 [43, 89]
C2	21 [16, 26]	4.5 [3.5, 5.5]	4.0 [3.1, 4.5]	0.35 [0.15, 0.65]	35 [33, 39]	8.1 [6.6, 10]	5.2 [3.6, 5.7]	3.6 [1.8, 5.2]	220 [190, 250]	150 [110, 180]	64 [40, 120]
С3	19 [14, 22]	4.1 [3.2, 5.4]	3.6 [2.6, 5.0]	0.28 [0.11, 0.73]	32 [29, 34]	6.4 [5.6, 9.1]	4.8 [3.1, 5.4]	2.4 [1.2, 4]	330 [260, 440]	210 [150, 260]	140 [79, 270]
C1-C3	21 [16, 26]	4.6 [3.6, 5.9]	3.9 [3.0, 5.0]	0.43 [0.16, 0.99]	34 [30, 39]	7.5 [5.9, 10]	5 [3.3, 5.8]	3.2 [1.6, 4.6]	260 [200, 360]	170 [130, 230]	96 [48, 200]
More sustainable scenarios (within C1–C3)	31 [28, 34]	5.1 [4.6, 5.8]	4.5 [4.4, 4.9]	0.30 [0.15, 0.66]	41[39, 43]	7.8 [6.6, 8.9]	5.7 [5.2, 5.9]	1.9 [1, 3.7]	170 [140, 210]	150 [130, 160]	22 [15, 53]
1.5°C with no novel CDR	34	3.9	3.9	0	45	4.8	4.8	0	130	130	0
1.5°C with higher novel CDR	29	6.4	3.9	2.5	43	9.8	6.3	3.5	160	110	50
1.5°C with higher conventional CDR	27	5.9	5.6	0.3	40	7.6	6.7	0.9	300	265	35

Table 8.2 Carbon dioxide removal (CDR) and emission reductions across different scenarios (See technical annex section A8.2 for 2030 values). Cumulative values start in 2020. All values rounded to two significant digits.

Stringent emission reductions play the strongest role in all scenarios that limit warming to 2°C or less. The 1.5°C scenarios reduce current sources of emissions compared with modelled 2020 levels by 30 (26 to 32) Gt per year by 2035 and 39 (38 to 42) Gt per year by 2050. The 2°C scenarios see emission reductions of 19 (14 to 22) Gt per year by 2035 and 32 (29 to 34) Gt per year by 2050. However, the more sustainable scenarios tend to include stronger gross emission reductions than the full scenario set, declining by 31 (28 to 34) Gt per year by 2035 and by 41 (39 to 43) Gt per year by 2050. In other words, this report's set of more sustainable scenarios further reduces sources of emissions by more than 10% of today's emission levels compared with the median of all assessed scenarios that limit warming to 2°C or less. Enhanced sectoral transformation, shifting dietary preferences, and reduced demand for products and services in certain sectors are critical components in minimizing residual emissions in these more sustainable scenarios (see Section 8.2).

Similar levels of total CDR in 2050 are seen across both the full scenario set and the more sustainable scenarios, reaching around 7.5–8 GtCO₂ by mid-century. However, 1.5°C scenarios and the Paris-consistent scenarios deploy less CDR cumulatively by the time of net zero CO₂ emissions (190 GtCO₂ and 170 GtCO₂, respectively) compared with the 2°C scenarios (330 GtCO₂). The type of CDR deployed also varies by scenario type. In general, both scenario sets see a ramping up of both conventional and novel CDR in the near term. However, by 2050 the more sustainable scenarios have a stronger dependence on conventional CDR and a relatively weaker dependence on novel CDR than the full set of scenarios. Among the more sustainable scenarios that deploy at least two types of novel CDR, BECCS contributes around 42% of total annual novel removals at the time of net zero CO₂ emissions.

Box 8.1 Focus scenarios

The State of Carbon Dioxide Removal 1st edition introduced three focus scenarios that highlighted the role of CDR: one focused on demand reduction, one on renewable energy, and one on expanding conventional and novel CDR. Each focus scenario was assessed as a 1.5°C with no or limited overshoot scenario (C1 category) by the IPCC in AR6.

While these distinctions were useful, the naming conventions were felt to detract from the message around their CDR characteristics. In any given scenario, multiple mitigation levers are used to achieve net emission reductions and limit global temperature rise. For example, the *Focus on Renewables* scenario also includes substantial dietary shifts away from meatbased diets and towards the EAT-Lancet diet³⁴⁴ that includes more vegetable and plant-based proteins, among many other levers, resulting in a scenario with significantly more-sustainable outcomes.

As such, these focus scenarios have been renamed for this second edition of the report based on their CDR characteristics (2030 Total, Conventional, and Novel CDR values shown) as follows:

• Focus on Demand Reduction 345 \rightarrow 1.5°C with no novel CDR (3.5, 3.5, 0 GtCO_2)



• Focus on $CDR^{346} \rightarrow 1.5^{\circ}C$ with higher novel CDR (4, 3,1 GtCO₂)





8.2 Residual emissions across sectors

CDR counterbalances residual emissions in hard-to-transition sectors, including the agricultural and industrial process sectors. Low residual emission scenarios are most aligned with sustainability outcomes.

The scenarios assessed in this report seek to show future pathways that limit global temperature rise by reducing net CO_2 emissions, and in some cases greenhouse gas emissions, to net-negative levels. Because scenarios try to find cost-effective solutions (see Box 8.2), in some cases they can determine that it is less costly to deploy a given CDR technology than it is to further reduce emissions in a given sector. CDR thus plays three primary roles in scenarios:

- Helping draw down near-term net emissions, largely through conventional CDR
- Counterbalancing remaining positive CO₂ emissions at the time net zero CO₂ is reached, generally through strategies involving both novel CDR and conventional CDR

• Further helping draw down net-negative CO₂ emissions to achieve net zero greenhouse gas emissions by maintaining levels of conventional CDR and expanding further levels of novel CDR

Box 8.2 IAMs and scenario collections

IAMs bring together representations of multiple systems, including energy supply and demand, economies, and the environment, to study the effect of potential sociodemographic and policy futures. Scenarios generated by IAMs are one of the primary sources of scenarios in the IPCC AR6 database. IAMs use input drivers such as future trajectories of population, gross domestic product and urbanization, as well as a wealth of techno-economic assumptions. These assumptions can hew to certain narratives or storylines, for example a "middle of the road" future, or a "fossil-fuelled" future, or a "sustainability-focused" future.³⁴⁷

Different modelling teams choose different values across a wide range of assumptions, such as for technology costs, technology potential and economic discount rates. Models can also have fundamentally different structures, from least-cost or maximum-utility optimization to more simulation-based approaches, as well as fundamentally different levels of representation that focus more on the economy (e.g. computable general equilibrium) or more on fine-grained processes (e.g. bottom-up techno-economic models). Because of the diversity of approaches and assumptions, models may prefer certain types of mitigation solutions over others.³⁴⁸

IAMs are regularly used to study the range of different policy tools and the technology development needed to achieve certain policy aims. In the context of IPCC AR6, these policy aims are normally related to specified temperature outcomes governed by negotiations under the UNFCCC. However, IAMs are also used to investigate how to achieve other targets, such as the SDGs, and scenarios generated with IAMs are regularly produced without setting any specific climate target at all. Scenarios are neither predictive nor prescriptive; they are meant to show how different outcomes can be arrived at.

One must use caution when querying unstructured ensembles (or sets) of scenarios (i.e. collections of scenarios that are not coordinated to answer a specific research question), such as the IPCC AR6 Working Group III database. In many cases, scenarios submitted to the AR6 database come from structured intermodel comparison projects, in which multiple models harmonize input assumptions to answer a given research question. In the context of CDR, such projects may have included specific diagnostic scenarios, where certain CDR methods are turned on or off to study how a given climate target could be achieved if that CDR method were unavailable in the future, and the diagnostic conditions specified could affect the outcomes assessed from an unstructured scenario ensemble. In addition, these

scenarios in unstructured ensembles may or may not explicitly consider other sustainability constraints, such as protecting biodiversity. Indeed, some scenarios may explicitly be designed such that they violate sustainability constraints to study what may happen in worst-case outcomes (e.g. in a fossilfuelled future). This has led to some critique of the IPCC's assessment using scenarios generally,³⁴⁹ and there are growing calls to develop better methods to perform scenario assessment.³⁵⁰

Residual emissions are the emissions that would need to be compensated by CDR to reach net zero CO_2 . A precise definition of residual emissions remains elusive, as they are a future unknown quantity that depends on the success of emission reduction efforts across different sectors. Emerging evidence from national net zero strategies indicates that policymakers expect considerable quantities of residual emissions in 2050, averaging 21% of peak emissions (with a min/max range of 5–52%) in Annex I (developed) countries.^{143,351} These levels have led some to question whether reduction proposals are ambitious enough and to examine the emerging politics of residual emissions.^{143,168,352,353}

Residual emissions can be considered either the cumulative quantity of unabated emissions in the 21st century³⁵⁴ or the annual gross emissions that are balanced by CDR once net zero CO_2 is reached. This report uses the latter definition, as it focuses attention on the specific sectors where emissions are considered hard to abate (i.e. sectors in which emission reductions level off after a transition period). This section draws from a study that examines residual emissions in the full range of IPCC AR6 C1–C3 (1.5–2°C) scenarios,³⁵⁵ focusing on emission levels at the time that net zero CO_2 is reached (approximately the early 2050s for C1 scenarios, in the 2060s for C2 and in the 2070s for C3). This compilation of scenarios differs from those evaluated in Section 8.1, as it is not constrained by a set of sustainability criteria, nor does it include new scenarios since AR6.

The IPCC AR6 scenarios project considerable volumes of residual emissions, even after a period of deep reductions across sectors (see Figure 8.3). The AR6 scenarios have residual greenhouse gas emissions at the point of net zero CO_2 of 16 (13–22) GtCO₂e. This represents gross emission reductions of 71 (62–77) % by a median net zero year of 2066. While some scenarios subsequently continue to reduce gross emissions, potentially reaching net zero greenhouse gas emissions in the 21st century, others scale up CDR to reach those goals. Residual emissions of 13 (7.6–20) GtCO₂e still remain by 2100 across the IPCC AR6 scenario ensemble. These levels are less ambitious than benchmarks in corporate net zero standards such as the International Organization for Standardization and Science Based Targets initiative standards, which arrive at net zero CO_2 in 2050 to align with a 1.5°C pathway.³⁵⁵

Scenario evidence supports the notion that residual emissions are weighted towards non-CO₂ greenhouse gases in the agricultural and industrial process sectors (see Figure 8.3).³⁵⁶ The largest sources of emissions at the point that net zero CO₂ is reached in scenarios are methane emissions from livestock, CO₂ emissions from transport (including international aviation), nitrous oxide emissions from agriculture, CO₂ emissions from industrial processes (e.g. from cement and steel manufacture), and methane emissions from

the waste sector. However, there is considerable variation across the scenarios, primarily driven by the type of model used and, presumably, by the underlying cost distribution of the models' mitigation options.

The precise quantity of non-CO₂ greenhouse gas emissions that would need to be compensated by CDR or removals of methane or nitrous oxide to ultimately stabilize temperatures remains uncertain.²³ The frontier of possible emission reductions is also far from explored in current scenarios, as there have been few systematic studies of low residual emission scenarios. However, scenarios at the lower end of residual emissions (e.g. less than 12 GtCO₂e per year at net zero CO₂) tend to involve demand-side changes, such as dietary shifts (lowering livestock emissions) and reduced aviation demand;^{339,356} achieve a deep electrification of end-use sectors;³⁵⁷ or purposefully constrain CDR availability in the model, thus implementing higher-cost gross emission reductions.³⁵⁸ Although there may be trade-offs to achieving such deep reductions, these strategies intersect with sustainability-oriented pathways to net zero and thus deliver significant co-benefits for social well-being and the environment. As such, limiting residual emissions and thereby lowering dependence on CDR should be considered a key objective at all levels of climate policymaking.



Figure 8.3 Gross emission reductions and residual emissions in IPCC Sixth Assessment Report scenarios by gas and sector. The specific compilation of scenarios differs to those presented in Figure 8.1 and is discussed in Lamb, 2024.³⁵⁵ Faded bars represent median scenario gross emissions in 2020; solid bars represent median scenario gross emissions at the point of net zero carbon dioxide (CO₂). Error bars indicate the 5th to 95th percentile of the scenario range at the point of net zero CO₂. The timing of net zero CO₂ varies by scenario but is reached between 2050 and 2055 in the assessed C1 scenarios, in the 2060s in C2 scenarios and in the 2070s in C3 scenarios. AFOLU = agriculture, forestry and other land use; CH₄ = methane; F-gases = fluorinated greenhouse gases; N₂O = nitrous oxide.

8.3 The role and potential risks, benefits and uncertainties of conventional and novel CDR

All scenarios assessed deploy conventional CDR early on, then shift towards novel CDR later in the century. Different CDR approaches carry different potential risks and benefits, and it is highly uncertain how much CDR will be needed.

Conventional CDR measures, such as afforestation/reforestation and soil carbon sequestration, tend to be deployed in the first half of this century in scenarios that limit warming to 1.5°C and 2°C, whereas novel CDR technologies, such as BECCS or DACCS, tend to be scaled up in the latter half of the century. Early deployment of conventional CDR in scenarios is due to the relative maturity, scalability and cost-effectiveness of these methods. For instance, mitigation costs are estimated to range from -\$45 to \$100/tCO₂ for soil carbon sequestration and from \$0 to \$240/tCO₂ for afforestation/reforestation, whereas BECCS costs are projected to range from \$15 to \$400/tCO₂ and DACCS costs from \$200 to \$1,000/tCO₂.

The potential risks and benefits of CDR approaches are also increasingly influencing their use and deployment in scenarios and in practice. Relying on CDR, especially large-scale CDR at the gigaton scale, poses social and environmental sustainability risks as well as climate change mitigation risks. However, if strategically planned and deployed, some CDR options can also provide benefits for people and nature beyond climate change mitigation.

This section discusses the role of conventional and novel CDR in scenarios, including their geographical deployment. It also outlines the potential risks and benefits of the various CDR approaches and highlights ways to avoid or reduce risks and maximize benefits.

The role of conventional CDR in scenarios

In the Paris-consistent scenarios with sustainability limits assessed in this report, conventional CDR reaches 4.5 GtCO₂ per year in 2035 and 5.7 GtCO₂ per year in 2050, cumulatively amounting to 150 GtCO₂ at the point of net zero CO₂ (Table 8.2). Methods of conventional CDR include afforestation/reforestation, forest management, soil carbon sequestration in croplands and grasslands, agroforestry, restoration of peatland and coastal wetlands such as mangroves, and durable wood products (see Chapter 1 – Introduction). To date, most of these options – with the exception of afforestation/reforestation and forest management – are not included in the IAM scenarios assessed in this report, though the newest versions of land-model components are beginning to incorporate soil carbon sequestration and peatland restoration.³⁴⁰ Therefore, a large majority of the conventional CDR methods in the IAMs is mainly because those methods are associated with components (e.g. land and soil management) that are themselves not yet explicitly represented in the IAMs.

Multi-model assessment³⁶⁰ indicates that forested areas significantly expand at lower carbon prices (<\$50/tCO₂), while the cropland area for bioenergy crops increases at higher carbon prices (>\$100/tCO₂), largely replacing pastureland. Trade-offs and competition

for land between conventional CDR and food production may be difficult to avoid without explicit consideration of sustainable food policies taken in tandem with national mitigation planning.^{361,362}

The geographical deployment of conventional CDR depends on the specific method's technical potential in that location; for instance, afforestation/reforestation requires an area and climate suitable for forestation with high carbon density potential. Under mitigation pathways, afforestation/reforestation tends to be primarily implemented in Africa, Latin America, South Asia and certain developed countries.³⁶³ Soil carbon sequestration tends to have higher potential in Africa, Asia, and some developed countries;³⁶⁴ however, it is not a major CDR option deployed in assessed scenarios to date.

The scientific teams that produce scenarios are exploring ways to incorporate more conventional CDR methods, which will likely affect future assessments of CDR levels compatible with multiple sustainability goals due to their potential social and biodiversity co-benefits (see next section). For example, agroforestry and soil carbon sequestration are being considered by some models, which could potentially expand conventional CDR further. Studies show a mitigation potential of $1.1 \,\mathrm{GtCO}_2$ per year for agroforestry and of $1.8 \,\mathrm{GtCO}_2$ per year for soil carbon sequestration by 2050 at a carbon price of less than $\$100/\mathrm{tCO}_2$.³⁶⁴

Potential risks and benefits of conventional CDR

The potential risks and benefits of conventional CDR approaches are relatively well researched in the literature on ecosystem-based approaches, such as nature-based solutions, natural climate solutions, ecosystem-based adaptation, and agroecology.

All land-based interventions (including relevant novel CDR approaches) have implications for climate change mitigation, adaptation and resilience, food security, biodiversity, water quality and supply, and livelihoods and poverty, where the scale of benefit or risk largely depends on (1) the type of activity undertaken (e.g. reforestation in forest biomes versus afforestation in non-forest biomes), (2) the deployment strategy (e.g. native species in habitat corridors versus large-scale monoculture plantations of non-native species), and (3) the regional and local context (e.g. soil type, biome type, climate, land ownership and beneficiaries, competing land uses).³⁶⁵

Potential social and environmental benefits

There is increasing evidence that when well planned and deployed with explicit consideration of the local context and sustainable development outcomes, conventional CDR measures can deliver significant benefits for people and nature in addition to climate.⁴ For example, community-led mangrove restoration not only sequesters carbon, it can also benefit local livelihoods, provide species habitat (including commercial fish habitat), buffer impacts from storm surge and floods, reduce pollution and improve water quality.³⁶⁶ Agroforestry – or planting native fruit trees in croplands and pastures and improving soil carbon sequestration by selecting perennials and longer rooted cultivars and strategically applying compost – could improve soil health, water retention, productivity and farmer incomes, and increase resilience to heatwaves, floods and droughts.^{367–371} Reforestation of

degraded land that previously supported forests through community-supported natural regeneration with rewilding of native seed dispersers enhances biodiversity and provides habitat, reduces erosion and improves soil health and, depending on scale, could increase water cycling, local cooling and the resilience of the region to extreme weather.³⁷²⁻³⁷⁴ Potential benefits from these conventional CDR approaches are therefore well positioned to contribute to the SDGs, the Global Biodiversity Framework and other global and national policy goals.³⁶⁵

Potential social and environmental risks

Conversely, poorly planned and implemented land interventions that do not adequately consider local contexts and outcomes beyond climate could have adverse effects on climate, nature and people. Potential risks include implementation of large-scale interventions (e.g. afforestation/reforestation) that compete with croplands and reduce incomes and food security;^{360,375} afforestation of non-forest ecosystems, like native grasslands, to exotic monoculture plantations, reducing biodiversity and resilience to climate change, and straining water resources;³⁷⁶⁻³⁷⁹ marginalization of local communities due to land grabbing and benefit capture;³⁸⁰ and reduced mitigation effectiveness due to biophysical impacts from adding forests in high latitudes (e.g. albedo).^{381,382}

Climate change mitigation risks

All land-based CDR approaches (conventional and novel) are vulnerable to climate impacts and reversals, which could reduce their mitigation efficacy. The capacity of land to sequester carbon over time is subject to various uncertainties, including biogeochemical, biophysical, anthropogenic and carbon accounting uncertainties, further challenging CDR estimation (see Box 8.3).

Risk mitigation strategies

To mitigate negative consequences, sustainable land-use planning and management can balance the use of land for CDR with other aspects of land-based sustainability. Through various approaches (e.g. managing scale, focusing on sustainable deployment strategies catered to local context), the benefits of CDR techniques can be optimized to achieve multiple goals, including carbon sequestration and enhancement of biodiversity, ecosystem services and livelihoods.³⁷³ Other land-based measures, including sustainable agricultural intensification, reduced food waste, and dietary changes, can lessen the land required for food production and thus facilitate carbon sequestration through CDR, all while safeguarding food security and land sustainability.^{365,383}

The role of novel CDR in scenarios

Across most of the scenarios assessed in this report, novel CDR increases to megaton scale by 2030, then to gigaton scale around mid-century and beyond. The scenarios mostly include BECCS and DACCS, with some scenarios also including enhanced rock weathering and biochar (see Table 8.1). When and how fast these technologies can be scaled up depends mainly on costs but also on technological readiness and policy.

Most of the models include large-scale deployment of BECCS in C1-C3 scenarios as it is

comparatively cheap⁸ and able to supply low-carbon energy, especially liquid fuels,³⁸⁴ which is one part of the energy sector that is difficult and expensive to decarbonize otherwise. However, BECCS is limited by the supply of sustainable bioenergy.^{8,385-388} Enhanced rock weathering is more expensive due to the extensive mining and related operations needed to produce crushed basalt rock, but little additional technological development and no carbon storage infrastructure is required. In the limited number of scenarios available, enhanced rock weathering scales up to megaton and gigaton scale around mid-century. DACCS has the highest costs and energy requirements, but also the largest potential to scale.⁸ Therefore, the models invest in early upscaling to the megaton scale by about 2035, to be able to reach the gigaton scale in the second half of the century.

After mid-century, most novel CDR scales up higher than conventional CDR in the scenarios assessed (Figure 8.1). The extent of total deployment depends to a large degree on the climate policy logic³⁸⁹ used to drive the scenario, for example either using a full century carbon budget, which can first be exceeded and then drawn down, or not exceeding a peak temperature, which can result in lower overall system costs and lower levels of CDR deployment.^{338,390} The deployment levels of the different options then depend on each option's total potential and the options' relative competitiveness.

Enhanced rock weathering performs more efficiently in warm and humid climates and has the highest potential in Asia and Latin America.³⁵⁸ BECCS needs biomass supply, thus has higher technical potential in Asia and Latin America (similar to conventional CDR), with regional distribution dependent on the modelling framework used.^{384,391} However, for BECCS to be considered a CDR method, its carbon emissions must be captured and ultimately stored, requiring extensive carbon capture and storage infrastructure, which may be more prevalent elsewhere. Also, the bioenergy could potentially be traded, as is the case currently between the UK and the US, which itself can raise sustainability concerns if the biomass is sourced, for example, from existing primary forests, as has been alleged in the UK context.³⁹² This means biomass could be grown elsewhere but ultimately used as BECCS in a different location. However, given the low energy density of biomass, the cost and energy penalty for transportation would be higher than for fossil fuels.

DACCS shows a different geographic profile, with high deployment in regions that have high renewable energy potential in combination with high carbon storage potential. Regions with the highest DACCS deployment in currently assessed scenarios are developed countries, Asia, and the Middle East and North Africa. If DACCS is built further away from these areas, it would require extensive carbon capture and storage infrastructure, similar to BECCS.

The well-known questions and potential risks related to the sustainability (see next section) and monitoring, reporting and verification of BECCS have led the scenario literature to focus more on DACCS as a novel CDR option. However, DACCS is still expected to be one of the most expensive CDR options. Scenario evidence shows DACCS exceed the 1 GtCO₂ per year scale only at carbon prices above \$350/tCO₂, and sometimes far higher. DACCS also requires substantial energy inputs, which must come from carbon-free energy to maximize carbon capture efficiency and avoid environmental degradation,³⁹³ in addition to the carbon-free energy required to support the transition of other sectors. Furthermore,

carbon storage needs to be provided in potential competition with other sectors – for example, for process emissions in the cement industry – and with other CDR methods.

Potential risks and benefits of novel CDR

The IPCC provided a recent assessment of the risks and benefits of various novel CDR methods including biochar, BECCS, DACCS, enhanced rock weathering, ocean fertilization, ocean alkalinity enhancement and biomass sinking (e.g. macroalgae, seaweed).⁴ Although scientific studies are continuing to emerge, large knowledge gaps remain about the effectiveness and risks of large-scale deployment of most novel CDR methods.

Potential social and environmental benefits

Novel CDR methods that store carbon geologically have the benefit of greater storage durability than conventional land-based CDR, locking in removals for as much as hundreds to thousands of years.⁴ Similar to conventional CDR, some novel CDR methods also have the potential to yield social and environmental co-benefits depending on the type of activity deployed, its scale, and the local or regional context in which it is used. For example, strategically deployed biochar and enhanced rock weathering could help improve soil health and crop yields and reduce drought effects,^{367,394,395} seaweed production and BECCS could contribute to market opportunities,⁸ and regional ocean alkalinity enhancement could help protect coral reefs and shellfisheries from ocean acidification.^{396,397} However, it is very difficult to determine the scale at which the benefits of various novel CDR technologies outweigh their potential negative impacts (outlined in the following subsections).³⁶⁵

Potential social and environmental risks

The sustainability risks of BECCS – such as increased land use and conversion, water use and fertilizer use, and their related adverse effects on food security, biodiversity and greenhouse gas emissions – have been relatively well explored and are similar to those of large-scale afforestation/reforestation covered in the section on the potential risks of conventional CDR.^{349,385,387,398-403} Large-scale DACCS deployment requires volumes of sorbent bulk materials orders of magnitude larger than are produced today as well as significant energy requirements, on the order of a quarter to a third of today's global energy production.^{393,404} Deploying enhanced rock weathering at scale would have a significant energy and water footprint, and the required rock grinding would have a significant energy and water footprint, with related potential negative impacts on biodiversity, on local water availability and quality, and on air quality.^{394,405} In the scientific literature, ocean-based approaches including ocean fertilization and ocean alkalinity enhancement currently have a high risk profile due to large uncertainties related to ecosystem destabilization, feedback effects, and impacts on biodiversity.⁴ Ocean alkalinity enhancement also has similar risks from mining (e.g. silicate materials) as are associated with enhanced rock weathering.^{397,406}

Climate change mitigation risks

A key risk of large-scale novel CDR is scalability: that the technical, economic and political requirements and social acceptance for such levels of deployment may not be feasible or materialize in time, jeopardizing mitigation goals.^{8,407,408} In particular, assumptions related

to the mitigation efficiency of novel CDR methods have been challenged, in particular for BECCS (biomass yield and CDR conversion assumptions)^{398,399,409,410} and DACCS and enhanced rock weathering (renewable energy use and availability assumptions).^{393,404,405} In addition, models tend to assume very large capture efficiencies, on the order of 90–95%, and would overestimate the effectiveness of carbon capture and storage should these efficiencies fail to materialize in practice.

Risk mitigation strategies

The choice of feedstock (e.g. agricultural residues instead of dedicated bioenergy crops), coupled with reduced energy demand and a limited scale of deployment, can help mitigate the negative consequences of many novel CDR approaches. More research is needed to reduce the uncertainties, better understand the magnitude of risks compared with benefits, and develop strategies to mitigate the risks and maximize the benefits associated with most novel CDR.

Box 8.3 Uncertainties related to land-based CDR (conventional and novel)

The ability for land-based ecosystems to effectively remove CO_2 from the atmosphere is subject to multiple uncertainties, including physical uncertainties and accounting uncertainties. These uncertainties further emphasize that the most reliable strategy to keep temperatures within liveable limits is to reduce sources of emissions rather than depend on uncertain future sinks.

Both conventional and novel methods of land-based CDR are subject to physical uncertainties (in this case, biogeochemical and biogeophysical uncertainties) caused by imperfect understanding of how the land biosphere and its cycling of carbon and other greenhouse gases will respond to future climate change. The uncertainties are dominated by poorly constrained carbon densities (notably in soils), biospheric regrowth curves, and the fate of dead biomass. In addition, under a changing climate, disturbances such as pests, wildfires and windthrow will see changes in frequency and intensity, which in turn may reduce the durability of land carbon storage and the overall efficiency of land-based CDR. Finally, it is not clear that land-based CDR will be as effective after net zero CO_2 as it is when CO_2 emissions are net positive.⁴¹¹ The estimates of future land-based CDR in this report do not account for these additional risks.

Accounting uncertainties affect current and future estimates of CDR as well as net emissions on land. As discussed in Chapter 7 (Current levels of CDR), countries and parties to the UNFCCC account for emissions and removals (together called *carbon fluxes*) in a different way in their national greenhouse gas inventories than is considered by scientific models (including the bookkeeping models assessed in Chapter 7 and the IAMs assessed in this chapter).³²⁶ The different approaches mean that model-based results cannot be compared one-to-one with country-based accounting, presenting another layer of uncertainty. The divergent accounting practices have important ramifications for mitigation benchmarks³³⁷ as well as for how CDR

is measured, both today and in the future. Because the strength of future indirect removals is directly linked to mitigation action (strong mitigation action likely means weaker indirect removals; weak mitigation action likely means stronger indirect removals), exactly what level of future CDR is estimated depends critically on which accounting approach is used. By 2050, under current policy pathways, for example, total land-based removals increase relative to today even more so than in 1.5°C and 2°C scenarios (see Figure 8.4), whereas CDR as defined by the IPCC and in this report shows opposite trends.



Figure 8.4 Future levels of carbon removal differ according to which land accounting practice is used. Land-based removals (green) are those from national greenhouse gas inventories, conventional carbon dioxide removal (CDR; yellow) is from integrated assessment models, and indirect land-based removals (brown) is the difference between the two in a given scenario. Median and interquartile ranges are shown across all scenarios (the summation of conventional CDR and indirect removals does not hold for distributional values).

8.4 Towards sustainable development pathways

CDR pathways and deployment strategies need to be aligned with the SDGs and other global goals *in addition to* significantly reducing emissions to meet the Paris temperature goal.

Countries have set ambitious global goals under the three Rio Conventions (UNFCCC, the Convention on Biological Diversity, and the United Nations Convention to Combat Desertification) and the SDGs, committing to address multiple intertwined challenges, including climate change, biodiversity, desertification, poverty, hunger and equity. These global goals provide a picture of a collective desire, which is increasingly informing private sector (e.g. Science Based Targets initiative, International Organization for Standardization, Science Based Targets Network, Task Force on Climate-Related Financial Disclosures) and subnational goals. However, scenarios, road maps and policies are frequently developed and implemented through a siloed approach, focusing on one issue (e.g. climate change).

Truly holistic perspectives are rare. Effectively meeting the global goals will require moreintegrated planning and deployment that achieves multiple outcomes simultaneously and minimizes trade-offs.

As outlined in Chapter 7 (Current levels of CDR), most countries currently deploy or include plans to deploy conventional CDR. Often, those actions are prioritized as policymakers and practitioners seek other benefits beyond climate change mitigation, including to stop land degradation, enhance adaptation and resilience, and improve biodiversity outcomes (e.g. land degradation neutrality targets, SDG 13, Global Biodiversity Framework, United Nations Decade on Ecosystem Restoration). However, these country priorities are still not adequately reflected in model scenarios, including those assessed in this report.

Most scenarios continue to optimize solely for climate change mitigation and cost, too often producing unsustainable futures including very high levels of CDR that may jeopardize the attainment of other global goals. This report uses scenarios as a key line of evidence to explore more-sustainable CDR deployment, but the analysis is limited by the kind and quality of information available in scenario databases. A key future improvement in the scenario community would be to standardize variable information critical to understanding impacts across multiple SDGs, in particular in the land sector. For example, distinguishing between primary ecosystems (e.g. old-growth forests), secondary ecosystems (e.g. regrowth), and plantations could provide helpful information on risks to biodiversity and ecosystem services from land conversion associated with CDR options. Separating the extent of land area used for afforestation versus reforestation would also significantly enhance understanding of the biodiversity and water implications associated with conventional CDR. Ultimately, progress towards a larger set of scenarios that go beyond optimizing for mitigation and cost towards optimizing the delivery of globally agreed goals on biodiversity, land degradation and sustainable development would be helpful and highly relevant for policy development.

Approximately 7–9 GtCO₂ per year of CDR will likely be needed by 2050 to limit global temperature change consistent with the Paris Agreement. However, the most important near- and long-term action remains reducing sources of emissions to the largest extent possible. The assessment in this report shows that deploying CDR at a multi-gigaton scale could be consistent with sustainability objectives if it is paired with ambitious gross emission reductions. Scenarios that are more aligned with sustainable development tend to deploy less cumulative CDR and much less novel CDR than scenarios that are not likely to be sustainable. However, sustainability outcomes can only be attained through strategic planning and deployment of CDR that explicitly caters to regional, landscape and local contexts and is designed for multiple benefits. It is vital that CDR policy and strategy be considered in the context of sustainable development to balance benefits and trade-offs and explicitly address the associated risks.

Box 8.4 Limitations and knowledge gaps

This report has identified areas on which future assessments can build, including:

• The development of a larger set of sustainability scenarios that go beyond optimizing for climate change mitigation and cost and incorporate other globally agreed goals on biodiversity, land degradation and sustainable development

- Standardization of variable information in scenarios critical to understanding impacts across multiple SDGs
- Environmental, social and economic trade-offs, including the effectiveness and risks of deploying different CDR methods across regions



William F. Lamb,ⁱ Jan C. Minx,ⁱ Naomi E. Vaughan,ⁱⁱ Thomas Gasser,ⁱⁱⁱ Harry Smith,ⁱⁱ Rosa M. Roman-Cuesta,^{iv} Giacomo Grassi,^{iv} Julia Pongratz,^{vvi} Stephen M. Smith,^{vii} Clemens Schwingshackl,^v Matthew J. Gidden,ⁱⁱⁱ Stephanie Roe,^{viii} Holly Buck,^{ix} Felix Schenuit,^x

- ⁱ Mercator Research Institute on Global Commons and Climate Change
- ⁱⁱ Tyndall Centre for Climate Change Research, University of East Anglia
- ⁱⁱⁱ International Institute for Applied Systems Analysis
- ^{iv} Joint Research Centre of the European Commission
- ^v Ludwig-Maximilians-Universität München
- vi Max Planck Institute for Meteorology
- vii University of Oxford
- viii World Wide Fund for Nature
- ^{ix} University at Buffalo
- * German Institute for International and Security Affairs

Cite as: Lamb, W. F., Minx, J. C., Vaughan, N. E., Gasser, T., Smith, H., Roman-Cuesta, R. M., Grassi, G., Pongratz, J., Smith, S. M., Schwingshackl, C., Gidden, M. J., Roe, S., Schenuit, F., Buck, H. Chapter 9: The CDR gap. in **The State of Carbon Dioxide Removal 2024 – 2nd Edition** (eds. Smith, S. M. et al.). <u>https://www.stateofcdr.org</u>, doi:10.17605/OSF.IO/6V9RF (2024).



Chapter 9 | The CDR gap

Emission reductions continue to lag behind what is needed to meet the Paris temperature goal. There is an additional gap between national proposals for carbon dioxide removal (CDR) and scenarios that sustainably scale CDR to limit climate change.

Key insights

• Countries' nationally determined contributions propose an additional -0.05 to -0.53 Gt of carbon dioxide (CO₂) per year in conventional CDR (mostly afforestation/reforestation) by 2030, compared with 2020 levels of -2.1 (-1.5 to -2.7) GtCO₂ per year.

• So far, only 28 countries (counting the EU as one) have outlined their proposals for scaling CDR by 2050. If countries without proposals preserve current levels of conventional CDR, then an additional -1.9 to -2.3 GtCO₂ per year may be realized by 2050, compared with levels in 2020.

• Scenarios that limit global temperature rise to 1.5° C by dramatically reducing emissions while sustainably scaling CDR imply that an additional -1.0 to -2.9 GtCO₂ per year of CDR is needed by 2030, and an additional -2.3 to -7.4 GtCO₂ per year by 2050, compared with levels in 2020.

• There is therefore a *CDR gap* between national proposals and most scenarios consistent with the Paris temperature goal. However, the most ambitious proposals are close to the CDR levels required in a scenario where CDR requirements are minimized.

• The CDR gap is not a fixed quantity, but a range that reflects uncertainties and different judgments with respect to how society chooses to mitigate climate change. A critical uncertainty is how to consider the fact that global emissions did not decline in recent years, as was projected in scenarios. This implies that the CDR gap may be significantly larger than currently estimated.

Reductions in greenhouse gas emissions are not on track to meet the Paris temperature goal. This chapter investigates whether this is also the case for CDR. The first section describes the methods used to ascertain this and explains the concept of the CDR gap. Section 9.2 presents an estimate of the amount of CDR that is indicated in country proposals for 2030 and 2050. It goes on to compare this with the level of CDR required in scenarios that are consistent with the Paris temperature goal. The precise size of the gap between proposed CDR and Paris-consistent CDR is, however, dependent on several uncertain factors and assumptions, which are explored in Section 9.3. The final section looks at how the existing CDR gap can be closed.

9.1 The CDR gap concept

This report tracks the amount of CDR that countries are currently proposing compared with the amount required to meet the Paris temperature goal – this is the CDR gap.

The CDR gap is a measure of the difference between proposed CDR activities and the amount of CDR in scenarios that meet the Paris temperature goal. To calculate the CDR gap, this report estimates proposed CDR activities from country submissions to the UNFCCC describing how they will mitigate greenhouse gas emissions and reach net zero in the coming decades. The report then compares these proposed activities with the amounts of CDR in model scenarios that meet the Paris temperature goal while taking into account sustainability constraints. The report refers to these scenarios as *Paris-consistent scenarios*, as they limit warming to either below 1.5°C or 2°C in the 21st century (see Chapter 8 – Paris-consistent CDR scenarios).

The CDR gap concept is illustrated in Figure 9.1. The methods used to estimate the level of CDR that countries are proposing are described in Box 9.1, and how these estimates are then aligned with scenario data is described in Box 9.2. Box 9.3 highlights the key differences in this chapter compared with *The State of Carbon Dioxide Removal* 1st edition.

The CDR gap serves two functions: it highlights the amount of CDR required to reach the Paris temperature goal, and it facilitates tracking of progress towards this goal. This allows an understanding of how ambitious or sufficient national CDR proposals are; whether those national proposals can be achieved and with what costs; and whether countries overdepend on CDR in their mitigation strategies at the expense of deep emission reductions.

1. Different scenarios can be followed to reach the temperature goal of the Paris Agreement, all of which involve deep, near-term emissions reductions (which countries are far off track to achieve) complemented by carbon dioxide removal (CDR).



Figure 9.1 The carbon dioxide removal (CDR) gap concept. GHG = greenhouse gas.

Key considerations when calculating and interpreting the CDR gap

Quantifying the CDR gap involves making normative judgments about the appropriate pathway to take to mitigate climate change – notably, about how that pathway balances efforts to reduce emissions with efforts to scale up CDR. In other words, one could choose scenarios where CDR is scaled to very high levels and thereby discover a large gap when comparing these scenarios with national proposals. Conversely, one could choose scenarios with low levels of CDR and discover a smaller gap. This report addresses this, in part, by selecting three contrasting *focus scenarios* for the CDR gap analysis. Each of these scenarios represents a different pathway to reach the Paris temperature goal, with different levels and types of CDR scaling (Figure 9.1).

Scaling up CDR to very high levels would likely bring negative environmental, social and other sustainability impacts. A higher dependence on CDR in the future could also displace emission reduction efforts in the near term. A key factor in selecting the Paris-consistent focus scenarios was therefore to ensure that they sustainably scale CDR, according to the criteria established and discussed in Chapter 8 (Paris-consistent CDR scenarios). The chosen scenarios also prioritize deep and rapid emission reductions in the near term. It should be emphasized that the CDR gap is not a fixed quantity, but a range that reflects uncertainties and different judgments with respect to how society chooses to mitigate climate change.

In essence, this report compares national proposals against a set of scenarios that exhibit:

- Remaining cumulative carbon dioxide (CO₂) emission budgets that provide a 50% chance of limiting global temperature rise to 1.5°C by 2100 with no or limited temperature overshoot
- Relatively conservative levels of CDR
- High ambition in near-term emission reductions

Although this report's analysis specifically treats CDR separately from net emissions, this does not imply that the scaling of CDR methods will take place independently from other sector-based mitigation strategies. For instance, there are strong potential synergies and trade-offs between land-based CDR options, agricultural transitions and dietary shifts.⁴¹² Similarly, scaling up novel CDR methods such as direct air carbon capture with storage dovetails with strategies to achieve a deep decarbonization of the industry and aviation sectors.⁴¹³

Closing the CDR gap without reducing emissions will not achieve the Paris temperature goal. As such, the CDR gap, viewed in isolation, should not be misused or misinterpreted to delay emission reductions or downplay the need for such reductions. As illustrated in the three focus scenarios used in this analysis, there is a range of ways to reduce emissions; some pathways require more effort, more innovation or more societal change to reduce emissions, which can in turn lower the need for CDR. This interconnection between CDR and emission reductions at global, regional and sectoral levels is important to consider.

Types of CDR included in the gap analysis

The CDR gap analysis is oriented around the two categories of removals used throughout the report: conventional CDR and novel CDR (see Chapter 1 – Introduction, for definitions).

Conventional CDR. This refers to removals achieved through afforestation/reforestation and forest restoration, as well as other enhancements to the land sink via management of soils and vegetation (e.g. soil carbon sequestration in croplands and grasslands, agroforestry). A considerable amount of conventional CDR already occurs today, mostly through afforestation/reforestation, as documented in Chapter 7 (Current levels of CDR).

Novel CDR. This refers to methods such as direct air carbon capture with storage, bioenergy with carbon capture and storage, and biochar, which are in an early stage of development.

Both of these categories of CDR are found in the focus scenarios and in national proposals for scaling CDR. However, specific methods of CDR are represented to varying degrees. For example, afforestation/reforestation, bioenergy with carbon capture and storage, and direct air carbon capture with storage are commonly represented in the focus scenarios; in national proposals, afforestation/reforestation, forest management and soil carbon sequestration are more prevalent.¹⁵⁵

Box 9.1 Methods for estimating proposed CDR

Data sources. This analysis draws on documents submitted by countries to the UNFCCC. This includes nationally determined contributions, long-term strategies, and further national documents such as biennial update reports, national communications and forest reference emission levels. Documents up to COP28 (November 2023) were included in the analysis.

Levels of proposed CDR are often not transparently reported in the UNFCCC documents.^{154,155,414,415} In countries' proposals for reaching 2030 targets, novel CDR methods tend not to be included, but conventional CDR often is. However, for 2050 targets, many countries do include both types of CDR in their long-term strategies to reach net zero.

Analysis of 2030 targets. Information was compiled for 111 of 198 countries. Countries with high emissions were prioritized, while city states, small islands and arid countries with limited land-use emissions or removals were excluded. Two types of 2030 target exist, both of which are presented in the gap analysis: "conditional" targets, which would be fulfilled only with the support of other UNFCCC parties, and "unconditional" targets, for which no such conditions are described.

The analysis of conventional CDR focused on how countries reported contributions to their targets from the land use, land-use change and forestry (LULUCF) sector. Countries were grouped into three categories:

- 1. Countries that provide a headline mitigation target with no specified contributions from the LULUCF sector: The analysis assumes that these countries preserve their 2011–2020 average levels of removals in the LULUCF sector.
- 2. Countries that specify the contribution of the LULUCF sector to their overall mitigation target but do not distinguish between removals and reductions in emissions relating to deforestation or land-use change: The analysis assumes that these countries preserve their 2011–2020 average proportions of removals to emissions in any changes they propose to their net LULUCF flux.
- 3. Countries that specify the contribution of the LULUCF sector as well as specific removal commitments: For these countries, the proposed removal figures were recorded. Where necessary, these figures were normalized against the country's 2011–2020 average (e.g. where commitments were given in terms of growth projections).

For all countries, a consistent baseline of historic LULUCF emissions and removals was used, as provided by Grassi et al., 2022.³²²

Analysis of 2050 targets. Data were drawn from information compiled by Smith et al., 2022,¹⁵⁵ and Smith et al., 2024,³⁵¹ covering all 70 countries that have published long-term strategies. National documents are not available for all EU countries; therefore, EU-level totals were used instead, sourced from modelling studies by the European Commission.⁴¹⁶

A subset of countries was identified whose long-term strategies contain scenarios that transparently describe levels of conventional or novel CDR

by 2050. Countries often present a variety of scenario pathways in their long-term strategies. The national scenarios containing the least CDR are combined in the gap analysis as the "low" estimate of proposed CDR. The national scenarios with the most CDR are combined as the "high" estimate.

A key assumption was made in interpreting any overall LULUCF flux levels described in these documents. These are assumed to consist entirely of removals through conventional CDR (i.e. they are assumed to contain zero emissions from deforestation or land-use changes).

Box 9.2 Aligning proposed CDR with scenario data

As this analysis draws on national submissions to the UNFCCC to identify levels of proposed CDR, these levels align closely with inventory-based reporting conventions. Importantly, these conventions differ from those used for estimating the land-use fluxes in IPCC scenarios, which are based on the global bookkeeping model approach (see Chapter 7 – Current levels of CDR, Box 7.2).

The main difference is that inventory-based reporting typically includes CDR driven by indirect anthropogenic effects, such as rising CO_2 levels, nitrogen deposition and other climatic effects. Inventories also report a larger area of managed land than bookkeeping models. A portion of inventory-based removal estimates therefore falls outside this report's definition of CDR, as the removals are not directly human caused and, crucially, depend on the future trajectory of global emissions and environmental change.³³⁶

These indirect anthropogenic effects have been excluded from the proposed CDR levels for 2030 and 2050. To do so, the same conceptual approach as in Grassi et al., 2021, and the Global Carbon Budget has been followed,^{417,418} as described in the Chapter 9 Technical Appendix.

Box 9.3 Points of departure from The State of Carbon Dioxide Removal 1st edition

First, the most significant change in the methodology compared with *The State of Carbon Dioxide Removal* 1st edition is extending the data set for countries' removal proposals in two ways: (1) to include all nationally determined contributions and long-term strategies published up to COP28 (November 2023) and (2) to analyse additional types of document. In a number of important cases, removal proposals are not described in nationally determined contributions but are elaborated in national communications (China, Japan), biennial update reports (Peru), long-term strategies (Chile, US), or national projections or assessments (Brazil, India).

Second, given the large volume of information missing from the long-term strategies, the gap analysis now assumes that all countries without national

proposals for CDR preserve their current levels of conventional CDR up to 2050. Critical examples of this are highlighted in the results (Section 9.2), and the missing information is discussed as an uncertainty in Section 9.3.

Third, while the gap analysis uses the same three focus scenarios as in the first edition, the background range of scenarios used to contextualize the results has been adjusted. This approach follows from changes to the methodology, as described in Chapter 8 (Paris-consistent CDR scenarios), where sustainability and other screening criteria have been applied to narrow the range of scenarios depicted in this report. The three focus scenarios have also been renamed to better communicate their features:

- Focus on Demand Reduction \rightarrow 1.5°C with no novel CDR
- Focus on Renewables \rightarrow 1.5°C with higher conventional CDR
- Focus on CDR \rightarrow 1.5°C with higher novel CDR

9.2 The size of the CDR gap

Proposed CDR falls short of what is required in all but the most ambitious scenarios that meet the Paris temperature goal.

In this section, the estimated amount of CDR present in country proposals is described. This level is then compared with levels in scenarios that are consistent with the Paris temperature goal to inform the CDR gap assessment.

Proposed levels of CDR in 2030

If all nationally determined contributions (NDCs) were implemented, including those conditional on financial and other support, conventional CDR would slightly increase by 2030: it would provide an additional -0.53 GtCO_2 per year, from a baseline of $-2.1 (-1.5 \text{ to } -2.7) \text{ GtCO}_2$ per year in 2011–2020. If only unconditional NDCs were implemented, conventional CDR would barely change: it would provide only an additional -0.05 GtCO_2 per year by 2030 compared with 2020 levels.

These values are lower than those presented in the first edition of this report, which described an increase of -0.10 to -0.65 GtCO₂ per year by 2030. This reduction is due to the data set having been expanded to consider more national documents (see Box 9.3).

The additional -0.53 Gt per year of CDR under conditional NDCs is made up as follows:

- 55 countries describe specific changes in conventional CDR by 2030, which total
 -0.22 GtCO₂ per year.
- 31 countries do not state specific changes in CDR but describe how their overall land use, land-use change and forestry (LULUCF) fluxes will develop by 2030. The CDR levels inferred from this data account for -0.33 GtCO₂ per year.
- 25 countries provide no estimate of how the LULUCF sector will develop; it is therefore assumed that these countries will preserve their current level of removals.

Most of the change in removals under conditional NDCs is therefore not directly proposed

by countries but has been inferred from their description of how overall LULUCF fluxes will develop by 2030.

While some countries mention novel CDR in their NDCs and national documents, none so far provide sufficient information to infer the contribution of these removals by 2030. This is mainly because countries offer only qualitative targets or group these methods within broader categories, such as fossil-based carbon capture and storage or biomass-based energy systems. The gap assessment therefore assumes no additional novel CDR is proposed by 2030.

Proposed levels of CDR in 2050

If countries implement the proposals in their long-term strategies that expand CDR the least, total CDR would increase by -1.9 GtCO_2 per year by 2050 from a baseline of -2.1 GtCO_2 per year in 2011–2020. The set of proposals with the highest amount of CDR would add -2.3 GtCO_2 per year compared with 2011–2020 levels.

In both cases, slightly less than half (-0.7 GtCO_2 per year to -0.9 GtCO_2 per year) of the proposed growth in CDR would be delivered through novel methods.

The range of the total proposed removals in 2050 is narrower than in the first edition of this report, which described an additional -1.5 to -2.3 GtCO₂ per year by 2050. This is primarily due to refinements in the methodology (see Box 9.1) rather than newly submitted or updated long-term strategies.

Only a small minority of countries provide sufficient information in their long-term strategies to infer CDR proposals by 2050, however. Of the 70 countries that had submitted a long-term strategy by COP28 (November 2023), only 28 included quantifiable levels of removals (including the EU, analysed as one country). For all other countries, it has been assumed that they are able to sustain their current levels of conventional CDR. Thus, 28 countries account for all the proposed changes in total CDR by 2050.

CDR in scenarios that sustainably scale CDR to meet the Paris temperature goal

As discussed in Chapter 8 (Paris-consistent CDR scenarios), scenarios that meet the Paris temperature goal dramatically reduce emissions in the coming decades. At the same time, these scenarios scale up CDR to gigatons of annual removals by 2050. However, there is considerable variation in the degree to which different models and types of scenarios scale up CDR. These differences are driven by several factors, including the application of sustainability constraints (e.g. on global biomass use), the speed and depth of near-term emission reductions (e.g. immediate versus delayed policy action), or the quantity of residual emissions at the point of net zero (e.g. depending on the availability of mitigation technologies or the implementation of demand-side measures).

Chapter 8 describes a set of *Paris-relevant scenarios*. This set consists of scenarios that limit global temperature rise to 1.5°C with 50% probability, scenarios that initially exceed a temperature rise of 1.5°C but then return to that level by the end of the century, and scenarios that limit temperature rise to 2°C with 67% probability. These scenarios are referred to by the IPCC as C1, C2 and C3 scenarios, respectively.

Chapter 8 also describes a subset of the Paris-relevant scenarios that are more likely to scale CDR sustainably. The Paris Agreement states that climate change mitigation must be done "in the context of sustainable development and efforts to eradicate poverty". Therefore, CDR pathways that align with social and environmental sustainability principles are more policy relevant. This subset of scenarios is known as *Paris-consistent scenarios* in this report.

In the Paris-consistent scenarios, the increase in total deployment of CDR by 2030 and 2050 is as follows:

- By 2030: total CDR deployment increases to $-4.0(-3.9 \text{ to } -4.4) \text{ GtCO}_2 \text{ per year}$, from a baseline of -2.1 GtCO_2 per year in 2011–2020. Within these near-term increases in removals, only a minority (0.12 (0.05 to 0.3) GtCO₂ per year) is delivered through novel CDR.
- By 2050: total deployment of CDR increases to -7.8 (-6.6 to -8.9) GtCO₂ per year, of which -5.7 (-5.2 to -5.9) GtCO₂ per year is conventional CDR and -1.9 (-1.0 to -3.7) GtCO₂ per year is novel CDR.

Alongside this scaling of CDR, the evaluated scenarios simultaneously reduce greenhouse gas emissions by 25 (21–28) $GtCO_2e$ by 2030 and 41 (39–43) $GtCO_2e$ by 2050. This represents a significant break with the status quo observed to date of annual increases in global emissions.

As in *The State of Carbon Dioxide Removal* 1st edition, this chapter evaluates the CDR gap against a specific set of *focus scenarios* that follow specific storylines to limit warming to 1.5°C with no or limited overshoot (known as category C1 in the IPCC Sixth Assessment Report). The deployment of CDR within these scenarios is as follows:

1.5°C with no novel CDR. Global energy demand is rapidly reduced through improvements in the efficiency of end-use devices and service delivery. This scenario has a large contribution from conventional CDR (an increase of -2.3 GtCO₂ per year by 2050 compared with 2020) but purposefully does not deploy novel CDR.

• **1.5°C with higher conventional CDR.** A rapid supply-side transformation is implemented through the deployment of increasingly cost-competitive renewable energy technologies. This scenario also has a large contribution from conventional CDR (an increase of -4.1 GtCO_2 per year in 2050 compared with 2020). This is complemented by the scale-up of novel CDR (-0.9 GtCO_2 per year in 2050).

• **1.5°C with higher novel CDR.** A slower transformation of the energy supply system takes place, with an incomplete phase-out of fossil fuels in the 21^{st} century. This scenario also has a large contribution from conventional CDR (an increase of -4 GtCO₂ per year in 2050 compared with 2020). This is combined with significantly more novel CDR than in the other focus scenarios (-3.5 GtCO₂ per year in 2050).

Within the range of sustainable scenarios evaluated in this report, 1.5°C with no novel CDR sits just lower than the 25th percentile for total removals in 2050 (see Figure 9.2). The

1.5°C with higher conventional CDR scenario is close to the median, and 1.5°C with higher novel CDR sits at the 75th percentile.

In addition to scaling CDR, the three focus scenarios dramatically reduce gross greenhouse gas emissions by 2030 compared with 2020 levels: by -51% in 1.5°C with no novel CDR; by -39% in 1.5°C with higher conventional CDR; and by -40% in 1.5°C with higher novel CDR.

The CDR gap

The increase of CDR proposed by countries in 2030 falls short of the CDR levels required in every focus scenario, as well as levels across the broader range of sustainable scenarios. The minimum relative gap (i.e. looking only at changes from current levels, as reflected in Table 9.1) is estimated at approximately 0.5 GtCO₂ per year in 2030. This is the difference between the level proposed in conditional (i.e. best case) NDCs, which would increase CDR by -0.53 GtCO_2 per year, and the level in 1.5°C with no novel CDR, which would increase CDR by -1 GtCO_2 per year. For the other focus scenarios, which have higher rates of CDR scaling in the short term, the gap increases to beyond 1 GtCO_2 per year.

From the limited amount of information that can be derived from countries' long-term strategies – and assuming all other countries sustain current levels of removals – the minimum gap is estimated at close to zero in 2050. This is the difference between the combined total from long-term strategy scenarios with the highest amount of CDR, which would increase CDR by –2.3 GtCO₂ per year, and the level in 1.5°C with no novel CDR, which would also increase CDR by –2.3 GtCO₂ per year. When compared with other focus scenarios, which have higher rates of CDR scaling in the medium term, the gap widens significantly to multiple gigatons of removals per year. In absolute terms, the CDR gap is 0.9 to 2.8 GtCO₂ per year in 2030 (conditional NDCs) and 0.4 to 5.4 GtCO₂ per year in 2050 (high long-term strategies estimate), as shown in Figure 9.2.

The gap in conventional CDR

Proposals by countries to expand conventional CDR fall short of the CDR levels required in every focus scenario. Between -1.2 to -1.4 GtCO₂ per year of additional conventional CDR is implied in the long-term strategies by 2050. This falls short of levels in the 1.5° C with no novel CDR scenario by at least 1.1 GtCO₂ per year and falls short of levels in the other focus scenarios by about 3 GtCO₂ per year.

The gap analysis in this report assumes that countries without a quantifiable long-term strategy preserve their existing levels of conventional CDR. These "absent" countries include Brazil, China, the Democratic Republic of Congo, and India. These are among the countries with the most significant current forest fluxes (Chapter 7 – Current levels of CDR), although they currently have minimal removals due to direct human activity, according to the adjusted inventory accounts (see Box 9.1 and Chapter 9 Technical Appendix). As most countries with quantifiable long-term strategies foresee preserving or increasing their current levels of conventional CDR, it may be that the gap starts to decrease as more countries publish long-term strategies.

The gap in novel CDR

Countries have not transparently communicated their expectations for scaling novel CDR by 2030 but do foresee deployments in their long-term strategies of between -0.7 and -0.96 GtCO₂ per year by 2050. There is no gap between these proposals and the 1.5° C with no novel CDR scenario (which, as per its title, does not deploy novel CDR). However, the lower end of proposals fall short of novel CDR levels in the 1.5° C with higher conventional CDR scenario (which has an additional -0.91 GtCO₂ per year in 2050) and the 1.5° C with higher novel CDR scenario (which has an additional -3.5 GtCO₂ per year in 2050).

As with conventional CDR, the absence of published, quantifiable proposals for scaling novel CDR is consequential for this analysis. In particular, data are currently missing for a number of countries known to be developing road maps and policies towards deploying novel CDR, such as China, Norway and Saudi Arabia.



The extent of future carbon dioxide removal depends on the scenario by which climate goals are met





Figure 9.2 The carbon dioxide removal (CDR) gap. Top: current levels of CDR and levels in scenarios up to 2100. The shaded areas depict the 5th to 95th and the 25th to 75th percentiles of all Paris-relevant scenarios (categories C1–C3). The lines depict CDR levels in three Paris-consistent focus scenarios that limit warming to 1.5°C, alongside the gross greenhouse gas (GHG) emission reductions (compared with 2020 levels) required by 2030 for each. Bottom: levels of current, proposed and scenario-based CDR, split by conventional CDR and novel CDR in 2020, 2030 and 2050. Green bars depict proposed CDR levels in the nationally determined contributions (NDCs; which also include other official submissions to the UNFCCC) and the long-term strategies. Gold bars depict CDR levels in the three focus scenarios, as well as the medians and ranges (25th to 75th percentiles) of the wider set of Paris-relevant and Paris-consistent scenarios.

	Additional total CDR compared with 2011- 2020 (GtCO ₂ per year)		Additional conventional CDR compared with 2011- 2020 (GtCO ₂ per year)		Additio CDR co with 20 (GtCO ₂	nal novel mpared 11-2020 per year)	Gross GHG emission reductions compared with 2011-2020 (%)	
	2030	2050	2030	2050	2030	2050	2030	2050
Paris- consistent scenarios	-1.6 [-1.4 to -1.9]	-5.3 [-4.1 to -6.4]	-1.3 [-1.3 to -1.9]	-3.2 [-2.7 to -3.4]	-0.1 [-0.1 to -0.3]	-1.9[-1 to -3.7]	46 [39 to 53]	76 [73 to 79]
1.5°C with no novel CDR	-1	-2.3	-1	-2.3	0	0	51	78
1.5°C with higher conventional CDR	-2.9	-5.1	-2.7	-4.1	-0.14	-0.91	39	80
1.5°C with higher novel CDR	-1.6	-7.4	-0.66	-4.0	-0.95	-3.5	40	77
Nationally determined contributions ^a	-0.05 to -0.53	NA	-0.05 to -0.53	NA	0	NA	NA	NA
Long-term strategies ^b	NA	-1.9 to -2.3	NA	-1.2 to -1.4	NA	-0.7 to -0.96	NA	NA

^a As described in Box 9.1, the nationally determined contribution analysis includes additional national documents, such as national communications and biennial update reports.

^b Proposed CDR derived from the long-term strategies is incomplete, owing to the limited number of countries with these documents; all countries without quantifiable strategies are therefore assumed to retain current (2020) levels of conventional CDR.

Table 9.1 Numbers behind the carbon dioxide removal (CDR) gap, reported as additional CDR compared with 2011–2020. GHG = greenhouse gas; NA = not available.

9.3 Uncertainties

The precise size of the gap between current CDR and Paris-consistent CDR is dependent on a number of uncertain factors and assumptions.

This section discusses the CDR gap analysis in the context of ambiguities in national proposals for CDR, questions around the credibility of these proposals, current trends in conventional CDR, and uncertainties in the scenario evidence. These aspects of uncertainty suggest concrete areas of future research that could further strengthen the CDR gap evaluation (see Box 9.4).

Ambiguities in national proposals for CDR

Many countries do not clearly state their plans for scaling CDR. This applies to NDCs, long-term strategies and other national documents submitted under the UNFCCC. Of these,

the long-term strategies may be the most consequential as they refer to mid-century plans, when CDR scaling becomes more urgent. The absence of clear plans adds different layers of ambiguity, which limit the CDR gap assessment.

The gap analysis assumes that countries without long-term strategies and quantifiable scenarios are able to sustain existing levels of conventional CDR. This broadly aligns with the expectations established by countries with published strategies.¹⁴³ However, as discussed in this section, it will not be an easy task even to sustain current removals.

The gap analysis finds many instances where countries do not report gross emissions and removals separately in their proposals. Many countries instead employ sectoral accounting, which follows the logic of national greenhouse gas inventories by reporting both emissions and removals within the sectors in which they occur. In the case of the LULUCF sector, the analysis assumes zero deforestation in the long-term strategies, and thus counts all net fluxes as removals. In other cases, for instance where bioenergy with carbon capture and storage is included in net reduction scenarios for the energy sector (e.g. Indonesia, Thailand), the implied removals cannot be assessed. Standardizing reporting practices across countries to avoid these issues is therefore a priority, particularly for emerging novel methods.

Emissions from international aviation and shipping are commonly excluded from the scope of national climate targets. Some countries, such as the UK, integrate these emissions into the scope of net zero targets.⁴¹⁹ Integration does not necessarily mean unilateral action, but it is a recognition that decarbonizing aviation and shipping globally will require new fuel and carbon management infrastructure within national borders, including novel CDR. Additionally, integration implies that further CDR would be required to offset residual emissions from these sectors (e.g. the International Energy Agency estimates approximately 210 MtCO₂ of emissions in 2050 for domestic and international aviation in its net zero scenarios). Nonetheless, these sectors are excluded from the CDR gap assessment, owing to the lack of scenarios from the International Civil Aviation Organization and the International Maritime Organization that transparently report gross reductions, residual emissions or implied removals.

Credibility of national proposals for CDR

What role do the NDCs, long-term strategies and other documents under the UNFCCC play in national policymaking? In other words, how credible are they as signals that countries will implement policies and ultimately scale their proposed levels of CDR?

On the one hand, these documents are key elements of the multilateral climate governance architecture. The "nationally determined" nature of the ratcheting-up mechanism was the main enabler for the adoption of the Paris Agreement. On the other hand, the extent to which these documents are embedded in national climate policymaking and reflect the state of policy planning and decision-making varies considerably. In some cases, UNFCCC processes and deadlines can have a structuring effect on national climate policymaking; in others, NDCs and long-term strategies can be a subordinate element, primarily used and written for foreign audiences and detached from national climate policies and politics. The long-term strategies in particular are primarily modelling or projection exercises with multiple scenarios rather than plans, and relevant actors may be unfamiliar with these

strategies.

However, analysis of the material and data provided by countries can still provide insight into national policy developments. While the figures derived from the analysis should not be over-interpreted in their detail, the assessment of these documents provides credible ballpark numbers that help identify gaps in climate policy. See Box 9.4 for how the credibility of these plans could be further evaluated.

Current trends in conventional CDR

Recent trends in conventional CDR can give further insight into the credibility of future proposals. Figure 9.3 depicts trends in conventional CDR for the world and the top 15 countries for recent removals (averaged over 2011–2020) as calculated in this chapter (see Box 9.1). These trends are contrasted with the most ambitious proposals from the long-term strategies. These proposals total an additional -1.4 GtCO_2 per year in 2050 on top of the 2011–2020 baseline, assuming that countries without proposals maintain current (2011–2020) levels of removals.

Consistent with Chapter 7 (Current levels of CDR), this shows that global removals have been relatively stable over the past two decades and are currently not on track to increase by 2030 or 2050. Further, many countries are not on track to sustain current conventional CDR or to meet long-term proposals. Notable examples where removals have been decreasing over the past decades include Canada, Chile, the EU27, Mali and the Republic of Korea. In the US, removals have been relatively stable but are not on track to meet 2050 targets. China, on the other hand, has seen a large and sustained increase in removals over the past two decades.

These examples underline that even simply preserving existing land-based sinks – as assumed in this analysis – will be a considerable challenge. The recent decline of the European forest sink has been linked to decreased afforestation (i.e. land conversion to forest), increased mortality (i.e. from drought, storms, fire and disease) and, in particular, to increased harvest.^{420,421} Without a significant reversal of current management practices, the EU27 will not meet its 2030 targets in the LULUCF sector. The increasingly adverse effects of climate change, including precipitation changes, heat and wildfire events, and the spread of pests such as bark beetles will further increase pressure on forest carbon sinks and likely expand the CDR gap.



Many countries are not on track to sustain conventional CDR, nor to meet long-term proposals



177

Uncertainties in scenario evidence

The CDR gap analysis uses model scenarios to benchmark national proposals. These scenarios are subject to a number of uncertainties. A fundamental issue is that many scenarios published during the IPCC Sixth Assessment Report cycle are now relatively dated, describing pathways where emissions already peaked in the early 2020s. As a result, they do not take into account that emissions have not only failed to decrease in the past years, but have actually increased, and further eaten into the remaining carbon budget. Figure 9.4 illustrates this problem and how an *additional mitigation burden* can be quantified to estimate the effort required to get back on track to a given scenario pathway. The estimate for the 1.5°C with no novel CDR scenario is that between 0.7 and 1.5 GtCO₂ per year of additional mitigation is already required to compensate for the missed emission reductions between 2020 and 2022. Since this additional mitigation could consist of either deeper reductions or the scale-up of CDR, the implication is that the CDR gap is already wider by up to 1.5 GtCO₂ than is depicted in the prior section.



Figure 9.4 Assessment methods for calculating the additional mitigation burden due to failed historic emission reductions relative to scenario pathways. In each panel, the amount of cumulative emissions in the top triangle (missed emission reductions) is equal to the compensated mitigation in the lower triangle. The lower triangle allows an estimate of additional mitigation at any point in time up to net zero and is calculated for each focus scenario in Table 9.2. In panel b, emissions are estimated to rejoin the scenario pathway in 2025.

Additional mitigation required due to missed emission reductions in 2020–2022 (GtCO $_2$ per year)							
Without delay (Figure 9.4a)	With delay (Figure 9.4b)					
2030	2050	2030	2050				
0.2	0.7	0.4	1.5				
0.1	0.3	0.1	0.4				
0.2	0.6	0.4	1.4				
	Additional mitiga in 2020–2022 (0 Without delay (1 2030 0.2 0.1 0.2	Additional mitigation required due in 2020-2022 (JCO2 per year)Without delay (Figure 9.4a)203020500.20.70.10.30.20.6	Additional mitigation required due to missed emissionWithout delay (Figure 9.4a)With delay (Figure 9.4a)2030205020300.20.70.40.10.30.10.20.60.4				

Table 9.2 Assessment of additional mitigation needed due to failed historic emission reductions relative to the scenario pathway. CDR = carbon dioxide removal.

In addition to being out of date, scenarios do not explicitly deal with the considerable uncertainties in the climate system. Specifically, they do not take into account that estimates of climate sensitivity – the temperature response to an increase in atmospheric CO₂ concentrations – range substantially. A doubling of CO₂ concentration compared with pre-industrial levels, for example, could lead to between 1.4°C and 2.2°C of warming.⁴²² Accordingly, CDR requirements could be considerably larger or smaller, depending on how the climate sensitivity plays out, pointing to a potential need for a contingency CDR capacity in case of "bad climate outcomes".

Box 9.4 Limitations and knowledge gaps

This report has identified areas on which future assessments can build, including:

• Evaluating the credibility of country proposals: What is the likelihood that countries will implement their declared policies and, ultimately, scale their proposed levels of CDR? Answering this question may involve assessing the legal basis of CDR proposals in their respective national jurisdictions,⁴²³ tracking relevant policies as they manifest in different countries, and evaluating near-term deployments by companies (as in Chapter 3 – Demonstration and upscaling). A comparative analysis and tracking of national CDR efforts alongside emission reductions may bring further insight on the credibility of proposals, given that there is a well-developed literature on the latter.

• Evaluating trends in current conventional CDR: Are countries on track to preserve current conventional CDR? Answering this question will require detailed regional studies to track trends and drivers of forest fluxes, including newly planted areas, harvest levels, and losses due to drought, wildfires, pests and disease.

• *Evaluating new scenario evidence:* How does the CDR gap compare to the most up-to-date scenarios? Here, there is an important role for integrating scenarios with up-to-date historical emission estimates, as well as for scenarios that depict different levels and strategies for sustainably scaling CDR.

9.4 Closing the CDR gap

The CDR gap can be closed by dramatically reducing emissions, increasing current conventional CDR carefully through sustainable practices, and rapidly scaling novel CDR.

The analysis presented in this chapter shows that for the majority of scenarios that limit global temperature rise to 1.5°C, with no or limited overshoot, there remains a CDR gap. This gap indicates that countries need to strengthen their ambitions if the Paris temperature goal is to be met. This conclusion is consistent with assessments focusing on overall net emission reductions.^{133,423-425} While it is critical for countries to prioritize near-term policies that reduce fossil fuel emissions and limit deforestation, this section focuses on the specific challenges of closing the CDR gap.

For conventional CDR, sustainably preserving and scaling these removals will require active policies to limit the impact of natural disturbances, promote sustainable land practices and prevent illegal harvests. European and boreal forests are already trending towards lower levels of removals, raising concerns that existing proposals are too optimistic.^{420,421} Nonetheless, global potentials for sustainably restoring forests and delivering land-based CDR are large.⁴²⁶

Further, land management practices that would scale conventional CDR can be integrated with sustainable development and biodiversity objectives, such as those set out in the Sustainable Development Goals and the Global Biodiversity Framework.⁴²⁷ Monitoring, reporting and verification will be a critical component of enhanced policy action for conventional CDR (see Chapter 10 – Monitoring, reporting and verification), as any such action should be additional, quantifiable, and in line with other social and environmental objectives.

Novel CDR presents a different set of challenges, as these methods are in an early stage of development and are not as well integrated into national policy planning. Without significant policy action in the near term to support novel CDR methods through their formative phases, it is difficult to conceive of them being able to provide gigatons of removals in the second half of the 21st century. Monitoring, reporting and verification approaches are also lagging for these methods, alongside a general lack of guidance on how to include them in national proposals under the UNFCCC. Importantly, enhanced emission reductions would reduce society's dependence on these methods and hedge against uncertainties in how fast they can scale.

Overall, this report's analysis of the CDR gap shows that, in addition to insufficient policy and action to reduce emissions, governments are planning for insufficient scaling of CDR in the coming decades. A twofold strategy that limits society's dependence on CDR through rapid and deep emission reductions while supporting and scaling CDR implementation is not a contradiction, but a necessary pathway towards successful climate policy.




Ingrid Schulte,ⁱ Josh Burke,ⁱⁱ Stephanie Arcusa,ⁱⁱⁱ Leo Mercerⁱⁱ Dianne Hondeborg^{iv}

ⁱ Mercator Research Institute on Global Commons and Climate Change

- ⁱⁱ Grantham Research Institute, London School of Economics
- iii Arizona State University
- [™] ETH Zurich

Cite as: Schulte, I., Burke, J., Arcusa, S., Mercer, L., Hondeborg, D. Chapter 10: Monitoring, reporting and verification. in *The State of Carbon Dioxide Removal 2024 – 2nd Edition* (eds. Smith, S. M. et al.). <u>https://www.stateofcdr.org</u>, doi:10.17605/OSF.IO/ ADHP2 (2024).

Chapter 10 | Monitoring, reporting and verification

Monitoring, reporting and verifying that carbon dioxide (CO₂) has been captured from the atmosphere and stored durably is critical for growing confidence in carbon dioxide removal (CDR) and for driving growth. But the science and policy around developing robust systems for doing so is complex and in different stages of development for different CDR methods.

Key insights

• Monitoring, reporting and verification (MRV) policy differs between jurisdictions. The EU and the UK, for example, have prioritized the development of CDR standards and guidelines. In contrast, the US has focused on scaling up market-ready CDR and developing specific MRV tools for certain methods (e.g. ocean alkalinity enhancement).

• Existing MRV protocols focus predominantly on conventional CDR. MRV protocols for novel CDR methods, such as direct air carbon capture and storage and ocean alkalinity enhancement are, by contrast, only documented from 2022 onwards.

• Novel CDR methods, such as direct air carbon capture and storage, use proprietary carbon capture techniques that are often not publicly available. As the MRV protocols developed for these proprietary methods are inaccessible, it is not possible to compare them with publicly available MRV protocols.

• The MRV ecosystem consists of many overlapping protocols, which makes comparison and oversight of CDR difficult for investors and governments alike. The majority of protocols are underpinned by a common framework, however. This shared foundation brings both risks and opportunities: methodological weaknesses or incorrect assumptions in the common framework could permeate the whole MRV ecosystem; however, it can also facilitate widespread reform.

This chapter explores the concept of monitoring, reporting and verification (MRV) and how it fits into the broader CDR landscape. It then reviews recent developments in MRV policy and assesses the present state of knowledge on MRV. Finally, it summarizes the current state of MRV for different CDR methods and highlights key areas for further research.

The chapter aims to help jurisdictions developing CDR strategies to understand the complexities involved in MRV practice for different CDR methods.

10.1 Understanding MRV

Monitoring, reporting and verifying that CO_2 has been captured from the atmosphere and stored durably provides the credibility and transparency that are critical to driving growth and innovation in CDR.

Defining MRV in the context of CDR

MRV forms the foundation of any framework governing the performance of CDR activities.⁴ Many notions exist of what constitutes MRV. In fact, "measurement" and "monitoring" are often used interchangeably for the "M".⁴²⁸ For the purposes of this report, "monitoring" is used, and taken to include all data and information that is measured, estimated or quantified for the purposes of tracking CDR and its related impacts.

Specifically, this report defines MRV as the process of:

- 1. Measuring or quantifying CO_2 removals from a CDR activity and monitoring those CO_2 removals over the course of a CDR activity
- 2. Reporting on those removals
- 3. Receiving third-party verification of the removals that have been reported

These steps – which are broadly referred to as an MRV system – are realized through the implementation of greenhouse gas quantification through crediting mechanisms (processes that certify that a CDR activity has taken place) and according to predefined standards. MRV approaches are described in protocols, which this report defines as any document that outlines methods or sets quality requirements or guidelines for certification, carbon accounting, MRV or a component thereof.

Beyond this narrow definition, which focuses on MRV's carbon accounting role, there is growing interest from many actors – including governments, researchers and credit buyers – to broaden MRV parameters to include aspects such as environmental impacts (e.g. changes in biodiversity, water, soil and air quality, or land availability) and social benefits (e.g. job creation).^{109,429-431} MRV of these potential co-benefits could be included within steps 1–3 above, although most crediting mechanisms currently do not do this.

Furthermore, even with robust MRV systems in place, additional governance mechanisms are needed to manage the risk of reversal (e.g. through buffer pools, "permanence periods", and "make-good" provisions).

Structures through which MRV occurs for CDR

There are several purposes for which the quantification and reporting of CO₂ removals may be undertaken, including project-, corporate- or national-level GHG inventory compilation and accounting. The two predominant structures influencing quantification and reporting

⁴ The term CDR activities is used to refer to projects (i.e. where CDR is being implemented). The term CDR method is used to refer to different types of CDR (e.g. afforestation/reforestation, biochar, direct air carbon capture and storage).

methods are (1) national greenhouse gas inventories under the UNFCCC and (2) the voluntary carbon market (VCM) methods that seek to guide project-level accounting.

Within the UNFCCC's MRV framework, all parties (i.e. countries) are required to report information on their national greenhouse gas emissions and removals. Quantification of emissions and removals from human activities, including managed land, takes place at the territorial level and is reported in various forms, including national communications, biennial update reports and biennial transparency reports. Measurement and reporting is guided by methods set forth in the *IPCC Guidelines for National Greenhouse Gas Inventories*, although parties are free to implement their own approach if they wish and if those approaches stand up to international scrutiny. The various reports are reviewed by the nationally nominated experts from the UNFCCC Roster of Experts. While IPCC guidance on greenhouse gas quantification exists for conventional CDR methods, guidance for novel CDR methods is currently lacking, other than for bioenergy with carbon capture and storage (BECCS) and biochar (see Table 10.3). Currently, MRV development for novel CDR methods is primarily happening in the VCM, at the project level. Therefore, the remainder of this chapter largely focuses on the development of MRV in the VCM.

Within the VCM, MRV is an essential component of the certification system, providing a framework for assessing CDR claims that supports the operationalization of CDR credit trading. CDR project developers must register their projects if they want to receive carbon credits for CDR. The project documents they submit for registration require plans for monitoring. The project developers follow a methodology for monitoring and quantification as well as protocols for reporting and verification developed by the greenhouse gas programme. Project developers report the project's removal, quantified relative to a baseline, to the greenhouse gas programme. An accredited third party then verifies the monitoring report, and the greenhouse gas programme certifies and issues carbon credits, which are registered on a platform that enables transfer and cancellation of credits. One potential structural deficiency within this current system is that, in some cases, a single actor can control several steps of the process, including developing the MRV framework and issuing credits, which could raise questions about oversight and impartiality.

With the CDR market developing rapidly in the VCM, the norms and practices established there will have implications for future compliance markets, for example how rules and methodologies are set. Compliance markets are government-driven markets based on policy or regulatory requirements (such as the EU Emissions Trading System). Historical experience suggests that norms and standards set in the VCM may come with significant challenges if State actors later seek to count VCM activities towards national targets. Lessons on nesting (the alignment of project-level and jurisdictional greenhouse gas accounting) from REDD+ activities may provide some useful insights here.⁹²

Key challenges for MRV for CDR

Several key challenges exist for delivering robust MRV in the context of CDR. The principal objective of MRV is to assess the amount of CO_2 removed by the implementation of a specific CDR method over time. The ability to accurately quantify how much CO_2 has been removed from the atmosphere is fundamental to assessing the performance of CDR

activities and to integrating CDR into climate change mitigation strategies. At the core of this is designing MRV systems that are based on the best available scientific evidence. However, significant methodological challenges remain for quantifying CDR, along with definitional questions about key concepts for the MRV of CDR (see Box 10.1).^{432,433}

The MRV framework for quantifying CDR may be conceptually simple, but the practical reality is complex. The tools, instruments and protocols used to measure removals vary significantly for different CDR methods.⁴³⁴ Accounting approaches are inconsistent in their handling of measurement uncertainty and issues such as storage duration and life cycle emissions. Additionally, many established MRV protocols still do not distinguish between CDR and emission reductions, including activities that avoid emissions (e.g. by protecting forests; see Chapter 4 – The voluntary carbon market, Box 4.2).¹⁴² This lack of distinction means that removals and reductions are often included in one credit, despite the fact that removing 1 ton of CO_2 from the atmosphere has different climate impacts than preventing the emission of 1 ton of CO_2 .

Furthermore, subsequent verification processes typically only consider whether MRV criteria from the applied protocol were met, not whether the rules accurately reflect atmospheric outcomes. And, owing to the absence of regulated supranational guidelines, multiple regulatory efforts are developing in parallel with fast-moving technical developments in the VCM. This is resulting in overlapping protocols for some CDR methods and incomplete MRV coverage for others.¹⁴²

Consequently, the MRV landscape has become ever more confusing. Compounding this is the wide-ranging nature of the scientific knowledge that underlies MRV approaches. With new research constantly emerging, the challenge for policymakers, researchers and investors is to maintain a systematic overview of the evidence and to use this to improve MRV protocols. These factors highlight the need to understand the current state of MRV protocols – their scientific basis, gaps and divergence.

Box 10.1 Critical concepts that require firming up for robust MRV of CDR

Table 10.1 highlights some of the questions that are currently being debated around MRV in the context of CDR. Literature relevant to these debates can be found in Chapter 10 Technical Appendix, Table A. It will be crucial to have clear and consistent definitions and understandings of these concepts across the CDR community to ensure the robustness of MRV.

Term	Critical open questions						
	What storage duration can be considered "permanent"?						
Durabilitya	What role can temporary removals play in national or corporate climate strategies?						
Durubiiity	What removals should be fungible with one another or with CO_{2} emissions?						
	What level of monitoring is needed for carbon storage that has a very low of risk of reversal (e.g. subsurface mineralization)?						
Double counting ^b	How can greenhouse gas accounting be designed across scales (e.g. nesting of voluntary removals in national accounting schemes) to prevent decreased ambition? How can measures to avoid double counting, such as "corresponding adjustments", be implemented in a just and equitable way?						
	How can removal be quantified for open systems?						
Quantification	What level of uncertainty is acceptable for different removal purposes? How should it be accounted for?						
	What measures should be applied to test additionality?						
Additionality	How can reliance on counterfactuals (e.g. scenarios considering what would have occurred had the project not taken place) be reduced?						

^a Durability refers to the quality of being able to store carbon over time without releasing it back into the atmosphere. It is often confused with permanence, which is the length of time that stored carbon can remain sequestered.

^b Double counting can refer to double issuance (e.g. certifying a single removal under two programmes), double use (e.g. using a credit as an offset twice), or double claiming (e.g. claiming of a removal by two entities without appropriate nesting).

Table 10.1 Debated terminology that needs firming up for robust monitoring, reporting and verification in the context of carbon dioxide removal.

The role of MRV in supporting CDR upscaling

Robust MRV can help governments and private sector actors overcome information gaps and asymmetries that may make it difficult for them to make investment or regulatory decisions. These issues may otherwise erode trust and confidence in CDR, halt capital investments and slow the integration of CDR into climate policy. As such, transparent and publicly accessible MRV can: • Be a first step in integrating CDR methods (in particular, novel CDR) into

climate policies, **markets and targets.**⁴³⁵ To date, limited integration has occurred. This is because many countries employ a precautionary approach to policymaking, and thus it often only takes place *after* governance frameworks, including MRV, have been designed. The US is perhaps an exception as this sequencing has been inverted. Crediting CDR transforms the removed carbon into a tangible commodity that project developers can seek payment for; the transactions facilitate the exchange of credits from developer to buyer, in the case of voluntary or compliance markets, or serve as proof of delivery to receive government-funded subsidies such as the US 45Q tax credit.

• Ensure the requirements for liability transfer are met. Liability ownership and transfer are key components of CDR policy and governance. In the event of a reversal (where stored CO_2 is released, for example due to wildfires) or other unforeseen outcomes, it is important that there are clearly delineated remedial processes. Policymakers need to take care that liability transfers do not unfairly and prematurely redistribute risks and benefits from public to private actors. In particular, policymakers need to avoid creating an environment where the benefits in monetizing CO_2 drawdown are privatized but the risks, such as managing carbon liabilities in perpetuity, are socialized.⁴³⁴ Demonstrating (most likely through MRV) that certain conditions have been met – for example, that geologically stored carbon is permanently removed and behaving in a predictable manner – is likely to be a precondition for receiving public funds.⁴³⁶ Once this is the case, the ownership of the storage liability could be transferred.⁵

• Allow stakeholders to hold project developers accountable – for example via civil litigation and during planning approval – for their climate, public health and environmental impacts. Such accountability may also contribute to a perception that CDR is operating responsibly and help build trust and acceptance (see Chapter 6 – Perceptions and communication). A high degree of communication and adherence to responsible CDR practices by project developers may help the wider industry earn a social licence to operate and provide the preconditions on which enduring policy frameworks can be built that enhance the legitimacy of CDR for the public, governments and civil society.

• Drive much needed investment in research and development and early- to mid-stage CDR companies. Though novel CDR methods are at an early stage of development, there are already barriers to equal financing for different CDR methods (see Chapter 2 – Research and development).⁴³⁷ Where MRV is costly, complex or deficient, it may lead to trade-offs between accuracy and cost, particularly

⁵ This will likely only happen after carbon capture and storage well closure and after MRV, conducted over many years, establishes the integrity of the carbon stored.

if there is insufficient willingness to pay for more accurate, but more expensive, MRV. These trade-offs may slow the integration of the associated CDR method into policy because some critical criteria – such as the expected durability of removal, the transparency of the crediting process and the accuracy of MRV – have not been satisfied. They may also make it difficult to generate carbon credits in voluntary markets or similar instruments (e.g. allowances within compliance markets), which is likely to be a necessary precondition for crowding-in private investment.⁴³⁸ For most CDR methods based on complicated open-loop removals (where CDR is achieved by intervening in natural biogeochemical processes to stimulate CO_2 removal, such as in ocean fertilization), balancing the cost and accuracy of MRV is acute. Another reason that investment in certain CDR methods is lacking is weak transparency and credibility in those methods' accounting protocols. Investment in conventional CDR is hindered by a growing number of supply-side scandals that are ongoing in the VCM and the Kyoto Protocol's Clean Development Mechanism (see Chapter 4 – The voluntary carbon market).

• **Support learning and foundational science.** Many CDR methods are still in the early stages of development. Thus, MRV can provide a critical feedback loop to assess real-world outcomes and impacts (e.g. side effects).

10.2 The MRV policy landscape

CDR is gaining traction in policy spheres, but robust MRV systems and standards are still being designed, deliberated and negotiated.

Political momentum and signals increasingly point to the potential for CDR to be included in compliance markets (see Chapter 5 – Policymaking and governance). In the voluntary market, pledges are already being made by companies to buy CDR credits (see Chapter 4 – The voluntary carbon market). As such, it is crucial to ensure that rigorous and consistent MRV systems and standards are in place in the near future to reduce risks for investors and encourage businesses that are not currently investing in CDR to commit to purchasing removal credits.

Supranational and non-governmental developments

This section discusses approaches to codifying MRV best practice by various supranational organizations and NGOs to support the CDR industry to upscale.

IPCC methodology report on CDR technologies and carbon capture, utilization and storage

The IPCC, in early 2024, agreed on the scientific work programme for its seventh assessment cycle. For the first time, governments requested a methodology report specifically on CDR methods beyond land use, land-use change and forestry, alongside refined guidance on carbon capture and storage (CCS) and carbon capture and utilization.

The methodology report is expected to outline a framework for including novel CDR methods in national inventories and will likely guide best practice in the VCM once published, currently planned for 2027.

Article 6 of the Paris Agreement

Article 6 of the Paris Agreement provides high-level guidance for countries and businesses to pursue voluntary cooperation on climate change mitigation and adaptation. Two mechanisms under Article 6 are relevant to CDR: Article 6.2, which outlines a mechanism for trading carbon emission reduction and removal credits, and Article 6.4, which seeks to establish a centrally run crediting mechanism for project activities that reduce greenhouse gas emissions or remove CO₂ from the atmosphere.

The detailed rules for implementation of these articles were agreed at COP26. However, the implementation of these rules has not received total agreement and has been subject to refinement at subsequent COPs. At COP28, consensus was not reached on guidance for CDR methodologies (to be ultimately administered by a United Nations supervisory body) or on a definition of *carbon removal*. A framework to assess and mitigate the risk of reversals (the risk that stored CO₂ is released back into the atmosphere) was also not agreed on, nor was the duration of monitoring to ensure that storage of carbon is durable after credits have been issued.

Other gaps in MRV development also remain, such as legal and contractual considerations around transboundary CDR (e.g. where CO₂ is captured in one country, transported across a second and durably stored in a third). Currently, Article 6.2 allows countries to cooperate under loose arrangements that may be defined bilaterally and guided by methodologies from the VCM. This includes how countries set project baselines and determine additionality and what social and environmental minimum standards they apply. Whether these bespoke agreements will be robust and coherent is another question. These questions around Article 6 will continue to be revisited at meetings of the UNFCCC Subsidiary Body for Scientific and Technological Advice.

Voluntary carbon market

The Integrity Council for the Voluntary Carbon Market (ICVCM) and the Voluntary Carbon Markets Integrity Initiative (VCMI) are two established bodies that are developing guidance to advance quality considerations and best practice within the VCM. These nongovernmental international frameworks aim to improve the quality of carbon credits and claims. In 2023, the ICVCM released the <u>Core Carbon Principles</u> (CCPs) after consultation with stakeholders, researchers and policymakers. The ten CCPs focus on credit supply dynamics and cover governance, accounting, additionality and robust quantification, among other things. The principles are not new; what is critical is the extent to which the CCPs are operationalized within existing standards to drive an upturn in credit quality.

<u>The VCMI similarly released the</u> Claims Code of Practice. The code of practice requires firms making claims based on VCM credit purchasing to set and publicly disclose a validated, science-based emission reduction target and an annual greenhouse gas emissions inventory.

In the absence of clear rule sets for Article 6.4 of the Paris Agreement, the ICVCM and VCMI guidelines may provide a foundation for national regulation of CDR. However, these standards are nascent and, in practice, the extent to which either framework provides a meaningful quality signal is unclear – this will depend on how widespread participation in these frameworks becomes.

EU Carbon Removal Certification Framework

In February 2024, the European Parliament and the Council of the European Union reached a provisional agreement to move forward with the creation of the EU Carbon Removal Certification Framework.⁴³⁹ This voluntary regulatory framework aims to set out high-quality standards for certifying high-quality carbon removals, with an initial focus on DACCS and BECCS. MRV is a core element, and the framework sets out criteria for monitoring that go beyond climate impacts.

The framework differentiates between three types of carbon removal activity: permanent carbon removal, temporary carbon storage in long-lasting products, and temporary carbon storage from carbon farming (defined as practices "related to terrestrial or coastal management and resulting in capture and temporary storage of atmospheric and biogenic carbon pools or the reduction of soil emissions").⁴⁴⁰ To be certified under the framework, CDR activities must meet criteria in four areas: quantification, additionality, long-term storage and sustainability. As a next step, certification methodologies will be developed that align with these criteria, and an EU-wide registry for carbon removals is expected to be established within the next four years.

Domestic developments

This section discusses the approach to State-led support for MRV and CDR in the UK and the US, which have developed differing approaches.

United Kingdom

In December 2023, the UK government outlined its approach to MRV for "engineered" removals,⁶ based on a report commissioned by the Department for Energy Security and Net Zero.⁴³¹ Few existing MRV methodologies were deemed suitable for the UK government to endorse in their current form. The intention of the UK government is therefore to establish and define its own MRV methodology. An interim measure involves the government developing a set of quality thresholds that must be met by greenhouse gas removal (i.e. CDR) demonstrator projects funded by the government. Only projects that adhere to these thresholds and are verified by third parties will be credited.

United States

MRV development has not been a precondition to the wider development of CDR as it has been in the EU. Instead, the initial stages of the US CDR strategy focused on innovation and rapid scaling of market-ready methods through public funding under the Inflation Reduction Act and the Bipartisan Infrastructure Law (see Chapter 2 – Research and

⁶ The methods under consideration were direct air carbon capture and storage, BECCS, biochar, enhanced rock weathering, ocean-based removals and carbonnegative building materials.

development). However, purchasing rules (e.g. the Carbon Dioxide Removal Purchase Pilot of \$35 million) did outline requirements for permanence, MRV and additionality. Several MRV-specific efforts are now under way to advance MRV in the US. For example, the SEA-CO₂ programme was developed by the US Department of Energy to advance cost-effective MRV for marine CDR. Similarly, a \$15 million funding call was directed to the national laboratories by the Department of Energy to develop MRV best practices and technologies.

10.3 The MRV knowledge landscape

The state of knowledge on MRV is complex and in different stages of development for different CDR methods, making navigation and meaningful comparisons challenging.

To assess the state of knowledge on MRV for CDR, this report covers three elements:

- *The current MRV ecosystem*, including mapping of the number of existing MRV protocols by CDR method, by year and type of protocol, and by region
- *The state of science on MRV*, tracking the share of academic publications on MRV of CDR and reviewing MRV tools and techniques
- *Evaluations of the MRV system*, including an overview of widely used evaluation criteria and an analysis of interconnections between MRV protocols

The methods used for analysing each element are detailed in Box 10.2. The results are described in this section and summarized in a situational analysis of the overall state of MRV for individual CDR methods.

Box 10.2 Methods: Assessing the MRV knowledge landscape

Analysis of the current MRV ecosystem. Protocols are defined as documents that set quality requirements or guidelines for certification, carbon accounting, MRV or a component thereof. The overview of protocols from Arcusa and Sprenkle-Hyppolite, 2022, was taken as a starting point to collect protocols.¹⁴² This list was updated, and additional protocols were collected through newsletters and the websites of known protocol developers. This was done separately by three researchers, and their results were consolidated. Protocols had to be published (i.e. in active use and not withdrawn) by December 2023. The start year is 2003 because this is when the earliest identified protocol was published. Protocols were not excluded based on language, but due to the search method, protocols in languages other than English are less likely to have been identified.

To qualify for inclusion, protocols had to provide guidance for CDR activities that lead to net CO_2 removals from the atmosphere, or to CO_2 removals *and* avoided emissions, or to CCS. Protocols on the latter were included because CCS facilitates CDR: methods such as direct air carbon capture and storage and BECCS are currently reliant on CCS infrastructure, which is regulated by central and local governments (e.g. Class VI wells regulated by the US

Environmental Protection Agency, and the EU CCS and Emissions Trading System directives).

Analysis of the state of science on MRV. To identify studies in the academic literature that were relevant to MRV of CDR, the platforms Web of Science and Scopus were systematically searched using a query that combined (1) a set of CDR method queries developed by Lück et al., 2024⁴⁴¹ with (2) a query containing key terms related to MRV. The search query was developed iteratively, and results of test queries were compared with a set of validation papers (i.e. papers of known relevance that would be expected in the search results). Literature was searched based on titles, abstracts and keywords and limited to English-language studies published before November 2023. The results were then screened for relevance using a machine learning-supported approach and based on predefined inclusion and exclusion criteria. Reporting on the systematic search results is limited to the share of relevant publications on conventional and novel CDR. While this information is not fully representative of the MRV sector, it provides a first step in understanding trends and identifying evidence gaps.

The systematic search and tracking of the literature was complemented with a traditional literature review on MRV tools and techniques. The aim of this review was to provide an overview of the current ability to measure and quantify CDR. Existing reviews identified in the search for academic literature on MRV and for reports (e.g. grey literature) on general CDR as well as individual CDR methods were synthesized. This search was complemented by expert elicitation with CDR method-specific experts.

Analysis of evaluations of the MRV system. The updated list of protocols used for the analysis of the current MRV system (described in this box) was taken as a starting point for this analysis. Thirteen other guidance documents that did not fit the definition of a protocol, but that were still relevant, were added to the 102 protocols identified in Table 10.2. The 115 standards, guidance documents and protocols for CDR were combed to identify whether they referred to another document for guidance in their development. For example, protocols might refer to their parent standard or to guidance documents like the IPCC Guidelines for National Greenhouse Gas Inventories (i.e. greenhouse gas guidance methodologies). If no other document was used, this was also noted. References to academic literature were excluded.

Current MRV ecosystem

This section presents descriptive statistics on the status of MRV protocols for different CDR methods. MRV protocol publication is described by year and country, by whether development was regulatory (developed for use in a regulated compliance scheme or developed by a jurisdictional agency) or voluntary (developed for use wholly in a voluntary market), and by whether the protocols are domestic or internationally focused. This analysis is important for tracking innovation in MRV development. A higher number of protocols is not necessarily indicative of a higher state of development or of more rigorous crediting outcomes. To the contrary, having many available protocols for a given CDR method might allow projects to choose protocols that are cheaper than more rigorous

alternatives, leading to lower-quality outcomes.

A total of 102 MRV protocols were identified, which spanned 16 CDR methods. Table 10.2 depicts the number of MRV protocols per method, along with their type. There are ten protocols for geochemical CDR and ten for CCS. Sixty-six were developed in the VCM, and 36 are regulatory in nature. Fifty-nine protocols cover international CDR activity, and 43 are domestically focused (i.e. applicable to a specific subnational or national jurisdiction). Forty-seven protocols cover removal and avoidance activities.

Figure 10.1 shows the release year of protocols – focusing on initial releases to highlight the progression of protocol development – and the CDR methods to which the protocols pertain. Protocols may undergo multiple revisions over time to align with evolving scientific understanding, norms and technological advances, reflecting innovation in the sector.⁷ Additionally, a higher number of protocols is indicative of more cumulative activity over time – which is one reason there are currently fewer protocols in existence for novel CDR methods than for conventional – but not necessarily a higher state of quality or rigour.

The years 2022 and 2023 saw substantial activity in the development of MRV protocols, accounting for 19% and 21%, respectively, of total development across the sample. Over the last 20 years, forestry – covering afforestation, reforestation, agroforestry and forest management – has seen the most protocol development, with 34 protocols. This is followed by soil carbon sequestration in croplands and grasslands with 21 protocols and BECCS with six protocols. Between 2003 and 2023, MRV protocols for forestry CDR methods were released in all but four years.

Direct air carbon capture and storage (DACCS) has seen MRV development in 2022, and this has focused on proprietary direct air capture technology⁸ rather than CO₂ transport and storage (which is represented by the CCS column). Protocols for transport and capture were mostly established through public financing and regulation, first in 2005 and again between 2009 and 2012. This indicates that prior public investment in CCS science and the development of domestic regulations for industrial CCS have supported the current growth of the DACCS (and BECCS) industry, by allowing innovation to focus on direct air capture and use existing CCS infrastructure. It is for this reason that CCS has been included in this data set, as it directly facilitates CDR methods such as DACCS.

⁷ As an example, Climate Action Reserve's US Forest Protocol has had four major revisions since its release in 2005, and the latest version was released in 2019. The European Biochar Certificate (developed by the Ithaka Institute) has had four major revisions. Unsurprisingly, older MRV protocols have been revised more than newer protocols, and this holds across regulatory and non-regulatory MRV.

⁸ Climeworks' and Carbfix's 2022 protocol for direct air capture and in situ mineralization (accredited by DNV) is an example of this type of recent innovation.

	CDR method	Total	Voluntary	Regulatory	International	Domestic	Avoidance & removal	Removal only
Biological	Afforestation, reforestation, agroforestry, forest management	34	22	12	12	22	19	15
	Bioenergy with carbon capture and storage	6	1	5	4	2	1	2
	Biochar	5	4	1	4	1	0	4
	Bio-oil storage	1	1	0	1	0	0	1
	Biomass sinking	1	1	0	1	0	0	1
	Durable wood products	2	1	1	1	1	1	1
	Peatland and coastal wetland restoration	9	8	1	5	4	6	3
	Soil carbon sequestration in croplands and grasslands	21	15	6	15	6	11	9
	Biomass burial	1	1	0	1	0	0	1
	Ocean fertilization	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Geochemical	Mineral products	2	2	0	2	0	1	1
Chemical	Enhanced rock weathering	4	4	0	4	0	0	4
	Direct air carbon capture and storage	1	1	0	1	0	0	1
	Direct ocean carbon capture and storage	1	1	0	1	0	0	1
	Ocean alkalinity enhancement	2	2	0	2	0	0	2
Carbon capture and storage	Fossil carbon capture and storage	10	2	8	3	7	7	1
Cross method protocol	Multiple methods	2	0	2	2	0	1	1
	Totals	102	66	36	59	43	47	48

Table 10.2 Overview of monitoring, reporting and verification protocol development and attributes, 2003–2023. Protocols in the "voluntary" column were developed for use in the voluntary market; "regulatory" for use in a regulated compliance scheme or by a jurisdictional agency; "international" for projects in different geographies; and "domestic" for application in a specific subnational or national jurisdiction. It is also indicated whether protocols cover avoidance and removal activities or removal activities only. A higher number of protocols is indicative of more cumulative activity over time – which is one reason there are currently fewer protocols in existence for novel CDR methods than for conventional – but not necessarily a higher state of quality or rigour.

Marine CDR methods such as ocean alkalinity enhancement had seen no development of MRV protocols by 2022, and there are still no recorded MRV protocols. The well-known challenges associated with MRV in open ocean systems (proving that CO₂ drawdown resulted from anthropogenic intervention rather than natural carbon cycling) can explain this lack of development, along with the nascence of marine CDR methods.

In the sample collected, MRV protocol development is almost wholly clustered in Europe and the US. These are also geographies where there is increasing research and funding supporting innovation and knowledge development around MRV (see the Domestic developments section in this chapter). The largest share of MRV development since 2003 is in the US, with 36 protocols released by standard developing organizations, registries and project developers. Afforestation/reforestation and soil carbon sequestration make up 58% of protocols in the US, and CCS makes up 16%. The UK has the second largest share, with nine protocols in total. However, the types of CDR method for which MRV protocols have been developed differs by country, with the UK developing (through regulation) two protocols for BECCS and the US no regulatory protocols.

In terms of geographic region, Europe (including the UK) accounts for 44% of total MRV protocol development, North America makes up 42%, Oceania 5%, Asia 4%, Latin America 3% and Africa 2%. While development of a protocol might occur in a certain jurisdiction (e.g. California), the protocol is often implemented in other geographies.



Figure 10.1 Number of monitoring, reporting and verification protocols developed by year and CDR method, 2003–2023. Dates reflect the year of initial release.

State of the science on MRV

Mapping and synthesizing the latest scientific development in the MRV sector is a fundamental stepping stone to designing robust crediting frameworks and policies on CDR. After searching

and screening academic literature databases, nearly 2,000 studies were identified that are relevant to MRV of CDR. Over 80% of the results focus on conventional CDR, in particular aspects related to measurement and quantification. Comprehensive analysis on the content of the studies is unavailable, as the systematic review is still in progress.

In the interim, existing reports and CDR method-specific reviews give an indication of the status of measurement and quantification practices for CDR. For example, Mercer and Burke, 2023, present an overview of the foundational science underpinning MRV and the status of monitoring technologies for a range of CDR methods.⁴³⁴ Ho et al., 2023, describe the status, limitations and future directions of MRV for ocean alkalinity enhancement.⁴⁴² Smith et al., 2020, review MRV for soil carbon sequestration, including the various models, data collection tools and accounting methods that are being tested or in use.⁴⁴³ Similarly, Clarkson et al., 2023, describe measurement and quantification approaches for enhanced rock weathering in soil and consider solid-phase and gas-phase approaches and potential sources of uncertainty.⁴⁴⁴

Within the literature, there is also significant knowledge and MRV technology on the carbon storage aspects of DACCS and BECCS, as this is embedded in the industrial point source CCS sectors, but more research is needed on the direct air capture or biomass aspect of the carbon capture technological processes. This is also reflected by the trends observed in MRV protocol development (see the Current MRV ecosystem section in this chapter). Questions remain about these two methods, particularly about the cost and capture efficiency of DACCS⁴⁴⁵⁻⁴⁴⁷ and, in relation to BECCS, about the values and assumptions that go into estimating the carbon stock within a unit of biomass, and how to account for biogenic emissions.⁴⁴⁸⁻⁴⁵⁰

For afforestation/reforestation, estimating CO_2 removals remains challenging owing to the difficulties and uncertainties associated with quantifying CO_2 emission fluxes from land use, land-use change and forestry activities.⁴³² Discrepancies remain between what is reported as anthropogenic CO_2 flux in countries' national greenhouse gas inventories and what global bookkeeping models find (see Chapter 7 – Current levels of CDR).⁴¹⁷ Quantification approaches are being explored by the research community to improve the reliability of estimating and distinguishing natural and anthropogenic CO_2 fluxes.^{326,327,451} At the project level, MRV protocols for forestry CDR methods (e.g. afforestation/reforestation) have been the subject of significant scrutiny in recent years, in large part because of concerns around the quality of credits being generated. Sources of concern include disputed baseline setting and leakage quantification approaches, as well as challenges with maintaining the carbon stored.⁴⁵²

Select evidence on MRV tools and techniques for each CDR method is summarized in Table 10.3. The table does not assess the quality or suitability of any one approach, as appropriateness depends on the specific context. Additionally, there is debate surrounding the adequacy of using life cycle assessments and other modelling-based approaches for quantification, as they rely heavily on assumptions rather than measurements, and thus have a higher possibility of being disputed.⁴⁴⁵

CDR method	Measurement and quantification	Operationalisation in protocols
Afforestation, reforestation, agroforestry, forest management	Possible to directly measure CO ₂ fluxes, but difficult to distinguish component due to human activity. Often calculated based on measurements of carbon stock changes (e.g. field samples, remote sensing). Emissions factors, flux measurements, or models can also be used.	 National GHG inventory guidelines available Estimates differ between national inventories. and global models, due to differences in defining forest areas and distinguishing CDR from natural fluxes (see Chapter 7 - Deployment). Various regional, national and sub sectoral mandatory and voluntary methods, monitoring schemes, protocols and certifications exist, using different data sources and methods.
Bioenergy with Carbon Capture and Storage	 Possible to directly measure CO₂ captured from biomass combustion and injected into storage. Emissions in feedstock production and provision can be large. CO₂ storage can be tracked through changes in pressure, temperature and composition of reservoir. 	National GHG inventory guidelines available, split across sectors: i) land fluxes under AFOLU; ii) bioenergy considered carbon neutral in energy sector; iii) captured carbon under Geological Storage. In the VCM, CCS protocols can be used but do not distinguish between fossil and biogenic CO_2 .
Biochar	CO ₂ captured can be quantified by carbon content of biochar through sampling (proximate analysis); uncertainties in quantifying persistent fraction, new methods being developed. Emissions in feedstock production and provision can be large.	National GHG inventory guidelines include a "basis for future methodology." Voluntary, science-based MRV schemes for biochar already exist and are used, but the scope of protocols differ (e.g., on what biomass sourcing is allowed and where biochar is applied).
Peatland and coastal wetland restoration	Possible to directly measure CO_2 flux using eddy covariance or chamber systems; challenging to scale to net removals. Chamber measurement requires extrapolation into the restored area, usually using vegetation cover and water table as a proxy. Emissions of non- CO_2 gases (CH ₄ , N ₂ O) can be large.	National GHG inventory guidelines available for peatlands; other wetlands added in 2019 Supplement on Wetlands. Protocols outline a range of approaches: direct soil carbon measurements, use of emission factors, modelling.

CDR method	Measurement and quantification	Operationalisation in protocols			
Soil carbon sequestration in croplands and grasslands	Possible to directly measure soil carbon fluxes; challenging to scale up to net removals e.g., due to high variability, costs. Component due to human activity is difficult to distinguish, baselines and additionality hard to establish. Measurements (field, eddy covariance/chamber, spectral) useful to parametrise models for changes over space, time.	National GHG inventory guidelines available. Protocols outline a range of approaches: direct soil carbon measurements, emission factors, modelling.			
Ocean fertilisation	Not possible to directly measure captured CO_2 ; large uncertainties (e.g., efficiency of air-sea gas exchange). Monitoring will likely rely on tracking nutrients added to the ocean and estimating CO_2 stored by these activities.	No national GHG inventory guidelines. No protocols identified in the voluntary market.			
Enhanced rock weathering	Possible to directly measure captured CO_2 via analysis of drainage waters; large uncertainties (e.g., background flux, rate of weathering, alkalinity production; amount of CO_2 lost to atmosphere).	No national GHG inventory guidelines. Protocol development in voluntary market; some require direct measurements of mineral weathering and carbon storage; others rely on modelling.			
Direct Air Carbon Capture and Storage	 Possible to directly measure CO₂ captured and injected into storage. Direct and indirect emissions from energy demand can be large; uncertainties remain. CO₂ storage can be tracked through changes in pressure, temperature, and composition of reservoir. 	National GHG inventory guidelines available for Geological Storage; not for capture. Protocols in voluntary market can be specific to capture or include storage.			
Ocean alkalinity enhancement (OAE)	Possible to directly measure captured CO ₂ for equilibrated approaches, difficult for unequilibrated. Observations alone insufficient to quantify net removals; numerical simulations also required; large uncertainties and data gaps (e.g., air-sea gas exchange, ocean currents, carbonate chemistry).	No national GHG inventory guidelines. 2023 saw first releases of protocols in the voluntary market. Protocol developers outlining plans for continued research to reduce uncertainties.			

Table 10.3. Overview of MRV tools and techniques. A more detailed version is in the Technical Annex, Table B.

Evaluations of the MRV system

To help make sense of heterogeneity among CDR standards and establish better practices, different types of evaluation are being developed (see Chapter 10 Technical Appendix, Table B for a list of these evaluations, with an indication of the criteria included and the CDR methods to which these apply). These evaluations include buyers' guides by NGOs (e.g. Carbon Credit Quality Initiative, Carbon 180) and large buyers (e.g. Frontier, Shell, Microsoft); rating of carbon credits by private agencies (e.g. Calyx Global Ratings, BeZero Carbon Rating, Sylvera, Renoster); accreditation programmes by international stakeholder groups (e.g. the ICVCM's CCPs, the ICROA Accreditation Programme, the International Civil Aviation Organization's CORSIA); and academic or government research.⁴⁵³⁻⁴⁵⁶ Evaluations, conducted at various levels (e.g. CDR standards, methodologies, projects, credits) vary depending on the evaluator. For evaluations of CDR standards, the criteria considered can cover governance (e.g. processes, transparency, independence, tracking, validation, verification), the management of impermanence (e.g. insurance, buffer pools, fixed-term crediting, discounting), the implementation of safeguards, and stakeholder engagement. Evaluations of methodologies involve assessing the methods used to quantify CO₂ removals and co-benefits as well as the adequacy of the additionality analyses, the review processes and the monitoring designs. Project- and credit-level evaluations examine technology validity, implementation, delivery risk and claims.

Each evaluator offers a different perspective on the adequacy of standards, methodologies, projects or credits and might be driven by different incentives (e.g. some have a financial stake in the evaluation). Commonalities and divergence in evaluations reflect evaluator perspectives, even within specific categories of evaluators. For example, agencies that rate credits may evaluate carbon accounting, additionality and permanence to similar depths, while diverging on how governance, co-benefits and stakeholder engagement are considered. Different perspectives can strengthen the MRV system by identifying different gaps. Commonalities can indicate consensus among actors. For criteria on which there is little general disagreement, this commonality may be a positive. For other criteria, commonality should be viewed cautiously, as there may be the possibility of confirmation bias; evaluations often emerge from the same body of literature and thought as the standards themselves. In the current situation, where the role of CDR in mitigation policy is nascent and outcomes remain uncertain, it is more critical than ever to question core assumptions.

Towards convergence

Evaluations that compare CDR standards appear to find significant differences. However, while appearing distinct, standards may actually be converging through the act of following other standards and using the same guidance documents. A standard might reference a more dominant one to bolster and legitimize its methodology. Green, 2013, showed that the Clean Development Mechanism, the ISO 14064 series, the Greenhouse Gas Protocol and the Verified Carbon Standard (Verra) were the most cross-referenced emission reduction standards.⁴⁵⁷ Jia et al., 2023, showed that the Greenhouse Gas Protocol is the dominant corporate accounting standard.⁴⁵⁸ For CDR standards, the analysis of evaluations of the MRV system undertaken for this report shows similar results (see Figure 10.2):

the most popular reference documents are the 2006 IPCC Guidelines for National Greenhouse Gas Inventories, followed by the Clean Development Mechanism and then ISO 14064-2. These three are referred to (in the sense of "following the guidance of") by 67% of the reviewed standards and protocols. About a third of all standards and protocols, most of them for compliance regimes, do not refer to any other standard, for example BCarbon's Blue Carbon Living Shorelines protocol and the US Environmental Protection Agency's Class VI rules.



Figure 10.2 A network forms when protocols recognize other standards or guidelines in their approach to carbon accounting. Recognition is observed as one protocol indicating in the description of their development that they followed the guidance of another document. To the 102 protocols identified in Table 10.2 were added 13 other guidance documents that did not fit the definition of a protocol. Indicated by the direction of the arrow, of the 115 standards, guidance, and protocols (lines) for CDR (incl. standards that combine avoidance and storage) analysed, 70% recognize another (including guidelines). The most popular are the 2006 IPCC Guidelines for National Greenhouse Gas Inventories (IPCC), the Clean Development Mechanism (CDM), and International Standards Organization (ISO 14064-2). Some protocols and standards do not reference others, and are not shown in the figure. For example, the BCarbon standard has developed some protocols without guidance and others following the guidance of Verra and the US Department of Agriculture (USDA).

This interconnection between standards has benefits and risks. On the one hand, it suggests that improvements to the dominant standards could ripple through most of the MRV system, if the derivative standards keep pace.⁴⁵⁸ On the other hand, there is the possibility of a systemic risk derived from groupthink; for example, any inadequacies in a dominant standard could have ripple effects on the standards derived from that dominant standard. This could be a risky situation for an emerging industry to find itself in. On the upside, the industry is still nascent enough that it could distance itself more easily from any fallout than if practices were locked in.

Situational analysis: the comparative state of MRV for different CDR methods

Table 10.4 summarizes key MRV characteristics for CDR, based on the analyses in this report. Characteristics will evolve through research, innovation and policy development, so this table reflects the authors' interpretation of the current situation. The table is split into qualitative and quantitative groups, containing the metrics described below:

Qualitative metrics:

• Ability to measure and quantify CDR: Considers the availability of tools, equipment, technology and approaches for measuring or estimating carbon fluxes and other parameters necessary for monitoring CDR.

• Confidence in quantification: Takes Chay et al.'s, 2022, analysis of CDR quantification (using scientific understanding, measurement and modelling)⁴⁵⁹ as a starting point but adapts it based on the judgment of CDR method-specific experts. In the absence of such an assessment for a particular CDR method, author judgment is applied. This metric provides insight into the uncertainty associated with quantification approaches.

Quantitative metrics:

• *Share of academic literature*: Based on results from the systematic search and screening of literature on MRV of CDR, with the caveat that quantity does not imply quality. It also does not include relevant information that may be present in grey literature.

• *Protocol coverage*: Based on the mapping of existing protocols per CDR method, with the caveat that quantity does not imply quality.

• *Protocol interconnectedness*: Network analysis of which CDR protocols refer to other CDR protocols (see Figure 10.2). Based on relative ranking and clustering of the data, higher interconnectedness indicates that more protocols for that CDR method refer to the same dominant protocol(s).

• *Regulatory oversight*: Determined by calculating the percentage of protocols that stem from regulations rather than voluntary initiatives.

	CDR method	Qualitative	Quantitative				
		Ability to measure and quantify CDR	Confidence in quantification	Share of academic literature	Protocol coverage	Protocol interconnectedness	Regulatory oversight
Biological	Afforestation, reforestation, agroforestry, forest management						
	Bioenergy with carbon capture and storage						
	Biochar						
	Peatland and coastal wetland restoration						
	Soil carbon sequestration in croplands and grasslands						
	Ocean fertilization						
Geochemical	Enhanced rock weathering						
	Direct air carbon capture and storage						
	Ocean alkalinity enhancement						

Table 10.4 Authors' and experts' judgment, guided by chapter analyses, on the current state of key characteristics of monitoring, reporting and verification (MRV) of carbon dioxide removal (CDR) methods. Dark blue, blue and light blue are used, respectively, to denote higher, moderate and lower ability to measure and quantify CDR, confidence in quantification, share of academic literature on MRV of CDR, protocol coverage, protocol interconnectedness, and regulatory oversight. White indicates a value of zero.

10.4 Outlook

Developing best practices for designing MRV policy will help build confidence in CDR as well as accelerate innovation and policy development.

The CDR landscape, and subsequent market, is developing rapidly. In the absence of global governance, stakeholders push and pull in different directions with varying degrees of influence. The result is an often disparate MRV system. Evaluations of different parts of the system can help determine knowledge gaps and future needs.

As Tables 10.3 and 10.4 highlight, there are different MRV challenges facing each CDR method. For novel CDR, more research is needed to develop and test MRV technology, including at large-scale demonstration sites. Another major gap is the current lack of IPCC greenhouse gas guidance methodologies for most novel CDR methods. Where technology is already advanced, such as with some conventional CDR, questions persist around designing flexible MRV approaches that can accommodate contextual differences and reconcile accounting differences across scales and approaches. For CDR methods in high demand, such as DACCS and biochar, developing robust MRV standards will be essential in the near term.

Across CDR methods, accuracy in accounting methods will need further investigation by researchers, particularly surrounding the availability of reliable data needed for models and life cycle assessments. As innovation in CDR continues and the sector moves towards deployment at scale, resolving these issues will be crucial.

A further critical knowledge gap across all methods is on specific MRV costs, and how these costs can be balanced with corporate needs and accuracy of quantification. Estimates are available for the anticipated total cost of different CDR methods, but the specific MRV costs within this are rarely publicly disclosed. Understanding these MRV costs is necessary to assess the uncertainty and risks associated with different CDR methods as well as the incremental cost of measurement and modelling to reduce uncertainty. Higher costs may impede financing; filling this knowledge gap could help better identify research priorities to bring down the cost of expensive MRV processes, thereby enabling a diverse range of CDR methods to be deployed.

The definition of fundamental concepts such as *permanence* remains highly contested. Even though options exist to manage different levels of permanence – such as buffer pools, ex post crediting, enhanced MRV and insurance – it may never be possible to definitively conclude that a ton of CO_2 sequestered by a biological sink, such as afforestation/ reforestation, is equivalent to a ton of CO_2 captured by geochemical methods, such as ocean alkalinity enhancement or DACCS, or to a ton of fossil CO_2 not emitted in the first place. Expectations for MRV's role in addressing this challenge may thus need to be more realistic, and policy frames adapted accordingly.

Box 10.3 Limitations and knowledge gaps

This report has identified areas on which future assessments can build, including:

• *Mapping MRV protocols*: Although every care was taken to be comprehensive, the author-composed database will likely have omissions, as the landscape is evolving rapidly, and certain organizations do not make their standards publicly available. The mapping is undoubtedly biased towards removal providers that publish their MRV protocols in English. There will also be a bias towards high-income countries. The mapping should therefore be viewed as a non-exhaustive starting point that could be improved over time.

• Assessing MRV protocols: Due to the large landscape of MRV protocols, a systematic review of these protocols is needed to identify the different approaches in current practice, evaluate their quality and compare it to the latest science. Existing assessments of MRV protocols show a wide variety in approaches. However, a comprehensive assessment across CDR methods for all elements of MRV is still needed to better understand the quality of current CDR certification. A review of protocols that certify removals is under way, but a comparison with the current state of science is out of scope and will remain necessary.

• Assessing the state of science of MRV: A comprehensive overview of the current science underlying MRV systems and protocols for CDR is lacking. A systematic mapping and review of the content of the academic studies identified on MRV in CDR is under way. A challenge will be keeping the systematic review up to date, due to the fast-changing nature of the MRV landscape. As such, the review could be a useful starting point for developing a living systematic review protocol. Future reviews should also consider including grey literature, where many commentaries and assessments of MRV in practice are published.

• *Situational analysis*: The metrics used to assess the overall state of MRV for different CDR methods are limited in that they do not critically appraise the quality of MRV protocols, MRV tools and technology, or scientific research. However, the metrics still provide a useful overview of where activity and developments are happening in the MRV sector, which could be useful to track over time.

• *Extending this analysis:* This chapter did not analyse the costs of MRV due to a lack of data. There are ongoing efforts to fill this data gap. This information is essential to understanding trajectories for scaling CDR. Additionally, as compliance and voluntary markets and accompanying rules and methodologies are developed, analysis will be needed to ensure complementarity between MRV systems (e.g. via nested approaches).

References

1. Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change. Summary for Policymakers. in *Climate Change 2022: Mitigation of Climate Change. Contribution of Working Group III to the Sixth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change* (eds. Shukla, P. R. et al.) (Cambridge University Press, 2022).

2. Reisinger, A. & Geden, O. Temporary overshoot: origins, prospects, and a long path ahead. One Earth 6, 1631–1637 (2023).

3. Fyson, C. L., Baur, S., Gidden, M. & Schleussner, C.-F. Fair-share carbon dioxide removal increases major emitter responsibility. *Nat. Clim. Change* 10, 836–841 (2020).

4. Babiker, M. et al. Cross Sectoral Perspectives. in Climate Change 2022: Mitigation of Climate Change. Contribution of Working Group III to the Sixth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (eds. Shukla, P. R. et al.) 1245–1354 (Cambridge University Press, 2022).

5. Jackson, R. B. et al. Atmospheric methane removal: a research agenda. Phil. Trans. R. Soc. A 379, 20200454 (2021).

6. Ming, T., de Richter, R., Shen, S. & Caillol, S. Fighting global warming by greenhouse gas removal: destroying atmospheric nitrous oxide thanks to synergies between two breakthrough technologies. *Environ. Sci. Pollut. Res.* 23, 6119–6138 (2016).

7. Minx, J. C. et al. Negative emissions – Part 1: Research landscape and synthesis. Environ. Res. Lett. 13, 063001 (2018).

8. Fuss, S. et al. Negative emissions - Part 2: Costs, potentials and side effects. Environ. Res. Lett. 13, 063002 (2018).

9. Nemet, G. F. et al. Negative emissions – Part 3: Innovation and upscaling. Environ. Res. Lett. 13, 063003 (2018).

10. National Academies of Sciences, Engineering, and Medicine. Negative Emissions Technologies and Reliable Sequestration: A Research Agenda. (The National Academies Press, 2019).

11. National Academies of Sciences, Engineering, and Medicine. A Research Strategy for Ocean-based Carbon Dioxide Removal and Sequestration. (The National Academies Press, 2022).

12. Royal Society of Chemistry. Greenhouse Gas Removal Technologies. (2022).

13. Axelsson, K. et al. Oxford Principles for Net Zero Aligned Carbon Offsetting (Revised 2024). (Smith School of Enetrprise and the Environment, 2024).

14. Science Based Targets Initiative. SBTi Corporate net-zero standard version 1.2. https://sciencebasedtargets.org/resources/files/Net-Zero-Standard.pdf (2024).

15. Energy Transitions Commission. Mind the Gap: How Carbon Dioxide Removals Must Complement Deep Decarbonisation to Keep 1.5°C Alive. https://www.energy-transitions.org/publications/mind-the-gap-cdr (2022).

16. Mannion, P., Parry, E., Patel, M., Ringvold, E. & Scott, J. Carbon Removals: How to Scale a New Gigaton Industry. https://www.mckinsey.com/capabilities/ sustainability/our-insights/carbon-removals-how-to-scale-a-new-gigaton-industry (McKinsey Sustainability, 2023).

17. World Business Council for Sustainable Development. Removing Carbon Responsibly: A Guide for Business on Carbon Removal Adoption. https://www.wbcsd.org/Pathways/Energy/Resources/Removing-carbon-responsibly-A-guide-for-business-on-carbon-removal-adoption (2023).

18. Mistry, K. et al. Climate Needs and Market Demand Drive Future for Durable CDR. BCG https://www.bcg.com/publications/2023/the-need-and-market-demand-for-carbon-dioxide-removal (2023).

19. Greenpeace UK. Net Expectations: Assessing the Role of Carbon Dioxide Removal in Companies' Climate Plans. https://www.greenpeace.org.uk/resources/ net-expectations-cdr-briefing (2021).

20. Paul, A. et al. Who Should Use NETPs? Managing Expectations for NETP Demand: Considerations for Allocating Carbon Dioxide Removals. https://network.bellona.org/content/uploads/sites/6/2023/12/Who-Should-Use-NEPTs.pdf (Bellona Europa, 2023).

21. Carbon Gap. Envisioning a Carbon Removal Strategy for Europe: Carbon Gap's Recommendations for a Dedicated EU CDR Strategy. https://carbongap.org/eu-cdr-strategy (2024).

22. Glossary. Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change https://apps.ipcc.ch/glossary/.

23. Allen, M. R. et al. Net zero: science, origins, and implications. Annu. Rev. Environ. Resour. 47, 849–887 (2022).

24. Bustamante, M. et al. Ten new insights in climate science 2023/2024. Global Sustainability 1–58 (2023).

25. Smith, S. M. et al. The State of Carbon Dioxide Removal – 1st Edition. (2023).

26. International Energy Agency. Energy Technology Perspectives 2020: Special Report on Clean Energy Innovation. https://www.iea.org/reports/energy-technology-perspectives-2020 (2020).

27. Grübler, A. Technology and Global Change. (Cambridge University Press, 2000).

28. Anadon, L. D. et al. Making technological innovation work for sustainable development. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 113, 9682–9690 (2016).

29. Herzog, C., Hook, D. & Konkiel, S. Dimensions: bringing down barriers between scientometricians and data. Quant. Sci. Stud. 1, 387–395 (2020).

30. Hook, D. W., Porter, S. J. & Herzog, C. Dimensions: building context for search and evaluation. Front. Research Metrics and Analytics 3, (2018).

31. Webersinke, N., Kraus, M., Bingler, J. & Leippold, M. CLIMATEBERT: A pretrained language model for climate-related Text. SSRN http://dx.doi. org/10.2139/ssrn.4229146 (2022).

32. Priem, J., Piwowar, H. & Orr, R. OpenAlex: A fully-open index of scholarly works, authors, venues, institutions, and concepts. *arXiv:2205.01833* (2022).

33. Khabsa, M. & Giles, C. L. The number of scholarly documents on the public web. PLoS One 9, (2014).

34. Berrang-Ford, L. et al. Systematic mapping of global research on climate and health: a machine learning review. Lancet Planet. 5, e514–e525 (2021).

35. Callaghan, M. W., Minx, J. C. & Forster, P. M. A topography of climate change research. Nat. Clim. Change 10, 118–123 (2020).

36. Callaghan, M. *et al.* Machine-learning-based evidence and attribution mapping of 100,000 climate impact studies. *Nat. Clim. Change* 11, 966–972 (2021).

37. Haddaway, N. R. et al. On the use of computer-assistance to facilitate systematic mapping. Campbell Syst. Rev. 16, (2020).

38. Devlin, J., Chang, M. W., Lee, K. & Toutanova, K. BERT: pre-training of deep bidirectional transformers for language understanding. Proceedings of the Conference of the North American Chapter of the Association for Computational Linguistics: Human Language Technologies, vol. 1 1, 4171–4186 (2018).

39. Probst, B., Touboul, S., Glachant, M. & Dechezleprêtre, A. Global trends in the invention and diffusion of climate change mitigation technologies. *Nat. Energy* 6, 1077–1086 (2021).

40. Fleming, L., Greene, H., Li, G., Marx, M. & Yao, D. Government-funded research increasingly fuels innovation. Science 364, 1139–1141 (2019).

41. Popp, D. They don't invent them like they used to: an examination of energy patent citations over time. *Econ. Innovation and New Technology* 15, 753–776 (2006).

42. Jee, S. J. & Srivastav, S. Knowledge spillovers between clean and dirty technologies: evidence from the patent citation network. Preprint at SSRN http://dx.doi.org/10.2139/ssrn.4728659 (2024).

43. Radford, A., Narasimhan, K., Salimans, T. & Sutskever, I. Improving language understanding by generative pre-training. (2018).

44. Meckling, J., Galeazzi, C., Shears, E., Xu, T. & Anadon, L. D. Energy innovation funding and institutions in major economies. *Nat. Energy* 7, 876–885 (2022).

45. Graham, S. J. H., Merges, R. P., Samuelson, P. & Sichelman, T. M. High technology entrepreneurs and the patent system: results of the 2008 Berkeley Patent Survey. *Berkeley Technol. Law J.* 24, 255–327 (2009).

46. Our Members. Mission Innovation https://mission-innovation.net/our-members/.

47. Mission Innovation. Joint Mission Statement for the Carbon Dioxide Removal Mission. https://mission-innovation.net/wp-content/uploads/2021/11/ Joint-Mission-Statement.pdf (2021).

48. Mission Innovation. Carbon Dioxide Removal Mission Launchpad. https://mission-innovation.net/wp-content/uploads/2022/11/CDR-Launchpad.pdf (2022).

49. Mission Innovation. Carbon Dioxide Removal (CDR) Launchpad Projects. https://mission-innovation.net/wp-content/uploads/2024/01/CDR-Launchpad-Projects-Jan-2024-update.pdf (2024).

50. Energy Technology RD&D Budgets [database]. International Energy Agency https://www.iea.org/data-and-statistics/data-product/energy-technology-rd-and-d-budget-database-2 (2023).

51. Carbon Capture Use and Storage Development Fund. Business, Australian Government https://business.gov.au/grants-and-programs/carbon-capture-use-and-storage-development-fund (2024).

52. Corporate Carbon Awarded \$4 Million Grant. Corporate Carbon https://www.corporatecarbon.com.au/corporate-carbon-awarded-4-million-grant (2021).

53. Grants Open: Carbon Capture Technologies Program. Department of Climate Change, Energy, the Environment and Water, Australian Government https:// www.dcceew.gov.au/about/news/grants-open-cctp (2023).

54. Improving Soil Carbon Storage and Measurement. Department of Climate Change, Energy, the Environment and Water, Australian Government https:// www.dcceew.gov.au/climate-change/emissions-reduction/agricultural-land-sectors/soil-carbon-storage-measurement.

55. Innovative Loam Bio Boosts Soil Health. Clean Energy Finance Corporation https://www.cefc.com.au/case-studies/loam-bio-brings-innovative-biotech-to-soil-carbon/ (2023).

56. Energy Innovation Program – Carbon Capture, Utilization and Storage RD&D Call. *Natural Resources Canada* https://natural-resources.canada.ca/ science-and-data/funding-partnerships/opportunities/grants-incentives/energy-innovation-program/ccus-rdd-call/23815 (2021).

57. Natural Resources Canada. Capturing the Opportunity: A Carbon Management Strategy for Canada. https://natural-resources.canada.ca/sites/nrcan/files/energy/pdf/NRCan_CCMS_EN.pdf (2023).

58. Hinton Bioenergy Carbon Capture and Storage Project. *Emissions Reduction Alberta* https://www.eralberta.ca/projects/details/hinton-bioenergy-carbon-capture-and-storage-project.

59. Lust, C. Engineering Begins on Large-Scale Commercial Facility in Canada to Produce Fuel from Air. *Carbon Engineering* https://carbonengineering. com/news-updates/large-scale-commercial-facility-fuel-from-air (2021).

60. Griffin, H. Government of Canada invests \$25m in Carbon Engineering. *Carbon Engineering* https://carbonengineering.com/news-updates/canada-invests-25m (2019).

61. Largest Biochar Production Plant in North America Contributes to Canadian Net-Zero Goals. *Natural Resources Canada* https://www.canada.ca/en/ natural-resources-canada/news/2023/07/largest-biochar-production-plant-in-north-america-contributes-to-canadian-net-zero-goals.html (2023).

62. Commission Awards over €1 Billion to Innovative Projects for the EU Climate Transition. *European Commission* https://ec.europa.eu/commission/ presscorner/detail/en/IP_22_2163 (2022).

63. European Commission Directorate-General for Climate Action. Innovation Fund Progress Report: Report from the Commission to the European Parliament and the Council, August 2022. (Publications Office of the European Union, 2022).

64. European Commission. Beccs Stockholm: Bio Energy Carbon Capture and Storage by Stockholm Exergi. https://climate.ec.europa.eu/system/ files/2022-07/if_pf_2022_beccs_en.pdf (2022).

65. Kumagai, T. Japan Selects First Seven CCS Projects to Store 13 Mil Mt/year CO₂ by 2030. S&P *Global* https://www.spglobal.com/commodityinsights/ en/market-insights/latest-news/coal/061323-japan-selects-first-seven-ccs-projects-to-store-13-mil-mtyear-co2-by-2030 (2023).

66. New Energy and Industrial Technology Development Organization. Guidelines for Public Call of the Moonshot Research and Development Program. https://www.nedo.go.jp/content/100906939.pdf (2020).

67. Moonshot Research and Development Program. New Energy and Industrial Technology Development Organization https://www.nedo.go.jp/english/ news/ZZCA_100007.html.

68. Development of Negative Emissions Technologies in Agriculture, Forestry, and Fisheries Industries. *Green Japan, Green Innovation* https://green-innovation.nedo.go.jp/en/project/agriculture-forestry-fisheries-industries/summary/.

69. Toshiba Starts Operation of Large-Scale Carbon Capture Facility. Toshiba Energy Systems & Solutions https://www.global.toshiba/ww/news/energy/2020/10/news-20201031-01.html (2020).

70. Ministry of Climate and Environment. Norway's Eighth National Communication under the Framework Convention on Climate Change. (Government of Norway, 2023).

71. Capture of CO₂ from Air (AirCO₂Capture). Gassnova https://climit.no/en/project/capture-of-co2-from-air-airco2capture.

72. Norway Backing Removr's Efforts to Industrialise DAC. *Technology Centre Mongstad* https://tcmda.com/norway-backing-removrs-efforts-to-industrialise-direct-air-capture-finances-pilot-at-world-leading-technology-test-centre (2023).

73. Accelerating Large-Scale DAC for CO₂ Removal from Air. *Enova* https://www.enova.no/om-enova/om-organisasjonen/teknologiportefoljen/ accelerating-large-scale-dac-for-co2-removal-from-air (2023).

74. Bionova – tilskudd til bioøkonomi og klimatiltak. *Innovation Norway* https://www.innovasjonnorge.no/tjeneste/bionova-tilskudd-til-biookonomi-og-klimatiltak (2023).

75. UK Invests over £30m in Large-Scale Greenhouse Gas Removal. UK Research and Innovation https://www.ukri.org/news/uk-invests-over-30m-in-large-scale-greenhouse-gas-removal (2021).

76. Hydrogen BECCS Innovation Programme. Government of the United Kingdom https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/hydrogen-beccs-innovation-programme (2023).

77. Pioneering Nature Projects Launched to Test Carbon Capture Methods in Fight against Climate Change. *Government of the United Kingdom* https:// www.gov.uk/government/news/pioneering-nature-projects-launched-to-test-carbon-capture-methods-in-fight-against-climate-change (2023).

78. SBRI: MRV Tools and Techniques for Land Based Greenhouse Gas Removal, Phase 1 – Innovation Funding Service. https://apply-for-innovation-funding.service.gov.uk/competition/1210/overview/e1770a9c-e5dd-407e-b6f8-ad92da00f356 (2022).

79. Notice of Intent to Issue Funding Opportunity: Carbon Negative Shot Pilots. Office of Fossil Energy and Carbon Management https://www.energy.gov/fecm/notice-intent-issue-funding-opportunity-carbon-negative-shot-pilots (2023).

80. DOE Announces \$36 Million to Advance Marine Carbon Dioxide Removal Techniques and Slash Harmful Greenhouse Gas Pollution. US Department of Energy https://www.energy.gov/articles/doe-announces-36-million-advance-marine-carbon-dioxide-removal-techniques-and-slash (2023).

81. Biden-Harris Administration Announces \$14 Million as Part of Investing in America Agenda to Support Research for New Ocean-Based Climate Solutions. *National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration* https://www.noaa.gov/news-release/biden-harris-administration-announces-14-million-to-support-research-for-new-ocean-based-climate-solutions (2023).

82. Project Selections for FOA 2735: Regional Direct Air Capture Hubs – Topic Area 1 (Feasibility) and Topic Area 2 (Design). Office of Fossil Energy and Carbon Management https://www.energy.gov/fecm/project-selections-foa-2735-regional-direct-air-capture-hubs-topic-area-1-feasibility-and.

83. DAC Day 2024: Hopes, Hubs, and Hurdles. Bipartisan Policy Center https://bipartisanpolicy.org/event/dac-day-2024 (2024)

84. Regional Direct Air Capture Hubs Update. Office of Clean Energy Demonstrations https://www.energy.gov/oced/regional-direct-air-capture-hubs-update.

85. Edwards, M. R., Surana, K., Thomas, Z. & Williams, E. D. Workshop Report: Accelerating Climate-Mitigating Technology Development and Deployment. (2019).

86. Doblinger, C., Surana, K. & Anadon, L. D. Governments as partners: the role of alliances in U.S. cleantech startup innovation. *Res. Policy* 48, 1458–1475 (2019).

87. Net Zero Insights. https://netzeroinsights.com (2024).

88. Surana, K. et al. The role of corporate investment in start-ups for climate-tech innovation. Joule 7, 611–618 (2023).

89. Underwood, O. *et al. Circular Carbon Market Report: 2023 Analysis.* https://circularcarbon.org/wp-content/uploads/2024/02/CCN-2023-MarketReport.pdf (Circular Carbon Network, 2023).

90. Akeret, O. et al. Surviving in a Nascent Market: Unveiling Key Challenges and Strategies for European Carbon Removal Startups. http://hdl.handle. net/20.500.11850/653111 (ETH Zurich, 2023).

91. World Bank. State and Trends of Carbon Pricing. http://hdl.handle.net/10986/39796 (2023).

92. Dyck, M., Streck, C., Trouwloon & D. The Voluntary Carbon Market Explained. https://vcmprimer.org (2023).

93. Cames, M. et al. How Additional Is the Clean Development Mechanism ? https://climate.ec.europa.eu/system/files/2017-04/clean_dev_mechanism_en.pdf (2016).

94. Hultman, N., Lou, J. & Hutton, S. A review of community co-benefits of the clean development mechanism (CDM). *Environ. Res. Lett.* 15, 53002–53002 (2020).

95. Cassimon, D., Engelen, P.-J., Peters, L. & Prowse, M. Valuing investments in the Global Carbon Market Mechanism as compound real options: Lessons from the Clean Development Mechanism. *Sustainable Development* 31, 3443–3458 (2023).

96. Calel, R., Colmer, J., Dechezleprêtre, A. & Glachant, M. Do Carbon Offsets Offset Carbon? SSRN (2021) doi:10.2139/ssrn.3950103.

97. ACR Launches Innovative Registry Infrastructure for Removal Credits. *Winrock International* https://winrock.org/acr-launches-innovative-registry-infrastructure-for-removal-credits (2022).

98. Public Consultation: Minor Revisions to Improved Forest Management Methodology to Enable Distinction between Emission Reductions and Removals. *Verra* https://verra.org/program-notice/public-consultation-minor-revisions-to-improved-forest-management-methodology-to-enable-distinction-between-emission-reductions-and-removals (2023).

99. Poralla, M. et al. Tracking Greenhouse Gas Removals: Baseline and Monitoring Methodologies, Additionality, Testing, and Accounting. https:// climatestrategies.org/publication/tracking-greenhouse-gas-removalsbaseline-and-monitoring-methodologies-additionality-testing-and-accounting (Climate Strategies, 2022).

100. Walsh, N. Understanding the voluntary buyer's market for carbon dioxide removal credits. (forthcoming).

101. Race to Zero Expert Peer Review Group. Race to Zero Lexicon. https://climatechampions.unfccc.int/wp-content/uploads/2022/06/R2Z-Lexicon-2.0.pdf (2022).

102. Revealed: More Than 90% of Rainforest Carbon Offsets by Biggest Certifier are Worthless, Analysis Shows. *The Guardian* https://www.theguardian. com/environment/2023/jan/18/revealed-forest-carbon-offsets-biggest-provider-worthless-verra-aoe (2023).

103. West, T. A. P. et al. Action needed to make carbon offsets from forest conservation work for climate change mitigation. Science 381, 873–877 (2023).

104. Haya, B. K. et al. Quality Assessment of REDD + Carbon Credit Projects Contributors. https://gspp.berkeley.edu/research-and-impact/centers/cepp/projects/berkeley-carbon-trading-project/REDD+ (Berkeley Carbon Trading Project, 2023).

105. Gill-Wiehl, A., Kammen, D. M. & Haya, B. K. Pervasive over-crediting from cookstove offset methodologies. Nat. Sustainability 7, 191–202 (2024).

106. Dunne, D. & Quiroz, Y. Mapped: The impacts of carbon-offset projects around the world. *Carbon Brief* https://interactive.carbonbrief.org/carbon-offsets-2023/mapped.html (2023).

107. Holger, D. Many Companies Are Shying Away from Carbon Credits. Wall Street Journal (2023).

108. European Commission. Proposal for a Regulation of the European Parliament and of the Council Establishing a Union Certification Framework for Permanent Carbon Removals, Carbon Farming and Carbon Storage in Products. (2023).

109. The Core Carbon Principles. Integrity Council for the Voluntary Carbon Market https://icvcm.org/the-core-carbon-principles.

110. Choi, Y. *et al.* Can a national afforestation plan achieve simultaneous goals of biodiversity and carbon enhancement? Exploring optimal decision making using multi-spatial modeling. *Biol. Conserv.* 267, 109474–109474 (2022).

111. Groom, B. & Venmans, F. The social value of offsets. Nature 619, 768–773 (2023).

112. Smith, P. et al. How do we best synergize climate mitigation actions to co-benefit biodiversity? Global Change Biol. 28, 2555–2577 (2022).

113. German Environment Agency. Short Typology of Carbon Dioxide Removals. https://www.umweltbundesamt.de/sites/default/files/medien/11850/publikationen/factsheet_short_typology_of_carbon_dioxide_removals.pdf (2023).

114. Prütz, R., Strefler, J., Rogelj, J. & Fuss, S. Understanding the carbon dioxide removal range in 1.5 °C compatible and high overshoot pathways. Environ.

Res. Commun. 5, 41005-41005 (2023).

115. Mistry, K. et al. Time for Carbon Removal Has Come. https://web-assets.bcg.com/67/f7/0f41cd074a66b49cdb8baf5e59c0/bcg-the-time-for-carbon-removal-has-come-sep-2023-r.pdf (Boston Consulting Group, 2023).

116. Ecosystem Marketplace. Paying for Quality: State of the Voluntary Carbon Markets 2023. https://www.ecosystemmarketplace.com/publications/state-of-the-voluntary-carbon-market-report-2023 (2023).

117. Ponce de Leon, P. et al. In the Voluntary Carbon Market, Buyers Will Pay for Quality. *Boston Consulting Group* https://www.bcg.com/publications/2023/why-vcm-buyers-will-pay-for-quality (2023).

118. The First Science-Based Targets for Nature. Science Based Targets Network https://sciencebasedtargetsnetwork.org/how-it-works/the-first-science-based-targets-for-nature (2023).

119. CDR.fyi. 2024+ Market Outlook Summary Report. https://www.cdr.fyi/blog/2024-market-outlook-summary-report (2024).

120. Gould, J. Demand trends in the VCM: moving towards quality. *BeZero* https://bezerocarbon.com/insights/demand-trends-in-the-vcm-moving-towards-quality (2024).

121. Allied Offsets. Navigating the Future of Carbon Markets through Supply, Demand, and Price Forecasting Scenarios. https://alliedoffsets.com/wp-content/uploads/2023/11/VCM-Forecast-Report-November-2023.pdf (2023).

122. Climate Focus. Voluntary Carbon Market 2023 Review. https://climatefocus.com/publications/vcm-2023-review (2024).

123. 2023 Year in Review. CDR.fyi https://www.cdr.fyi/blog/2023-year-in-review (2024).

124. Dees, J. et al. Cost and life cycle emissions of ethanol produced with an oxyfuel boiler and carbon capture and storage. Environ. Sci. Technol. 57, 5391–5403 (2023).

125. Trouwloon, D., Streck, C., Chagas, T. & Martinus, G. Understanding the use of carbon credits by companies: a review of the defining elements of corporate climate claims. *Global Challenges* 7, 2200158–2200158 (2023).

126. Gabbatiss, J. Analysis: How Some of the World's Largest Companies Rely on Carbon Offsets to 'Reach Net-Zero'. Carbon Brief https://interactive.carbonbrief.org/carbon-offsets-2023/companies.html (2023).

127. Corporate Engagement with Voluntary Carbon Market Claims: Findings & Recommendations. *The Climate Board* https://www.theclimateboard.com/ research/vcmi (2024).

128. Lou, J., Hultman, N., Patwardhan, A. & Mintzer, I. Corporate motivations and co-benefit valuation in private climate finance investments through voluntary carbon markets. *npj Clim. Action* 2, 1–14 (2023).

129. Carbon Offset Market Could Reach \$1 Trillion with Right Rules. *Bloomberg NEF* https://about.bnef.com/blog/carbon-offset-market-could-reach-1-trillion-with-right-rules (2023).

130. Bisbey, J. Using Public Policy to Scale Up Private Investment in Carbon Markets. IMF PFM Blog https://blog-pfm.imf.org/en/pfmblog/2023/08/using-public-policy-to-scale-up-private-investment-in-carbon-markets (2023).

131. Bednar, B., Höglund, R., Mollersten, K., Obersteiner, M. & Tamme, E. The Role of Carbon Dioxide CDR in Contributing to the Long-Term Goal of the Paris Agreement 2023. (Swedish Environmental Research Institute, 2023).

132. State and Trends of Carbon Pricing Dashboard. World Bank https://carbonpricingdashboard.worldbank.org (2024).

133. United Nations Environment Programme. Emissions Gap Report 2023: Broken Record – Temperatures Hit New Highs, yet World Fails to Cut Emissions (Again). (2023).

134. Nemet, G. F. et al. Near-term deployment of novel carbon removal to facilitate longer-term deployment. Joule 7, 2653-2659 (2023).

135. Honegger, M., Poralla, M., Michaelowa, A. & Ahonen, H.-M. Who is paying for carbon dioxide removal? Designing policy instruments for mobilizing negative emissions technologies. *Front. Clim.* 3, 672996 (2021).

136. United Nations Development Programme. Governance and Peacebuilding: Responsible and accountable institutions. https://www.undp.org/eurasia/ our-focus/governance-and-peacebuilding/responsible-and-accountable-institutions (2024).

137. Geden, O., Peters, G. P. & Scott, V. Targeting carbon dioxide removal in the European Union. Clim. Policy 19, 487-494 (2019).

138. Dooley, K., Harrould-Kolieb, E. & Talberg, A. Carbon-dioxide removal and biodiversity: a threat identification framework. *Global Policy* 12, 34–44 (2021).

139. Fuhrman, J. *et al.* Diverse carbon dioxide removal approaches could reduce impacts on the energy-water-land system. *Nat. Clim. Change* 13, 341–350 (2023).

140. Roe, S. et al. Land-based measures to mitigate climate change: potential and feasibility by country. Global Change Biol. 27, 6025–6058 (2021).

141. Wähling, L.-S., Fridahl, M., Heimann, T. & Merk, C. The sequence matters: expert opinions on policy mechanisms for bioenergy with carbon capture and storage. *Energy Res. Social Sci.* 103, 103215 (2023).

142. Arcusa, S. & Sprenkle-Hyppolite, S. Snapshot of the carbon dioxide removal certification and standards ecosystem (2021–2022). *Clim. Policy* 22, 1319–1332 (2022).

143. Buck, H. J., Carton, W., Lund, J. F. & Markusson, N. Why residual emissions matter right now. Nat. Clim. Change 13, 351–358 (2023).

144. Hickey, C., Fankhauser, S., Smith, S. M. & Allen, M. A review of commercialisation mechanisms for carbon dioxide removal. Front. Clim. 4, 1101525 (2023).

145. Fridahl, M. et al. Novel carbon dioxide removals techniques must be integrated into the European Union's climate policies. Commun. Earth Environ. 4, 459 (2023).

146. Dooley, K. & Gupta, A. Governing by expertise: the contested politics of (accounting for) land-based mitigation in a new climate agreement. *Int. Environ. Agreements: Polit. Law Econ.* 17, 483–500 (2017).

147. UNFCCC. Decision -/CMA.5: Outcome of the First Global Stocktake. https://unfccc.int/sites/default/files/resource/cma5_auv_4_gst.pdf (2023).

148. Manuell, R. COP28: Organisations unite on role of carbon credits for voluntary corporate climate action. Carbon Pulse (2023).

149. Birchall, R. et al. Technical Track on Enhanced Mineralization: Work Plan. https://mission-innovation.net/wp-content/uploads/2023/12/MI-CDR-EM-Track-Work-Plan_v1.0_FINAL_December2023.pdf (Mission Innovation, Carbon Dioxide Removal Mission, 2023).

150. Carbon Dioxide Removal Mission Webinar: BiCRS (Biomass Carbon Dioxide Removal and Storage) – Presentation of International BiCRS Projects: Potentials, Diversity, and Gaps for Common Goal. *Mission Innovation* https://explore.mission-innovation.net/wp-content/uploads/2023/10/Mission_Innovation_CDR_BiCRS-Webinar_Program_Final.pdf (Mission Innovation, 2023).

151. COP28: new global alliance to advance negative emissions. *State of Green* https://stateofgreen.com/en/news/new-global-alliance-to-advance-negative-emissions (2023).

152. Buylova, A., Fridahl, M., Nasiritousi, N. & Reischl, G. Cancel (out) emissions? The envisaged role of carbon dioxide removal technologies in long-term

national climate strategies. Front. Clim. 3, (2021).

153. Dooley, K. et al. The Land Gap Report 2022. https://landgap.org/2022/report (2022).

154. Fyson, C. L. & Jeffery, M. L. Ambiguity in the land use component of mitigation contributions toward the Paris Agreement goals. *Earth's Future* 7, 873–891 (2019).

155. Smith, H. B., Vaughan, N. E. & Forster, J. Long-term national climate strategies bet on forests and soils to reach net-zero. Commun. Earth Environ. 3, 305 (2022).

156. Schenuit, F. et al. Secure robust carbon dioxide removal policy through credible certification. Commun. Earth Environ. 4, 1-4 (2023).

157. Ghosh, A. & Yeong, A. Z. India Announces Domestic Voluntary Carbon Market Scheme. https://www.spglobal.com/commodityinsights/en/market-insights/latest-news/energy-transition/122023-india-announces-domestic-voluntary-carbon-market-scheme (2023).

158. Trendafilova, P. Sweden and switzerland to collaborate on international carbon removals trading. Carbon Herald (2023).

159. Net Zero Tracker. https://zerotracker.net (2024).

160. Schenuit, F., Böttcher, M. & Geden, O. 'Carbon Management': opportunities and risks for ambitious climate policy. SWP Comment 29, (2023).

161. Federal Ministry for Economic Affairs and Climate Action. Langfriststrategie Negativemissionen Zum Umgang Mit Unvermeidbaren Restemissionen (LNe). https://www.bmwk.de/Redaktion/DE/Downloads/E/240226-eckpunkte-negativemissionen.pdf (Government of Germany, 2024).

162. Klimatlag (2017:720). Sverides Riksdag https://www.riksdagen.se/sv/dokument-och-lagar/dokument/svensk-forfattningssamling/klimatlag-2017720_ sfs-2017-720 (2017).

163. European Commission. Securing Our Future: Europe's 2040 Climate Target and Path to Climate Neutrality by 2050 Building a Sustainable, Just and Prosperous Society. https://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/TXT/?uri=COM%3A2024%3A63%3AFIN (2024).

164. Boettcher, M., Schenuit, F. & Geden, O. The formative phase of German carbon dioxide removal policy: positioning between precaution, pragmatism and innovation. *Energy Res. Social Sci.* 98, (2023).

165. Fridahl, M., Bellamy, R., Hansson, A. & Haikola, S. Mapping multi-level policy incentives for bioenergy with carbon capture and storage in Sweden. *Front. Clim.* 2, (2020).

166. Morrow, D. R. Ethical aspects of the mitigation obstruction argument against climate engineering research. Phil. Trans. R. Soc. 372, 20140062 (2014).

167. Geden, O. The Paris Agreement and the inherent inconsistency of climate policymaking. WIREs Clim. Change 7, 790–797 (2016).

168. McLaren, D. P., Tyfield, D. P., Willis, R., Szerszynski, B. & Markusson, N. O. Beyond "net-zero": a case for separate targets for emissions reduction and negative emissions. *Front. Clim.* 1, 4 (2019).

169. Carton, W., Hougaard, I., Markusson, N. & Lund, J. F. Is carbon removal delaying emission reductions? WIREs Clim. Change 14, (2023).

170. Brazil proposes global forest conservation fund at COP28. Reuters https://www.reuters.com/business/environment/brazil-proposes-global-forest-conservation-fund-cop28-2023-12-01 (2023).

171. COP28: Brasil anuncia R 1 bi para Arco de Restauração, com R 450 mi do Fundo Amazônia. *Agência BNDES de Notícias* https://agenciadenoticias. bndes.gov.br/detalhe/noticia/COP28-brasil-anuncia-R\$-1-bi-para-Arco-de-Restauracao-com-R\$-450-mi-do-Fundo-Amazonia (2023).

172. Silveira, B. H. M., Costa, H. K. M. & Santos, E. M. Bioenergy with carbon capture and storage (BECCS) in Brazil: a review. Energies 16, 2021 (2023).

173. Petroli, V. FS investe cerca de R\$ 350 mi em sistema BECCS para captura e estocagem de carbono. *Canal Rural Mato Grasso* https://matogrosso. canalrural.com.br/agricultura/milho/fs-investe-cerca-de-r-350-mi-em-sistema-beccs-para-captura-e-estocagem-de-carbono (2023).

174. European Commission. Towards an ambitious Indtee of tustrial Carbon Management for the EU. https://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/ TXT/?uri=COM%3A2024%3A62%3AFIN&qid=1707312980822 (2024).

175. Rickels, W., Rothenstein, R., Schenuit, F. & Fridahl, M. Procure, bank, release: carbon removal certificate reserves to manage carbon prices on the path to net-zero. *Energy Res. Social Sci.* 94, 102858 (2022).

176. Edenhofer, O., Franks, M., Kalkuhl, M. & Runge-Metzger, A. On the Governance of Carbon Dioxide Removal – A Public Economics Perspective. (CESifo, 2023).

177. Meyer-Ohlendorf, N. Making Carbon Removals a Real Climate Solution. How to Integrate Carbon Removals into EU Climate Policies. https://www.ecologic.eu/de/19290 (2023).

178. Rickels, W., Proelß, A., Geden, O., Burhenne, J. & Fridahl, M. Integrating carbon dioxide removal into european emissions trading. Front. Clim. 3, (2021).

179. Department for Energy Security and Net Zero. Greenhouse Gas Removals: Update on the Design of the Greenhouse Gas Removals (GGR) Business Model and Power Bioenergy with Carbon Capture and Storage (Power BECCS) Business Model. https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/

media/6581851efc07f3000d8d447d/ggr-power-beccs-business-models-december-2023.pdf (Government of the United Kingdom, 2023).

180. Government of the United Kingdom. Monitoring, Reporting and Verification of Greenhouse Gas Removals: Task and Finish Group Report. https://assets. publishing.service.gov.uk/media/616ff952e90e071975128214/mrv-ggrs-task-report.pdf (2021).

181. UK government Approves Planning Application for BECCS at Drax Power Station. Drax https://www.drax.com/press_release/uk-government-approves-planning-application-for-beccs-at-drax-power-station (2024).

182. Carbon Capture, Usage and Storage (CCUS) Deployment: Track-1 expansion: HyNet cluster. *Government of the United Kingdom* https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/carbon-capture-usage-and-storage-ccus-deployment-track-1-expansion-hynet-cluster (2024).

183. Weeks, J. Protesters Urge Caution over St Ives Climate Trial amid Chemical Plans for Bay. The Guardian (2023).

184. Government of Canada. Canadian Net-Zero Emissions Accountability Act. S.C. 2021, c. 22 (2021).

185. Environment and Climate Change Canada. Exploring Approaches for Canada's Transition to Net-Zero Emissions: Canada's Long-Term Strategy Submission to the United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change. https://unfccc.int/sites/default/files/resource/LTS%20Full%20Draft_Final%20version_oct31. pdf (2022).

186. Natural Resources Canada. Canada's Carbon Management Strategy. https://natural-resources.canada.ca/climate-change/canadas-green-future/capturing-the-opportunity-carbon-management-strategy-for-canada/canadas-carbon-management-strategy/25337 (2023).

187. Government of Canada. Canadian Greenhouse Gas Offset Credit System Regulations: SOR/2022-111. (2022).

188. Natural Climate Solutions Fund. Government of Canada https://www.canada.ca/en/campaign/natural-climate-solutions.html (2021).

189. Canada's Greenhouse Gas Offset Credit System. *Government of Canada* https://www.canada.ca/en/environment-climate-change/services/climate-change/pricing-pollution-how-it-will-work/output-based-pricing-system/federal-greenhouse-gas-offset-system.html (2024).

190. Canada's Greenhouse Gas Offset Credit System: Protocols. *Government of Canada* https://www.canada.ca/en/environment-climate-change/services/ climate-change/pricing-pollution-how-it-will-work/output-based-pricing-system/federal-greenhouse-gas-offset-system/protocols.html (2024).

191. 2 Billion Trees Commitment. Government of Canada https://www.canada.ca/en/campaign/2-billion-trees.html (2023).

192. Nature Smart Climate Solutions Fund. Government of Canada https://www.canada.ca/en/environment-climate-change/services/environmental-funding/programs/nature-smart-climate-solutions-fund.html (2024).

193. Natural Resources Canada. Capturing the Opportunity: A Carbon Management Strategy for Canada. https://natural-resources.canada.ca/sites/nrcan/files/energy/pdf/NRCan_CCMS_EN.pdf (2023).

194. Carbon Dioxide Removal Mission. Mission Innovation https://explore.mission-innovation.net/mission/carbon-dioxide-removal/ (2024).

195. Mal, M., Zhu, H. & Johnson, F. X. Prospects and Challenges for Land-Based Climate Change Mitigation in Support of Carbon Dioxide Removal in China. https://www.sei.org/publications/land-climate-mitigation-china (Stockholm Environment Institute, 2024).

196. An, Y., Gu, B.-H., Wang, Y., Tan, X.-C. & Zhai, H.-B. Advances, problems and strategies of policy for nature-based solutions in the fields of climate change in China. *Clim. Change Res.* 17, 184–194 (2021).

197. Xiao, Y., Xiao, Q. & Sun, X. Ecological risks arising from the impact of large-scale afforestation on the regional water supply balance in southwest China. Sci. Rep. 10, 4150 (2020).

198. Government of China. China's Achievements, New Goals and New Measures for Nationally Determined Contributions (in Chinese). Preprint at https://unfccc.int/NDCREG (2021).

199. Li, X., Ning, Z. & Yang, H. A review of the relationship between China's key forestry ecology projects and carbon market under carbon neutrality. *Trees, For. People* 9, 100311 (2022).

200. He, J. et al. Towards carbon neutrality: a study on China's long-term low-carbon transition pathways and strategies. Environ. Sci. Ecotechnol. 9, 100134 (2022).

201. Liu, Z. et al. Challenges and opportunities for carbon neutrality in China. Nat. Rev. Earth Environ. 3, 141–155 (2021).

202. Jiang, K. et al. China's carbon capture, utilization and storage (CCUS) policy: a critical review. Renewable Sustainable Energy Rev. 119, 109601 (2020).

203. Ma, Q. et al. China's policy framework for carbon capture, utilization and storage: review, analysis, and outlook. Front. Energy 17, 400-411 (2023).

204. Sun, L., Dou, H., Li, Z., Hu, Y. & Hao, X. Assessment of CO₂ storage potential and carbon capture, utilization and storage prospect in China. J. Energy Inst. 91, 970–977 (2018).

205. Turan, G. & Zapantis, A. *Global Status of CCS 2021*. https://www.globalccsinstitute.com/wp-content/uploads/2021/10/2021-Global-Status-of-CCS-Report_Global_CCS_Institute.pdf (Global CCS Institute, 2021).

206. Ministry of Ecology and Environment. Notice on the Issuance of the 'Implementation Plan for Collection and Promotion of National Key Low-Carbon Technologies' (in Chinese). (Government of China, 2024).

207. Bofeng, C. et al. China Status of CO₂ Capture, Utilization and Storage (CCUS) 2019. http://rgdoi.net/10.13140/RG.2.2.19465.88168 (2019).

208. Bofeng, C., Li, Q. & Zhang, X. China Status of CO., Capture, Utilization and Storage (CCUS) 2021 – China's CCUS Pathways. (2021).

209. U.S.-China Joint Glasgow Declaration on Enhancing Climate Action in the 2020s. US Department of State https://www.state.gov/u-s-china-joint-glasgow-declaration-on-enhancing-climate-action-in-the-2020s (2021).

210. China – B4SS Project Profile. Biochar for Sustainable Soils https://biochar.international/the-biochar-for-sustainable-soils-b4ss-project/china (2018).

211. Japan Ministry of Economy, Trade and Industry. Japan's Roadmap to "Beyond-Zero" Carbon: Japan's 2050 Carbon Neutral Goal. https://www.meti.go.jp/ english/policy/energy_environment/global_warming/roadmap/report/20201111.html (2020).

212. Government of Japan. The Long-Term Strategy under the Paris Agreement. https://unfccc.int/sites/default/files/resource/Japan_LTS2021.pdf (2021).

213. Sugiyama, M. et al. Carbon Dioxide Removal for Net-Zero Emissions in Japan: Scenarios and Policy Mix. (2024).

214. Japan Ministry of Economy, Trade and Industry. Japan's Action toward Public Implementation of Carbon Recycling: Progress over the Past Year. https:// www.meti.go.jp/english/press/2023/pdf/0928_002b.pdf (2023).

215. Government of Japan. Japan's Nationally Determined Contribution (NDC). https://unfccc.int/sites/default/files/NDC/2022-06/JAPAN_FIRST%20 NDC%20%28UPDATED%20SUBMISSION%29.pdf (2021).

216. J blue credit (in Japanese). Japan Blue Economy Association https://www.blueeconomy.jp/credit (2020).

217. Japan Ministry of Economy, Trade and Industry. J-Credit Scheme. https://japancredit.go.jp/english/pdf/credit_english_001_41.pdf (2023).

218. MOL to Participate in 'J Blue Credit' Carbon Offset for Supporting Restoration and Conservation of Seagrass Meadow - Offsetting CO₂ Emissions from Repositioning World's 1st EV Tanker. *Mitsui O.S.K. Lines* https://www.mol.co.jp/en/pr/2022/22038.html (2022).

219. GX Investment Promotion Office. DAC Methodology Discussion Paper [in Japanese]. https://www.meti.go.jp/shingikai/energy_environment/negative_emission/dac_wg/pdf/002_02_00.pdf (2024).

220. Japan's Ministry of Economy, Trade and Industry. 2nd DAC Working Group [Dai 2 kai DAC wah-kingu guruh-pu]. https://www.meti.go.jp/shingikai/energy_environment/negative_emission/dac_wg/002.html (2024).

221. Green Innovation Fund. Japan Ministry of Economy, Trade and Industry https://www.meti.go.jp/english/policy/energy_environment/global_warming/glfund/index.html (2023).

222. Moonshot Goal 4: Realization of sustainable resource circulation to recover the global environment by 2050. *Cabinet Office* https://www8.cao.go.jp/ cstp/english/moonshot/sub4_en.html (2024).

223. Carbon Management Challenge. Carbon Management Challenge. https://www.carbonmanagementchallenge.org/cmc/ (2024).

224. Roadmap. Innovation for Cool Earth Forum https://www.icef.go.jp/roadmap (2024).

225. Saeki, N. Japan's Long-Term Roadmap. Japan Ministry of Economy, Trade and Industry https://acnf.jp/program/file/presentation/2023/S3-3_

Saeki_230924_ACNF3_Japan_s_Long-Term_Roadmap.pdf ((Japan Ministry of Economy, Trade and Industry, 2023).

226. Al Shehri, T., Braun, J. F., Howarth, N., Lanza, A. & Luomi, M. Saudi Arabia's climate change policy and the circular carbon economy approach. *Clim. Policy* 23, 151–167 (2023).

227. Kamboj, P., Hejazi, M., Qiu, Y., Kyle, P. & Iyer, G. Long-Term Decarbonization Pathway for Saudi Arabia to Reach Net Zero GHG Emissions by 2060. https:// www.kapsarc.org/research/publications/long-term-decarbonization-pathway-for-saudi-arabia-to-reach-net-zero-ghg-emissions-by-2060 (KAPSARC, 2023).

228. Ye, J. et al. Evaluation of geological CO₂ storage potential in Saudi Arabian sedimentary basins. Earth-Sci. Rev. 244, 104539 (2023).

229. Aramco. 'Climatree' presents nature based solution for CO₂ removal. The Arabian Sun (2022).

230. Climatree - Alqurayyah. Greengroves https://www.greengroves.net/news/greengroves-installs-first-climatree-in-al-qurrayah%2C (2022).

231. Aramco Advances Development of Emissions Reduction Solutions. Aramco https://china.aramco.com/en/news-media/global-news/2023/aramco-advances-development-of-emissions-reduction-solutions (2023).

232. Wüstenhagen, R., Wolsink, M. & Bürer, M. J. Social acceptance of renewable energy innovation: an introduction to the concept. *Energy Policy* 35, 2683–2691 (2007).

233. Gough, C., Cunningham, R. & Mander, S. Understanding key elements in establishing a social license for CCS: an empirical approach. Int. J. Greenhouse Gas Control 68, 16–25 (2018).

234. Cox, E., Spence, E. & Pidgeon, N. Incumbency, Trust and the Monsanto Effect: Stakeholder Discourses on Greenhouse Gas Removal. *Environ. Values* 29, 197–220 (2020).

235. Fiorino, D. J. Citizen participation and environmental risk: a survey of institutional mechanisms. Sci. Technol. Hum. Values 15, 226–243 (1990).

236. Bellamy, R. Incentivize negative emissions responsibly. Nature Energy 3, 532–534 (2018).

237. Grove-White, R., Macnaghten, P., Mayer, S. & Wynne, B. Uncertain World: Genetically Modified Organisms, Food and Public Attitudes in Britain. https://repository.library.georgetown.edu/handle/10822/546046 (1997).

238. Lockwood, T. Public Outreach Approaches for Carbon Capture and Storage Projects. (2017).

239. Macnaghten, P. Focus groups as anticipatory methodology: a contribution from science and technology studies towards socially resilient governance. in A New Era in Focus Group Research (eds. Barbour, R. & Morgan, D. L.) 343–363 (Palgrave MacMillan, 2017).

240. Rogers-Hayden, T. & Pidgeon, N. Moving engagement "upstream"? Nanotechnologies and the Royal Society and Royal Academy of Engineering's inquiry. *Public Understanding Sci.* 16, 345–364 (2016).

241. Chilvers, J. & Kearnes, M. Remaking Participation in Science and Democracy. Sci. Technol. Hum. Values 45, 347–380 (2020).

242. North, D. W., Stern, P. C., Webler, T. & Field, P. Public and stakeholder participation for managing and reducing the risks of shale gas development. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* 48, 8388–8396 (2014).

243. Cox, E., Spence, E. & Pidgeon, N. Deliberating enhanced weathering: public frames, iconic ecosystems and the governance of carbon removal at scale. *Public Understanding Sci.* 31, 960–977 (2022).

244. Schenuit, F. et al. Carbon dioxide removal policy in the making: assessing developments in 9 OECD Cases. Front. Clim. 3, 638805 (2021).

245. Waller, L., Cox, E. & Bellamy, R. Carbon removal demonstrations and problems of public perception. WIREs Clim. Change 15, e857 (2024).

246. Evidence and agreement scales. IPCC https://www.ipcc.ch/report/ar5/wg1/technical-summary/print-52 (2024).

247. Pidgeon, N. F. & Spence, E. Perceptions of enhanced weathering as a biological negative emissions option. Biol. Lett. 13, 20170024 (2017).

248. Wolske, K. S., Raimi, K. T., Campbell-Arvai, V. & Hart, P. S. Public support for carbon dioxide removal strategies: the role of tampering with nature perceptions. *Clim. Change* 152, 345–361 (2019).

249. Jobin, M. & Siegrist, M. Support for the Deployment of Climate Engineering: A Comparison of Ten Different Technologies. *Risk Anal.* 40, 1058–1078 (2020).

250. Sweet, S. K., Schuldt, J. P., Lehmann, J., Bossio, D. A. & Woolf, D. Perceptions of naturalness predict US public support for soil carbon storage as a climate solution. *Clim. Change* 166, 22 (2021).

251. Bertram, C. & Merk, C. Public perceptions of ocean-based carbon dioxide removal: the nature-engineering divide? Front. Clim. 2, (2020).

252. Schirmer, J. & Bull, L. Assessing the likelihood of widespread landholder adoption of afforestation and reforestation projects. *Global Environ. Change* 24, 306–320 (2014).

253. Pham, T. D. et al. Willingness to pay for mangrove restoration in the context of climate change in the Cat Ba biosphere reserve, Vietnam. Ocean Coastal Manage. 163, 269–277 (2018).

254. Kragt, M. E., Dumbrell, N. P. & Blackmore, L. Motivations and barriers for Western Australian broad-acre farmers to adopt carbon farming. *Environ. Sci. Policy* 73, 115–123 (2017).

255. Iftekhar, M. S. & Takama, T. Perceptions of biodiversity, environmental services, and conservation of planted mangroves: a case study on Nijhum Dwip Island, Bangladesh. *Wetlands Ecol. Manage.* 16, 119–137 (2008).

256. Cox, E., Spence, E. & Pidgeon, N. Public perceptions of carbon dioxide removal in the US and UK. Nat. Clim. Change 10, 744–749 (2020).

257. Claytor, H. S., Clark, C. D., Lambert, D. M. & Jensen, K. L. Cattle producer willingness to afforest pastureland and sequester carbon. For. Policy Econ. 92, 43–54 (2018).

258. Cook, S. L. & Ma, Z. Carbon sequestration and private rangelands: Insights from Utah landowners and implications for policy development. Land Ese Policy 36, 522–532 (2014).

259. Forster, J., Vaughan, N. E., Gough, C., Lorenzoni, I. & Chilvers, J. Mapping feasibilities of greenhouse gas removal: key issues, gaps and opening up assessments. *Global Environ. Change* 63, 102073 (2020).

260. Sovacool, B. K., Baum, C. M. & Low, S. Determining our climate policy future: expert opinions about negative emissions and solar radiation management pathways. *Mitigation Adapt. Strategies Global Change* 27, 58 (2022).

261. Fridahl, M. & Lehtveer, M. Bioenergy with carbon capture and storage (BECCS): Global potential, investment preferences, and deployment barriers. *Energy Res. Social Sci.* 42, 155–165 (2018).

262. Hart, P. S., Campbell-Arvai, V., Wolske, K. S. & Raimi, K. T. Moral hazard or not? The effects of learning about carbon dioxide removal on perceptions of climate mitigation in the United States. *Energy Res. Social Sci.* 89, 102656 (2022).

263. Satterfield, T., Nawaz, S. & St-Laurent, G. P. Exploring public acceptability of direct air carbon capture with storage: climate urgency, moral hazards and perceptions of the 'whole versus the parts'. Clim. Change 176, 14 (2023).

264. Nawaz, S., Peterson St-Laurent, G. & Satterfield, T. Public evaluations of four approaches to ocean-based carbon dioxide removal. *Clim. Policy* 23, 379–394 (2023).

265. Merk, C., Liebe, U., Meyerhoff, J. & Rehdanz, K. German citizens' preference for domestic carbon dioxide removal by afforestation is incompatible with national removal potential. *Commun. Earth Environ.* 4, 100 (2023).

266. Nandakishor, T. M., Gopi, G., Champatan, V., Sukesh, A. & Aravind, P. V. Agroforestry in shade coffee plantations as an emission reduction strategy for tropical regions: public acceptance and the role of tree banking. *Front. Energy Res.* 10, 758372 (2022).

267. Buck, H. J. & Palumbo-Compton, A. Soil carbon sequestration as a climate strategy: what do farmers think? Biogeochemistry 161, 59–70 (2022).

268. Bellamy, R. Mapping public appraisals of carbon dioxide removal. Global Environ. Change 76, 102593 (2022).

269. Merk, C. et al. Public perceptions of climate engineering: laypersons' acceptance at different levels of knowledge and intensities of deliberation. GAIA Ecol. Perspect. Sci. Soc. 28, 348–355 (2019).

270. Müller-Hansen, F. *et al.* Attention, sentiments and emotions towards emerging climate technologies on Twitter. *Global Environ. Change* 83, 102765 (2023).

271. Shrum, T. R. et al. Behavioural frameworks to understand public perceptions of and risk response to carbon dioxide removal. Interface Focus 10, 20200002 (2020).

272. Repke, T., Müller-Hansen, F., Cox, E. & Minx, J. C. Growing online attention and positive sentiments towards carbon dioxide removal. http://dx.doi.

org/10.21203/rs.3.rs-3788237/v1 (2024) doi:10.21203/rs.3.rs-3788237/v1.

273. Alex, B., Llewellyn, C., Grover, C., Oberlander, J. & Tobin, R. Homing in on Twitter Users: Evaluating an Enhanced Geoparser for User Profile Locations. (European Language Resources Association, 2016).

274. Statement of Method. Media and Climate Change Observatory https://sciencepolicy.colorado.edu/icecaps/research/media_coverage/about/method. html.

275. Prütz, R., Fuss, S., Lück, S., Stephan, L. & Rogelj, J. A new taxonomy to map evidence on carbon dioxide removal side effects. Commun. Earth Environ. 5, (2023).

276. Buntain, N., Liebler, C. & Webster, K. Database use, database discrepancies: implications for content analyses of news. *Newspaper Res. J.* 44, 073953292311551 (2023).

277. Schäfer, M. S. How Changing Media Structures Are Affecting Science News Coverage. in Oxford Handbook on the Science of Science Communication (Oxford University Press, 2016).

278. Anderson, A. A., Scheufele, D. A., Brossard, D. & Corley, E. A. The Role of Media and Deference to Scientific Authority in Cultivating Trust in Sources of Information about Emerging Technologies. *Int. J. of Public Opin. Res.* 24, 225–237 (2012).

279. Hmielowski, J. D., Feldman, L., Myers, T. A., Leiserowitz, A. & Maibach, E. An attack on science? Media use, trust in scientists, and perceptions of global warming. *Public Understanding Sci.* 23, 866–883 (2014).

280. Scheufele, D. A. & Lewenstein, B. V. The public and nanotechnology: how citizens make sense of emerging technologies. J. Nanopart. Res. 7, 659–667 (2005).

281. McAllister, L. *et al.* Balance as bias, resolute on the retreat? Updates & analyses of newspaper coverage in the United States, United Kingdom, New Zealand, Australia and Canada over the past 15 years. *Environ. Res. Lett.* 16, 094008 (2021).

282. Lynas, M., Adams, J. & Conrow, J. Misinformation in the media: global coverage of GMOs 2019-2021. GM Crops Food 1-10 (2022).

283. Painter, J., Brennen, J. S. & Kristiansen, S. The coverage of cultured meat in the US and UK traditional media, 2013–2019: drivers, sources, and competing narratives. *Clim. Change* 162, 2379–2396 (2020).

284. Anshelm, J. & Hansson, A. Battling Promethean dreams and Trojan horses: revealing the critical discourses of geoengineering. *Energy Res. Social Sci.* 2, 135–144 (2014).

285. Anshelm, J. & Hansson, A. Has the grand idea of geoengineering as Plan B run out of steam? Anthropocene Rev. 3, 64–74 (2016).

286. Benner, A.-K. & Rothe, D. World in the making: on the global visual politics of climate engineering. Kokusaigaku revyu 50, 79–106 (2024).

287. Porter, K. E. & Hulme, M. The emergence of the geoengineering debate in the UK print media: a frame analysis. Geogr. J. 179, 342–355 (2013).

288. Burnard, A. & Colvin, R. M. Storylines of Geoengineering in the Australian Media: An Analysis of Online Coverage 2006–2018. Environ. Commun. 16, 977–992 (2022).

289. Scholte, S., Vasileiadou, E. & Petersen, A. C. Opening up the societal debate on climate engineering: how newspaper frames are changing. J. Integr. Environ. Sci. 10, 1–16 (2013).

290. Kojo, M. & Innola, E. Carbon capture and storage in the Finnish print media. Risk, Hazards & Crisis in Public Policy 8, 113-146 (2017).

291. Otto, D., Pfeiffer, M., de Brito, M. M. & Gross, M. Fixed Amidst Change: 20 Years of Media Coverage on Carbon Capture and Storage in Germany. Sustainability Sci. Pract. Policy 14, 7342 (2022).

292. Asayama, S. & Ishii, A. Selling stories of techno-optimism? The role of narratives on discursive construction of carbon capture and storage in the Japanese media. *Energy Res. Social Sci.* 31, 50–59 (2017).

293. Haikola, S., Hansson, A. & Anshelm, J. From polarization to reluctant acceptance–bioenergy with carbon capture and storage (BECCS) and the postnormalization of the climate debate. *J. Integr. Environ. Sci.* 16, 45–69 (2019).

294. Haikola, S., Anshelm, J. & Hansson, A. Limits to climate action – narratives of bioenergy with carbon capture and storage. Polit. Geogr. 88, 102416 (2021).

295. Floor, J. R., van Koppen, C. S. A. (kris) & van Tatenhove, J. P. M. Science, uncertainty and changing storylines in nature restoration: The case of seagrass restoration in the Dutch Wadden Sea. Ocean Coastal Manage. 157, 227–236 (2018).

296. Godde, C. et al. Soil carbon sequestration in grazing systems: managing expectations. Clim. Change 161, (2020).

297. Crowley, K. Up and down with climate politics 2013–2016: the repeal of carbon pricing in Australia. WIREs Clim. Change 8, e458 (2017).

298. White, R. E. The role of soil carbon sequestration as a climate change mitigation strategy: an Australian case study. Soil Syst. 6, 46 (2022).

299. Lamb, W. F. et al. Discourses of climate delay. Global Sustainability 3, e17 (2020).

300. Coan, T. G., Boussalis, C., Cook, J. & Nanko, M. O. Computer-assisted classification of contrarian claims about climate change. Sci. Rep. 11, 22320 (2021).

301. Carlisle, D. P., Feetham, P. M., Wright, M. J. & Teagle, D. A. H. The public remain uninformed and wary of climate engineering. *Clim. Change* 160, 303–322 (2020).

302. Chang, C. H., Deshmukh, N. R., Armsworth, P. R. & Masuda, Y. J. Environmental users abandoned Twitter after Musk takeover. *Trends Ecol. Evol.* 38, 893–895 (2023).

303. Otto, D. *et al.* On the Organisation of Translation—An Inter- and Transdisciplinary Approach to Developing Design Options for CO₂ Storage Monitoring Systems. *Energies* 15, 5678 (2022).

304. Westlake, S., John, C. H. D. & Cox, E. Perception spillover from fracking onto public perceptions of novel energy technologies. *Nat. Energy* 8, 149–158 (2023).

305. Bellamy, R. & Raimi, K. T. Communicating carbon removal. Front. Clim. 5, (2023).

306. Pidgeon, N. et al. Exploring early public responses to geoengineering. Phil. Trans. R. Soc. 370, 4176–4196 (2012).

307. Wenger, A., Stauffacher, M. & Dallo, I. Public perception and acceptance of negative emission technologies – framing effects in Switzerland. *Clim. Change* 167, (2021).

308. Bellamy, R., Lezaun, J. & Palmer, J. Perceptions of bioenergy with carbon capture and storage in different policy scenarios. *Nat. Commun.* 10, 743–743 (2019).

309. Wallquist, L., Seigo, S. L., Visschers, V. H. M. & Siegrist, M. Public acceptance of CCS system elements: a conjoint measurement. *Int. J. Greenhouse Gas* Control 6, 77–83 (2012).

310. Scheer, D. & Renn, O. Public Perception of geoengineering and its consequences for public debate. Clim. Change 125, 305–318 (2014).

311. Bolsen, T., Palm, R. & Kingsland, J. T. Effects of Conspiracy Rhetoric on Views About the Consequences of Climate Change and Support for Direct Carbon Capture. *Environ.Commun.* 16, 209–224 (2022).

312. Braun, C., Merk, C., Pönitzsch, G., Rehdanz, K. & Schmidt, U. Public perception of climate engineering and carbon capture and storage in Germany: survey evidence. *Clim. Policy* 18, 471–484 (2018).

313. Dumbrell, N. P., Kragt, M. E. & Gibson, F. L. What carbon farming activities are farmers likely to adopt? A best–worst scaling survey. Land Use Policy 54, 29–37 (2016).

314. Wright, M. J., Teagle, D. A. H. & Feetham, P. M. A quantitative evaluation of the public response to climate engineering. Nat. Clim. Change 4, 106–110 (2014).

315. Thomas, G., Pidgeon, N. & Roberts, E. Ambivalence, naturalness and normality in public perceptions of carbon capture and storage in biomass, fossil energy, and industrial applications in the United Kingdom. *Energy Res. Social Sci.* 46, 1–9 (2018).

316. Gregory, R., Satterfield, T. & Hasell, A. Using decision pathway surveys to inform climate engineering policy choices. PNAS 113, 560–565 (2016).

317. Carlisle, D. P., Feetham, P. M., Wright, M. J. & Teagle, D. A. H. Public engagement with emerging technologies: Does reflective thinking affect survey responses? *Public Understanding Sci.* 31, 660–670 (2021).

318. Amelung, D. & Funke, J. Laypeople's risky decisions in the climate change context: climate engineering as a risk-defusing strategy? Hum. Ecol. Risk Assess.: Int. J. 21, 533–559 (2014).

319. Campbell-Arvai, V., Hart, P. S., Raimi, K. T. & Wolske, K. S. The influence of learning about carbon dioxide removal (CDR) on support for mitigation policies. *Clim. Change* 143, 321–336 (2017).

320. Corner, A. & Pidgeon, N. Like artificial trees? The effect of framing by natural analogy on public perceptions of geoengineering. *Clim. Change* 130, 425-438 (2015).

321. Chiquier, S., Patrizio, P., Bui, M., Sunny, N. & Mac Dowell, N. A comparative analysis of the efficiency, timing, and permanence of CO₂ removal pathways. *Energy Environ. Sci.* 15, 4389–4403 (2022).

322. Grassi, G. et al. Carbon fluxes from land 2000–2020: bringing clarity to countries' reporting. Earth Syst. Sci. Data 14, 4643–4666 (2022).

323. Gasser, T. et al. Historical CO₂ emissions from land use and land cover change and their uncertainty. Biogeosciences 17, 4075–4101 (2020).

324. Facility Level Information on GreenHouse Gases Tool (FLIGHT) [database]. EPA https://ghgdata.epa.gov/ghgp/main.do (2024).

325. Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change. 2006 IPCC Guidelines for National Greenhouse Gas Inventories. (Institute for Global Environmental Strategies, 2006).

326. Grassi, G. et al. Reconciling global-model estimates and country reporting of anthropogenic forest CO₂ sinks. Nat. Clim. Change 8, 914–920 (2018).

327. Grassi, G. et al. Harmonising the land-use flux estimates of global models and national inventories for 2000–2020. Earth Syst. Sci. Data 15, 1093–1114 (2023).

328. Friedlingstein, P. et al. Global Carbon Budget 2023. Earth Syst. Sci. Data 15, 5301–5369 (2023).

329. Obermeier, W. A. *et al.* Country-level estimates of gross and net carbon fluxes from land use, land-use change and forestry. *Earth Syst. Sci. Data* 16, 605–645 (2024).

330. Schwingshackl, C. *et al.* Differences in land-based mitigation estimates reconciled by separating natural and land-use CO₂ fluxes at the country level. *One Earth* 5, 1367–1376 (2022).

331. Chen, W., Meng, J., Han, X., Lan, Y. & Zhang, W. Past, present, and future of biochar. Biochar 1, 75–87 (2019).

332. Pongratz, J. et al. Land use effects on climate: current state, recent progress, and emerging topics. Curr. Clim. Change Rep. 7, 99–120 (2021).

333. Gidden, M. J. et al. Fairness and feasibility in deep mitigation pathways with novel carbon dioxide removal considering institutional capacity to mitigate. Environ. Res. Lett. 18, 074006 (2023).

334. Emissions Scenario Database of the European Scientific Advisory Board on Climate Change, hosted by IIASA. European Scientific Advisory Board on Climate Change https://data.ece.iiasa.ac.at/eu-climate-advisory-board (2023).

335. Richters, O. et al. Phase 4 Scenario Explorer. https://data.ece.iiasa.ac.at/ngfs (2024).

336. Gidden, M. J. et al. Aligning climate scenarios to emissions inventories shifts global benchmarks. Nature 624, 102–108 (2023).

337. van Soest, H. L. et al. Global roll-out of comprehensive policy measures may aid in bridging emissions gap. Nat. Commun. 12, 6419 (2021).

338. Riahi, K. et al. Cost and attainability of meeting stringent climate targets without overshoot. Nat. Clim. Change 11, 1063–1069 (2021).

339. Soergel, B. et al. A sustainable development pathway for climate action within the UN 2030 Agenda. Nat. Clim. Change 11, 656–664 (2021).

340. Frank, S. et al. Land-based climate change mitigation potentials within the agenda for sustainable development. Environ. Res. Lett. 16, 024006 (2021).

341. Hasegawa, T. et al. Food security under high bioenergy demand toward long-term climate goals. Clim. Change 163, 1587–1601 (2020).

342. Creutzig, F. et al. Considering sustainability thresholds for BECCS in IPCC and biodiversity assessments. GCB Bioenergy 13, 510–515 (2021).

343. Guivarch, C. et al. Using large ensembles of climate change mitigation scenarios for robust insights. Nat. Clim. Change 12, 428–435 (2022).

344. Willett, W. *et al.* Food in the Anthropocene: the EAT–Lancet Commission on healthy diets from sustainable food systems. *Lancet* 393, 447–492 (2019).

345. Grubler, A. et al. A low energy demand scenario for meeting the 1.5° C target and Sustainable Development Goals without negative emission technologies. *Nat. Energy* 3, 515 (2018).

346. Müller-Casseres, E., Edelenbosch, O. Y., Szklo, A., Schaeffer, R. & van Vuuren, D. P. Global futures of trade impacting the challenge to decarbonize the international shipping sector. *Energy* 237, 121547 (2021).

347. O'Neill, B. C. *et al.* The roads ahead: narratives for shared socioeconomic pathways describing world futures in the 21st century. *Global Environ. Change* 42, 169–180 (2017).

348. Dekker, M. M. et al. Spread in climate policy scenarios unravelled. Nature 624, 309-316 (2023).

349. Deprez, A. et al. Sustainability limits needed for CO₂ removal. Science 383, 484–486 (2024).

350. IPCC Workshop on the Use of Scenarios in the Sixth Assessment Report and Subsequent Assessments. *IPCC* https://www.ipcc.ch/event/ipcc-workshop-on-the-use-of-scenarios-in-the-sixth-assessment-report-and-subsequent-assessments (2023).

351. Smith, H., Vaughan, N. & Forster, J. Navigating Net Zero: Analysing Residual Emissions in Long-Term National Climate Strategies. Available at SSRN 4678157.

352. Geden, O. & Schenuit, F. Unconventional Mitigation Carbon Dioxide Removal as a New Approach in EU Climate Policy. https://www.swp-berlin.org/publications/products/research_papers/2020RP08_ClimateMitigation.pdf (German Institute for International and Security Affairs, 2020).

353. Lund, J. F., Markusson, N., Carton, W. & Buck, H. J. Net zero and the unexplored politics of residual emissions. *Energy Res. Social Sci.* 98, 103035 (2023).

354. Luderer, G. et al. Residual fossil CO₂ emissions in 1.5–2 °C pathways. Nat. Clim. Change 8, 626–633 (2018).

Lamb, W. F. The size and composition of residual emissions in integrated assessment scenarios at net-zero CO₂. Environ. Res. Lett. 19, (2024).
 Edelenbosch, O. et al. Mitigating Greenhouse Gas Emissions in Hard-to-Abate Sectors. https://www.pbl.nl/sites/default/files/downloads/pbl-2022-mitigating-greenhouse-gas-emissions-in-hard-to-abate-sectors-4901.pdf (Netherlands Environmental Assessment Agency, 2022).

357. Luderer, G. et al. Impact of declining renewable energy costs on electrification in low-emission scenarios. Nat. Energy 7, 32–42 (2022).

358. Strefler, J. et al. Carbon dioxide removal technologies are not born equal. Environ. Res. Lett. 16, 74021 (2021).

359. Oshiro, K. *et al.* Alternative, but expensive, energy transition scenario featuring carbon capture and utilization can preserve existing energy demand technologies. *One Earth* 6, 872–883 (2023).

360. Fujimori, S. et al. Land-based climate change mitigation measures can affect agricultural markets and food security. Nat. Food 3, 110-121 (2022).

361. Zhao, X., Mignone, B. K., Wise, M. A. & McJeon, H. C. Trade-offs in land-based carbon removal measures under 1.5° C and 2° C futures. *Nat. Commun.* 15, 2297 (2024).

362. Pachauri, S., Poblete-Cazenave, M., Aktas, A. & Gidden, M. J. Clean cooking access may stall under slow post-pandemic recovery and ambitious climate mitigation without explicit focus. *Nat. Energy* 6, 1009–1010 (2021).

363. Hasegawa, T. et al. Land-based implications of early climate actions without global net-negative emissions. Nat. Sustainability 4, 1052–1059 (2021).

364. Roe, S. et al. Land-based measures to mitigate climate change: potential and feasibility by country. Global Change Biol. 27, 6025–6058 (2021).

365. Nabuurs, G.-J. et al. Agriculture, Forestry and Other Land Uses (AFOLU). in Climate Change 2022: Mitigation of Climate Change. Contribution of Working Group III to the Sixth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (ed. Shukla, P. R. et al) 747–860 (Cambridge University Press, 2023).

366. Lovelock, C. E., Barbier, E. & Duarte, C. M. Tackling the mangrove restoration challenge. PLoS Biol. 20, e3001836 (2022).

367. Smith, P. Soil carbon sequestration and biochar as negative emission technologies. Global Change Biol. 22, 1315–1324 (2016).

368. Paustian, K., Larson, E., Kent, J., Marx, E. & Swan, A. Soil C sequestration as a biological negative emission strategy. Front. Clim. 1, 8 (2019).

369. Khangura, R., Ferris, D., Wagg, C. & Bowyer, J. Regenerative agriculture – a literature review on the practices and mechanisms used to improve soil health. *Sustainability* 15, 2338 (2023).

370. Miller, D. C., Muñoz-Mora, J. C., Rasmussen, L. V. & Zezza, A. Do trees on farms improve household well-being? Evidence From National Panel data in Uganda. Front. For. Global Change 3, 101 (2020).

371. Köthke, M., Ahimbisibwe, V. & Lippe, M. The evidence base on the environmental, economic and social outcomes of agroforestry is patchy – an evidence review map. Front. Environ. Sci. Eng. China 10, 925477 (2022).

372. Locatelli, B. et al. Tropical reforestation and climate change: beyond carbon. Restor. Ecol. 23, 337–343 (2015).

373. Di Sacco, A. *et al*. Ten golden rules for reforestation to optimize carbon sequestration, biodiversity recovery and livelihood benefits. *Global Change Biol.* 27, 1328–1348 (2021).

374. Novick, K. A. & Katul, G. G. The duality of reforestation impacts on surface and air temperature. J. Geophys. Res. Biogeosci. 125, e2019JG005543 (2020).

375. Hasegawa, T. et al. Risk of increased food insecurity under stringent global climate change mitigation policy. Nat. Clim. Change 8, 699–703 (2018).

376. Ellison, D. et al. Trees, forests and water: Cool insights for a hot world. Global Environ. Change 43, 51-61 (2017).

377. Bond, W. J., Stevens, N., Midgley, G. F. & Lehmann, C. E. R. The trouble with trees: afforestation plans for Africa. Trends Ecol. Evol. 34, 963–965 (2019).

378. Heilmayr, R., Echeverría, C. & Lambin, E. F. Impacts of Chilean forest subsidies on forest cover, carbon and biodiversity. *Nat. Sustainability* 3, 701–709 (2020).

379. Parr, C. L., Te Beest, M. & Stevens, N. Conflation of reforestation with restoration is widespread. Science 383, 698-701 (2024).

380. Dunne, D. & Quiroz, Y. Mapped: the impacts of carbon-offset projects around the world. *Carbon Brief* (2023).

381. Weber, J. et al. Chemistry-albedo feedbacks offset up to a third of forestation's CO , removal benefits. Science 383, 860-864 (2024).

382. Hasler, N. et al. Accounting for albedo change to identify climate-positive tree cover restoration. Nat. Commun. 15, 2275 (2024).

383. Leclère, D. et al. Bending the curve of terrestrial biodiversity needs an integrated strategy. Nature 585, 551–556 (2020).

384. Daioglou, V. et al. Bioenergy technologies in long-run climate change mitigation: results from the EMF-33 study. Clim. Change 163, 1603–1620 (2020).

385. Humpenöder, F. et al. Large-scale bioenergy production: How to resolve sustainability trade-offs? Environ. Res. Lett. 13, 024011 (2018).

386. Kraxner, F. et al. Global bioenergy scenarios - Future forest development, land-use implications, and trade-offs. Biomass Bioenergy 57, 86–96 (2013).

387. Creutzig, F. Economic and ecological views on climate change mitigation with bioenergy and negative emissions. GCB Bioenergy 8, 4–10 (2016).

388. Krause, A. et al. Global consequences of afforestation and bioenergy cultivation on ecosystem service indicators. Biogeosciences 14, 4829–4850 (2017).

389. Rogelj, J. et al. A new scenario logic for the Paris Agreement long-term temperature goal. Nature 573, 357–363 (2019).

390. Strefler, J. et al. Alternative carbon price trajectories can avoid excessive carbon removal. Nat. Commun. 12, 2264 (2021).

391. Muratori, M. et al. EMF-33 insights on bioenergy with carbon capture and storage (BECCS). Clim. Change 163, 1621–1637 (2020).

392. Crowley, J. Drax: UK power station still burning rare forest wood. BBC (2024).

393. Qiu, Y. et al. Environmental trade-offs of direct air capture technologies in climate change mitigation toward 2100. Nat. Commun. 13, 3635 (2022).

394. Beerling, D. J. et al. Farming with crops and rocks to address global climate, food and soil security. Nat. Plants 4, 138–147 (2018).

395. Campion, L., Bekchanova, M., Malina, R. & Kuppens, T. The costs and benefits of biochar production and use: a systematic review. J. Cleaner Prod. 408, 137138 (2023).

396. Mongin, M., Baird, M. E., Lenton, A., Neill, C. & Akl, J. Reversing ocean acidification along the Great Barrier Reef using alkalinity injection. *Environ. Res. Lett.* 16, 064068 (2021).

397. Meysman, F. J. R. & Montserrat, F. Negative CO., emissions via enhanced silicate weathering in coastal environments. Biol. Lett. 13, 20160905 (2017).

398. Dooley, K. & Kartha, S. Land-based negative emissions: risks for climate mitigation and impacts on sustainable development. *Int. Environ. Agreements: Polit. Law Econ.* 18, 79–98 (2018).

399. Fajardy, M. & Mac Dowell, N. Can BECCS deliver sustainable and resource efficient negative emissions? Energy Environ. Sci. 10, 1389–1426 (2017).

400. Smith, P. et al. Biophysical and economic limits to negative CO2 emissions. Nat. Clim. Change 6, 42-50 (2016).

401. Heck, V., Gerten, D., Lucht, W. & Popp, A. Biomass-based negative emissions difficult to reconcile with planetary boundaries. *Nat. Clim. Change* 8, 151–155 (2018).

402. Babin, A., Vaneeckhaute, C. & Iliuta, M. C. Potential and challenges of bioenergy with carbon capture and storage as a carbon-negative energy source: a review. *Biomass Bioenergy* 146, 105968 (2021).

403. Hanssen, S. V. et al. Global implications of crop-based bioenergy with carbon capture and storage for terrestrial vertebrate biodiversity. GCB Bioenergy 14, 307–321 (2022).

404. Chatterjee, S. & Huang, K-W. Unrealistic energy and materials requirement for direct air capture in deep mitigation pathways. *Nat. Commun.* 11, 3287 (2020).

405. Eufrasio, R. M. et al. Environmental and health impacts of atmospheric CO₂ removal by enhanced rock weathering depend on nations' energy mix. *Commun. Earth Environ.* 3, 106 (2022).

406. Bach, L. T., Gill, S. J., Rickaby, R. E. M., Gore, S. & Renforth, P. CO₂ removal with enhanced weathering and ocean alkalinity enhancement: potential risks and co-benefits for marine pelagic ecosystems. *Front. Clim.* 1, 7 (2019).

407. Holz, C., Siegel, L. S., Johnston, E., Jones, A. P. & Sterman, J. Ratcheting ambition to limit warming to 1.5 °C – trade-offs between emission reductions and carbon dioxide removal. *Environ. Res. Lett.* 13, 064028 (2018).

408. Waller, L. et al. Contested framings of greenhouse gas removal and its feasibility: social and political dimensions. WIREs Clim. Change 11, e649 (2020).

409. Creutzig, F. et al. Bioenergy and climate change mitigation: an assessment. Glob. Change Biol. Bioenergy 7, 916-944 (2015).

410. Butnar, I. et al. A deep dive into the modelling assumptions for biomass with carbon capture and storage (BECCS): a transparency exercise. Environ. Res. Lett. 15, 084008 (2020).

411. Zickfeld, K., Azevedo, D., Mathesius, S. & Matthews, H. D. Asymmetry in the climate–carbon cycle response to positive and negative CO₂ emissions. *Nat. Clim. Change* 11, 613–617 (2021).

412. Bodirsky, B. L. et al. Integrating degrowth and efficiency perspectives enables an emission-neutral food system by 2100. Nat. Food 3, 341–348 (2022).

413. Ueckerdt, F. et al. Potential and risks of hydrogen-based e-fuels in climate change mitigation. Nat. Clim. Change 11, 384–393 (2021).

414. Forsell, N. et al. Assessing the INDCs' land use, land use change, and forest emission projections. Carbon Balance Manage 11, 26 (2016).

415. Grassi, G. et al. The key role of forests in meeting climate targets requires science for credible mitigation. Nat. Clim. Change 7, 220–226 (2017).

416. European Commission. In-Depth Analysis in Support on the COM(2018) 773: A Clean Planet for All – A European Strategic Long-Term Vision for a Prosperous, Modern, Competitive and Climate Neutral Economy. https://climate.ec.europa.eu/system/files/2019-08/long-term_analysis_in_depth_analysis_figures_20190722_en.pdf (2018).

417. Grassi, G. et al. Critical adjustment of land mitigation pathways for assessing countries' climate progress. Nat. Clim. Chang. 11, 14 (2021).

418. Friedlingstein, P. et al. Global Carbon Budget 2023. Earth System Science Data 15, 5301–5369 (2023).

419. Government of the United Kingdom. Net Zero Strategy: Build Back Greener. https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/1033990/net-zero-strategy-beis.pdf (2021).

420. Korosuo, A. et al. The role of forests in the EU climate policy: are we on the right track? Carbon Balance Manage 18, 15 (2023).

421. Hyyrynen, M., Ollikainen, M. & Seppälä, J. European forest sinks and climate targets: past trends, main drivers, and future forecasts. *Eur. J. For. Res.* 142, 1207–1244 (2023).

422. Forster, P. et al. The Earth's Energy Budget, Climate Feedbacks, and Climate Sensitivity. in Climate Change 2021: The Physical Science Basis. Contribution of Working Group I to the Sixth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (eds. Masson-Delmotte, V. et al.) 923–1054 (Cambridge University Press, 2021).

423. Rogelj, J. et al. Credibility gap in net-zero climate targets leaves world at high risk. Science 380, 1014–1016 (2023).

424. Den Elzen, M. G. J. *et al.* Updated nationally determined contributions collectively raise ambition levels but need strengthening further to keep Paris goals within reach. *Mitigation Adapt. Strategies Global Change* 27, 33 (2022).

425. Meinshausen, M. et al. Realization of Paris Agreement pledges may limit warming just below 2 °C. Nature 604, 304–309 (2022).

426. Mo, L. et al. Integrated global assessment of the natural forest carbon potential. Nature 624, 92–101 (2023).

427. Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change. Summary for Policymakers. in Climate Change and Land: an IPCC Special Report on Climate Change, Desertification, Land Degradation, Sustainable Land Management, Food Security, and Greenhouse Gas Fluxes in Terrestrial Ecosystems (eds. Shukla, P. R. et al.) (2019).

428. Singh, N., Finnegan, J. & Levin, K. MRV 101: Understanding Measurement, Reporting and Verification of Climate Change Mitigation. https://transparency-partnership.net/sites/default/files/mrv_101_0.pdf (2016).

429. Khan, A. A buyer's guide to high-accountability MRV. Carbon180 https://carbon180.org/blog/a-buyers-guide-to-high-accountability-mrv (2022).

430. Mitchell-Larson, E., Mäkelä, A., Hofbauer, V. & Cohen, K. A *Guide to Certifying Carbon Removal*. https://carbongap.org/wp-content/uploads/2022/11/ Carbon_Gap_White_Pater_Oct22_updateCRCF.pdf (Carbon Gap, 2022).

431. Howes, J. et al. A Review of Engineered Greenhouse Gas Removal (GGR) Standards and Methodologies. (ERM, 2023).

432. Powis, C. M., Smith, S. M., Minx, J. C. & Gasser, T. Quantifying global carbon dioxide removal deployment. Environ. Res. Lett. 18, 024022 (2023).

433. Brander, M., Ascui, F., Scott, V. & Tett, S. Carbon accounting for negative emissions technologies. Clim. Policy 21, 699–717 (2021).

434. Mercer, L. & Burke, J. Strengthening MRV Standards for Greenhouse Gas Removals to Improve Climate Change Governance. (Grantham Research Institute, 2023).

435. Burke, J. & Schenuit, F. Governing Permanence of Carbon Dioxide Removal: A Typology of Policy Measures. https://co2re.org/wp-content/uploads/2023/11/CO2RE_Report_CDR_Permanence-FINAL-v7.pdf (CO₂RE, 2023).

436. Mac Dowell, N., Reiner, D. M. & Haszeldine, R. S. Comparing approaches for carbon dioxide removal. Joule 6, 2233–2239 (2022).

437. Ellis, D. Leveling the Playing Field for Open-System Carbon Removal. *The Great Unwind* https://greatunwind.substack.com/p/leveling-the-playing-field-for-open (2023).

438. Webb, R. M., Silverman-Roati, K. & Gerrard, M. B. Removing Carbon Dioxide Through Ocean Alkalinity Enhancement and Seaweed Cultivation: Legal Challenges and Opportunities. *Columbia Law School* doi:10.2139/ssrn.3789914.

439. Simon, F. The EU's New Carbon Removal Certification Scheme in Detail. *EURACTIV* https://www.euractiv.com/section/climate-environment/news/ eu-reaches-deal-on-worlds-first-carbon-removal-certification-scheme (2024).

440. Climate action: Council and Parliament agree to establish an EU carbon removals certification framework. *Council of the European Union* https://www. consilium.europa.eu/en/press/press-releases/2024/02/20/climate-action-council-and-parliament-agree-to-establish-an-eu-carbon-removals-certification-framework/ (2024).

441. Lück, S. *et al.* Scientific literature on carbon dioxide removal much larger than previously suggested: insights from an Al-enhanced systematic map. (2024).

442. Ho, D. T. et al. Monitoring, reporting, and verification for ocean alkalinity enhancement. State of the Planet 2-oae2023, 1–12 (2023).

443. Smith, P. et al. How to measure, report and verify soil carbon change to realize the potential of soil carbon sequestration for atmospheric greenhouse gas removal. Glob. Chang. Biol. 26, 219–241 (2020).

444. Clarkson, M. O. *et al.* A review of measurement for quantification of carbon dioxide removal by enhanced weathering in soil. (2023) doi:10.31223/ X52D7T (2023).

445. Husk, J. C. & Wenz, G. B. Inside-out: driving down direct air capture costs with high-efficiency adsorbents. Front. Clim. 3, (2022).

446. Petrokofsky, G. *et al.* Comparison of methods for measuring and assessing carbon stocks and carbon stock changes in terrestrial carbon pools. How do the accuracy and precision of current methods compare? A systematic review protocol. *Environ. Evidence* 1, 6 (2012).

447. Hurtt, G. et al. Beyond MRV: high-resolution forest carbon modeling for climate mitigation planning over Maryland, USA. Environ. Res. Lett. 14, 045013 (2019).

448. Pothong, T. *et al.* New allometric equations for quantifying tree biomass and carbon sequestration in seasonally dry secondary forest in northern Thailand. *New For.* 53, 17–36 (2022).

449. Luo, W. et al. New forest biomass carbon stock estimates in Northeast Asia based on multisource data. Global Change Biol. 26, 7045–7066 (2020).

450. Galik, C. S., Baker, J. S., Bartuska, A. & Abt, R. C. Accounting Considerations for Capturing the GHG Consequences of BECCS. https://efifoundation.org/ wp-content/uploads/sites/3/2023/06/EFI_BECCS-Taking-Root_Accounting-White-Paper.pdf (EFI Foundation, 2023).

451. Bultan, S. et al. Tracking 21st century anthropogenic and natural carbon fluxes through model-data integration. Nat. Commun. 13, 5516 (2022).

452. Haya, B. K. *et al.* Comprehensive review of carbon quantification by improved forest management offset protocols. *Front. For. and Global Change* 6, (2023).

453. Paul, C. et al. Carbon farming: Are soil carbon certificates a suitable tool for climate change mitigation? J. Environ. Manage. 330, 117142 (2023).

454. Arens, C., Mersmann, F., Beuermann, C. & Rudolph, F. Mapping the Indicators: An Analysis of Sustainable Development Requirements of Selected Market Mechanisms and Multilateral Institutions. (2014).

455. Nordic Council of Ministers. Harnessing Voluntary Carbon Markets for Climate Ambition - An Action Plan for Nordic Cooperation. (2022).

456. Plastina, A. How to grow and sell carbon credits in US agriculture. Ag Decision Maker (2021).

457. Green, J. F. Order out of chaos: public and private rules for managing carbon. Global Environ. Polit. 13, 1–25 (2013).

458. Jia, J., Axelsson, K., Chaudhury, A. & Taylor, E. A rapid review of GHG accounting standards. (2023).

459. Chay, F. et al. Verification Confidence Levels for Carbon Dioxide Removal. Carbon Plan https://carbonplan.org/research/cdr-verification-explainer (2022).

460. Cobo, S. et al. Sustainable scale-up of negative emissions technologies and practices: where to focus. Environ. Res. Lett. 18, 023001 (2023).
Glossary

Additionality: the extent to which greenhouse gas emission reductions or removals would have occurred in the absence of the associated policy intervention or activity. An additionality test is applied in carbon credit programs to ensure that credits are not awarded for mitigation that would have occurred in the absence of the carbon credit revenue.

Afforestation: Conversion to forest of land that was previously not forest.

Agroforestry: Growing trees on agricultural land while maintaining agricultural production.

Biochar: Relatively stable, carbon-rich material produced by heating biomass in an oxygenlimited environment. Assumed to be applied as a soil amendment unless otherwise stated.

Bioenergy with Carbon Capture and Storage (BECCS): Process by which biogenic carbon dioxide (CO₂) is captured from a bioenergy facility, with subsequent geological storage.

Biomass burial: Burial of biomass in land sites such as soils or exhausted mines. Excludes storage in the typical geological formations associated with CCS.

Biomass sinking: Sinking of terrestrial (e.g. straw) or marine (e.g. macroalgae) biomass in the marine environment. To count as CDR, the biomass must reach the deep ocean where the carbon has the potential to be sequestered durably.

Bio-oil storage: Oil made by biomass conversion and placed into geological storage.

Carbon credit: A tradeable certificate representing one tonne of CO_2 or carbon dioxide equivalent (CO_2 e) avoided, reduced or removed.

Note 1: The majority of carbon credits currently traded are emissions reduction credits.

Note 2: Carbon credits are commonly purchased to offset the GHG emissions of the purchasing entity. An entity can also choose to retire a carbon credit without using it as an offset.

Carbon Capture and Storage (CCS): A process in which carbon dioxide (CO_2) is captured, conditioned, compressed and transported to geological storage. This term is commonly applied in the context of fossil CO_2 emissions. To count as CDR, however, captured CO_2 must come from the atmosphere, either directly from ambient air (see DACCS) or via biomass (see BECCS) or seawater (see DOCCS).

Carbon Capture and Utilisation (CCU): A process in which CO_2 is captured and used in manufacture of products. Capture of atmospheric CO_2 for manufacture of durable products such as concrete or timber for construction is classified as CDR. Use of atmospheric CO_2 in manufacture of products that do not store carbon durably [before releasing it back into the atmosphere], such as carbonated drinks or fuels, is not considered CDR. Use of fossil CO_2 in manufacture of products is not considered CDR.

Carbon Dioxide Removal (CDR): Human activity capturing carbon dioxide (CO₂) from the atmosphere and durably storing it in geological, terrestrial, or ocean reservoirs, or in

products. It includes enhancement of biological or geochemical CO_2 sinks and direct air carbon capture and storage (DACCS), but excludes natural CO_2 uptake not directly caused by human activities.

Conventional CDR: CDR methods that are well established, already deployed at scale and widely reported by countries as part of land use, land-use change and forestry (LULUCF) activities. The methods included in this group are afforestation/reforestation; agroforestry; forest management; soil carbon sequestration in croplands and grasslands; peatland and coastal wetland restoration; and durable wood products.

Direct Air Capture (DAC): Chemical process by which carbon dioxide (CO_2) is captured from the ambient air. Captured CO_2 can be stored geologically (see DACCS), or used in products (see CCU).

Direct Air Carbon Capture and Storage (DACCS): Chemical process by which carbon dioxide (CO₂) is captured from the ambient air, with subsequent geological storage.

Direct ocean carbon capture and storage (DOCCS): Chemical process by which carbon dioxide (CO_2) is captured directly from seawater, with subsequent geological storage. To count as CDR, this capture must lead to increased ocean CO_2 uptake.

Durability: The capacity to store carbon over time without releasing it back to the atmosphere. In this report, carbon pools with characteristic storage timescales on the order of decades or more are classed as sufficiently durable for CDR. These include trees, wetlands, soils, biochar, durable wood products (e.g. timber for construction), mineral products (e.g. aggregates), marine sediments, ocean bicarbonate, depleted fossil fuel reservoirs, saline aquifers and mineral rock formations.

Durable wood products: Wood products which meet a given threshold of durability, typically used in construction. These can include sawnwood, wood panels and composite beams, but exclude less durable products such as paper.

Enhanced rock weathering: Increasing the natural rate of removal of carbon dioxide (CO₂) from the atmosphere by applying crushed rocks, rich in calcium and magnesium, to soil or beaches.

Forest management: Stewardship and use of existing forests. To count as CDR, forest management practices must enhance the long-term average carbon stock in the forest system.

Mineral products: Production of solid carbonate materials for use in products such as aggregates, asphalt, cement and concrete, using CO₂ captured from the atmosphere.

Monitoring, Reporting & Verification; or Measurement, Reporting and Verification (MRV): Procedures for quantification, documentation and independent review of reported GHG emissions and removals, in the context of national inventory reporting, emissions trading and voluntary claims such as carbon neutrality or net zero emissions.

Novel CDR: CDR methods that generally have a lower level of readiness for deployment and are therefore currently deployed at smaller scales. The captured carbon is stored in geological formations, the ocean or products. Such methods include Bioenergy with Carbon Capture and Storage (BECCS), Direct Air Carbon Capture and Storage (DACCS), enhanced rock weathering, biochar, mineral products and ocean alkalinity enhancement.

Ocean alkalinity enhancement (OAE): Spreading of alkaline materials on the ocean surface to increase the alkalinity of the water and thus increase ocean CO₂ uptake.

Ocean fertilisation: Enhancement of nutrient supply to the near-surface ocean with the aim of sequestering additional CO_2 from the atmosphere stimulated through biological production. Methods include direct addition of micro-nutrients or macro-nutrients. To count as CDR, the biomass must reach the deep ocean where the carbon has the potential to be sequestered durably.

Offset (noun): A unit that represents the reduction, avoidance or removal of a ton of CO_2 or CO_2 equivalent by one entity, commonly purchased as a carbon credit, that is used by another entity to counterbalance a ton of GHG emissions by that other entity.

Offset (verb): To counterbalance a quantity of GHG emissions by retiring or canceling an equivalent quantity of carbon credits.

Note: GHG emissions of an entity can also be counterbalanced through CDR undertaken by that entity.

Paris temperature goal: The long-term temperature goal as set in Article 2 of the Paris Agreement (i.e., "Holding the increase in the global average temperature to well below 2°C above pre-industrial levels and pursuing efforts to limit the temperature increase to 1.5°C above pre-industrial levels")

Peatland and coastal wetland restoration: Assisted recovery of inland ecosystems that are permanently or seasonally flooded or saturated by water (such as peatlands) and of coastal ecosystems (such as tidal marshes, mangroves and seagrass meadows). To count as CDR, this recovery must lead to a durable increase in the carbon content of these systems.

Reforestation: Conversion to forest of land that was previously deforested.

Residual emissions: Remaining gross emissions when net-zero, and subsequently, netnegative, emissions are reached. Can apply to both net zero CO₂ and net zero GHG emissions, from local to global scales and at company or sector level. To reach net-zero emissions, the amount of CDR must equal the amount of residual emissions over a given period. To reach net-negative emissions, the amount of CDR must exceed residual emissions.

Soil carbon sequestration in croplands and grasslands: Land management changes in croplands and grasslands that increase the soil organic carbon content.

Abbreviations

AFOLU	agriculture, forestry and other land use
AI	artificial intelligence
AR6	Sixth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change
BAU	business-as-usual
BECCS	Bioenergy with carbon capture and storage
CAN	Canada
CCPs	Core Carbon Principles
CCS	carbon capture and storage
CCU	carbon capture and utilization
CDM	Clean Development Mechanism
CDR	carbon dioxide removal
CGE	Computable General Equilibrium
CH ₄	methane
CO	carbon dioxide
COP	Conference of the Parties
CORSIA	Carbon Offsetting and Reduction Scheme for International Aviation
DAC	Direct air capture
DACCS	Direct air carbon capture and storage
DOCCS	Direct ocean carbon capture and storage
ERW	Enhanced rock weathering
EU	European Union
F-gases	fluorinated greenhouse gases
FAOSTAT	Food and Agriculture Organization Statistics
GCB	Global Carbon Budget
GCOM	Greenhouse Gas Crediting and Offsetting Mechanism
GHG	greenhouse gas
Gt	gigaton
HWP	harvested wood product
IAM	integrated assessment model
ICROA	International Carbon Reduction and Offset Alliance
ICVCM	Integrity Council for the Voluntary Carbon Market
IEA	International Energy Agency
IPCC	Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change
ISO	International Organization for Standardization
Kt	kiloton
LULUCF	land use, land-use change and forestry
MRV	monitoring, reporting and verification; or measurement, reporting and verification
Mt	megaton

N ₂ O	nitrous oxide
NDC	Nationally Determined Contribution
NGHGI	national greenhouse gas inventory
NGO	non-governmental organization
NKr	Norwegian krone
NZI	Net Zero Insights
OAE	Ocean alkalinity enhancement
PATSTAT	European Patent Office Worldwide Patent Statistical Database
R&D	research and development
RD&D	research, development and demonstration
SDG	Sustainable Development Goal
t	ton
UK	United Kingdom
UNFCCC	United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change
US	United States
USD	United States dollar
USDA	United States Department of Agriculture
VCM	voluntary carbon market
VCMI	Voluntary Carbon Markets Integrity Initiative

Throughout this report, ton is used in the sense of metric ton (i.e. 1,000 kg).

THE STATE OF Carbon Dioxide Removal